Victor Anandam

Harmonic Functions and Potentials on Finite or Infinite Networks





For further volumes: http://www.springer.com/series/7172

Editorial Board



Franco Brezzi (Editor in Chief) IMATI-CNR Via Ferrata 5a 27100 Pavia, Italy e-mail: brezzi@imati.cnr.it

John M. Ball Mathematical Institute 24-29 St Giles' Oxford OX1 3LB United Kingdom e-mail: ball@maths.ox.ac.uk

Alberto Bressan
Department of Mathematics
Penn State University
University Park
State College
PA. 16802, USA

e-mail: bressan@math.psu.edu

Fabrizio Catanese Mathematisches Institut Universitatstraße 30 95447 Bayreuth, Germany

e-mail: fabrizio.catanese@uni-bayreuth.de

Carlo Cercignani Dipartimento di Matematica Politecnico di Milano Piazza Leonardo da Vinci 32 20133 Milano, Italy e-mail: carcer@mate.polimi.it

Corrado De Concini Dipartimento di Matematica Universitá di Roma "La Sapienza" Piazzale Aldo Moro 2

e-mail: deconcini@mat.uniroma1.it

00185 Roma, Italy

Persi Diaconis
Department of Statistics
Stanford University
450 Serra Mall
Stanford, CA 94305-4065, USA
e-mail: diaconis@math.stanford.edu,
cgates@stat.stanford.edu

Nicola Fusco Dipartimento di Matematica e Applicazioni Universitá di Napoli "Federico II", via Cintia Complesso Universitario di Monte S. Angelo 80126 Napoli, Italy e-mail: nfusco@unina.it

Carlos E. Kenig Department of Mathematics University of Chicago 5734 University Avenue Chicago, IL 60637-1514 USA

 $e\hbox{-}mail:\ cek@math.uchicago.edu$

Fulvio Ricci Scuola Normale Superiore di Pisa Piazza dei Cavalieri 7 56126 Pisa, Italy e-mail: fricci@sns.it

Gerard Van der Geer Korteweg-de Vries Instituut Universiteit van Amsterdam Plantage Muidergracht 24 1018 TV Amsterdam, The Netherlands e-mail: geer@science.uva.nl

Cédric Villani Institut Henri Poincaré 11 rue Pierre et Marie Curie 75230 Paris Cedex 05 France

e-mail: cedric.villani@upmc.fr

The Editorial Policy can be found at the back of the volume.

Victor Anandam

Harmonic Functions and Potentials on Finite or Infinite Networks





Victor Anandam
University of Madras
Ramanujan Inst. for Advanced
Study in Mathematics
Department of Mathematics
Chepauk
600 005 Chennai Tamil Nadu
India
vanandam@hotmail.com

ISSN 1862-9113 ISBN 978-3-642-21398-4 e-ISBN 978-3-642-21399-1 DOI 10.1007/978-3-642-21399-1 Springer Heidelberg Dordrecht London New York

1 6

Library of Congress Control Number: 2011932353

Mathematics Subject Classification (2000): 31C20; 31D05; 30F20; 31A30; 15A09

© Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2011

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilm or in any other way, and storage in data banks. Duplication of this publication or parts thereof is permitted only under the provisions of the German Copyright Law of September 9, 1965, in its current version, and permission for use must always be obtained from Springer. Violations are liable to prosecution under the German Copyright Law.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

Cover design: deblik, Berlin

Printed on acid-free paper

Springer is part of Springer Science+Business Media (www.springer.com)

Bhickoo, Anahita, Parvez

Preface

The aim of the current work is to present an autonomous theory of harmonic functions on infinite networks akin to potential theory on locally compact spaces as developed primarily by Brelot (without sanctioning any explicit role for the derivatives of functions defined on the space). Though random walks and electrical networks are two important sources for the advancement of the present theory, neither probabilistic methods nor energy integral techniques are used here to prove the results in an infinite network. The relevance of this study is partly because in many infinite networks (like homogeneous trees, for example), any real-valued function defined on the network is a difference of two superharmonic functions.

We consider principally the classification theory of infinite networks based on the existence of Green functions, bounded harmonic functions etc., and then balayage, equilibrium principle, domination principle, Schrödinger operators, polyharmonic functions and the Riesz-Martin compactification of the network. An important feature is the study of parabolic networks. These are the networks on which no positive potentials exist or equivalently, these are the networks on which the Green function cannot be defined. On parabolic networks we investigate the properties of pseudo-potentials (analogous to logarithmic potentials on the complex plane) introduced via a development of a notion of flux.

My sincere thanks go to the referees who read the manuscript and made valuable comments.

Ramanujan Institute for Advanced Study in Mathematics University of Madras March 2011 Victor Anandam

Contents

I	Lap	lace Operators on Networks and Trees	1
	1.1	Introduction	1
	1.2	Preliminaries	4
		1.2.1 Examples of Superharmonic Functions	
		on Networks	8
	1.3	Green's Formulas	10
	1.4	Minimum Principle	13
	1.5	Infinite Trees	16
2	Pote	ential Theory on Finite Networks	21
	2.1	Incidence Matrix, Kirchhoff's Problem	21
	2.2	Dirichlet-Poisson Equations in Finite Networks	23
	2.3	Dirichlet Semi-Norm	32
	2.4	Schrödinger Operators on Finite Networks	34
3	Har	monic Function Theory on Infinite Networks	45
	3.1	Infinite Networks and the Laplace Operator	46
	3.2	Classification of Infinite Networks	52
		3.2.1 Harmonic Measure at Infinity of a Section	54
		3.2.2 Positive Harmonic Functions on a Network	58
		3.2.3 Integral Representation of Positive Harmonic Functions	60
	3.3	Hyperbolic Networks	62
	3.4	Parabolic Networks	70
	3.5	Flux at Infinity	78
	3.6	Pseudo-Potentials	87
4	Schi	rödinger Operators and Subordinate Structures	
	on I	nfinite Networks	91
	4.1	Local Properties of <i>q</i> -Superharmonic Functions	92
	4.2	Classification of <i>q</i> -Harmonic Networks	101
	4.3	Subordinate Structures	103

x Contents

5	Polyharmonic Functions on Trees		
	5.1	Polyharmonic Functions on Infinite Trees	111
	5.2	Polyharmonic Functions with Point Singularity	121
	5.3	Riesz-Martin Representation for Positive	
		<i>m</i> -Superharmonic Functions	129
Re	eferen	ices	133
In	dex		139

Chapter 1 Laplace Operators on Networks and Trees

Abstract This work is an autonomous study of functions on infinite networks reflecting potential theory on locally compact spaces, influenced by the function theory associated with random walks and electrical networks. Starting with an overview of the contents of the five chapters presented here, this chapter introduces harmonic and superharmonic functions and their basic properties in networks. A discrete version of the Green's formula is given and the Minimum Principle for superharmonic functions is proved. Infinite trees as a special case are seen to provide examples and motivations for the development of an abstract discrete function theory on infinite networks.

1.1 Introduction

A graph consists of a finite number of points (called vertices) and a finite number of lines (called edges) joining some of them. The graph theory studies the inter-relation between the vertices and the edges (for example, [66]). Now for some problems, the edges have to be oriented in which case the graph is called a digraph. It would be easier to represent a digraph by its incidence matrix of order $n \times m$, where m is the number of edges and n is the number of vertices, with entries -1,0 or 1. The interest in graph theory comes from the fact that many real-life situations can be represented as graphs.

Take for example, the postman problem: The postman collects the post from the post office and walks through all the streets in his beat, distributing the letters and finally returns to the post office. His problem is how well to choose a route so that, if possible, he does not go through any street more than once, yet covers all the streets. To solve this, we can think of each street corner as a vertex and each street as an edge, thus getting the model of a graph; the problem now reduces to finding a path that contains all the edges once and once only. Like this, there are other problems connected with chemical bonding, bus routes, work assignments etc. In some situations like bus routes, the distance between two vertices (that is, between

1

two bus stops) may be important. That is, each edge has a real number associated with it and then we have *weighted graphs*. It is interesting to study these *geometrical structures* of a graph for their own merit. But it would be more fruitful to represent a *physical problem* as a graph theory problem and try to solve it.

Though graph theory generally deals with a finite number of objects and their inter-connectedness where the geometrical aspects of graphs play a decisive role, yet there are also problems that involve functions on finite graphs. For example, consider a *finite electrical network*. This can be represented as a graph [32] provided with a voltage-current regime subject to *Ohm's law* and *Kirchhoff's voltage and current laws*. Here we are interested not only in the geometrical properties of a finite graph but also on functions defined on nodes and branches satisfying certain conditions. In this context, the incidence matrix of the graph takes care of the geometrical properties of the graph and for the function-theoretic aspects one introduces the *Laplace operator* Δ dependent on the incidence matrix and its transpose which can be considered as operators on functions defined on its edges and vertices.

There is another development which requires the study of *infinite graphs*. Consider finite difference approximations of equations in physics; some of them lead to partial difference equations [14]. The approximations to find a solution involve horizontal and vertical displacements and so can be treated as functions on an infinite grid in the context of electrical networks. Take for example, *wave equations*; the domain of existence of the solution may be unbounded, suggesting a problem in a graph with infinite vertices [73]. Another example of an infinite graph arises in the study of *Markov chains* [68]. A Markov chain consists of a countable number of states provided with a *transition probability* and the *Markov property* which says that given the present, the past and the future are independent.

The study of functions on infinite networks has thus far been carried out on the background of Markov chains and random walks or on the requirements of extending results from finite electrical networks to infinite networks. There are many common features in these two developments. Actually, a close connection has been established between the concepts like transition probabilities, transience, recurrence, hitting time etc. used in the probabilistic study of functions on infinite networks and the concepts like effective resistance, equilibrium principle, capacity etc. used in a current-voltage regime in electrical networks. The effective resistance has a close relation to the escape probability for a reversible Markov chain [59, 64] which is characterized by the transition probability from one state to another. The similarity between the conductance and the transition probability is obvious. Consequently, it is not uncommon to see a problem arising in the context of random walks being solved by electrical methods and conversely. The electrical methods make use of functional analysis techniques, starting with the Dirichlet norm (the discrete analogue of the energy integral in the classical case) and its associated inner-product. Thus, the abstract potential theory on infinite networks, as developed by Yamasaki [70], Soardi [63] and others, is a study of Dirichlet finite functions (modeled after Dirichlet functions in the classical potential theory) dealing with discrete analogues of the solution of Poisson equation, Green's function, extremal length, Royden decomposition and Royden compactification.

1.1 Introduction 3

The current work presents an autonomous study of functions on infinite networks influenced by potential theory on locally compact spaces which does not assign any direct role for the notion of derivatives of functions. Initially, finite networks provided with the Laplacian operator are taken up for the study, the development depending on algebraic methods starting with the incidence matrix. We can call this algebraic potential theory because of the association of the Laplacian (represented as a matrix) with electric potentials [24]. Later, infinite networks, with the Laplace operator defined as in the finite case, are taken up for consideration. In this situation, the development resembles the study of harmonic and subharmonic functions in the complex plane or more generally in \Re^n , n > 2 [10, 27, 53], and in the Brelot axiomatic potential theory [17, 28, 40]. Here the Dirichlet norm does not play a dominant role; nor are the probabilistic interpretations considered. However, in both the finite and the infinite cases, the important basic properties and significant results like the equilibrium principle, the condenser principle, the capacity etc. that are related to an electrical network come as solutions to the following Dirichlet-Poisson problem on the (finite or infinite) graph X, namely: Let F be a subset of the vertex set X. Suppose f and q are real-valued functions on X. Then, find u defined on the vertex set X satisfying the conditions $\Delta u = f$ at each vertex in F and u = g on $X \setminus F$.

The present work is rather like a discrete version of function theory on Riemann surfaces [3, 39, 58, 65] and Riemannian manifolds [60], devoid of any attempt to connect it to any of the many important works on electrical networks and random walks. We develop a function theory on networks similar to the classical and the axiomatic potential theory on Euclidean spaces and on locally compact spaces. The basic definitions of potentials, Green's kernel, balayage etc. are introduced here as in the case of the Brelot axiomatic theory rather than as in the theory of probability ([31] for example). Yamasaki [69, 70] also has proved many potential theoretic results in an infinite network without involving the methods used in the study of random walks. However his study is based on Dirichlet norms and functional analysis methods, resembling potential theory on Dirichlet spaces studied by Deny [41,42], Beurling and Deny [22,23], Fukushima [46], Bouleau and Hirsch [26] and others. These methods are not convenient if we have to study potential theory on infinite networks in which the only non-negative potential is 0. Thus a deeper study of infinite networks without positive potentials as in the case of parabolic Riemann surfaces becomes cumbersome. Under these circumstances, the approach we have adopted here is easy to deal with situations in infinite networks that resemble those of Riemann surfaces that are hyperbolic or parabolic.

Chapter 1 is devoted to some preliminary remarks concerning networks and trees, the interior and the boundary of subsets in a network, inner and outer normal derivatives, Green's formulas, the definition and some properties of superharmonic functions and the minimum principle.

Chapter 2 brings into focus certain aspects of potential theory on *finite networks*. The Laplacian is represented by a matrix and the properties of this matrix lead to the minimum principle, domination principle, equilibrium principle and solutions to some mixed boundary-value problems like Poisson-Dirichlet problem and Neumann

problem in a finite network. It is easy then to consider in a similar vein the Schrödinger operators in finite networks. These results in a finite network are already proved in Bendito et al. [20] by assuming the symmetry of conductance and then constructing equilibrium measures appropriate to each principle. Ours is a unified method based on the inverses of certain sub-matrices of the Laplace matrix.

Chapter 3 deals with the classification theory of infinite networks. It starts with the first broad division of networks into *hyperbolic and parabolic networks*, depending on whether it is possible or not to define the *Green kernel* on the network. A hyperbolic network is further classified based on the existence of non-constant positive and bounded harmonic functions on the network. This leads to the *Riesz-Martin representation* of positive superharmonic functions on a hyperbolic network. Later a study of parabolic networks is taken up, starting with the construction of a kernel like $\log |x-y|$ in the plane. The notion of *flux at infinity* of a superharmonic function is discussed in detail. Balayage and Dirichlet problem on arbitrary subsets of a parabolic network receive attention. Then, an introductory study of *pseudo-potentials* (similar to logarithmic potentials in the plane) follows.

Chapter 4 is devoted to the potential theory on an infinite network X associated to the $Schr\ddot{o}dinger\ operator\ \Delta u(x)-q(x)u(x),$ for an arbitrary real-valued function q(x) and then more specifically when $q(x) \geq \frac{\Delta \xi(x)}{\xi(x)}$ for some function $\xi>0$ on X. This condition implies that q can take negative values, but ensures that there exists a positive q-superharmonic function on X. With respect to this operator, the topics like generalised Dirchlet problem, balayage, condenser principle, equilibrium principle, etc. are investigated. This example of two related harmonic structures, one from the Laplace operator and the other from the Schrödinger operator, in the same infinite network is later generalised to study the relation between a basic harmonic structure and a subordinate harmonic structure on X.

Chapter 5 takes up the study of polyharmonic functions on an infinite tree T. A real-valued function s on X is said to be polysuperharmonic of order m or simply m-superharmonic (for an integer $m \geq 1$) if $(-\Delta)^m s \geq 0$. Actually, to characterize m-superharmonic and m-harmonic functions, we build up on the solutions u to the Poisson equation $\Delta u = f$ for an arbitrary real-valued function f on f. Since the solutions to this equation are not easily available in an arbitrary network, we have to confine our study of polyharmonic functions defined on a tree f only. For polysuperharmonic functions on f, Laurent decomposition, f-harmonic Green functions, domination principle, balayage etc. are obtained. Finally, the Riesz-Martin representation for positive f-superharmonic functions is exhibited.

1.2 Preliminaries

Let X be a countable (finite or infinite) set of points, called vertices, some of them pair-wise joined by edges; we say that the edge [x,y] joins the vertices x and y. Let Y denote the set of edges which are assumed to be countable. Denote $x \sim y$ to mean

1.2 Preliminaries 5

that there is an edge [x,y] joining x and y, in which case the vertices x and y are said to be neighbours. A vertex e is named terimal if it has only one neighbour. A walk from x to y is a collection of vertices $\{x=x_0,x_1,...,x_n=y\}$ where $x_i\sim x_{i+1}$ if $0\leq i\leq n-1$; for this walk, the length is n. If the vertices in the walk are distinct, the walk is referred to as a path. The shortest length d(x,y) between x and y is called the distance between <math>x and y. We also assume that given any two vertices x and y, there exists an associated non-negative number, called conductance, $t(x,y)\geq 0$ such that t(x,y)>0 if and only if $x\sim y$. Then $N=\{X,Y,t\}$ is called a network if the following conditions are also satisfied:

- 1. There is no *self-loop* in N, that is no edge of the form [x, x] in Y.
- 2. Given any vertices x and y in X, there is a path connecting x and y. (That is, X is *connected*.)
- 3. Every $x \in X$ has only a finite number of neighbours. (That is, X is *locally finite*.)

Instead of writing $N=\{X,Y,t\}$, we simply write X to refer to a network. If t(x,y)=t(y,x) for every pair of vertices x and y, then we say that X is a network with symmetric conductance. A network X is called a tree if there is no cycle in X, that is there is no closed path $\{x_1,x_2,...,x_n,x_1\}$ with $n\geq 3$. An infinite tree T is said to be homogeneous of degree q+1, if each vertex in T has (q+1) neighbours. A tree T is said to be a standard homogeneous tree of degree q+1 if every vertex in T has exactly (q+1) neighbours and $t(x,y)=(q+1)^{-1}$ if $x\sim y$. If a tree T is considered in the context of probability, we denote the conductance as p(x,y) instead of t(x,y), so that $\sum_{y\sim x}p(x,y)=1$ for any $x\in T$. We refer to p(x,y) as the transition probability from x to y. It is important to note that in a tree T, if x and y are any two vertices, then there exists a unique path joining x and y.

For any subset E of a network X, we write $\stackrel{0}{E}=\{x:x \text{ and all its neighbours are in }E\}$ and $\partial E=E\setminus \stackrel{0}{E}$. $\stackrel{0}{E}$ is referred to as the *interior* of E and ∂E is referred to as the *boundary* of E. This definition of boundary differs from the one used by Chung and Yau [35] and Bendito et al. [18]. According to them, $y\notin E$ is a boundary point of E if and only if there exists a vertex E in E such that E and the collection of these boundary points is the boundary E of E. However, the definition of the boundary E given here is preferable in the case of infinite networks, since for many boundary-value problems like the Dirichlet problem the boundary function will be defined on E only. So it is convenient to define the boundary E as a subset of E rather than as a subset lying outside E. Note that for a non-empty subset E, we have $E=\stackrel{0}{E}$ if and only if E as at least one neighbour in E. That is, E is circled if and only if E is a circled if and only if E if we use the notation of Bendito et al. [20].

Example: Let e be a fixed vertex. For any vertex x, let |x| denote the distance between e and x. Then $B_m = \{x : |x| \le m\}$ is circled. For an example of a non-circled set, we can consider in a homogeneous tree of degree q + 1, $q \ge 2$, the set

E consisting of B_m and one more vertex z, |z| = m+1, and the edge connecting z to B_m . Write V(E) to denote the union of E and all the neighbours of each vertex of E, that is $V(E) = E \cup \{y : y \sim x \text{ for some } x \in E\}$. In particular, V(x) denotes the set consisting of x and all its neighbours. Remark that if E is connected, V(E) also is connected. Also note that for any set E, V(E) is circled. For, if F = V(E), then $E \subset F$. Hence if $z \in \partial F$, then by definition, z has a neighbour in E and hence in F. Note that V(E) is the same as $E = E \cup \delta E$ in the notations of [20].

For $x \in X$, write $E_1 = V(x)$. Then, E_1 is connected and circled. Let $E_2 = V(E_1)$ which is also connected and circled. Inductively, define $E_n = V(E_{n-1})$ for $n \geq 3$. Then $\{E_n\}$ is an increasing sequence of finite, connected and circled sets such that $E_{n+1} \supset E_n$ and $X = \bigcup_n E_n$, which is referred to as a regular exhaustion of X. For any subset A in X, A^c denotes $X \setminus A$, the complement of A in X.

Proposition 1.2.1. Let A be circled, and $B = \overset{\circ}{A}^c$. Then $\partial B = \partial A$ and $\overset{0}{B} = A^c$; also, B is circled.

Proof. Note $B=\overset{\circ}{A}^c=A^c\bigcup\partial A.$ Let $z\in\partial A.$ Then, for some $y\in\overset{0}{A},\,y\sim z;$ thus $z\in\partial A\subset B,$ but a neighbour y of z is not in B, hence $z\in\partial B.$ Conversely, let $b\in\partial B.$ Then, $b\sim a$ for some $a\in X\setminus B=\overset{0}{A}.$ Since $a\in\overset{0}{A}$ and $a\sim b,$ we should have $b\in A\setminus\overset{0}{A},$ which means $b\in\partial A.$ Consequently, $\partial B=\partial A$ and $\overset{0}{B}=A^c.$ To show that B is circled, take $b\in\partial B.$ Since $\partial B=\partial A,b$ should have a

To show that B is circled, take $b \in \partial B$. Since $\partial B = \partial A$, b should have a neighbour $a \in A^c = \overset{0}{B}$. Hence B is circled.

Proposition 1.2.2. Let E be an arbitrary set and $F = V(\stackrel{0}{E})$. Then $\stackrel{0}{E} = \stackrel{0}{F}$ and $\partial F \subset \partial E$; also F is the largest circled set contained in E.

Proof. By definition, $\overset{0}{E}\subset \overset{0}{F}$. Since $F\subset E$, we also have $\overset{0}{F}\subset \overset{0}{E}$. Hence $\overset{0}{E}=\overset{0}{F}$. To see $\partial F\subset \partial E$, first note that $\partial F\cap \overset{0}{E}=\partial F\cap \overset{0}{F}=\phi$. Then, $\overset{0}{E}\cup \partial F=\overset{0}{F}\cup \partial F=F\subset E=\overset{0}{E}\cup \partial E$ implies that $\partial F\subset \partial E$. $V(\overset{0}{E})$ is circled by definition and $V(\overset{0}{E})\subset E$.

Suppose the circled set $A \subset E$. Then $\overset{0}{A} \subset \overset{0}{E}$. Let $x \in \partial A$. Then there exists $z \in \overset{0}{A}$ such that $x \sim z$. Since $z \in \overset{0}{E}$ and $z \sim x$, we find that $x \in F$. Hence $\partial A \subset F$. Then, $A = \overset{0}{A} \cup \partial A \subset \overset{0}{E} \cup F = \overset{0}{F} \cup F = F$.

A lower semi-continuous function $u > -\infty$ on an open set ω in the Euclidean space \Re^n , $n \geq 2$, is said to be *superharmonic* on ω if u is not identically ∞ and if for each $a \in \omega$, there exists a closed ball $B(a,R) \subset \omega$ such that $u(a) \geq \int\limits_S u(a+r\xi)d\sigma(\xi)$ if $0 < r \leq R$. Here S is the unit sphere and σ is the normalised surface area measure on S, so that $\sigma(S) = 1$. Suppose u is a locally Lebesgue integrable

7 1.2 Preliminaries

function on ω such that $\Delta u < 0$ in the sense of distributions. Then, there exists a superharmonic function v on ω such that v=u a.e. [27, p.43]. In analogy with this result, superharmonic functions on a network are defined as follows:

We consider now functions defined on subsets of a network X. In this presentation, we assume that all functions are real-valued.

1. For $x \in X$, and for a function f defined on V(x), define the Laplacian

$$\Delta f(x) = \sum_{x \sim x_i} t(x, x_i) [f(x_i) - f(x)] = -t(x) f(x) + \sum_{x \sim x_i} t(x, x_i) f(x_i),$$

where $t(x) = \sum_{x \sim x_i} t(x, x_i)$; note t(x) > 0 for any $x \in X$.

- 2. We say that f is harmonic (respectively superharmonic, subharmonic) at x if $\Delta f(x) = 0$ (respectively $\Delta f(x) \leq 0$, $\Delta f(x) \geq 0$). A function f defined on an arbitrary set E is said to be harmonic (respectively superharmonic, subharmonic) on E if and only if $\Delta f(x) = 0$ (respectively $\Delta f(x) < 0$, $\Delta f(x) \geq 0$) for every $x \in \stackrel{0}{E}$.
- Remark 1.2.1. 1. Some authors prefer to define a real-valued function u as a harmonic function on E provided its Laplacian is 0 at every vertex of E. This presupposes that u is defined on V(E). But for the topics we discuss here, such as the Dirichlet problem, the minimum principle, the condenser principle etc. u is either not defined outside E or its value outside E is not of consequence. Hence, it becomes important to distinguish between the interior and the boundary vertices of E.
- 2. It is possible, in the definition of a network X, to leave out the condition that each vertex has only a finite number neighbours. But then, we should assume that $\sum_{y\sim x} t(x,y) < \infty$ for all x in X; also, instead of defining the Laplacian Δf

for any real-valued function on f on X, we should confine ourselves to those real-valued functions u on X for which $\sum\limits_{y\sim x} t(x,y)\,|u(y)|<\infty$ for any x in X. In that case, $\sum\limits_{y\sim x} t(x,y)\,[u(y)-u(x)]$ will make sense, since

$$\sum_{y \sim x} t(x, y) |u(y) - u(x)| \le \sum_{y \sim x} t(x, y) |u(y)| + |u(x)| \sum_{y \sim x} t(x, y)$$

for any x in X.

Proposition 1.2.3. If u and v are superharmonic on a subset E of X and if α , β are two non-negative constants, then $\alpha u + \beta v$ and $\inf(u, v)$ are superharmonic on E. Moreover, if u_n is a convergent sequence of superharmonic functions on E such that $u(x) = \lim u_n(x)$ is finite for every vertex in E, then u is superharmonic on E.

Proof. If $x \in \stackrel{0}{E}$, then by hypothesis $\Delta u(x) \leq 0$ and $\Delta v(x) \leq 0$. Hence

$$\Delta(\alpha u + \beta v)(x) = \alpha \Delta u(x) + \beta \Delta v(x) \le 0.$$

Hence, $\alpha u + \beta v$ is superharmonic on X.

To show that $s=\inf(u,v)$ also is superharmonic on E, that is $s(x)=\inf(u(x),v(x))$ for $x\in E$, assume without loss of generality that s(x)=u(x). Then,

$$\Delta s(x) = \sum_{x_i \sim x} t(x, x_i)[s(x_i) - s(x)]$$

$$= \sum_{x_i \sim x} t(x, x_i)[s(x_i) - u(x)]$$

$$\leq \sum_{x_i \sim x} t(x, x_i)[u(x_i) - u(x)]$$

$$= \Delta u(x) < 0.$$

Hence, $s = \inf(u, v)$ is superharmonic on E.

Finally concerning the limit of superharmonic functions, for any $x \in \stackrel{0}{E}$,

$$t(x)u_n(x) \ge \sum_{y \sim x} t(x, y)u_n(y).$$

Since the summation is over a finite number of terms, taking limits we conclude

$$t(x)u(x) \ge \sum_{y \sim x} t(x, y)u(y).$$

That is, u is superharmonic on E.

Remark 1.2.2. In the classical potential theory, we should pay more attention when we consider the limit of superharmonic functions on an open set. If v_n is an increasing sequence of superharmonic functions on a domain ω , and if $v=\sup v_n$ is finite at one point in ω , then v is superharmonic on ω . But if $u_n\geq 0$ is a decreasing sequence of superharmonic functions on ω , then $u=\inf u_n$ need not be superharmonic on ω . However, there is a superharmonic function s on ω such that s=u a.e. on ω . In fact, the second statement is a simplified version of the convergence theorem for superharmonic functions in the classical potential theory [27, pp. 74–78].

1.2.1 Examples of Superharmonic Functions on Networks

1. The constants are the only superharmonic functions on a finite network X. For, let s be a superharmonic function on X. Let z be a vertex in X such that $s(z) \le s(x)$

1.2 Preliminaries 9

for every
$$x$$
 in X . Now $\Delta s(z) \leq 0$ which implies that $0 \geq \Delta s(z) = \sum\limits_{x_i \sim z} t(z, x_i)[s(x_i) - s(z)] \geq 0$, since $s(z) \leq s(x)$.

Consequently, $s(x_i) = s(z)$ for all $x_i \sim z$. Since X is connected, any x in X can be connected by a path $\{z, x_1, x_2, ..., x_n = x\}$. Then, the above argument shows that $s(x_1) = s(z)$, then $s(x_2) = s(x_1) = s(z)$ and so on. This permits us to conclude that finally s(x) = s(z). We conclude therefore that s is a constant on X.

- 2. Example of an infinite network in which every harmonic function is constant, but non-constant superharmonic functions exist. Let $X = \{0, 1, 2, ...\}$ be an infinite network, with t(0,1) = 1, $t(1,0) = \frac{1}{2}$ and $t(n,n+1) = t(n+1,n) = \frac{1}{2}$ if $n \ge 1$.
 - (a) Any harmonic function on X is a constant. For, let h be a harmonic function on X, and suppose h(0) = a. Then,

$$0 = \Delta h(0) = t(0,1)[h(1) - h(0)]$$
, so that $h(1) = h(0) = a$. Again,

$$0 = \Delta h(1) = t(1,0)[h(0) - h(1)] + t(1,2)[h(2) - h(1)],$$
 so that $h(2) = h(1) = a$.

Similar calculations show that h(n) = a for all $n \ge 0$.

- (b) However, non-constant superharmonic functions exist on X. For example, set $s(n) = a n\alpha$, $n \ge 0$, $\alpha > 0$. Then, $\Delta s(0) = -\alpha < 0$ and $\Delta s(n) = 0$ if $n \ge 1$. We say that s is a superharmonic function on X with *point harmonic support* at 0, since s is harmonic at every vertex except 0 and at the vertex 0, s is superharmonic but not harmonic.
- 3. Example of an infinite tree with non-constant positive superharmonic functions. Let T be a standard homogeneous tree of degree 3, that is every vertex has exactly 3 neighbours and the transition probability $p(x,y)=\frac{1}{3}$ if $x\sim y$. Let us fix a vertex e in T. For any vertex x in T, there is a unique path from e to x and let us denote the length of this path as |x|=d(e,x). Note that for any vertex x in T, with $|x|=n\geq 1$, there is one vertex y with |y|=n-1 and two vertices z with |z|=n+1. Let $s(x)=2^{1-|x|}$. Then,

$$\Delta s(x) = \frac{1}{3} \left[2^{1-(n-1)} - 2^{1-n} \right] + \frac{2}{3} \left[2^{1-(n+1)} - 2^{1-n} \right] = 0,$$
 if $|x| = n > 1$, and

$$\begin{split} \Delta s(e) &= \sum_{y \sim e} p(e, y) \left[s(y) - s(e) \right] \\ &= \sum_{y \sim e} \frac{1}{3} \left[1 - 2 \right] = -1. \end{split}$$

Hence, s is a positive superharmonic function on T with point harmonic support at e.

4. Example of a tree with non-constant positive harmonic functions. Let $T = \{..., -3, -2, -1, 0, 1, 2, 3, ...\}$ be a tree, each vertex n having only two neighbours, with the transition probabilities $p(n, n+1) = \frac{3}{4}$ and $p(n, n-1) = \frac{1}{4}$ for any n. Then, $h(n) = 3^{-n}$ is a positive harmonic function on T. For,

$$\Delta h(n) = \frac{3}{4} \left[h(n+1) - h(n) \right] + \frac{1}{4} \left[h(n-1) - h(n) \right]$$
$$= \frac{3}{4} \left[3^{-n-1} - 3^{-n} \right] + \frac{1}{4} \left[3^{-n+1} - 3^{-n} \right] = 0.$$

Let s(n)=1 if $n\leq 0$ and $s(n)=3^{-n}$ if n>0, that is $s=\inf(h(n),1)$. Then, $\Delta s(0)=-\frac{1}{2}$ and $\Delta s(n)=0$ if $n\neq 0$. Hence, s is a bounded positive superharmonic function with point harmonic support at the vertex 0.

5. Example of a lattice in which non-constant positive superharmonic functions exist but every positive harmonic function is constant. Let X be the set of lattice points in \Re^3 , of the form (a,b,c) where a,b and c take the values ..., -2,-1,0,1,2,... Take t(x,y)=1 if $x\sim y$, otherwise t(x,y)=0. Then, Courant constructs in the context of random walk and diffusion in a lattice [45, Sect. 3] the Green function g(a,b,c)>0 such that $\Delta g(0,0,0)=-1$, $\Delta g(a,b,c)=0$ otherwise, and $g(a,b,c)\to 0$ when $a^2+b^2+c^2\to\infty$. Duffin obtains various asymptotic properties of g(a,b,c) and proves that any positive harmonic function on X is a constant.

1.3 Green's Formulas

We shall prove now a version of the Green's formula in an infinite network and in a tree, motivated by a result of Duffin's in the above-mentioned discrete situation of lattice points in the Euclidean space \Re^3 , of the form (a,b,c) where a,b and c take on the values ..., -2,-1,0,1,2,... For a real-valued function u on these lattice points, Duffin defines the Laplace operator D as

$$Du(a,b,c) = u(a+1,b,c) + u(a-1,b,c) + u(a,b+1,c) + u(a,b-1,c) + u(a,b,c+1) + u(a,b,c-1) - 6u(a,b,c).$$

Concerning the operator D, Duffin [45, p.233] remarks: In physical problems the operator D is often used as an approximation to Δ . There are, however, some problems in which D appears directly, such as random walk and diffusion in a lattice. This concerns the motion of a particle which at each lattice point has an equal probability of jumping to a neighbouring lattice point. Another direct application arises if the lattice lines are regarded as metallic wires. This gives an infinite electrical network. If the electric potential of the lattice points is denoted by

1.3 Green's Formulas

u, then at every insulated lattice point, Du = 0. At a source point, Du = -w where w is the current entering this lattice point. These physical models are of suggestive value for the analysis of D.

Using this operator D, the classical Green's formula

$$\iint_{\Omega} (f\Delta g - g\Delta f)d\sigma = \int_{\partial \Omega} \left(f\frac{\partial g}{\partial n} - g\frac{\partial f}{\partial n} \right)ds$$

is shown to take the following form in the discrete case [45, Lemma 1]: Let u and v be lattice functions and let E be a finite set of lattice points. Then

$$\sum_{E} (uDv - vDu) = \sum_{S} [v(p)u(q) - u(p)v(q)].$$

Here $\sum\limits_E$ denotes the summation over E and $\sum\limits_S$ denotes the summation over the set S of points (p,q) where p and q are neighbours, p being in E and q being in the complement of E.

Such a formula in the discrete analysis on graphs [67] and in the framework of finite networks [18, Proposition 3.1] is known. Now, we have defined the Laplacian only for the interior vertices of E. A useful similar operator at the boundary vertices is the inner normal derivative [1]. If f is a function defined on a subset E of X, and if $\xi \in \partial E$, then the *inner normal derivative* of f at ξ is defined as

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial n^{-}} f(\xi) = \sum_{y \in E} t(\xi, y) [f(y) - f(\xi)].$$

If f is defined on X, and for a subset E, if $\xi \in \partial E$ then the *outer normal derivative* of f at ξ is defined as

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial n^+} f(\xi) = \sum_{y \notin E} t(\xi, y) [f(y) - f(\xi)].$$

Note that in the case of f being defined on X, if $\xi \in \partial E$, then

$$\Delta f(\xi) = \frac{\partial}{\partial n^{+}} f(\xi) + \frac{\partial}{\partial n^{-}} f(\xi).$$

Let E be a subset of X. Let us say that an edge L in X is an edge in E if and only if both the ends of L are vertices in E. Then, E can be considered as a graph, maybe not connected. Let us denote by Δ_E^{\bullet} the restriction of Δ to the subset E. That is, for any function f on E, $\Delta_E^{\bullet}f(x) = \Delta f(x)$ if $x \in E$, and $\Delta_E^{\bullet}f(\xi) = \frac{\partial}{\partial n^-}f(\xi)$ if $\xi \in \partial E$.

Proposition 1.3.1. Let E be a finite subset of a network X with symmetric conductance. Let f be a function on E. Then, $\sum_{x\in \overset{0}{E}}\Delta f(x)=-\sum_{\xi\in\partial E}\frac{\partial}{\partial n^-}f(\xi).$

Proof. Note that
$$\sum_{z\in E} \Delta_E^{\bullet} f(z) = \sum_{x\in E} \Delta f(x) + \sum_{\xi\in\partial E} \Delta_E^{\bullet} f(\xi) = \sum_{x\in E} \Delta f(x) + \sum_{x\in E} \Delta_E^{\bullet} f(\xi)$$
. But $\sum_{z\in E} \Delta_E^{\bullet} f(z) = \sum_{y,z\in E} t(z,y)[f(y)-f(z)] = 0$, for in the second sum, corresponding to each term $t(z,y)[f(y)-f(z)]$ appearing in the sum, there is a term $t(y,z)[f(z)-f(y)]$ which cancels it out since $t(z,y)=t(y,z)$, with the assumption of the symmetric conductance. Hence we obtain the proposition. \square

Note. If s is a harmonic function on a finite subset E, the expression $\sum_{\xi \in \partial E} \frac{\partial}{\partial n^-} s(\xi)$ is known as the *total inward flux of s on E*. Thus, the total inward flux of a harmonic function h on a finite set E should be 0. Given two functions f and g on a finite subset E of X, we write

$$(f,g)_E = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{x,y \in E} t(x,y)[f(x) - f(y)][g(x) - g(y)].$$

The following is a slight variant of the results given in Bendito et al. [18].

Theorem 1.3.2. (Green's formula) Let f and g be two functions defined on a finite set E in a network X with symmetric conductance. Then, $\sum_{x \in E} f(x) \Delta g(x) + \sum_{x \in E} f(x) \Delta g(x) + \sum_{x \in E} f(x) \Delta g(x)$

$$(f,g)_E = -\sum_{\xi \in \partial E} f(\xi) \frac{\partial}{\partial n^-} g(\xi).$$

Proof. Extend f and g arbitrarily outside E. Then, for $x\in E,$ $\Delta g(x)=\sum\limits_{y\in X}t(x,y)[g(y)-g(x)]$ so that

$$\begin{split} \sum_{x \in E} f(x) \Delta g(x) &= \sum_{x \in E} \sum_{y \in X} t(x,y) f(x) [g(y) - g(x)] \\ &= \sum_{x \in E} \sum_{y \in E} t(x,y) f(x) [g(y) - g(x)] \\ &+ \sum_{x \in E} \sum_{y \notin E} t(x,y) f(x) [g(y) - g(x)]. \end{split}$$

On the right side, in the first sum there are two terms t(x,y)f(x)[g(y)-g(x)] and t(y,x)f(y)[g(x)-g(y)] whose sum is -t(x,y)[f(y)-f(x)][g(y)-g(x)]; in the second sum, t(x,y)>0 if and only if $x\in\partial E$ since $y\notin E$, so that it can be rewritten as

$$\sum_{\xi\in\partial E}f(\xi)\frac{\partial}{\partial n^+}g(\xi)=\sum_{\xi\in\partial E}f(\xi)[\Delta g(\xi)-\frac{\partial}{\partial n^-}g(\xi)].$$

Consequently,
$$\sum_{x \in E} f(x) \Delta g(x) = -(f,g)_E - \sum_{\xi \in \partial E} f(\xi) \frac{\partial}{\partial n^-} g(\xi)$$
.

Corollary 1.3.3. Let f and g be two functions defined on a finite set E in a network X with symmetric conductance. Then, $\sum\limits_{0 \atop E}[f\Delta g-g\Delta f]=-\sum\limits_{\partial E}[f\frac{\partial g}{\partial n^-}-g\frac{\partial f}{\partial n^-}].$

Proof. Since $(f,g)_E = (g,f)_E$, the corollary follows from the above theorem. \square

Remark 1.3.1. Suppose X is an infinite network with symmetric conductance. Then $\partial X = \phi$. The question is whether the above Green's Formula will yield the dissipation formula $(f,f) = -\sum_{x \in X} f(x) \Delta f(x)$. Kayano and Yamasaki [51] study the class of functions f for which this formula is satisfied.

1.4 Minimum Principle

Proposition 1.4.1. Let E be circled and E be connected. If s is a superharmonic function on E that attains its minimum at a vertex in E, then s is constant.

Proof. Let $\alpha=\inf_E s(x)$. By hypothesis, there is a vertex $y\in \stackrel{0}{E}$ such that $s(y)=\alpha$. Let $z\in \stackrel{0}{E}$ be an arbitrary vertex. Since $\stackrel{0}{E}$ is connected, there is a path $\{y,z_1,...,z_n=z\}$ connecting y and z. Since $0\geq \Delta s(y)=\sum t(y,y_i)[s(y_i)-s(y)]$, and s(y) is the minimum value, we conclude that $s(y_i)=s(y)=\alpha$ for every $y_i\sim y$. In particular, $s(z_1)=\alpha$. Proceeding step-by-step, we arrive at the value $s(z)=\alpha$. Since $z\in \stackrel{0}{E}$ is an arbitrary vertex, $s(x)=\alpha$ for all $x\in \stackrel{0}{E}$.

Let $\xi \in \partial E$. Since E is circled, for some $x \in \stackrel{0}{E}$, $x \sim \xi$. Hence, by the earlier remarks, $s(x) = \alpha$ and $s(\xi) = \alpha$. Consequently, $s \equiv \alpha$ on E.

Remark 1.4.1. In particular, if $s \ge 0$ is superharmonic on X and if s(x) = 0 at a vertex x in X, then $s \equiv 0$.

A variation of the above Proposition 1.4.1 is the following.

Theorem 1.4.2. (Minimum Principle) Let E be an arbitrary proper subset of X. Let s be a superharmonic function on E, attaining its minimum on E. Then $\inf_{\partial E} s = \inf_{E} s$.

Proof. Let $\alpha = \inf_{\partial E} s$ and $\beta = \inf_{E} s$. Then, $\alpha \geq \beta > -\infty$. Suppose $\alpha > \beta$.

Then $s(z) = \beta$ for some $z \in \stackrel{0}{E}$, by hypothesis. Choose $y \notin E$. There is a path $\{z = x_0, x_1, ..., x_n = y\}$ connecting z and y. Let i be such that $x_k \in \stackrel{0}{E}$ for all $k \le i$ and $x_{i+1} \notin \stackrel{0}{E}$. Then i < n.

$$k \leq i \text{ and } x_{i+1} \notin \overset{0}{E}$$
 . Then $i < n$. Now, $\beta t(z) = t(z)s(z) \geq \sum\limits_{z_i \sim z} t(z,z_i)s(z_i) \geq \beta \sum\limits_{z_i \sim z} t(z,z_i) = \beta t(z)$.

It is clear then $s(z_j) = \beta$ for every $z_j \sim z$. In particular $s(x_1) = \beta$. Continuing this process, we see that $s(x_{i+1}) = \beta$. Now $x_{i+1} \notin E$, but $x_{i+1} \sim x_i \in E$. Hence $x_{i+1} \in \partial E$. Consequently, $\inf_{x \in \partial E} s(x) \leq \beta$, which is a contradiction. This proves $\alpha = \beta$.

Corollary 1.4.3. Let E be a finite subset of X. Let u be superharmonic on E and h be subharmonic on E such that $u \ge h$ on ∂E . Then, $u \ge h$ on E.

Proof. Let s = u - h on E. Then, s is a superharmonic function on E such that $s \ge 0$ on ∂E . Since E is a finite set, s attains its minimum value on E. Hence, by the Minimum Principle, $s \ge 0$ on E; that is, $u \ge h$ on E.

The above corollary is very useful on many occasions in the following forms:

- (a) Let E be a finite subset of X. Let u be a superharmonic function on E. Then, for any x in E, $u(x) \geq \inf_{z \in \partial E} u(z)$.
- (b) Let h_1, h_2 be two harmonic functions on a finite subset E of X. If $h_1 = h_2$ on ∂E , then $h_1 = h_2$ on E.
- (c) Let h be a harmonic function defined on a finite subset E of X. Then for any $x \in E$, $\inf_{z \in \partial E} h(z) \leq h(x) \leq \sup_{z \in \partial E} h(z)$.

However, for the above assertions, the assumption that E is a finite set is important. For, consider the following example of an infinite subset E where the minimum principle in the form stated above is not valid:

Let $X=\{0,1,2,3,...\}$ and $E=\{1,2,3,...\}$ with t(n,n+1)=a if $n\geq 0$, t(n,n-1)=b if $n\geq 1, a+b=1,$ and a>b. Then, $\overset{0}{E}=\{2,3,4,...\}$ and $\partial E=\{1\}$. Let $h(n)=\left(\frac{b}{a}\right)^n$ for $n\geq 0$. Then, for $n\geq 2$,

$$ah(n+1) + bh(n-1) = a\left(\frac{b}{a}\right)^{n+1} + b\left(\frac{b}{a}\right)^{n-1}$$
$$= \left(\frac{b}{a}\right)^n \left[a \cdot \frac{b}{a} + b \cdot \frac{a}{b}\right]$$
$$= \left(\frac{b}{a}\right)^n \left[b + a\right] = \left(\frac{b}{a}\right)^n$$
$$= h(n).$$

Hence, h is harmonic on E and bounded also. But $h(x) \leq h(1) = \inf_{z \in \partial E} h(z)$ for all x in E.

It is possible however to obtain useful modified minimum principles as given below. (Remark that corresponding to the minimum principle for superharmonic functions, we can prove a maximum principle for subharmonic functions. This is because a function u is subharmonic if and only if -u is superharmonic.)

Proposition 1.4.4. Assume that there exists a function p > 0 on X such that for any superharmonic function s on X, if $p + s \ge 0$ on X, then $s \ge 0$ on X. Let u be a subharmonic function on an arbitrary proper subset E of X such that $u \le p$ on E. If $u \le 0$ on ∂E , then $u \le 0$ on E.

Proof. Let $v = \sup\{u, 0\}$. Then, v is subharmonic on E and v = 0 on ∂E . If v is thought of as a function defined on X by taking values 0 outside E, then v is subharmonic on X and $v \le p$ on X. Since $p - v \ge 0$ on X, by the assumption $-v \ge 0$, that is $v \le 0$ on X and hence $u \le 0$ on E.

Proposition 1.4.5. Suppose every positive superharmonic function on X is a constant. Let s be a lower bounded superharmonic function on an arbitrary proper subset E of X such that $s \ge m$ on ∂E . Then, $s \ge m$ on E.

Proof. Suppose $s \geq \lambda$ on E. Let $v = \inf\{s, m\}$. Then, v is superharmonic on E and v = m on ∂E . By giving values m outside E, we shall assume that v is defined on X. Then, v is superharmonic and also lower bounded on X. Hence by the assumption, v is a constant which should be m. This implies that $s \geq m$ on E.

Example of a tree in which any positive superharmonic function is a constant: Let T be a homogeneous tree, each vertex having exactly 3 neighbours. Fix a vertex e and for $x \in T$, write |x| = d(e,x) = the length of the unique path joining e

to x. Note that for any $n \geq 1$, if $E_n = \{x: |x| \leq n\}$, then $E_n = E_{n-1}$ and $\partial E_n = \{x: |x| = n\}$. For $|x| = n \geq 1$, define $p(x,y) = \frac{1}{2}$ if $y \sim x$ and |y| = n-1 and $p(x,y) = \frac{1}{4}$ if $y \sim x$ and |y| = n+1; define $p(e,y) = \frac{1}{3}$ for each $y \sim e$. Let h(x) = |x|. It is easy to check that $\Delta h(e) = 1$ and $\Delta h(x) = 0$ if $x \neq e$.

Suppose s>0 is a superharmonic function on T. Let $\alpha=\inf_{|x|\leq m}s(x)$, so that for some $z,|z|\leq m,$ $\alpha=s(z)\leq s(x)$ for all $x\in E_m$. Let y be an arbitrary vertex in T such that |y|>m. Let n be a large integer, n>|y|. Define $h_n(x)=\alpha\frac{n-|x|}{n-m}$, which is harmonic at every $x\neq e$. Note then on ∂E_m , $s(x)\geq \alpha=h_n(x)$ and on ∂E_n , $s(x)>0=h_n(x)$. Then, by the Minimum Principle (Corollary 1.4.3), $s(x)\geq h_n(x)$ on $E_n\setminus E_m$. In particular, $s(y)\geq h_n(y)$. Allow $n\to\infty$ to conclude that $s(y)\geq \alpha$. As a consequence, we conclude that $s(x)\geq \alpha$ for all $x\in T$. But $s(z)=\alpha$, that is the superharmonic function attains its minimum on T. Hence s is a constant (Proposition 1.4.1).

1.5 Infinite Trees

A network need not have a symmetric conductance as in the case of the important example of random walks where the probability of transition p(x,y) from a state x to a state y may not be the same as the probability of transition p(y,x) from y to x. In such cases, defining $t(x,y)=\frac{1}{2}[p(x,y)+p(y,x)]$, we can obtain some useful results. In some other occasions, the network may be a tree, in which case a different method of obtaining symmetric conductance can be used.

An infinite tree T is a connected, locally finite, infinite graph without self-loops; moreover, if x and y are neighbours, there is no path $\{x=s_0,s_1,...,s_n=y\}$, $n\geq 2$, with distinct vertices such that $s_i\sim s_{i+1}$ for $0\leq i\leq n-1$. On T, it is assumed that transition probabilities $p(x,y)\geq 0$ are given such that p(x,y)>0 if and only if x and y are neighbours and $\sum\limits_{y\sim x}p(x,y)=1$ for any x in T.

T is said to be a standard homogeneous tree of degree $q+1, q\geq 2$, if each vertex has exactly (q+1) neighbours and $p(x,y)=(q+1)^{-1}$ if $x\sim y$. Analogously, we can think of a standard homogeneous tree of degree 2 as follows: $T=\{...,x_{-2},x_{-1},x_0,x_1,x_2,...\}$, each vertex x_i having only two neighbours x_{i-1} and x_{i+1} , and $p(x_i,x_{i+1})=p(x_i,x_{i-1})=\frac{1}{2}$ for every x_i . (In the study of superharmonic functions on a standard homogeneous tree T of degree q+1, there will be many differences when the order q=1 and $q\geq 2$.) Fix a vertex e in T and for a vertex x in T, denote |x|=d(e,x), the distance of x measured from e. That is, if $\{e,x_1,x_2,...,x_n=x\}$ is the (geodesic) path connecting x to e, then |x|=d(e,x)=n. Define the function x on x such that x and x if x if

Proposition 1.5.1. Let e be a fixed vertex in a standard homogeneous tree T of degree q+1, $q \geq 1$, and write |x| = d(e,x) for a vertex x in T. Let u(x) be a function defined when |x| = n-1 and |x| = n, for a fixed $n \geq 1$. Then, there exists a function v(x) defined for $|x| \geq n-1$ such that v(x) = u(x) if |x| = n-1 and |x| = n; and $\Delta v(x) = 0$ if $|x| \geq n$.

Proof. Let |z|=n. Then, z has q neighbours $y_1,y_2,...,y_q$ such that $|y_j|=n+1$ if $1\leq j\leq q$ and one neighbour y_0 such that $|y_0|=n-1$. Take $\lambda=\frac{1}{q}\left[(q+1)u(z)-u(y_0)\right]$ and set $v(y_j)=\lambda,1\leq j\leq q,\,v(y_0)=u(y_0)$ and v(z)=u(z) so that $\Delta v(z)=0$. Similarly, extend the definition of v(x) for all |x|=n+1, so that $\Delta v(x)=0$ if |x|=n and v(x)=u(x) if |x|=n-1 or n. An analogous procedure yields a function v(x) for all $x, |x|\geq n-1$, such that v(x)=u(x) if |x|=n-1 or n, and $\Delta v(x)=0$ if $|x|\geq n$.

Corollary 1.5.2. Let e be a fixed vertex in a standard homogeneous tree T of degree $q+1, q \geq 1$. Let u(x) be a harmonic function defined on $E = \{x : |x| \leq n, n \geq 1\}$. Then, there exists a harmonic function v on T such that v = u on E.

1.5 Infinite Trees 17

Proof. Extend u as in the theorem to find a function v such that v=u on E and $\Delta v(x)=0$ if $|x|\geq n$. Since by the assumption $\Delta u(x)=0$ if $|x|\leq n-1$, we conclude that v is harmonic on T and v=u on E.

Corollary 1.5.3. For any vertex z in a standard homogeneous tree T of degree $q+1, q \geq 1$, there exists a superharmonic function $q_z(x)$ on T such that $\Delta q_z(x) = -\delta_z(x)$ for all x in T.

Proof. Measuring distances from z, define a function u(x) on $E=\{x:|x|\leq 1\}$ such that u(z)=2 and u(y)=1 if $y\sim z$. Then, by the above theorem, there exists a function v on T such that $\Delta v(x)=0$ if $|x|\geq 1$ and v(x)=u(x) if $|x|\leq 1$. Since, $\Delta v(z)=\sum\limits_{y\sim z}(q+1)^{-1}\left[v(y)-v(z)\right]=\sum\limits_{y\sim z}(q+1)^{-1}\left[u(y)-u(x)\right]=\sum\limits_{y\sim z}(q+1)^{-1}\left[1-2\right]=-1,$ we conclude that $\Delta v(x)=-\delta_z(x)$ for all x in T. \square

Remark 1.5.1. 1. Actually, given any vertex e in a standard homogeneous tree of degree $q+1, q\geq 2$, we can exhibit a positive superharmonic function s on T such that $\Delta s(x)=-\delta_e(x)$ for every x in T. For, define the function s on T such that s(e)=1 and $s(x)=q^{-i}$ if $|x|=i\geq 1$. Note that if |x|=i, then x has only one neighbour y with |y|=i-1 and q neighbours $z_j, 1\leq j\leq q$, such that $|z_j|=i+1$. Consequently, if $|x|=i\geq 1$, then

$$\Delta s(x) = (q+1)^{-1}[q^{-i+1} - q^{-i}] + q(q+1)^{-1}[q^{-i-1} - q^{-i}] = 0, \text{ and}$$

$$\Delta s(e) = (q+1)(q+1)^{-1}(q^{-1}-1) = (q^{-1}-1) < 0.$$

Hence, $G_e(x) = \frac{s(x)}{(1-q^{-1})}$ is a positive function on the standard homogeneous tree T such that $\Delta G_e(x) = -\delta_e(x)$ for all x in T.

2. Bounded harmonic functions on a standard homogeneous tree of degree q+1, $q \geq 2$. Let T be a homogeneous tree of degree q+1, $q \geq 2$. Fix a vertex e and one of its neighbours a. Let $E=\{x:$ the path joining x to e passes through $a\}$. Then, $a \in E$ and $e \notin E$. Denote by d(x,y) the distance between two vertices x and y. Define a function u on T such that $u(x)=q+1-q^{-d(e,x)}$ if $x \notin E$ and $u(x)=q^{-d(a,x)}$ if $x \in E$. Then, u(e)=q and u(a)=1.

$$\begin{split} \Delta u(e) &= q(q+1)^{-1} \left[(q+1-q^{-1}) - q \right] + (q+1)^{-1} \left[1 - q \right] \\ &= (q+1)^{-1} \left[(q-1) + (1-q) \right] = 0, \text{ and} \\ \Delta u(a) &= q(q+1)^{-1} \left[q^{-1} - 1 \right] + (q+1)^{-1} \left[q - 1 \right] = 0. \\ \Delta u(x) &= q(q+1)^{-1} \left[q^{-n-1} - q^{-n} \right] + (q+1)^{-1} \left[q^{-n+1} - q^{-n} \right] \\ &= 0, \text{ if } x \in E \text{ and } d(a,x) = n. \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} \Delta u(x) &= q(q+1)^{-1} \left[(q+1-q^{-n-1}) - (q+1-q^{-n}) \right] \\ &+ (q+1)^{-1} \left[(q+1-q^{-n+1}) - (q+1-q^{-n}) \right] \\ &= 0, \text{ if } x \notin E \text{ and } d(e,x) = n. \end{split}$$

Hence, u(x) is a non-constant bounded positive harmonic function on T. Since there are (q+1) neighbours for e, there are at least (q+1) non-proportional bounded positive harmonic functions on T.

3. Let T be a standard homogeneous tree of degree $q+1, q\geq 2$. Let u=0 on $E=\{x:|x|\leq n,n\geq 1\}$. If $z\in\partial E=\{x:|x|=n\}$, let $y_1,y_2,...,y_q$ be the q neighbours of z such that $|y_j|=n+1, 1\leq j\leq q$. Let $v(y_j)=\lambda_j$, where all λ_j are not 0 but $\sum_1^q \lambda_j=0$, and v=0 on E. Then, $\Delta v(z)=0$. Proceeding with similar constructions as in the proof of Proposition 1.5.1, we arrive at a harmonic function v on T such that v is not identically 0 but v=0 on E. Note that this is in contrast to the situation in the classical potential theory where if a harmonic function h on a domain ω in the Euclidean space $\Re^n, n\geq 2$, is 0 in a neighbourhood of a point in ω , then $h\equiv 0$ on ω . However, note that if T^{\bullet} is a standard homogeneous tree of degree 2 and if h^{\bullet} is a harmonic function on T^{\bullet} vanishing at two consecutive vertices (in particular, if $h^{\bullet}=0$ in a neighbourhood of a vertex in T^{\bullet}), then $h^{\bullet}\equiv 0$ on T^{\bullet} .

In fact, on a standard homogeneous tree T degree 2, if h is a function such that $\Delta h(x)=0$ for every $x\in T$, then h is determined by its values at two adjacent vertices and is of the form $h(x_i)=a+i(b-a)$ for all i, where a and b are constants. For, suppose $\Delta h\equiv 0$. Let $h(x_0)=a$ and $h(x_1)=b$. Then, to find the value $h(x_2)$ for example, use the condition

$$0 = \Delta h(x_1) = \frac{1}{2}[h(x_2) - h(x_1)] + \frac{1}{2}[h(x_0) - h(x_1)]$$

to conclude that $h(x_2)=2h(x_1)-h(x_0)=a+2(b-a)$. Similar calculations give the values of $h(x_3), h(x_4)..., h(x_{-1}), h(x_{-2})...$ to arrive at the conclusion $h(x_i)=a+i(b-a)$, for all i. Consequently, the only positive harmonic functions in this tree are the positive constants and every bounded harmonic function is a constant.

Actually, in the case of a standard homogeneous tree of degree 2, it is not possible to find a non-constant positive function s on T such that $\Delta s(x) \leq 0$ for all x. For, let $s \geq 0$, $\Delta s \leq 0$ on T. Since s is a non-negative superharmonic function on T, if s=0 at a vertex in T, then $s\equiv 0$ on T by the Minimum Principle. Hence, if $\min \{s(x_0), s(x_1), s(x_{-1})\} = a$, then a>0. For an integer m>1, let $h_m(x)=a\frac{m-|x|}{m-1}$, measuring distances from x_0 . Then, $\Delta h_m(x)=0$ if $x\neq x_0$. Then, on the segment $[x_1,x_m]$,

1.5 Infinite Trees 19

$$s(x_1) \ge a = h_m(x_1)$$
 and

$$s(x_m) > 0 = h_m(x_m).$$

Hence, by Corollary 1.4.3, $s(x) \geq h_m(x)$ on $[x_1,x_m]$. Take any vertex z, |z|>1. Then, $s(z)\geq a\frac{m-|z|}{m-1}$ for any m>|z|. Allow $m\to\infty$ to conclude that $s(z)\geq a$. Consequently, $s(x)\geq a$ if x is any vertex in $\{x_0,x_1,x_2,\ldots\}$. Similarly for any vertex x in $\{...,x_{-2},x_{-1},x_0\}$ also, $s(x)\geq a$. This means that the superharmonic function s on T attains its minimum value a at a vertex in T. Hence s(x)=a for all x in T.

Remark 1.5.2. The above results, concerning the existence of positive superharmonic functions on standard homogeneous trees, bring out some of the differences between standard homogeneous trees of degree q+1 when $q\geq 2$ and q=1. These are akin to the differences in the study of classical potential theory on $\Re^n, n\geq 2$. For example, $|x|^{2-n}$ is a positive superharmonic function on $\Re^n, n\geq 3$. But any positive superharmonic function on \Re^2 is a constant; this assertion [27, p.28] is a generalised version of the classical Liouville theorem in the complex plane.

In the case of homogeneous trees, there are no terminal vertices. One simple example of a tree with terminal vertices is $T=\{x_0,x_1,x_2,...\}$ where x_0 is a terminal vertex and every vertex $x_i, i \geq 1$, has only two neighbours x_{i-1} and x_{i+1} ; if $i \geq 1$, then $p(x_i,x_{i+1})=p_i$ and $p(x_i,x_{i-1})=q_i$ such that $p_i+q_i=1$ and $p(x_0,x_1)=1$. In this tree, constants are the only harmonic functions on T. For, if h is harmonic on T and $h(x_0)=a$, then $0=\Delta h(x_0)=h(x_1)-h(x_0)$ so that $h(x_1)=a$. The values of h at other vertices are calculated as in the previous example to show that h(x)=a for all x.

Now, to obtain the Green's formulas on a network, we have used the fact that t(x,y) is symmetric. To obtain similar formulas in a tree T, we shall introduce the following modifications. Fix a vertex e in T. For a vertex x, let $\{e,x_1,...,x_n,x\}$ be the path joining e and x. Let $\varphi(x) = \frac{p(e,x_1)p(x_1,x_2)...p(x_n,x)}{p(x,x_n)p(x_n,x_{n-1})...p(x_1,e)}$; take $\varphi(e)=1$. Note that if x and y are neighbours, then $\varphi(y) = \frac{p(x,y)}{p(y,x)}\varphi(x)$; that is, $\varphi(y)p(y,x) = \varphi(x)p(x,y)$. Clearly, this equality holds even when x and y are not neighbours. Thus, for any pair of vertices x and y in x, if we define x0, x1, then x2, x3, x4, x5, x6, and x7, if we define x6, x7, x8, x9, x9, then x9, x

For any real function u on T, we use the expression

$$\Delta u(x) = \sum_{y \sim x} p(x, y)[u(y) - u(x)].$$

Let us write $\varDelta^{\bullet}u(x)=\sum\limits_{y\sim x}\psi(x,y)[u(y)-u(x)].$ Then,

$$\Delta^{\bullet}u(x) = \sum_{y \sim x} \varphi(x) p(x, y) [u(y) - u(x)] = \varphi(x) \Delta u(x).$$

Similarly, if E is any proper subset of T and if $s \in \partial E$, then write

$$\frac{\partial^{\bullet}}{\partial n^{-}}u(s) = \sum_{y \sim s, y \in E} \psi(s, y)[u(y) - u(s)],$$

so that $\frac{\partial^{\bullet}}{\partial n^{-}}u(s) = \varphi(s)\frac{\partial}{\partial n^{-}}u(s)$. Write

$$(u,v)_E^{\bullet} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{x,y \in E} \psi(x,y) [u(x) - u(y)] [v(x) - v(y)].$$

Theorem 1.5.4. (Green's formulas in trees) Let f and g be two real-valued functions on a tree T. Let E be a finite subset of T. Then,

i.
$$\sum_{x \in \overset{\circ}{E}} \varphi(x) f(x) \Delta g(x) + (f,g)^{\bullet}_{E} = -\sum_{s \in \partial E} \varphi(s) f(s) \frac{\partial}{\partial n^{-}} g(s).$$

$$ii. \sum_{\substack{x \in E \\ x \in E}} \varphi(x)[f(x)\Delta g(x) - g(x)\Delta f(x)] = -\sum_{s \in \partial E} \varphi(s)[f(s)\frac{\partial}{\partial n^{-}}g(s) - g(s)$$

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial n^{-}}f(s)].$$

Proof. Let us consider T as an infinite network with the symmetric conductance $\psi(x,y)$. Then, by Theorem 1.3.2, $\sum\limits_{x\in \overset{\circ}{E}}f(x)\Delta^{\bullet}g(x)+(f,g)^{\bullet}=-\sum\limits_{s\in \partial E}f(s)\frac{\partial^{\bullet}}{\partial n^{-}}g(s)$. Rewriting this, we get (i) and then (ii) since $(f,g)_{E}^{\bullet}=(g,f)_{E}^{\bullet}$.

Rewriting this, we get (i) and then (ii) since
$$(f, g)_E^{\bullet} = (g, f)_E^{\bullet}$$
.

Remark 1.5.3. Suppose T is a standard homogeneous tree of degree q + 1. Fix a vertex e and measure distances from e. Let $B_m = \{x : |x| \le m\}$. Then, $\{x:|x|< m\}=\stackrel{\circ}{B}_m$ and $\partial B_m=\{x:|x|=m\}$. Since $p(x,y)=(q+1)^{-1}$ for any pair of neighbours x and y, we find $\varphi\equiv 1$. Hence, for functions f and g defined on B_m , we can write $\sum_{|x| < m} [f(x)\Delta g(x) - g(x)\Delta f(x)] = -\sum_{|s| = m} [f(s)\frac{\partial}{\partial n^-}g(s) - g(s)]$ $g(s)\frac{\partial}{\partial x}f(s)$].

Chapter 2 Potential Theory on Finite Networks

Abstract Solving Kirchhoff's problem in a finite electrical network opens up various possibilities for the study of functions in networks. A method to solve the Dirichlet-Poisson equation in a finite network, by using algebraic techniques involving the inverses of submatrices of the Laplace matrix is given here; the novelty is the Laplace matrix need not be symmetric. The same method is used to explain Equilibrium Principle, Condenser Principle and Balayage. Later, assuming the Laplace matrix is symmetric, the Dirichlet semi-norm is defined and the Dirichlet Principle is proved. This procedure can be modified to develop a potential theory associated with the Schrödinger operators in a finite network. However, another approach based on the properties of Schrödinger superharmonic functions is adopted here in order to bring into focus the potential-theoretic methods that will be used later in the context of infinite networks.

2.1 Incidence Matrix, Kirchhoff's Problem

Minimum Principle, Domination Principle, Balayage, Capacities and Equilibrium Principle are some of the important concepts in the study of classical potential theory on Euclidean spaces. These are directly related to the three problems associated with electrostatics and Newtonian attraction in \Re^3 considered by Gauss in 1840: They are the Equilibrium Problem (known also as the Robin problem), the Balayage Problem (so known by the method of solution given by Poincaré) and the Dirichlet Problem (name given by Riemann). In an attempt to understand the interconnections among these notions, the remarkable paper Choquet et Deny [33] investigates them in the context of finite discrete sets. Inspired by this paper, this chapter is devoted to the study of potential theory on finite networks.

Let X be a connected, directed finite graph, with an arbitrary orientation, without loops, having n vertices and m edges. Let $x \sim y$ denote that there is an edge e = [x, y] connecting x and y. Let D be its associated *incidence matrix* with n rows and m columns, that is, if we denote the vertices by x_i and the edges by e_i , then the

incidence matrix $D=(d_{ij})$ is such that $d_{ij}=1$ if x_i is the head $\alpha(e_j)$ of the edge $e_j,\ d_{ij}=-1$ if x_i is the tail $\beta(e_j)$ of e_j , and $d_{ij}=0$ if x_i is not an end vertex of e_j . Let C_0 (respectively C_1) denote the class of real-valued functions defined on the set of vertices (respectively edges). Considering C_0 and C_1 as column vectors, we get the mappings $D:C_1\to C_0$ and $D^t:C_0\to C_1$ where D^t denotes the transpose of D. If $\varphi\in C_1$, then $D\varphi(x)=\sum_{x\in\alpha(e)}\varphi(e)-\sum_{x\in\beta(e)}\varphi(e)$. If $u\in C_0$ and

if e = [x,y] is an edge, x being the head of the edge and y being the tail of the edge, then $D^tu(e) = u(x) - u(y)$. Hence, if $u \in \ker D^t$, then u(a) = u(b) for any two neighbouring vertices a and b. Since X is connected, this implies that if $u \in \ker D^t$, then u is a constant, so that $\ker D^t$ has dimension 1. Hence $\dim(ImD^t) = n-1$. Let Z denote $\ker D$ (that is $\varphi \in Z$ if and only if for any vertex $x \in X$, we have $\sum_{\beta(e)=x} \varphi(e) = \sum_{\beta(e)=x} \varphi(e) \text{ in which case } \varphi \text{ is called a } flow).$ Then, by considering the inner-product defined on C_1 , let us denote by B the orthogonal complement of Z so that we can write $C_1 = Z \oplus B$. Now, $\dim B = \dim(ImD) = \operatorname{rank}$ of $D = \operatorname{rank}$ of $D^t = \dim(ImD^t) = n-1$, so that $\dim Z$ is m-(n-1). Moreover, if $f \in ImD^t$, that is $f = D^t\varphi$, and if g is arbitrary in Z, then $(g,f) = (g,D^t\varphi) = (Dg,\varphi) = (0,\varphi) = 0$, so that $ImD^t \subset B$. Since $\dim(ImD^t) = n-1 = \dim B$ also, we conclude that $B = ImD^t$.

Let us consider an electrical network with $\gamma(e)$ representing the conductance on the edge e. Then, the $\mathit{Kirchhoff's problem}$ can be stated as follows [24]: Given an external current c, find the internal current i and the voltage w satisfying the Ohm's law and the Kirchhoff's current and voltage laws. When we state this problem by using the above notations, it reads as follows: Given $c \in C_1$, find i and w in C_1 such that $c-i \in Z$, $w \in B$, and $i(e) = \gamma(e)w(e)$ for every edge e. Let us denote by T the diagonal $m \times m$ matrix whose diagonal entries are $\gamma(e)$. Then $i = Tw = T(D^t\varphi)$ for some $\varphi \in C_0$ since $B = ImD^t$. Also, the condition $c-i \in Z$ means that $Dc = Di = DT(D^t\varphi)$. Hence, the Kirchhoff's problem is: Given $c \in C_1$, find $\varphi \in C_0$ such that $Dc = DTD^t\varphi$.

Now $DTD^t\varphi(x)=0$ expands as $\sum\limits_{y\sim x}t(x,y)[\varphi(y)-\varphi(x)]=0$, where t(x,y) is the symmetric conductance $\gamma(e)$ on the edge e joining x and y. If we write $t(x)=\sum\limits_{y\sim x}t(x,y)$, then t(x)>0 for every vertex x and $\varphi(x)=\sum\limits_{y\sim x}\frac{t(x,y)}{t(x)}\varphi(y)$ expresses the mean-value property of φ . In keeping with the notation used earlier, let us write $-\Delta=DTD^t$. Thus, if $\varphi\in C_0$, then $\Delta\varphi\in C_0$ where $\Delta\varphi(x)=\sum\limits_{y\sim x}t(x,y)[\varphi(y)-\varphi(x)]$ for each vertex x. That is, if we denote the vertices as $x_1,x_2,...,x_n$, then $\Delta=(c_{ij})$ is a symmetric $n\times n$ matrix, $c_{ii}=-\sum\limits_{j\neq i}t(x_i,x_j)$ for every $i,c_{ij}=t(x_i,x_j)\geq 0$ if $i\neq j,\sum\limits_{j}c_{ij}=\sum\limits_{i}c_{ji}=0$; further, since rank of D= rank of $D^t=n-1$, and since T is a non-singular matrix, the rank of Δ is n-1; since t(x,y)=t(y,x), we also find that $\sum\limits_{x}\Delta\varphi(x)=0$. Thus, for a given $f\in C_0$, if we can find some $\varphi\in C_0$ such that $\Delta\varphi=f$, then necessarily $\sum\limits_{x}f(x)=0$. We

shall prove that this condition on f is sufficient to find the solution φ in the equation $\Delta \varphi = f$. Of course, φ will be determined only up to an additive constant, since $\ker \Delta$ is the set of constant functions in C_0 . In particular, the Kirchhoff's problem $(-\Delta)\varphi = DTD^t\varphi = Dc$ has a solution (Theorem 2.2.7) for a given $c \in C_1$ since

$$\sum_{x} Dc(x) = \sum_{x} \left[\sum_{\alpha(e)=x} c(e) - \sum_{\beta(e)=x} c(e) \right] = 0.$$

2.2 Dirichlet-Poisson Equations in Finite Networks

In this section, we give a method to obtain the solution of the Dirichlet-Poisson equation on a subset F of X, by using algebraic methods (essentially inverses of sub-matrices of the Laplacian matrix) rather than Green functions expressed by means of equilibrium measures as in Bendito et al. [18] and [19] which assume symmetric conductance. Here the Laplacian matrix $\Delta = (c_{ij})$ is defined such that $c_{ij} = t(x_i, x_j)$ may not be the same as $c_{ji} = t(x_j, x_i)$ unlike in the special case of an electric network, that is Δ is generally assumed to be a non-symmetric matrix. But $c_{ii} = -\sum_{j \neq i} t(x_i, x_j)$ so that $\sum_j c_{ij} = 0$ for every i. The classical Dirichlet problem is as follows: Suppose F is a proper subset of X and f is a function given on ∂F . Then, is it possible to find a function u defined on F such that $\Delta u = 0$ on Fand u = f on ∂F ? If $X = \Re^n$, $n \ge 2$, a similar problem in the classical potential theory does not always have a solution, even if F is a bounded set in \Re^n . However, in a finite network, it has a solution. Actually, we prove a more general result: Suppose F is a subset of X and let $E \subseteq \stackrel{0}{F}$. If f is a function on $F \setminus E$, then there exists a unique u on F such that $\Delta u = 0$ on E and u = f on $F \setminus E$. The interest in this problem comes from the fact that many potential-theoretic problems can be posed as Dirichlet problems, as we shall see presently. Examples of the Dirichlet problem arising in some other contexts are given in Doyle and Snell [44], Tetali [64] and Biggs [24]:

(a) Consider the following problem in *random walks*: Let X be the state space provided with the transition probabilities p(x, y). Given two vertices a and b in X, what is the probability of the walker reaching a before b?

To solve this, let us denote by $\varphi(x)$ the probability of the walker starting at the vertex x and reaching a before b. Then $\varphi(a)=1$ and $\varphi(b)=0$. If x is different from a and b, then the walker starting at x takes a first step to a neighbouring vertex y and then from y he should reach a before reaching b. Consequently, $\varphi(x)=\sum_y p(x,y)\varphi(y)$. Since p(x,y) are probabilities, $\sum_y p(x,y)=1$ for any fixed x. Hence, $\sum_y p(x,y)\varphi(x)=\varphi(x)=\sum_y p(x,y)\varphi(y)$, that is,

 $\sum_{y} p(x,y) \left[\varphi(y) - \varphi(x) \right] = 0; \text{ hence, } \Delta \varphi(x) = 0 \text{ if } x \text{ is different from } a \text{ and } b.$ Thus, the probability $\varphi(x)$ is the solution to the Dirichlet problem with F = X, $E = X \setminus \{a, b\}, \varphi(a) = 1 \text{ and } \varphi(b) = 0.$

(b) In the above random walk, what is the escape probability $p_{esc}(a,b)$ which is defined as the probability of starting at a and visiting b before returning to a? As above, let $\varphi(x)$ represent the probability of the walker starting at x and visiting a before reaching b. Let λ represent the walker leaving a and arriving at a without visiting b, so that $1 - \lambda = p_{esc}(a, b)$. Since $\lambda = \sum_{y} p(a, y) \varphi(y)$,

we have

$$\begin{aligned} p_{esc}(a,b) &= 1 - \lambda \\ &= \varphi(a) - \sum_{y} p(a,y)\varphi(y) \\ &= -\sum_{y} p(a,y) \left[\varphi(y) - \varphi(a) \right] \\ &= (-\Delta) \varphi(a). \end{aligned}$$

Thus, the escape probability is related to the solution of a Dirichlet problem.

(c) In the context of a finite connected electrical network X, if a and b are two nodes, then the effective resistance r(a, b) between a and b is the voltage when a unit current enters a and leaves b. What is the value of r(a,b)?

In an electrical network, the conductance is symmetric. Define the Laplacian in terms of the symmetric conductance t(x,y), that is $\Delta f(x) =$ $\sum_{y \sim x} t(x,y)[f(y) - f(x)]$. Then this problem reduces to finding the quantity $r(a,b) = [\psi(a) - \psi(b)],$ where $\psi(x)$ is a function on X such that $(-\Delta)\psi(a) = 1, (-\Delta)\psi(b) = -1, \text{ and } \Delta\psi(x) = 0 \text{ for all } x \text{ other than}$ a and b. For this, let us consider the function φ defined as above, with $\varphi(a)=1,\, \varphi(b)=0,\, {\rm and}\,\, \sum\, p(x,y)\, [\varphi(y)-\varphi(x)]\,=\,0\,\, {\rm if}\,\, x\,
eq\, a,b\,\, {\rm where}$ $p(x,y) = \frac{t(x,y)}{t(x)}$. For any $y = \frac{t(x,y)}{t}$ function f on X, $\sum_{x} \Delta f(x) = 0$, because of the symmetry of conductance. Hence, we should have $(-\Delta) \varphi(a) = \alpha$ and $(-\Delta)\, \varphi(b) = -\alpha.$ By the Minimum Principle, we know that $0 \le \varphi \le 1$ on X. Since $\varphi(a)=1$, we calculate that $\Delta\varphi(a)=\sum\limits_{y\sim a}t(a,y)[\varphi(y)-\varphi(a)]\leq 0$.

Hence, $\alpha \geq 0$. But the assumption that $\alpha = 0$ will lead to the conclusion φ is a constant, not true. Hence, $\alpha > 0$. Consequently, $\Delta \left[\psi(x) - \frac{1}{\alpha} \varphi(x) \right] = 0$ for all $x \in X$. This means, $\psi(x) = \frac{1}{\alpha}\varphi(x) + \beta$, where β is a constant. Then, $\psi(b) = \frac{1}{\alpha}\varphi(b) + \beta = 0 + \beta, \text{ so that } \psi(x) - \psi(b) = \frac{1}{\alpha}\varphi(x).$ Hence, $r(a,b) = [\psi(a) - \psi(b)] = \frac{1}{\alpha}\varphi(a) = \frac{1}{\alpha} = \frac{1}{(-\Delta)\varphi(a)}.$

(d) Let X be a finite connected electrical network with symmetric conductance t(x,y). X can also be considered as a random walk with transition probabilities defined by $p(x,y) = \frac{t(x,y)}{t(x)}$ for each vertex $x \in X$. Let a,b be in X. If X is considered as an electrical network, we have the notion of the effective

resistance r(a, b). On the other hand, if X is considered as a random walk, we have the notion of the escape probability $p_{esc}(a, b)$. Let us now give a relation between the escape probability and the effective resistance, as seen in Tetali [64] and Biggs [24].

$$\begin{split} p_{esc}(a,b) &= \sum_{y \sim a} p(a,y) \left[\varphi(a) - \varphi(y) \right] \text{ as seen in } b) \\ &= \sum_{y \sim a} \frac{t(a,y)}{t(a)} \left[\varphi(a) - \varphi(y) \right] \\ &= \frac{1}{t(a)} \sum_{y \sim a} t(a,y) \left[\varphi(a) - \varphi(y) \right] \\ &= \frac{1}{t(a)} \times \frac{1}{r(a,b)} \text{ as seen in } c) \end{split}$$

Thus, $t(a).p_{esc}(a,b).r(a,b) = 1$.

Now, we shall get back to obtain the Dirichlet solution in a finite network X and derive some of its potential-theoretic consequences. Recall that the symmetry of the conductance in X is not assumed unless specifically stated.

Theorem 2.2.1. (Maximum Principle for Finite Networks) Let u be defined on a finite network X. Let $A = \{y : \Delta u(y) < 0\}$. Then, $u(x) \leq \max_{y \in A} u(y)$ for all $x \in X$.

Proof. If $A=\phi$, then $\Delta u\geq 0$ on X, so that u is subharmonic on X. If A=X, then u is superharmonic function on X. We have already remarked that the constants are the only superharmonic functions on a finite network (Sect. 1.2). Hence in these two cases, the theorem is trivial. Assume therefore that A is a non-empty proper subset of X.

Let $\beta = \max_{y \in A} u(y)$ and $\alpha = \max_{x \in X} u(x)$. Since $\beta \leq \alpha$, to prove the theorem, we have to show that the assumption $\beta < \alpha$ leads to a contradiction. Assume therefore that $\beta < \alpha$. Then $u(x_0) = \alpha$ for some $x_0 \in X \setminus A$. Hence, $0 \leq \Delta u(x_0) = \sum t(x_0,y) \left[u(y)-u(x_0)\right]$, which implies (since $u(x_0)$ is the maximum value) that $u(y) = u(x_0) = \alpha$ for all $y \sim x_0$.

Now, if $x_0 \in \partial(X \setminus A)$, then there exists some $y_1 \in A$ such that $y_1 \sim x_0$ and hence $u(y_1) = \alpha$. This shows that $\alpha \leq \beta$ contradicting the assumption that $\beta < \alpha$. Consequently, all the neighbours of x_0 are in $X \setminus A$ itself and $u(z) = \alpha$ if $z \sim x_0$. Repeat the argument starting with $u(z) = \alpha$. Then, not to contradict the assumption, we should have all the neighbours of z in $X \setminus A$ itself. Choose some $y \in A$. Since X is connected, there is a path $\{x_0, x_1, x_2, ..., x_n = y\}$ connecting x_0 and y. Let i be the largest index such that for all j < i, x_j is in the interior of $X \setminus A$. Note $1 \leq i \leq n-1$. Since x_{i-1} is in the interior of $X \setminus A$ and $x_i \sim x_{i-1}$, we should have $x_i \in X \setminus A$. But x_i is not in the interior of $X \setminus A$ so that $x_i \in \partial(X \setminus A)$. Hence there is some $y_1 \in A$ such that $x_i \sim y_1$. Then from what we have proved

earlier $u(y_1) = \alpha$ since $u(x_i) = \alpha$. This means that $\beta \geq \alpha$ since $y_1 \in A$, a contradiction. Thus, the assumption $\alpha > \beta$ is not tenable, so that $\alpha = \beta$. That is, $\max_{x \in X} u(x) = \max_{y \in A} u(y)$.

Corollary 2.2.2. (Uniqueness) Let F be a proper subset of the finite network X and u be a function on X such that $\Delta u = 0$ at each vertex in F and u = 0 on $X \setminus F$. Then, $u \equiv 0$ on X.

Proof. Let $A = \{x : \Delta u(x) < 0\}$ and $B = \{x : \Delta u(x) > 0\}$. Then A and B are subsets of $X \setminus F$. Now use the above theorem to conclude that if u is defined on X such that $\Delta u = 0$ on a proper subset F of X, then for any $x \in X$,

$$\min_{y \in X \backslash F} u(y) \leq \min_{y \in B} u(y) \leq u(x) \leq \max_{y \in A} u(y) \leq \max_{y \in X \backslash F} u(y).$$

Since u = 0 on $X \setminus F$, u(x) = 0 for any x in X.

As a variation of the above Maximum Principle, we have the following Domination Principle. This is a well-known result in the classical theory of Newtonian potentials, developed in a fascinating manner by Cartan [30]. There he refers to this principle as the maximum principle. Choquet et Deny [33] call it the domination principle to avoid certain ambiguities in the terminology.

Theorem 2.2.3. (Domination Principle) Let u and v be two functions defined on X. Let F be a non-empty subset of X. Suppose $u \geq v$ on F and $\Delta u \leq \Delta v$ on $X \setminus F$. Then, $u \geq v$ on X.

Proof. Let w=u-v on X. Then, $w\geq 0$ on F and $\Delta w\leq 0$ on $X\setminus F$. Let $A=\{y:\Delta w(y)>0\}$. Then, $A\subset F$. Hence, by Theorem 2.2.1, $w(x)\geq \min_{y\in A}w(y)$ for every $x\in X$. That is, $w(x)\geq \min_{y\in A}w(y)\geq \min_{y\in F}w(y)\geq 0$. Hence, $u\geq v$ on X.

For $1 \leq k \leq n-1$, let Δ_k denote a $k \times k$ submatrix of Δ , obtained by deleting n-k rows and the corresponding n-k columns from Δ . Then, Corollary 2.2.2 has the following equivalent formulation.

Theorem 2.2.4. For any $k, 1 \le k \le n-1$, Δ_k is non-singular.

Proof. The vertices corresponding to the rows in Δ_k form a proper subset F of X. Let $u=(u_1,...,u_k)^t$ be a column vector such that $\Delta_k u=0$. Let $v=(v_1,...,v_n)^t$ be a column vector of order n obtained from u by introducing 0 for the components missing in u. Now consider the column vector Δv . It can be calculated that $\Delta v(x)=\Delta_k u(x)=0$ if $x\in F$.

Thus, v is a function defined on X such that $\Delta v = 0$ on F and v = 0 on $X \setminus F$. Hence by Corollary 2.2.2, $v \equiv 0$ and consequently $u \equiv 0$. Thus, we have proved that if u is a solution for the homogeneous system $\Delta_k u = 0$, then $u \equiv 0$. This implies that Δ_k is a non-singular matrix.

The *Equilibrium Principle*, as given in Bendito et al. [18] where the Laplacian matrix is symmetric, states that if F is a proper subset of X with symmetric conductance, then there exists a unique function $\nu^F \geq 0$ on X such that $\Delta \nu^F = -1$ on F and $F = \{x : \nu^F(x) \neq 0\}$. As a generalisation, we have the following.

Theorem 2.2.5. (Generalised Equilibrium Principle) Let F be a proper subset of X. Then, given $f \geq 0$ on F, there exists a unique $u \geq 0$ on X such that $\Delta u = -f$ on F and u = 0 on $X \setminus F$. Moreover, if f > 0, then u > 0 on F.

Proof. Recall that Δ_F denotes the non-singular submatrix of Δ obtained by deleting the rows and the columns corresponding to the vertices not found in F. Then, there exists a unique function v on F such that $\Delta_F v = -f$ on F. Define u on X such that u = v on F and u = 0 on $X \setminus F$. Then, $\Delta u = -f$ on F. Consequently, if $A = \{y : \Delta u(y) > 0\}$, then $A \subset X \setminus F$, and for any $x \in X$,

$$u(x) \ge \min_{y \in A} u(y)$$
 (Theorem 2.2.1)
$$= 0 \text{ (since } u = 0 \text{ on } X \setminus F \supset A).$$

Suppose now f>0 on F. Let u attain its minimum value on F at a vertex x_0 . Since $u\geq 0$ on F, if $u(x_0)>0$, then u>0 on F. On the contrary, if $u(x_0)=0$, then $\Delta u(x_0)=-f(x_0)<0$ reads as $\sum\limits_y t(x_0,y)[u(y)-u(x_0)]=\Delta u(x_0)=-f(x_0)<0$, a contradiction since the left side equals $\sum\limits_y t(x_0,y)u(y)\geq 0$.

The uniqueness of the solution follows from Corollary 2.2.2.

Theorem 2.2.6. Let f be a function defined on X with symmetric conductance. Let $F = X \setminus \{z\}$ where z is a fixed vertex in the finite network X. Then there exists a unique function $u \in C_0$ such that u(z) = 0 and (when u and f are considered as column vectors) $\Delta u(x) = f(x)$ for $x \in F$, and $\Delta u(z) = -\sum_{x \in F} f(x)$.

Proof. Write $f=f^+-f^-$ and use Theorem 2.2.5, to see that there exists a unique function u on X such that $\Delta u(x)=f(x)$ if $x\in F$ and u=0 on $X\setminus F$. That is, $\Delta u(x)=f(x)$ if $x\neq z$ and u(z)=0. Now, for any function v on X, $\sum\limits_{x\in X}\Delta v(x)=0$. Hence, $\Delta u(z)=-\sum\limits_{x\neq z}\Delta u(x)=-\sum\limits_{x\neq z}f(x)$.

At the end of Sect. 2.1, it has been mentioned that the Kirchhoff's problem in a finite electric network can be reduced to the following problem: Is it possible to determine φ on X such that $(-\Delta)\varphi=Dc$ where $c\in C_1$ and $\sum_{x\in X}Dc(x)=0$? The answer is yes according to the following theorem.

Theorem 2.2.7. (Solution to the Kirchhoff's Problem) Let X be a finite network with symmetric conductance. Let g(x) be any function on X such that $\sum_{x \in X} g(x) = 0$.

Then, there exists a function φ on X such that $\Delta \varphi(x) = g(x)$ for every x in X. This φ is unique up to an additive constant.

Proof. Let $z \in X$. Take f(x) = g(x) if $x \neq z$. Then $-\sum_{x \neq z} f(x) = g(z)$. By

Theorem 2.2.6 there exists a unique $u \in C_0$ such that u(z) = 0 and $\Delta u(x) = g(x)$ for all $x \in X$. Consequently, if for some φ , $\Delta \varphi(x) = g(x)$ in X, then $\varphi(x) - \varphi(z) = u(x)$ for all x in X.

Remark 2.2.1. The Kirchhoff's Problem in a finite network is a discrete analogue of the Poisson Problem of finding on a Riemannian manifold a solution u to the equation $\Delta u = f$ when f is known.

Let ω be a domain in the Euclidean space $\Re^2, n \geq 2$, or in a Riemannian manifold M. Let f be a locally Lebesgue integrable function in ω . The problems concerning the existence and the nature of a solution u satisfying the equation $\Delta u = f$ in ω (known as the Poisson equation) in the classical or in the distributions sense are important. A discrete version of the Poisson equation in an infinite tree will be discussed in Chap. 5. In a finite network X with symmetric conductance, Theorem 2.2.6 proves the existence of a solution u such that $\Delta u = f$ on X provided $\sum_{x \in X} f(x) = 0$; this solution is unique up to an additive constant. Note that a solution to the Kirchhoff's problem in a finite electric network (with symmetric conductance) can be expressed as a solution to the Poisson equation $\Delta \varphi = g$ with the restriction $\sum_{x \in X} g(x) = 0$. Theorem 2.2.7 shows that the Kirchhoff's problem has a solution.

Let F be a proper subset of X. Let f be a function on ∂F . Then the Dirichlet problem searches for a function u on F such that u=f on ∂F and $\Delta u=0$ on $\overset{0}{F}$. On the other hand, the Poisson problem searches for a solution v on X such that $\Delta v=g$ on X, where g is a function given on X; we know (Theorem 2.2.7) that a solution to the Poisson problem exists, provided $\sum_{x\in X}g(x)=0$ in a finite network X

with symmetric conductance. A solution to the combination of these two problems (namely the Dirichlet-Poisson problem) is given below by using Theorem 2.2.5; another method to solve this problem is to use the appropriate Green functions as given in Bendito et al. [18], when Δ is symmetric.

Theorem 2.2.8. (Dirichlet-Poisson equation) Let F be a proper subset of a finite network X. Let f and g be two functions on X. Then, there exists a unique function u on X such that $\Delta u = f$ on F and u = g on $X \setminus F$.

Proof. Let $h = \Delta g$ on X. Let us consider the functions h^+ and h^- and use Theorem 2.2.5 and the fact that Δ is linear to construct a function ψ_0 on X such that $\Delta \psi_0 = h$ on F and $\psi_0 = 0$ on $X \setminus F$. Similarly, let us construct φ_0 on X such that $\Delta \varphi_0 = f$ on F and $\varphi_0 = 0$ on $X \setminus F$. Write $u = \varphi_0 + g - \psi_0$ on X. Then, $\Delta u = f + h - h = f$ on F and u = 0 + g - 0 = g on $X \setminus F$. Thus, the existence of a solution u is proved. For the uniqueness of this solution, we use the minimum principle (Corollary 2.2.2).

Corollary 2.2.9. (Classical Dirichlet Problem) Let g be defined on the boundary ∂F of a proper finite subset F. Then, there exists a unique function u on F such that $\Delta u(x) = 0$ at every $x \in F$ and u = g on ∂F .

Proof. Extend g on X by giving arbitrary values outside ∂F . Take $f \equiv 0$ and apply the above theorem with respect to $\overset{\circ}{F}$ to assert the existence of the solution u. The uniqueness of u follows from the Maximum Principle.

- Remark 2.2.2. 1. To determine the unique solution u in the above theorem, we proceed as follows: Let the number of vertices in F be k. Since u=g on $X\setminus F$, we have only to find the k values of u on F. Denoting them by $(u_1,u_2,...,u_k)$, if we take out the k linear equations in $\Delta u=f$ on F, then we have a linear system given by $\Delta_F(u_1,u_2,...,u_k)^t=(\alpha_1,\alpha_2,...,\alpha_k)^t$ where the right side is known. We also know that Δ_F is invertible. Hence, $u_1,u_2,...,u_k$ can be calculated.
- 2. The proof of the above Corollary 2.2.9 is given by using potential-theoretic methods. An alternate method of solving the Dirichlet problem for a special type of finite subsets of a tree *T* is given by Berenstein et al. [21, p.461] by using the hitting distribution of the stochastic process generated by the transition probability structure of *T*.

The above theorem asserting the unique solution of the Dirichlet-Poisson equation is very fundamental in proving certain basic principles and results (in electrical networks and random walks) such as the condenser principle, the equilibrium principle, balayage, the Green's function, the Poisson kernel etc., as well as the earlier-mentioned concepts like effective resistance, escape probability, hitting time etcetera.

Theorem 2.2.10. (Condenser Principle) Let A and B be two non-empty disjoint subsets of X. Let $F = X \setminus (A \cup B) \neq \phi$. Let a and b be two real numbers, a < b. Then, there exists a unique φ on X such that $a < \varphi(x) < b$ if $x \in X$,

$$arphi(x)=a \ and \ \Delta arphi(x)\geq 0 \ if \ x\in A,$$

$$arphi(x)=b \ and \ \Delta arphi(x)\leq 0 \ if \ x\in B$$

$$and \ \Delta arphi(x)=0 \ if \ x\in F.$$

Proof. In Theorem 2.2.8, take two functions f and g on X such that f=0 on F and g(x)=a if $x\in A$ and g(x)=b if $x\in B$. Then there exists a unique function φ on X such that $\varphi(x)=a$ if $x\in A$, $\varphi(x)=b$ if $x\in B$, and $\Delta\varphi(x)=0$ if $x\in F$. Then, $a\leq \varphi(x)\leq b$ if $x\in X$ (see the proof of Corollary 2.2.2). Consequently, the inequalities $\Delta\varphi\geq 0$ on A and $\Delta\varphi\leq 0$ on B follow from the definition of Δ . \square

Let us consider now some potential-theoretic problems with Dirichlet solutions associated with the operator Δ . An important problem in an electrical network is: given a potential function u on X and a subset F of X, is it possible to sweep out

the charges associated with u onto F so that the potential function v associated with the new distribution of charges preserves the same values on F?

Theorem 2.2.11. (Balayage) Let F be a proper subset of X and let u be a function on X such that $\Delta u \leq 0$ on $X \setminus F$. Then there exists a unique function v on X such that $v \leq u$ on x, v = u on x, and x = 0 on $x \in S$ be that $x \in S$ and $x \in S$ be that $x \in S$ and $x \in S$ be that $x \in S$ and $x \in S$ be that $x \in S$ and $x \in S$ be that $x \in S$ and $x \in S$ be that $x \in S$ and $x \in S$ be that $x \in S$ and $x \in S$ be that $x \in S$ be that $x \in S$ be the transformation of $x \in S$ because $x \in S$ be the transformation of $x \in S$ because $x \in S$ be the transformation of $x \in S$ because $x \in S$ because

$$\sum_{s \in \partial F} \Delta v(s).$$

Proof. By using Theorem 2.2.8, we construct a function φ on X such that $\Delta \varphi = \Delta u$ on $X \setminus F$ and $\varphi = 0$ on F. Let $v = u - \varphi$ on X. Then, v = u on F and $\Delta v = \Delta u - \Delta \varphi = 0$ on $X \setminus F$.

Let w=u-v on X. Then, $\Delta w=\Delta u-\Delta v\leq 0$ on $X\setminus F$ by hypothesis, and w=0 on F. Hence, by Theorem 2.2.1, $w\geq 0$ on X, that is $u\geq v$ on X. Further, since $\sum\limits_{x\in X}\Delta u(x)=\sum\limits_{x\in X}\Delta v(x)=0$ and since $\sum\limits_{x\in F}\Delta u(x)=\sum\limits_{x\in F}\Delta v(x)$, we have

$$\begin{split} \sum_{x \in X \setminus \tilde{F}} \Delta u(x) &= \sum_{x \in X \setminus \tilde{F}} \Delta v(x) \\ &= \sum_{x \in \partial F} \Delta v(x) + \sum_{x \in X \setminus F} \Delta v(x) \\ &= \sum_{x \in \partial F} \Delta v(x) + 0. \end{split}$$

Remark 2.2.3. In the context of finite electrical networks, if we interpret $-\Delta u(x)$ as the charge associated with u at the vertex x, then the last assertion indicates that the total charge of u outside F has been swept (balayée) onto ∂F to obtain v.

In the study of electrical networks, the existence of a non-negative function with an associated point charge is very helpful. Such a function cannot be defined on X, if X is a finite network. However, on every proper subset of X, this function can be defined.

Theorem 2.2.12. (Green's function) Let F be a proper subset of X. If $y \in \overset{0}{F}$, then there exists a unique function $G_y^F(x) \geq 0$ on X such that $\Delta G_y^F(x) = -\delta_y(x)$ if $x \in \overset{0}{F}$, $G_y^F(s) = 0$ if $s \in X \setminus \overset{0}{F}$, and $G_y^F(x) \leq G_y^F(y)$ for any $x \in X$.

Proof. By Theorem 2.2.8, there exists a unique function on X, noted $G_y^F(x)$ such that $\Delta G_y^F(x) = -\delta_y(x)$ if $x \in \overset{0}{F}$ and $G_y^F(s) = 0$ if $s \in X \setminus \overset{0}{F}$. Moreover, since $\Delta G_y^F(x) \leq 0$ on $\overset{0}{F}$ and $G_y^F(x) = 0$ if $x \in X \setminus \overset{0}{F}$, we conclude that $G_y^F \geq 0$ on X. (It can be seen that $G_y^F > 0$ on $\overset{0}{F}$, if $\overset{0}{F}$ is connected.)

To prove the last assertion, note that $\Delta G_y^F(x) \geq 0$ if $x \neq y$. Hence in Theorem 2.2.3 (Domination Principle), if we take $v(x) = G_y^F(x)$ and $u(x) = G_y^F(y)$, a constant, then u(x) = v(x) if x = y and $\Delta u(x) = 0 \leq \Delta v(x)$ if $x \neq y$. Consequently, $u \geq v$ on X, that is $G_y^F(y) \geq G_y^F(x)$ on X.

Theorem 2.2.13. (Poisson Kernel) Let X be a finite network with symmetric conductance. Let F be a proper subset of X. Let $G_x^F(y)$ be the Green function on F for $x \in F$ and $y \in F$. Let f(s) be defined on ∂F . Then the Dirichlet solution in F with boundary value f(s) is $\sum_{s \in \partial F} f(s) \frac{\partial G_x^F}{\partial n^-}(s)$.

Proof. Start with the Green's identity (Corollary 1.3.3) for any two real-valued functions u and v defined on F,

$$\sum_{\substack{y \in F \\ y \in F}} [u(y)\Delta v(y) - v(y)\Delta u(y)] = -\sum_{s \in \partial F} [u(s)\frac{\partial v}{\partial n^{-}}(s) - v(s)\frac{\partial u}{\partial n^{-}}(s)].$$

Let now h(x) be the Dirichlet solution in F with boundary value f(s). Take v=h and $u=G_x^F$ in the above equation. Since $\Delta h(y)=0$ if $y\in \overset{0}{F},\,h(s)=f(s)$ if $s\in\partial F,\,G_x^F(s)=0$ if $x\in\overset{0}{F},\,s\in\partial F,$ and $\Delta G_x^F=-\delta_x$ if $x\in\overset{0}{F},$ we obtain $h(x)=\sum_{s\in\partial F}f(s)\frac{\partial G_x^F}{\partial n^-}(s)$.

Definition 2.2.1. Let X be a finite network with symmetric conductance and let F be a proper subset of X. For $x \in \overset{0}{F}$ and $s \in \partial F$, the Poisson kernel for F is defined as $P(x,s) = \frac{\partial G_x^F}{\partial n^-}(s)$.

Remark 2.2.4. Alternatively, for $x \in F$ and $s \in \partial F$, the Poisson kernel P(x,s) for fixed $s \in \partial F$ can be defined as the Dirichlet solution on F with boundary value $\delta_s(z)$ for $z \in \partial F$. This way, we can avoid introducing the Green's identity to define the Poisson kernel. Consequently, if F is a proper subset of a finite network X with or without symmetric conductance, and if f(s) is a real-valued function on ∂F , then $h(x) = \sum_{s \in \partial F} P(x,s)f(s)$ is the Dirichlet solution in F with boundary value f(s).

Proposition 2.2.14. Let F be a proper subset of a finite network X with symmetric conductance. If $a, b \in F$, then $G_a^F(b) = G_b^F(a)$.

Proof. This follows immediately from the Green's identity involving u and v, if we set $u(x) = G_a^F(x)$ and $v(x) = G_b^F(x)$.

Theorem 2.2.15. (Mixed boundary-value problem) Let F be a proper subset of a finite network X. Let A and B be non-empty disjoint subsets such that $A \cup B = \partial F$. Let f be a function defined on F. Then there exists a unique function u on F such that $\Delta u(x) = f(x)$ if $x \in F$, u(s) = f(s) if $s \in A$ and $\frac{\partial u}{\partial x}(s) = f(s)$ if $s \in B$.

Proof. Let Δ_F^{ullet} be the Laplacian restricted to F. Assume that f is arbitrarily extended outside F to cover $X\setminus F$. Then, there exists (as in Theorem 2.2.8) a unique function u on F such that u=f on A and $\Delta_F^{ullet} u=f$ on $F \setminus A$. Since $\Delta u(x) = \Delta_F^{ullet} u(x)$ if $x \in F$ and $\Delta_F^{ullet} u(s) = \frac{\partial u}{\partial n^-}(s)$ if $s \in \partial F$, we have the following properties for u, namely $\Delta u(x) = f(x)$ if $x \in F$, u(s) = f(s) if $s \in A$ and $\frac{\partial u}{\partial n^-}(s) = f(s)$ if $s \in B$.

Theorem 2.2.16. (Neumann problem) Let F be a proper subset of a finite network X with symmetric conductance and let f(s) be a function defined on ∂F . Then, the following two statements are equivalent:

- i. There exists a function u on F such that $\Delta u(x)=0$ if $x\in \overset{0}{F}$ and $\frac{\partial u}{\partial n^{-}}(s)=f(s)$ if $s\in \partial F$.
- $if \ s \in \partial F.$ $ii. \ \sum_{s \in \partial F} f(s) = 0.$

Proof. Suppose u exists with the stated properties. Then, by Proposition 1.3.1, $\sum_{s\in\partial F}f(s)=\sum_{s\in\partial F}\frac{\partial u}{\partial n^-}(s)=-\sum_{x\in \overset{\circ}{F}}\Delta u(x)=0.$ Conversely, if $\sum_{s\in\partial F}f(s)=0$,

then extend f on ∂F by giving value 0 at each vertex in F. Then, by Theorem 2.2.7, there exists a function u on F (unique up to an additive constant) such that $\Delta_F^{\bullet}u = f$ on F. This function u has the following properties: $\Delta u(x) = 0$ if $x \in F$ and $\frac{\partial u}{\partial n^-}(s) = f(s)$ if $s \in \partial F$.

2.3 Dirichlet Semi-Norm

In this section, X is assumed to be a finite network with symmetric conductance. An interesting alternative method to carry out the potential-theoretic study of functions on a network with symmetric conductance is to consider this set of functions as an inner-product space and obtain the basic Dirichlet solution as a projection. Then, we can prove other results as consequences of the existence of solutions to appropriate Dirichlet problems. For a pair of functions u and v on a subset E of a finite network X with symmetric conductance, define an inner-product (Sect. 1.3)

$$(u,v)_E = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{x,y \in E} t(x,y)[u(x) - u(y)][v(x) - v(y)].$$

Write $\|u\|_E^2=(u,u)_E$. Let us suppose that E is connected. Since $\|u\|_E=0$ implies that u is a constant on E, $\|u\|_E$ is a semi-norm which is called the *Dirichlet semi-norm* on E. Let F denote the equivalence classes f^\sim of functions on E, so that two functions on E are in the same class if and only if they differ by a constant. Note that F is an inner-product space; if u and v are any two functions defined on E and if u^\sim and v^\sim are the equivalence classes defined by u and v, then $\|u^\sim\|=\|u\|$

2.3 Dirichlet Semi-Norm 33

and $||u^{\sim} - v^{\sim}|| = ||u - v||$. Let $F \subset \stackrel{0}{E}$. Let H denote the subspace of F such that each $h \in H$ is harmonic at every vertex of F, that is $\Delta h(x) = 0$ if $x \in F$.

Theorem 2.3.1. H is a closed subspace of F.

Proof. Let $h_n^{\sim} \in H$ be a Cauchy sequence in F. For each equivalence class h_n^{\sim} , extract a function h_n from the class h_n^{\sim} so that $h_n(e) = 0$ where e is a fixed vertex in E. Since $||h_n - h_m|| = ||h_n^{\sim} - h_m^{\sim}|| \to 0$ when $n, m \to \infty$, for any $x \in E$,

$$\frac{1}{2}t(x,e)[(h_n - h_m)(e) - (h_n - h_m)(x)]^2 \le ||h_n - h_m||^2 \to 0$$

when $n, m \to \infty$. Since $(h_n - h_m)(e) = 0$, we deduce that the sequence $\{h_n(x)\}$ converges at every $x \sim e$. Then, we show that there is convergence at all the neighbours of each $x \sim e$. Thus proceeding, we see that h_n converges on E. If we write $h(x) = \lim_n h_n(x)$, then h(x) is harmonic at each vertex in F, and $\|h_n - h\| \to 0$. Hence $h_n^{\sim} \to h^{\sim}$; that is, H is closed in F.

Using the properties of inner-product spaces, we conclude from the above theorem: For every $f^{\sim} \in F$, there exists a unique $h^{\sim} \in H$ such that $\|h^{\sim} - f^{\sim}\|$ is minimum; h^{\sim} is the projection of f^{\sim} on H, so that $\|h^{\sim}\| \leq \|f^{\sim}\|$ and $\|h^{\sim}\| = \|f^{\sim}\|$ if and only if $f^{\sim} \in H$. Let us denote by F^* the subspace of F such that $f^{\sim} \in F^*$ if and only if the equivalence class represented by f^{\sim} contains a function f on E which is 0 on $E \setminus F$.

Theorem 2.3.2. F^* is the orthogonal complement of H in F; that is $F = F^* \oplus H$, and $F^* \bot H$.

Proof. Remark that if f_1^\sim and f_2^\sim are in F, and if we take some f_1 (respectively f_2) from the equivalence class f_1^\sim (respectively f_2^\sim), then $(f_1,f_2)_E$ is independent of the choice of the functions f_1 and f_2 . We define $(f_1^\sim,f_2^\sim)_E=(f_1,f_2)_E$. Now H is orthogonal to F^* . For, let $f^\sim\in F^*$ and $h^\sim\in H$. Choose f from the class f^\sim such that f=0 on $E\setminus F$. Choose some f from the class f^\sim . Note that in Theorem 1.3.2, we have proved $\sum_{x\in E} f(x)\Delta g(x) + (f,g)_E = -\sum_{s\in \partial E} f(s)\frac{\partial g}{\partial n^-}(s)$; in this,

take g=h. Now $\Delta h(x)=0$ if $x\in F$ and f=0 on $E\setminus F\supset (\stackrel{0}{E}\setminus F)\bigcup \partial E$. Consequently, $(f,h)_E=(f,g)_E=0$. Hence, $(f^\sim,g^\sim)_E=0$.

Suppose $f^{\sim} \in \mathbb{H} \cap F^*$. If f is a function such that $\Delta f = 0$ on F and f = 0 on $E \setminus F$, then $f \equiv 0$ (Corollary 2.2.2), so that $f^{\sim} = 0^{\sim}$. Let now $f^{\sim} \in F$. Choose some f in the class f^{\sim} . Let h be the function such that $\Delta h = 0$ on F and h = f on $E \setminus F$ (Theorem 2.2.8). Then, $[f-h]^{\sim} \in F^*$, $h^{\sim} \in H$ and $f^{\sim} = [f-h]^{\sim} + h^{\sim}$. \square

The following is another version of the above result, without any reference to the equivalence classes, to obtain the Dirichlet Principle in the context of a finite network with symmetric conductance (see also, [55]).

Theorem 2.3.3. (Dirichlet Principle) Let E be a connected set and $F \subset E$. Let f be a function defined on $E \setminus F$. Let Γ be the family of functions g on E such that g = f on $E \setminus F$. Then, there exists a function h in Γ such that for any $g \in \Gamma$, $\|h\|_E \leq \|g\|_E$ and $\|h\|_E = \|g\|_E$ if and only if $h \equiv g$. This function h is uniquely determined and $\Delta h = 0$ at every vertex of F.

Proof. Let h be the unique function on E (Theorem 2.2.8), such that h=f on $E\setminus F$ and $\Delta h(x)=0$ if $x\in F$. Then, we prove as above, by using the Green's formula, that if $g\in \Gamma$, then $(g-h)\bot h$. Hence, writing g=(g-h)+h, we conclude $\|g^\sim\|_E\geq \|h^\sim\|_E$ which implies that $\|g\|_E\geq \|h\|_E$. Suppose $\|g\|_E=\|h\|_E$; then, $\|g^\sim\|_E=\|h^\sim\|_E$ which implies that $g^\sim=h^\sim$ by the property of projection. This means that g-h is a constant on E. Since g-h=0 on $E\setminus F$, $g\equiv h$.

Remark 2.3.1. The above Dirichlet Principle is well-known in the classical case. Let Ω be a bounded domain in the Euclidean space $\Re^n, n \geq 2$. In the space of continuous functions on Ω which admit finite continuous (Lebesgue) square-summable gradient, define the scalar product $(f,g)=\int_{\Omega}(gradf,gradg)dx$, with the corresponding Dirichlet semi-norm $\|f\|$. Suppose a continuous function f is defined on $\partial\Omega$. Let us extend f as a continuous function g on Ω for which $\|g\|$ is defined. Let us place all such extended functions g in the class Γ . If there is some $h\in \Gamma$ with minimum norm, it will prove to be the Dirichlet solution in Ω with boundary value f on $\partial\Omega$. But, it is possible that there is no such extension $h\in\Gamma$ on Ω for which $\|h\|=\inf_{\Gamma}\|g\|$. That is, the classical Dirichlet problem is not solvable in an arbitrary bounded domain in \Re^n . As an example, cite the domain 0<|x|<1 in \Re^2 .

However, in a network, the solution to the classical Dirichlet problem can always be obtained as a projection. For, let E be a finite set of connected vertices in a network X with symmetric conductance. Let f be a function defined on ∂E . Giving arbitrary values at the vertices in $\stackrel{0}{E}$, we can assume that f is defined on E. Then (by Theorem 2.3.2, taking $F=\stackrel{0}{E}$) f^{\sim} can be written uniquely as $f^{\sim}=h^{\sim}+g^{\sim}\in H\oplus F^*$. Take a function u in the equivalence class h^{\sim} . Then, by the definition of F^* , f-u is a function on E taking a constant value e0 on e0. Consequently, e1 is a function defined on e2 such that e2 is a every vertex of e3 and e4 on e5.

2.4 Schrödinger Operators on Finite Networks

In this section, we study the Schrödinger operators on a finite network X on the lines of the earlier study with respect to the Laplace operator. The Laplacian is Δ and the Schrödinger operator is the q-Laplacian Δ_q given by $\Delta_q u(x) = \Delta u(x) - q(x)u(x)$, where $q(x) \geq 0$ is defined on the vertices of the network; when we write Δ_q , it is assumed that q(x) > 0 for at least one vertex. (In Chap. 4, in the context of infinite

networks, we relax the condition $q \ge 0$ and allow q to take negative values in a restricted range.) Note

$$\begin{split} \Delta_q u(x) &= \Delta u(x) - q(x)u(x) \\ &= \sum_y t(x,y)[u(y) - u(x)] - q(x)u(x) \\ &= \sum_y t(x,y)u(y) - [t(x) + q(x)]u(x), \end{split}$$
 where $t(x) = \sum_y t(x,y)$ for every x in X .

We identify Δ_q as an $n \times n$ matrix where n is the number of vertices in X. Let Δ_q^l be a square matrix of order l, $1 \le l \le n$, formed by l rows and the corresponding l columns of the matrix Δ_q . By using a minimum principle on X, we prove that Δ_q^l is a non-singular matrix which fact is fundamental in solving a generalised version of the classical Dirichlet problem in a network. Then, by characterizing Green's function, Poisson kernel, condenser principle and balayage as Dirichlet problems with suitable boundary conditions, we are able to deduce immediately these potential-theoretic results in a finite network. Thus, these results are obtained effectively by calculating the inverses of suitable submatrices Δ_q^l .

Bendito et al. [20] prove many of these results in a finite network X with symmetric conductance, by computing appropriate equilibrium measures: the equilibrium measure for a proper subset F of X is a function $\mu \geq 0$ on X such that $\Delta_q \mu(x) = -1$ for $x \in F$ and $\{x : \mu(x) \neq 0\} \subset F$. (It is proved that μ is unique and $\{x : \mu(x) \neq 0\} = F$.) The effective computation of such measures is accomplished by solving linear programming problems. In another direction, interpreting the above problems in the context of probability theory (random walks), solutions are obtained by Chung and Yau [35], Doyle and Snell [44], Tetali [64] and others.

The theory concerning the Schrödinger operator Δ_q , where $q(x) \geq 0$ for all x and $q(x_0) > 0$ for at least one x_0 in X, can be developed on the same lines as for the Laplace operator Δ by using matrices. However, we use a different approach here based on the properties of the Δ_q -superharmonic functions on X. Such a method is not available for the Laplace operator, since any Δ -superharmonic function on a finite network X is constant. Actually, by introducing the Δ_q -superharmonic functions at this stage, we try to bring into focus the potential-theoretic methods that will be used later in the context of infinite networks.

Lemma 2.4.1. Suppose $\Delta_q u \leq 0$ on X. Then $u \geq 0$ on X.

Proof. For, suppose u takes negative values on X, let u attain its minimum value -m at z. Since $0 \geq \Delta_q u(z) = \sum_{y \sim z} t(z,y)[u(y) - u(z)] - q(z)u(z)$, if we assume q(z) > 0, then we find $\Delta_q u(z) > 0$, a contradiction. Hence q(z) = 0 and as a consequence u(y) = u(z) for $y \sim z$. Since q does not vanish everywhere, there

is some vertex a where q(a) > 0. Let $\{z = x_0, x_1, ..., x_j = a\}$ be a path joining z and a. Let i be the smallest index such that $q(x_i) = 0$ and $q(x_{i+1}) > 0$. Then, by the above argument we should have $u(x_{i+1}) = -m$ since $x_{i+1} \sim x_i$. Consequently,

$$\begin{split} 0 & \geq \varDelta_q u(x_{i+1}) = \sum_{y \sim x_{i+1}} t(x_{i+1},y)[u(y) - u(x_{i+1})] - q(x_{i+1})u(x_{i+1}) \\ & = [\text{a non-negative quantity}]-[\text{a positive quantity}] \\ & \times [\text{a negative quantity}] > 0, \end{split}$$

a contradiction. Hence, $u \geq 0$ on X.

Remark 2.4.1. The above lemma implies that if $\Delta_q u = 0$ on X, then $u \equiv 0$; however this conclusion is not valid if $q \equiv 0$, but what is true in this case is that u will be a constant.

Theorem 2.4.2. The matrix Δ_q is non-singular.

Proof. If the vertices of X are denoted by $x_1, x_2, ..., x_n$, and if u(x) is a function defined on X, then let us write $u = (u_1, u_2, ..., u_n)^t$ as a column vector where $u_i = u(x_i)$. Now, by the above Lemma 2.4.1, the equation $\Delta_q u = 0$ has the unique solution $u \equiv 0$. Hence, Δ_q is a non-singular matrix. \square

Remark 2.4.2. To prove the above Theorem 2.4.2, we have used the fact that the non-negative function q(x) on X is not identically 0. However, we shall see in Chap. 4 in the context of infinite networks that q can be allowed to take some negative values in a restricted range as remarked by Bendito et al. [20] in the case of finite networks with symmetric conductance. In fact, they assume that there exists a function $\xi(x)>0$ on the finite network X such that $q(x)\geq \frac{\Delta \xi(x)}{\xi(x)}$ for every x in X. This means that q(x) can possibly take negative values.

Lemma 2.4.3. (q-Minimum principle for Schrödinger operators) Let F be a proper subset of X. Suppose u is a function on X such that $\Delta_q u \leq 0$ at every vertex in F and $u \geq 0$ on $X \setminus F$. Then $u \geq 0$ on X. (In particular, if $\Delta_q v = 0$ at every vertex in F and v = 0 on $X \setminus F$, then $v \equiv 0$.)

Proof. Suppose u takes a negative value on X. If $-m = \min_{x \in X} u(x)$, then $u(x_0) = -m$ for some $x_0 \in F$. Since F is a proper subset of X, there is some $a \in X \setminus F$. Let $\{x_0, x_1, ..., x_j = a\}$ be a path connecting x_0 and a. Let i be the smallest index such that $x_i \in F$ and $x_{i+1} \in X \setminus F$. Then, an argument similar to the one in the proof of Lemma 2.4.1 shows that the assumption that u takes on negative values is not tenable. We conclude $u \geq 0$ on X.

Theorem 2.4.4. For any l, $1 \le l \le n$, the matrix Δ_a^l is non-singular.

Proof. Since we have already proved the theorem when l=n (Theorem 2.4.2), we shall suppose l< n. Let F be the subset $x_1^{'}, x_2^{'}, ..., x_l^{'}$ corresponding to the l rows of Δ_q^l . Consider the equation $\Delta_q^l u^{'}=0$, where $u^{'}=(u_1^{'},...,u_l^{'})^t$ is arbitrary.

Let $u=(u_1,u_2,...u_n)^t$, obtained from $u^{'}$ by introducing (n-l) extra zeros at the appropriate places. Note now $\Delta_q u=0$ on F and u=0 on $X\setminus F$. Hence, by the q-Minimum Principle (Lemma 2.4.3), $u\equiv 0$ and hence $u^{'}\equiv 0$. This proves that the matrix Δ_q^l is non-singular.

Theorem 2.4.5. (q-Domination Principle for Schrödinger operators) Let v and f be two functions on X. Let $\Delta_q v \leq 0$ on X and $A = \{x : \Delta_q f(x) < 0\}$. If $v \geq f$ on A, then $v \geq f$ on X.

Proof. Let u=v-f. Write $F=X\setminus A$. If $F=\phi$, then there is nothing to prove. If F=X, then $\Delta_q f(x)\geq 0$ for all x. Hence $\Delta_q u(x)\leq 0$ for all $x\in X$. Then, $u\geq 0$ on X (Lemma 2.4.1). If F is a proper subset of X, then on $F=X\setminus A$, $\Delta_q u\leq 0$ and on $A,u\geq 0$. Hence, by the above Lemma 2.4.3, $u\geq 0$ on X.

Theorem 2.4.6. (Dirichlet-Poisson solution for Schrödinger operators) Let F be a subset of X. Given two functions f on F and g on $X \setminus F$, there exists a unique function u on X such that $\Delta_q u = -f$ on F and u = g on $X \setminus F$. Moreover, if f and g are non-negative, then $u \geq 0$ on F.

Proof. If F = X, then Theorem 2.4.2 establishes the existence of the unique solution u and then Lemma 2.4.1 proves that u > 0 on X, if f > 0.

Let us suppose that F is a proper subset of X. Let $u=(u_1,u_2,...,u_n)^t$ and $v=(v_1,v_2,...,v_n)^t$ be the column vectors such that u(x)=g(x) if $x\in X\backslash F$ and v(x)=-f(x) if $x\in F$. Now, if we write $\Delta_q u=v$, then $(\Delta_q$ being a non-singular matrix) we can first determine the value of u(x) for $x\in F$. Consequently, we have all the values which u takes on X such that u=g on $X\backslash F$ and $\Delta_q u=-f$ on F. If f and g are non-negative, then $d_q u\leq 0$ on f and f and f on f and f decomposed by Lemma 2.4.3, f decomposition f decomposed f

To prove the uniqueness of u, suppose s is another function such that s=g on $X \setminus F$ and $\Delta_q s = -f$ on F. Then $\varphi = s - u$ satisfies the conditions $\varphi = 0$ on $X \setminus F$ and $\Delta_q \varphi = 0$ on F. Then by Lemma 2.4.1, $\varphi \equiv 0$.

Corollary 2.4.7. (q-Poisson solution) There is always a unique solution to the Poisson equation, namely, given f on X, there exists a unique u on X such that $\Delta_q u = f$ on X.

Proof. This is a consequence of the fact that the matrix Δ_q is non-singular.

Let us solve now the Dirichlet problem for the Schrödinger operator. We can use as for the Laplace operator (Remark 1 following Corollary 2.2.9), the non-singularity property of the matrix Δ_q and any of its principal submatrices to obtain the solution. However, we adapt a method from the classical potential theory in \Re^n to solve this problem in a finite network X. The advantage in this method is that it works even if the network X is not a finite set, as we shall see in the next chapter.

A function u on a subset F of X is said to be q-superharmonic (respectively, q-harmonic, q-subharmonic) on F if and only if $\Delta_q u \leq 0$ (respectively, $\Delta_q u = 0$,

 $\Delta_q u \geq 0$) at every vertex of $\stackrel{0}{F}$. However, we use the expression that u is q-harmonic at a vertex a, if u is defined on V(a) and $\Delta_q u(a) = 0$. (For the Laplace operator on a finite network on X, $\Delta u \leq 0$ on X if and only if u is a constant on X. Consequently, the use of classical potential-theoretic methods, involving superharmonic functions defined by the Laplacian, to study the functions on a finite network is limited. In that case, a recourse to matrices is convenient, as we have seen earlier.)

1. If u and v are q-superharmonic on F, then $s=\inf\left(u,v\right)$ is q-superharmonic on F.

For, if $x \in \overset{0}{F}$, then

$$\begin{split} \Delta_q s(x) &= \sum_y t(x,y) s(y) - \left[t(x) + q(x) \right] s(x) \\ &= \sum_y t(x,y) s(y) - \left[t(x) + q(x) \right] v(x), \text{assuming } s(x) = v(x) \\ &\leq \sum_y t(x,y) v(y) - \left[t(x) + q(x) \right] v(x) = \Delta_q v(x) \leq 0. \end{split}$$

2. If u_n is a sequence of q-superharmonic (respectively, q-harmonic) functions on F, and if $u(x) = \lim_{n \to \infty} u_n(x)$ exists and is finite for every $x \in F$, then u is q-superharmonic (respectively, q-harmonic) on F.

For, if
$$x \in \overset{0}{F}$$
, then $\sum\limits_{y} t(x,y)u_n(y) - [t(x) + q(x)]\,u_n(x) \leq 0$.

Taking limits when $n \to \infty$, we obtain

$$\sum_{y} t(x,y)u(y) - \left[t(x) + q(x)\right]u(x) \le 0.$$

That is, u is q-superharmonic on F (Similar proof in the case of a sequence of q-harmonic functions.)

 Δ_q -Poisson modification. For a function u on a subset E of a network X, and an arbitrary vertex $a\in \stackrel{0}{E}$, let us write $P_au(x)=u(x)$ if $x\neq a$ and $P_au(a)=\sum_z \frac{t(a,z)}{t(a)+q(a)}u(z)$. Let us call P_au the Δ_q -Poisson modification of u at a. Note that $P_au(x)$ is q-harmonic at x=a.

Lemma 2.4.8. Assume that u is q-superharmonic on E. Let $a \in \stackrel{0}{E}$. Then $P_a u$ is q-superharmonic on E, $P_a u(x)$ is q-harmonic at x = a, and $P_a u \leq u$ on E.

Proof. Since u is q-superharmonic at a, we have $P_au(a) \leq u(a)$. For $x \notin V(a)$, we have $P_au = u$ on $E \cap V(x)$, so that $\Delta_q P_a u(x) = \Delta_q u(x) \leq 0$ at each $x \in {\stackrel{0}{E}} \setminus V(a)$.

Let us take the case when $x \in \overset{0}{E} \cap V(a)$. Then there are two cases to consider, namely x = a or $x \neq a$.

For $x \neq a$, we have

$$\Delta_q P_a u(x) = -[t(x) + q(x)] P_a u(x) + \sum_z t(x, z) P_a u(z)$$

$$\leq -[t(x) + q(x)] u(x) + \sum_z t(x, z) u(z)$$

$$= \Delta_q u(x) \leq 0.$$

For x = a, we have

$$\Delta_q P_a u(a) = -[t(a) + q(a)] P_a u(a) + \sum_z t(a, z) P_a u(z)$$
$$= -\sum_z t(a, z) u(z) + \sum_z t(a, z) u(z) = 0.$$

Thus, for all $x \in \overset{0}{E}$, we have $\Delta_q P_a(x) \leq 0$. Hence $P_a u$ is q-superharmonic on E.

 Δ_q -Perron family. Let F be a subset of X and E be some subset contained in $\stackrel{0}{F}$. A non-empty family F of functions on F is said to be a (lower directed) Δ_q -Perron family on (F,E) if it satisfies the following conditions.

- 1. For any $v_1, v_2 \in \mathcal{F}$, there exists $v \in \mathcal{F}$ such that $v \leq \min(v_1, v_2)$.
- 2. $P_a v \in F$, for every $v \in F$ and $a \in E$; also $P_a v \leq v$.
- 3. There exists a function u_0 on F such that $v \ge u_0$ for all F.

Remark 2.4.3. 1. Analogously, we define an upper directed Δ_q -Perron family of functions on (F, E).

2. We define also, with respect to the Laplacian operator Δ , lower directed and upper directed Δ -Perron families on (F, E), by taking $q \equiv 0$.

Example of a Δ_q -Perron family: Let u be a q-subharmonic function on a set F. Let F be the family of q-superharmonic functions v on F such that $v \geq u$. Suppose this family of functions is non-empty. Then, F is a lower-directed family of q-superharmonic functions on $(F, \overset{0}{F})$.

Theorem 2.4.9. If F is a lower directed Δ_q -Perron family on (F, E), then $h(x) = \inf v(x)$, $x \in F$, $v \in F$, is q-harmonic at every vertex of E.

Proof. Since each v in F majorizes u_0 , we have $h(x) \geq u_0(x)$ in V(E). Let $a \in E$ be fixed arbitrarily. Since V(a) is a finite set, we can find a sequence $\left\{v_x^{(n)}\right\}$ in F for every $x \in V(a)$ such that $v_x^{(n)} \to h(x)$ as $n \to \infty$. By (1), there exists u_n in F

such that $u_n \leq \min\left\{v_x^{(n)}, \ x \in V(a)\right\}$. Then, $u_n(x) \to h(x)$ as $n \to \infty$ for every $x \in V(a)$. Let $v_n = P_a u_n$. Then, by (2), $v_n \in F$ and $v_n \leq u_n$. Hence, $v_n(x) \to h(x)$ as $n \to \infty$ for every $x \in V(a)$; also v_n is q-harmonic at a. Consequently, we have $\Delta_q h(a) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \Delta_q v_n(a) = 0$. That is, h is q-harmonic at a.

Theorem 2.4.10. (g.q-h.m.,greatest q-harmonic minorant) Let u (respectively v) be q-superharmonic (respectively q-subharmonic) on a subset F such that $v \le u$. Then, there exists a q-harmonic function h on F such that $v \le h \le u$; moreover, if H is any other q-harmonic function on F such that $v \le H \le u$, then $H \le h$. (Hence, h is called the greatest q-harmonic minorant of u.)

Proof. Let F be the family of q-subharmonic functions t on F such that $t \leq u$. Then, F is an upper directed Δ_q -Perron family (of q-subharmonic functions) on $(F, \overset{0}{F})$ so that $h(x) = \sup t(x)$, where $t \in F$, is a q-harmonic function on F such that $h \leq u$. Clearly, if H is a q-harmonic function on F dominated by u, then $H \in F$. Consequently, $H \leq h$ on F.

Theorem 2.4.11. (Generalised q-Dirichlet Problem) Let F be a subset of X and $E \subset F$. Let f be a function on $F \setminus E$ such that $v \leq f \leq u$ on $F \setminus E$, where u and v are functions on F such that $u \geq v$ on F and $\Delta_q v \geq 0$ and $\Delta_q u \leq 0$ on E. Then there exists a function h on F such that $\Delta_q h = 0$ on E, $v \leq h \leq u$ on F and h = f on $F \setminus E$. Moreover, if h_1 is any function on F such that $h_1 = f$ on $F \setminus E$ and $A_q h_1 = 0$ on E, then $h_1 = h$ on F.

Proof. Let $u_1 = f$ on $F \setminus E$ and $u_1 = u$ on E. Then $\Delta_q u_1 \leq 0$ on E. To see this, remark that if $x \in E$, then

$$\begin{split} \left[t(x)+q(x)\right]u_1(x) &= \left[t(x)+q(x)\right]u(x)\\ &\geq \sum_y t(x,y)u(y), \text{since } \Delta_q u(x) \leq 0, \text{ by hypothesis}\\ &\geq \sum_y t(x,y)u_1(y), \text{since } u_1 \leq u \text{ on } V(E) \subset F. \end{split}$$

Hence, $\Delta_q u_1(x) \leq 0$ for every $x \in E$.

Similarly, if $v_1=f$ on $F\backslash E$ and $v_1=v$ on E, then $\Delta_q v_1\geq 0$ at every vertex of E. Let F be the family of all real-valued functions s on F such that $v\leq v_1\leq s\leq u_1\leq u$ on F and $\Delta_q s\geq 0$ on E. Note that if s_1,s_2 are in F, then $\Delta_q\sup(s_1,s_2)\geq 0$, so that $\sup(s_1,s_2)\in F$; if $a\in E$, then

$$P_a s(a) = \sum_{z} \frac{t(a, z)}{[t(a) + q(a)]} s(z) \ge \sum_{z} \frac{t(a, z)}{[t(a) + q(a)]} v_1(z) \ge v_1(a)$$

and

$$P_a s(a) = \sum_{z} \frac{t(a, z)}{[t(a) + q(a)]} s(z) \le \sum_{z} \frac{t(a, z)}{[t(a) + q(a)]} u_1(z) \le u_1(a).$$

Hence, $P_as \in F$; finally, if $s \in F$, then $s \le u$ on F. Consequently, F is an upper directed Δ_q -Perron family of q-subharmonic functions on (F, E). Hence, if $h(x) = \sup s(x), s \in F$, then $v_1 \le h \le u_1$ on F and $\Delta_q h = 0$ at every vertex of E; note that h = f on $F \setminus E$ since $v_1 = u_1 = f$ on $F \setminus E$.

To prove the uniqueness of the solution h, suppose h_1 is another function such that $h_1 = f$ on $F \setminus E$, and $\Delta_q h_1 = 0$ at every vertex of E. Let $w = h - h_1$ on F. Then, w extended by 0 outside F satisfies the conditions: $\Delta_q w = 0$ on E and w = 0 on $X \setminus E$. Hence, by the Minimum Principle (Lemma 2.4.3), $w \equiv 0$ on X.

Corollary 2.4.12. (Classical q-Dirichlet problem) Let F be a proper subset of X. Let f be a function on ∂F . Then there exists a unique q-harmonic function h on F such that h = f on ∂F .

Proof. Suppose $|f| \leq M$. Use the above theorem with $-M \leq f \leq M$ on ∂F and $E = \overset{0}{F}$, to get the unique solution.

Theorem 2.4.13. (q-Balayage) Let F be a proper subset of X and let u be a real-valued function on X such that $\Delta_q u \leq 0$ at every vertex in $X \setminus F$. Then, there exists a unique function v on X such that $v \leq u$ on X, v = u on F, and $\Delta_q v = 0$ at every vertex in $X \setminus F$.

Proof. By Theorem 2.4.6, there exists a unique function φ on X such that $\Delta_q \varphi = \Delta_q u = -(-\Delta_q)u$ at every vertex in $X \setminus F$, $\varphi = 0$ on F and $\varphi \geq 0$ on $X \setminus F$. Consequently, $\varphi \geq 0$ on X. Then, $v = u - \varphi$ on X has the stated properties. \square

- Remark 2.4.4. 1. The above q-balayaged function v can be described as the solution to an appropriate Dirichlet problem: Let $E = X \setminus F$. For some M > 0, let -M < u on V(E), where V(E) stands for the union of E and all the neighbours of each vertex in E. Take f = u on $V(E) \setminus E$. Since $\Delta_q(M) \leq 0$ on X, we can (Theorem 2.4.11) construct the unique function h on V(E) such that h = f = u on $V(E) \setminus E$, $-M \leq h \leq u$ on V(E), and $\Delta_q h = 0$ on E. Then, v is the function h on V(E) extended by u on $X \setminus V(E)$.
- 2. In the context of an electrical network X, one can pose a problem similar to the capacity problem [27, p.52] in the classical potential theory, how to distribute a unit charge on a proper subset F so that the associated potential is constant on F. That is, the problem is to find $s \geq 0$ on X such that $(-\Delta)s \geq 0$ on X, $\sum\limits_{x \in F} \Delta s(x) = -1$, $\Delta s(x) = 0$ if $x \in X \setminus F$, and for a constant α , $s(x) = \alpha$ if $x \in F$. This problem has no solution, since $(-\Delta)s \geq 0$ on a finite network X implies that s is a constant.

However, the above result on q-balayage shows that a solution to this problem exists when Δ is replaced by the operator Δ_q . For take $u\equiv 1$ on X. Then, $v\leq 1$ on X, v=1 on F and $\Delta_q v=0$ at every vertex in $X\backslash F$. Notice that $\Delta_q v\leq 0$ at every vertex in F. But $\Delta_q v(x)<0$ for some x in F. For otherwise, v is q-harmonic on X and hence should be 0, a contradiction. Hence, $\beta=\sum_{x\in F}(-\Delta_q)v(x)>0$. Write $\alpha=\beta^{-1}$ and $s(x)=\alpha v(x)$. Then, $\sum \Delta_q s(x)=\alpha\sum \Delta_q v(x)=-\alpha\beta=-1$,

Then,
$$\sum_{x \in F} \Delta_q s(x) = \alpha \sum_{x \in F} \Delta_q v(x) = -\alpha \beta = -1$$
, $\Delta_q s(x) = 0$ if $x \in X \setminus F$, and $s(x) = \alpha$ if $x \in F$.

The following theorem generalises the well-known *Condenser Principle* in finite electrical networks. In the context of finite networks with symmetric conductance, Bendito et al. [20] give a detailed form for this principle.

Theorem 2.4.14. (Generalised q-Condenser Principle) Let A and B be two nonempty disjoint subsets of X. Let $F = X \setminus (A \cup B) \neq \phi$. Let a and b be two real numbers such that $a \leq 0 \leq b$. Then there exists a unique φ on X such that $a \leq \varphi(x) \leq b$ for every $x \in X$,

$$arphi(x)=a \ and \ \Delta_q arphi(x) \geq 0 \ for \ x \in A,$$

$$arphi(x)=b \ and \ \Delta_q arphi(x) \leq 0 \ for \ x \in B,$$

$$and \ \Delta_q arphi(x)=0 \ for \ x \in F.$$

Proof. In Theorem 2.4.6, take f=0, g(x)=a if $x\in A$, and g(x)=b if $x\in B$. Then there exists a unique function φ on X, such that $\varphi=a$ on A, $\varphi=b$ on B, and $\Delta_q\varphi=0$ on F (if a=b=0, then $\varphi\equiv 0$). Note that by the Minimum Principle, $a\leq \varphi(x)\leq b$ on X. For, if $\psi(x)=\varphi(x)-a$ on X, then $\Delta_q\psi(x)=\Delta_q\varphi(x)+\Delta_q(-a)$. Since (-a) is q-superharmonic, $\Delta_q(-a)\leq 0$. Hence, $\Delta_q\psi(x)\leq 0$ if $x\in F$, and $\psi(x)\geq 0$ if $x\notin F$. Hence (Lemma 2.4.3) $\psi\geq 0$ on X, that is $\varphi(x)\geq a$ on X. Similarly, considering the function $b-\varphi(x)$ on X, we conclude that $b-\varphi(x)\geq 0$ on X.

Consequently, at any vertex z where φ attains its minimum value a which is non-positive, $\Delta_q \varphi(z) \geq 0$; similarly, at every vertex y where φ attains its maximum value b which is non-negative, $\Delta_q \varphi(y) \leq 0$. Hence, $\Delta_q \varphi \geq 0$ on A and $\Delta_q \varphi \leq 0$ on B.

Thus, φ is the q-Dirichlet solution as in Theorem 2.4.11, with F in the place of E and V(F) in the place of F; f=a on $A\cap \{V(F)\backslash F\}$, and f=b on $B\cap \{V(F)\backslash F\}$; φ is extended by a on A, and by b on B.

Theorem 2.4.15. (q-Green's function) Let F be a subset of X. If $y \in \overset{\circ}{F}$, then there exists a unique function $G_y^F(x) \geq 0$ on X such that $\Delta_q G_y^F(x) = -\delta_y(x)$ if $x \in \overset{\circ}{F}$, $G_y^F(s) = 0$ if $s \in X \setminus \overset{\circ}{F}$ and $G_y^F(x) \leq G_y^F(y)$ for any $x \in X$.

Proof. Let $f(x)=-\delta_y(x)$ if $x\in \overset{0}{F}$. Then, by Theorem 2.4.6, there exists a unique function on X, noted by $G_y^F(x)$, such that $\Delta_q G_y^F(x)=f(x)$ if $x\in \overset{0}{F}$ and $G_y^F(s)=0$ if $s\in X\setminus \overset{0}{F}$. Since $\Delta_q G_y^F(x)\leq 0$ on $\overset{0}{F}$ and $G_y^F=0$ on $X\setminus \overset{0}{F}$ we conclude that $G_y^F\geq 0$ on X. (It can be seen that $G_y^F>0$ on $\overset{0}{F}$ if $\overset{0}{F}$ is connected.) To prove the last assertion, note that $G_y^F(x)=G_y^F(y)$ if x=y; if $x\neq y$,

To prove the last assertion, note that $G_y^F(x) = G_y^F(y)$ if x = y; if $x \neq y$, and $x \in F$, then $\Delta_q G_y^F(x) = 0$; and if $s \in X \setminus F$, then $G_y^F(s) = 0$ so that $\Delta_q G_y^F(s) \geq 0$, since $G_y^F \geq 0$ on X. Thus, applying the Domination Principle (Theorem 2.4.5, with $v(x) = G_y^F(y)$ for all $x \in X$, and $f(x) = G_y^F(x)$ for $x \in X$), we conclude that $G_y^F(x) \leq G_y^F(y)$ for all $x \in X$.

Thus, $G_y^F(x)$ is the solution to the following Dirichlet problem: Let f be a function defined on $(X \setminus \overset{0}{F}) \cup \{y\}$ such that f(y) = 1 and f(x) = 0 if $x \in X \setminus \overset{0}{F}$. Then, from Theorem 2.4.11 (by taking X in the place of F and $\overset{0}{F} \setminus \{y\}$ in the place of E), we extend f onto X as the Dirichlet solution so that $\Delta_q f = 0$ on $\overset{0}{F} \setminus \{y\}$. By the Minimum Principle, $0 \le f(x) \le 1$ for all $x \in X$ and $\Delta_q f(y) < 0$. Then, $G_y^F(x) = \frac{f(x)}{(-\Delta_q)f(y)}$.

Remark 2.4.5. The above argument goes through even when F=X, so that for any $y\in X$, there exists a function $G_y(x)=G_y^F(x)>0$ on X such that $\Delta_qG_y(x)=-\delta_y(x)$ and $G_y(x)\leq G_y(y)$ for all $x\in X$.

Proposition 2.4.16. If f(x) is any function on X, then it is of the form $f(x) = \sum_{y} (-\Delta_q) f(y) G_y(x)$.

Proof. Let
$$u(x) = \sum_{y} (-\Delta_q) f(y) G_y(x)$$
. Then, $(-\Delta_q) u(x) = (-\Delta_q) f(x)$ for all $x \in X$. Hence $u \equiv f$.

Remark 2.4.6. The above proposition states that any real-valued function f on X is of the form f=u-v on X, where $\Delta_q u \leq 0$ and $\Delta_q v \leq 0$.

 Δ_q -Poisson kernel. Let F be a proper subset of X. $P_q\left(x,\xi\right)$ for $x\in F$ and $\xi\in\partial F$ is said to be the Δ_q -Poisson kernel of F, if it is the q-Dirichlet solution on F with boundary values $f(s)=\delta_\xi(s)$ for all $s\in\partial F$; note $P_q(s,\xi)=\delta_\xi(s)$ for s,ξ in ∂F and $\Delta_q P_q(x,\xi)=0$ if $x\in F$ and $\xi\in\partial F$.

Proposition 2.4.17. Let F be a proper subset of X. Then, the Dirichlet solution on F with boundary values $f(\xi)$ on ∂F is given by $h(x) = \sum_{\xi \in \partial F} P_q(x, \xi) f(\xi)$.

Proof. We have $\Delta_q h(x) = 0$ if $x \in \overset{0}{F}$ and h(s) = f(s) for any $s \in \partial F$. Hence, by the uniqueness of the q-Dirichlet solution, the proposition follows.

Theorem 2.4.18. Let F be a proper subset of X. Let u_n be a sequence of q-harmonic functions on F. Suppose $u_n(\xi) \to u(\xi)$ for every $\xi \in \partial F$. Then $\{u_n\}$ converges on F to a q-harmonic function h given by $h(x) = \sum_{\xi \in \partial F} P_q(x, \xi) u(\xi)$, if $x \in F$, and h = u on ∂F .

Proof. By Proposition 2.4.17, $h(x)=\sum_{\xi\in\partial F}P_q(x,\xi)u(\xi)$ is a q-harmonic function on F, being the Dirichlet solution on F with boundary values $u(\xi)$. By hypothesis, u_n is q-harmonic on F, so that $u_n(x)=\sum_{\xi\in\partial F}P_q(x,\xi)u_n(\xi), x\in F$. Hence, $u_n(x)=\sum_{\xi\in\partial F}P_q(x,\xi)u_n(\xi)\to\sum_{\xi\in\partial F}P_q(x,\xi)u(\xi)=h(x).$

Chapter 3 Harmonic Function Theory on Infinite Networks

Abstract Similar to the classification of Riemannian manifolds as hyperbolic and parabolic, an infinite network X is said to be hyperbolic if the Green function is defined on X, otherwise X is said to be parabolic. Different criteria like Minimum Principle, the harmonic measure of the point at infinity and the sections determined by a vertex in X are introduced to effect the classification. The first part of this chapter studies the properties of superharmonic functions in hyperbolic networks: the existence of non-constant bounded or positive harmonic functions on X, domination principle and balayage. The second part carries out, in parabolic networks, the construction of superharmonic functions in X with point harmonic singularity, similar to the logarithmic potentials in the plane; such functions do not naturally appear in the context of random walks and electrical networks. Balayage, Maximum Principle and the representation of harmonic functions outside a finite set are considered in parabolic networks, leading to the concepts of flux at infinity and pseudo-potentials which play an important role in developing a potential theory on parabolic networks.

In the last chapter, we studied some properties of functions defined on finite graphs, by using matrices. Many of the useful problems in electrical networks and Markov chains are formulated as problems in finite graph theory. Yet, infinite graphs cannot be ignored. For example, since we do not know how to find solutions of many differential equations, we try to obtain their approximate solutions by various means. One such method is to solve partial differential equations by the finite difference approximation, which involves horizontal and vertical displacements. This in effect resembles an electrical grid which is a graph. However, for some differential equations, like wave equations, the domain of existence of the solution may be unbounded, suggesting a problem in a graph with infinite vertices and consequently a need to consider situations like infinite electrical grids [73]. A similar connection exists between infinite electrical networks and Markov chains [68].

As a consequence of the inherent similarities between the basic structures of infinite electrical networks and Markov chains, some problems in Markov chains can be solved by the methods developed in the context of electrical networks and in the other direction some problems in the context of electrical networks can be more easily solved by probabilistic methods. Hence a common approach to study these two subjects is desirable. This raises the possibility of introducing an abstract structure, called simply an infinite network whose theoretical developments, problems and methods of solutions will have some resemblances to and some influences from infinite electrical networks and Markov chains.

3.1 Infinite Networks and the Laplace Operator

By an infinite network X, we mean a graph with a countably infinite number of vertices and a countably infinite number of edges with the following properties:

- 1. X is connected. That is, given any two vertices a and b in X, there exists a finite path $\{a=a_0,a_1,...,a_n=b\}$ connecting a and b. We say that the length of this path is n.
- 2. X is locally finite. That is, for any vertex x, the number of neighbours of x is finite. If x and y are neighbours, then we write $x \sim y$.
- 3. X has no self-loop. That is, there is no edge from a to a.
- 4. For any pair of vertices x and y, there is an associated number $t(x,y) \geq 0$ such that t(x,y) > 0 if and only if $x \sim y$. Consequently, note that for any vertex x, $\sum_{y \in X} t(x,y) = t(x) > 0$. There are only a finite number of non-zero terms in the summation. (Note that we do not place the restriction t(x,y) = t(y,x). If t(x,y) = t(y,x) for every pair of vertices in X, then we say that X has symmetric conductance.)

As defined earlier, let us say that for a subset E of the infinite network X, x is an *interior vertex* if and only if x and all its neighbours are in E. The set of all interior points of E is denoted by $\stackrel{0}{E}$ and the *boundary* of E is $\partial E = E \setminus \stackrel{0}{E}$. Let u be a real-valued function defined on E. For $x \in \stackrel{0}{E}$, let us define the Laplacian of u at x as $\Delta u(x) = \sum_{y} t(x,y)[u(y) - u(x)]$. u is said to be *superharmonic* on E,

if and only if $\Delta u(x) \leq 0$ for every $x \in \overset{0}{E}$; u is *subharmonic* on E if and only if $\Delta u(x) \geq 0$ for every $x \in \overset{0}{E}$; and u is *harmonic* on E if and only if $\Delta u(x) = 0$ for every $x \in \overset{0}{E}$. The following properties of superharmonic functions can be derived as in the previous chapter:

- 1. If s_1 and s_2 are superharmonic on a subset E and if α_1, α_2 are two non-negative numbers, then $\alpha_1 s_1 + \alpha_2 s_2$ and $\inf(s_1, s_2)$ are superharmonic on E.
- 2. If $\{s_n\}$ is a sequence of superharmonic functions on E such that $s(x) = \lim s_n(x)$ is finite at every $x \in E$, then s is superharmonic on E.

- 3. If s is a superharmonic function on a finite subset E, then $\min_{x \in E} s(x) = \min_{z \in \partial E} s(z)$. As a consequence, if h is harmonic on a finite subset E and if h = 0 on ∂E , then $h \equiv 0$ on E.
- 4. Harnack Property: Let F be a subset of X, and E be a connected subset of $\stackrel{0}{F}$. Let a and b be two vertices in E. Then, there exist two constants $\alpha > 0$ and $\beta > 0$ such that for any non-negative superharmonic function s on F, $\alpha s(b) \leq s(a) \leq \beta s(b)$.

Proof. Since E is connected, there exists a path $\{a=a_0,a_1,...,a_n=b\}$ connecting a and b in E. Take any non-negative superharmonic function s on F. Then, $t(a)s(a) \geq \sum\limits_{x \sim a} t(a,x)s(x)$. In particular, $t(a)s(a) \geq t(a,a_1)s(a_1)$. Again $t(a_1)s(a_1) \geq \sum\limits_{x \sim a_1} t(a_1,x)s(x)$, so that $t(a_1)s(a_1) \geq t(a_1,a_2)s(a_2)$. Hence

$$s(a) \ge \frac{t(a, a_1)}{t(a)} \times \frac{t(a_1, a_2)}{t(a_1)} s(a_2).$$

Proceeding further, we arrive at the inequality

$$s(a) \geq \frac{t(a,a_1)}{t(a)} \times \frac{t(a_1,a_2)}{t(a_1)} \times \ldots \times \frac{t(a_{n-1},a_n)}{t(a_{n-1})} s(b),$$

which is of the form $s(a) \geq \alpha s(b)$. The other inequality $s(a) \leq \beta s(b)$ is proved similarly. Note that α, β do not depend on the choice of the superharmonic function s.

5. If s is superharmonic on E and v is subharmonic on E such that $s \ge v$, then there exists a harmonic function h on E such that $s \ge h \ge v$ on E; this function h can be chosen such that if u is another harmonic function on E such that $s \ge u \ge v$, then $h \ge u$. h is called the greatest harmonic minorant (g.h.m.) of s on E.

Using a Perron family, we proved a similar result in Theorem 2.4.10 to construct the greatest q-harmonic minorant of a q-superharmonic function defined on a finite set F. The same method works also in an infinite network X for the construction of the greatest harmonic minorant of s on an arbitrary set E in X.

6. Maximum Principle: Let F be a finite subset in an infinite network X. Suppose u is defined on X such that $\Delta u(x) \geq 0$ at every vertex in F and $u \leq 0$ on $X \setminus F$. Then $u \leq 0$ on X.

For, suppose $\sup_{x\in F}u(x)=M>0$. Then $u(x_0)=M$ for some $x_0\in F$. If $x_0\in\partial F$, there is at least one vertex $z\in X\backslash F$ such that $x_0\sim z$. Then,

$$0 \le \Delta u(x_0) = \sum_{x \sim x_0} t(x_0, x)[u(x) - u(x_0)] < 0,$$

since $u(x) - u(x_0) \le 0$ for all x and $u(z) - u(x_0) < 0$. This contradiction shows that $M \le 0$.

If $x_0 \notin \partial F$, then $x_0 \in \overset{0}{F}$. Take a vertex $y \in X \backslash F$. Since X is connected, there is a path $\{x_0, x_1, ..., x_n = y\}$ connecting x_0 to y. Let $i \geq 1$ be the largest index such that $x_j \in \overset{0}{F}$ if $j \leq i-1$. Then $x_i \in \partial F$ since $x_i \sim x_{i-1} \in \overset{0}{F}$. Note $i \leq n-1$ since $x_n = y \notin F$. Also, $u(x_k) = M$ for $0 \leq k \leq i$, which comes from the fact that by induction, for $j \leq i-1$,

$$0 \le \Delta u(x_j) = \sum_{x \sim x_j} t(x_j, x) [u(x) - u(x_j)] \le 0.$$

Since $x_i \in \partial F$, there exists some vertex $a \in X \backslash F$ such that $a \sim x_i$. Then

$$0 \le \Delta u(x_i) = \sum_{x \sim x_i} t(x_i, x) [u(x) - u(x_i)] < 0,$$

since $u(x) - u(x_i) \le 0$ for all x and $u(a) - u(x_i) \le 0 - M < 0$. This contradiction shows that $M \le 0$, that is $u \le 0$ on X.

7. We shall frequently use the above maximum principle in the form: Let F be a finite subset of an infinite network X. Let u be a real-valued function on X such that $\Delta u=0$ at every vertex in F and u=0 on $X\backslash F$. Then $u\equiv 0$.

Definition 3.1.1. A non-negative superharmonic function p defined on a subset E is said to be a potential if and only if the greatest harmonic minorant (g.h.m.) of p on E is 0.

Alternatively, let $s \geq 0$ be a superharmonic function on E. Suppose v is an arbitrary subharmonic function on E. Then, s is a potential if and only if $s \geq v$ implies that $v \leq 0$. Some of the properties of potentials are as follows:

1. If p_1 and p_2 are potentials on E and if α_1 and α_2 are non-negative numbers, then $\alpha_1 p_1 + \alpha_2 p_2$ is a potential on E.

First, $\alpha_1p_1+\alpha_2p_2$ is a non-negative superharmonic function on E. If $\alpha_1=0=\alpha_2$, then nothing to prove. Let $\alpha_1>0$ and v be a subharmonic function on E such that $v\leq\alpha_1p_1+\alpha_2p_2$. Then, the subharmonic function $\frac{v-\alpha_2p_2}{\alpha_1}$ is majorized by the potential p_1 . Hence $v-\alpha_2p_2\leq 0$. If $\alpha_2=0$, then $v\leq 0$. Otherwise, $\frac{v}{\alpha_2}\leq p_2$ and hence $v\leq 0$. Consequently, $\alpha_1p_1+\alpha_2p_2$ is a potential on E.

2. If $s \ge 0$ is superharmonic on E and if p is a potential on E such that $s \le p$, then s is a potential on E.

For, if v is subharmonic on E and $v \le s$, then v is majorized by the potential p. Hence, $v \le 0$.

limit of potentials on E.

3. Let $p(x) = \sum_{n \ge 1} p_n(x) < \infty$, for every $x \in E$, where each p_n is a potential on E. Then, p is a potential on E.

First note that p is superharmonic on E; to prove that p is actually a potential, let $v \leq p$ where v is subharmonic on E. Then $v(x) - \sum_{n \geq 2} p_n(x) \leq p_1(x)$. Here the left side is subharmonic and the right side is a potential, so that $v - \sum_{n \geq 2} p_n \leq 0$. By a similar argument, for any integer $k, v \leq \sum_{n \geq k} p_n$. Let x be an arbitrary vertex in E. Since $\sum_{n \geq 1} p_n(x)$ is convergent, for m large $\sum_{n \geq m} p_n(x) \leq \varepsilon$. Hence, $v(x) \leq \varepsilon$. Since ε is arbitrary, $v(x) \leq 0$. This means that p is a potential on E. Caution: Let p_n be a sequence of potentials on E and let $p(x) = \lim_n p_n(x)$ be finite for each $x \in E$. Even then, we cannot say that p is a potential on E. For, we shall show later that any superharmonic function s > 0 on E is an increasing

4. Riesz representation: Any superharmonic function $s \ge 0$ on E can be written as the sum of a potential and a non-negative harmonic function on E; and this representation is unique.

For, if h is the g.h.m. of s on E, then $s \ge h \ge 0$ so that the g.h.m. of the non-negative superharmonic function p = s - h is 0. Hence p is a potential and s = p + h on E. Suppose $s = p_1 + h_1$ is another such representation, then $p = p_1 + h_1 - h \ge h_1 - h$. Since p is a potential majorizing the harmonic function $h_1 - h$, we conclude $h_1 - h \le 0$. Similarly, we prove $h - h_1 \le 0$. Hence, $h = h_1$ and consequently, $p = p_1$.

We have defined potentials on E. But it is not obvious that on any subset E of an infinite network X, there exist positive potentials. In fact, there are networks without having any positive potential defined on them.

Definition 3.1.2. An infinite network X is said to be a hyperbolic network if and only if there exists a positive potential on X; otherwise, X is called a parabolic network.

Proposition 3.1.1. If there exists a non-constant positive superharmonic function on X, then X is hyperbolic.

Proof. Let s>0 be a non-constant superharmonic function on X. (Recall that a harmonic function is both superharmonic and subharmonic.) For some $a\in X$, let $u(x)=\frac{s(x)}{s(a)}$, which is a non-constant superharmonic function. Let $v(x)=\inf(u(x),1)$. Then, we know that v is superharmonic on X, but it cannot be harmonic. For, if v were harmonic, then v attains its maximum value at v=a, and hence by the Maximum Principle $v\equiv 1$. This implies that the superharmonic function v=1, attains its minimum at v=1 as on that v=1 is hould be a constant, a contradiction. Consequently, v=1 being (non-harmonic) positive superharmonic, in the Riesz representation v=1, we should have v=1. Hence, v=1 is hyperbolic.

Corollary 3.1.2. X is parabolic if and only if every positive superharmonic function on X is a constant.

Proof. If every positive superharmonic function is constant on X, there cannot be any positive potential on X, hence X is parabolic. Conversely, if there exists a nonconstant positive superharmonic function on X, then X is hyperbolic by the above theorem.

We have given in Corollary 1.4.3 a Minimum Principle for superharmonic functions on a set E consisting of only a finite number of vertices. If E is not necessarily finite, we need certain modifications.

Proposition 3.1.3. Let X be hyperbolic. Let E be an arbitrary proper subset of X. Suppose v is superharmonic on E such that $v \ge 0$ on ∂E and $v \ge -p$ on E, where p is a potential on X. Then, $v \ge 0$ on E.

Proof. Let $u=\inf(v,0)$ in E extended by 0 outside E. Then, u is superharmonic on X and $u\geq -p$ on X. Since p is a potential majorizing the subharmonic function -u on X, we conclude that $-u\leq 0$ on X. In particular, on E, $u\geq 0$ and hence $v\geq 0$.

Corollary 3.1.4. Let X be hyperbolic. Let E be an arbitrary set of X. Suppose h is harmonic on E such that h=0 on ∂E and $|h| \leq p$ on E, where p is a potential on X. Then, $h \equiv 0$.

Proof. Since $h \ge -p$ and $-h \ge -p$ on E and h = 0 on ∂E , by the above proposition, $h \equiv 0$.

Proposition 3.1.5. Let X be parabolic. Let E be an arbitrary proper subset of X. Suppose v is a lower bounded superharmonic function on E and $v \geq 0$ on ∂E . Then, $v \geq 0$ on E.

Proof. Let $u = \inf(v, 0)$ on E extended by 0 outside E. Then, u is superharmonic on X and lower bounded too. Hence, u is constant since X is parabolic. That is, $u \equiv 0$ so that v > 0 on E.

Corollary 3.1.6. Let X be parabolic. Let E be an arbitrary subset of X. Suppose h is a bounded harmonic function on E. If h = 0 on ∂E , then $h \equiv 0$.

Proof. This is a simple consequence of the above proposition. \Box

Recall that Theorem 2.4.11 has been proved without any reference to whether the network X is finite or not, by using a Perron family of superharmonic functions. We shall state that theorem here.

Theorem 3.1.7. (Generalised Dirichlet Problem for infinite networks) Let F be a subset of an infinite network X and $E \subset F$. Suppose f is a function defined on $F \setminus E$ such that $v \leq f \leq u$ on $F \setminus E$ where u and v are defined on F, $v \leq u$ on F, $\Delta u \leq 0$ and $\Delta v \geq 0$ at each vertex in E. Then, there exists a function v on v on v on v is an v of v on v on v on v on v on v is an v of v on v is an v of v on v

function h can be so chosen that if h_1 is another such harmonic function on F with these three properties, then $h_1 \leq h$.

Proof. Let $u_1=f$ on $F\backslash E$ and $u_1=u$ on E. Let $v_1=f$ on $F\backslash E$ and $v_1=v$ on E. Then, as shown in the proof of Theorem 2.4.11, $\Delta u_1(x)\leq 0$ and $\Delta v_1(x)\geq 0$ at every vertex in E. Let \Im be the family of real-valued functions s on F such that $v\leq v_1\leq s\leq u_1\leq u$ on F and $\Delta s\geq 0$ on E. Then \Im is a Perron family of subharmonic functions on E (see the proof of Theorem 2.4.11). Hence, if $h(x)=\sup s(x), x\in F, s\in \Im$, then $v\leq h\leq u$ on f,h=f on $F\backslash E$, and $\Delta h=0$ at every vertex in E.

Suppose h_1 is another function on f such that $v \leq h_1 \leq u$ on F, $h_1 = f$ on $F \setminus E$, and $\Delta h_1(x) = 0$ at each vertex x in E. Then, $h_1 \in \Im$ and consequently, $h_1 \leq h$.

Corollary 3.1.8. Let X be hyperbolic. Suppose E is a subset of X. Let f be a function on ∂E such that $|f| \leq p$ on ∂E where p is a potential on X. Then, there exists a unique harmonic function h on E such that h = f on ∂E and $|h| \leq p$ on E.

Proof. The existence follows from the above theorem and the uniqueness is from Corollary 3.1.4.

Corollary 3.1.9. Let X be parabolic. Suppose E is a subset of X. Let f be a bounded function defined on ∂E . Then there exists a unique bounded harmonic function h on E such that h = f on ∂E .

Proof. The existence of a harmonic function on E such that h=f on ∂E is a consequence of the above theorem. For the uniqueness, suppose h_1 is another such function. Write $\varphi=h_1-h$, so that φ is bounded harmonic on E with boundary value 0. Hence, by Corollary 3.1.6, $\varphi\equiv 0$.

Theorem 3.1.10. (Balayage) Let s be a non-negative superharmonic function on a network X. Let A be a proper subset of X. Then, there exists a non-negative superharmonic function R_s^A on X such that $R_s^A \leq s$ on X, $R_s^A = s$ on A, and $\Delta R_s^A(x) = 0$ if $x \in X \setminus A$. If there exists a potential p on X such that $s \leq p$ on A, then R_s^A is a potential on X.

Proof. In Theorem 3.1.7 (Dirichlet problem) take $E=X\backslash A$, F=V(E) which is the set consisting of E and all the neighbours of each vertex in E, f=s, u=s, and v=0. Then, there exists a function h on F such that $\Delta h(x)=0$ if $x\in E$, h=s on $F\backslash E$, and $0\le h\le s$ on F. Let R_s^A denote the function h on F extended by s on $X\backslash F$. Then, R_s^A is a non-negative superharmonic function on X, having the properties stated in the theorem.

Suppose p is a potential on X such that $s \leq p$ on A. Then in the above paragraph, replace s by $s_1 = \inf(s,p)$ which is a potential on X. Hence $R_{s_1}^A$ is a potential since it is majorized by the potential s_1 . Take R_s^A as the potential $R_{s_1}^A$. Since $s_1 = s$ on A, we notice that R_s^A has the stated properties, in addition to being a potential on X.

Remark 3.1.1. If X is parabolic, then the non-negative superharmonic function s is constant and we take $R_s^A = s$ on X. Hence the balayage in this form in a parabolic network is not important. Theorem 3.4.4 gives a different version of balayage in a parabolic network.

3.2 Classification of Infinite Networks

We have so far seen two classes of infinite networks, hyperbolic and parabolic. In this section, we shall carry out further classifications of networks so that certain unified results in each class can be formulated. Let us fix a vertex e. For each $e_i \sim e$, we shall refer to the subset $[e,e_i]=\{x:$ there exists a path joining x to e which passes through $e_i\}$ as the section determined by e and e_i . It is assumed that e and e_i are in $[e,e_i]$. Then, $[e,e_i]$ and $[e,e_i]\setminus\{e\}$ are connected, may be a finite set. Since X is an infinite set and since e has only a finite number of neighbours, then at least one $[e,e_i]$ should contain an infinite number of vertices. $[e,e_i]$ is referred to as an infinite section if there are infinite vertices in it; otherwise $[e,e_i]$ is a finite section. If e_i and e_j are two neighbours of e, then either $[e,e_i]$ and $[e,e_j]$ are two sections having e as the only common vertex or $[e,e_i]=[e,e_j]$. If $E_i=[e,e_i]$, then each $x\in E_i\setminus\{e\}$ is an interior vertex of E_i . For, if $x\in E_i\setminus\{e\}$ and if $y\sim x$, then $y\in E_i$.

Proposition 3.2.1. Let $E_i = [e, e_i]$ be a finite section. Let u be a function defined on E_i such that u(e) = 0 and $\Delta u(x) = 0$ at each $x \in E_i \setminus \{e\}$. Then $u \equiv 0$.

Proof. Suppose u takes positive values on E_i . Then $\max_{x \in E_i} u(x) = M > 0$. Let u(y) = M for $y \in E_i$. As $\Delta u(x) = 0$ for each $x \in E_i \setminus \{e\}$, u(z) = M at all neighbours z of y. Since the vertex y is connected to the vertex e, by induction, we should have u(e) = M > 0, a contradiction. Hence, $u \le 0$ on E_i ; and similarly we prove $u \ge 0$ on E_i . Thus, $u \equiv 0$.

Theorem 3.2.2. Let $E_i = [e, e_i]$ be an infinite section. Then, there exists $h \ge 0$ on E_i such that h(e) = 0, h(x) > 0 if $x \in E_i \setminus \{e\}$ and $\Delta h(x) = 0$ at every vertex $x \in E_i \setminus \{e\}$.

Proof. For $z \in X$, let |z| denote the shortest distance of z from e. Let $B_n = \{x: |x| \leq n\}$. Let $B_n' = B_n \cap [e, e_i]$. Then, by using the Dirichlet solution, there is a function u_n on B_n' such that $0 \leq u_n \leq 1$, $u_n(e) = 0$, and $u_n(y) = 1$ if $y \in \partial B_n' \setminus \{e\}$, $u_n > 0$ on $B_n' \setminus \{e\}$, and $\Delta u_n(x) = 0$ if $x \in B_n' \setminus \{e\}$. Assume u_n is extended to the rest of E_i by giving the value $u_n(a) = 1$ for each $a \in E_i \setminus B_n'$. Clearly, u_n is a superharmonic function on E_i . Fix a vertex , $a \neq e$, and define $v_n(x) = \frac{u_n(x)}{u_n(a)}$ on E_i . Then, $v_n \geq 0$ is a superharmonic function on E_i , $v_n(a) = 1$, $v_n(e) = 0$ and $v_n > 0$ on $E_i \setminus \{e\}$.

Take a vertex b in $E_i \setminus \{e\}$. Then, by the Harnack property, there is an $\alpha > 0$ such that $v_n(b) \leq \alpha v_n(a) = \alpha$ for all n. Hence, we can extract a subsequence $\left\{v_n'\right\}$ from $\left\{v_n\right\}$ such that $\lim_{n \to \infty} v_n'(b)$ exists. Take another vertex k in $E_i \setminus \{e\}$. Then, by using the same argument, we can extract a subsequence $\left\{v_n''\right\}$ from $\left\{v_n'\right\}$ such that $\lim_{n \to \infty} v_n''(k)$ exists. Note that $\lim_{n \to \infty} v_n''(b)$ also exists. Since E_i is countably infinite, this method shows that there exists a subsequence $\left\{v_n^*\right\}$ of $\left\{v_n\right\}$ such that $h(x) = \lim_{n \to \infty} v_n^*(x)$ exists for each $x \in E_i \setminus \{e\}$.

 $h(x) = \lim_{n \to \infty} v_n^*(x) \text{ exists for each } x \in E_i \setminus \{e\} \,.$ Since $v_n^* \geq 0$ is superharmonic on $E_i, \, v_n^*(e) = 0$ and $v_n^*(a) = 1$, we find h(x) is superharmonic on $E_i, \, h(e) = 0$ and h(a) = 1. Hence, h(x) > 0 if $x \in E_i \setminus \{e\}$. Finally, at any vertex z in $E_i \setminus \{e\}$, $\Delta v_n^*(z) = 0$ for all n sufficiently large, so that h(x) is harmonic at z.

Notation: In an infinite network X, let e be a vertex. Denote by $H_0^+(e)$ the set of non-negative functions in X such that h(e)=0 and $\Delta h(x)=0$ if $x\neq e$. Note that $H_0^+(e)$ contains at least one function h not identically 0. For, if E is an infinite section determined by e, define h on E such that h(e)=0 and h(x)>0, $\Delta h(x)=0$ if $x\neq e$. This function h extended by 0 outside E is in $H_0^+(e)$.

Definition 3.2.1. Let $E_i = [e, e_i]$ be an infinite section. Then, by the above theorem, there always exists at least one function $h \geq 0$ on E_i such that h(e) = 0 and for $x \in E_i \setminus \{e\}$, $\Delta h(x) = 0$ and h(x) > 0. E_i is called a P-section if one such function h is bounded. Otherwise, E_i is called an S-section, that is in an S-section every such function h is unbounded.

Example: Let T be a standard homogeneous tree of degree $q+1, q \geq 2$, that is every vertex in T has exactly q+1 neighbours and $t(x,y)=t(y,x)=\frac{1}{q+1}$ for any pair $x\sim y$. Let e be any fixed vertex. Then, there are q+1 sections determined by e, each of which is infinite. Measuring distances from e, define $h(e)=0, h(e_i)=1$ if $e_i\sim e$, and $h(x_n)=\sum_{k=0}^n q^{-k}$ if $|x_n|=n+1$. Then, $\Delta h(e_i)=(0-1)+q\left[(1+\frac{1}{q})-1\right]=0$; and if $x\sim e_i, \ x\neq e$, then $\Delta h(x)=\left[1-(1+\frac{1}{q})\right]+q\left[(1+\frac{1}{q}+\frac{1}{q^2})-(1+\frac{1}{q})\right]=0$. Now, for $n>1, x_n$ has one neighbour y with |y|=n and q neighbours z_j with $|z_j|=n+2$. Hence,

$$\sum_{x_n \sim x} t(x_n, x) h(x) = t(x_n, y) h(y) + \sum_{j=1}^{q} t(x_n, z_j) h(z_j)$$

$$= \frac{1}{q+1} \sum_{j=1}^{n-1} q^{-k} + \frac{q}{q+1} \sum_{j=1}^{n+1} q^{-k}$$

$$= \frac{1}{q^n} \times \frac{q^{n+1} - 1}{q-1} = h(x_n).$$

That is, h is harmonic at all vertices in $E_i \setminus \{e\}$. Since $q \geq 2$, h is bounded. Hence E_i is a P-section.

But on a P-section, there can be unbounded positive harmonic functions with the above properties. For example, when q=2, let $[e,e_1]$ be a section. Define $h\geq 0$ on $[e,e_1]$ such that $h(e)=0, h(e_1)=1$; if x_{11},x_{12} are the other neighbours of e_1 , let h(x)=1 if $x=x_{12}$ or a descendant of x_{12} . Take $h(x_{11})=2$. Let x_{21},x_{22} be the other neighbours of x_{11} . Let h(x)=2 if $x=x_{21}$ or a descendant of x_{21} . Take $h(x_{22})=3$ and so on. Then $h\geq 0$ is harmonic at each vertex in $[e,e_1]\setminus\{e\}$, $h(e)=0,h(e_1)=1$ and $h(x_{nn})=n+1$ if $n\geq 1$. Thus on the P-section $[e,e_1]$, an unbounded harmonic function $h\geq 0$ is defined such that h(e)=0 and $h(e_1)=1$.

Remark 3.2.1. If $[e,e_1]$ is an infinite section and if $h \ge 0$ is an unbounded harmonic function on $[e,e_1]$ such that h(e)=0 and $h(e_1)=1$, then the above example shows that it is not possible to decide whether $[e,e_1]$ is a P-section or an S-section, based on the function h. Hence Theorem 3.2.3 gives a better way to characterize P-sections. However, Definition 3.2.1 gives a more practical way of distinguishing P-sections from S-sections.

Example: (a) Let $X=\{e,e_1,e_2,...\}$ be a linear network, with $t(x,y)=\frac{1}{2}$ for any pair $x\sim y$. Then, $E=[e,e_1]=X$ is an infinite section. Suppose, $h\geq 0$ is defined on E such that $h(e)=0, h(e_1)=1$ and $\Delta h(x)=0$ for every $x\in E\setminus\{e\}$. Then, $h(e_n)=n$ for all $n\geq 2$. Hence, E is an S-section.

(b) Let X consist of two infinite rays $\{e,e_1,x_1,x_2,...\}$ and $\{e,e_2,y_1,y_2,...\}$ with a common vertex e. Assume $e_1 \sim e_2$ and $t(x,y) = \frac{1}{2}$ for any pair of neighbouring vertices x and y. Then, $[e,e_1] = [e,e_2] = X$. Let $h \geq 0$ be defined on X such that h(e) = 0 and $\Delta h(x) = 0$ for every $x \in X \setminus \{e\}$. Suppose $h(e_1) = a$ and $h(e_2) = b$. Then, using the property $\Delta h(x) = 0$ for $x \in X \setminus \{e\}$, we calculate $h(x_n) = (2n+1)a-nb$, and $h(y_n) = (2n+1)b-na$, for $n \geq 1$. The properties of $h(x_n) = (2n+1)a-nb$, and $h(x_n) = ($

3.2.1 Harmonic Measure at Infinity of a Section

In $\Re^n, n \geq 2$, when we solve the Dirichlet problem in |x| > 1 with boundary values 0 on |x| = 1 and 1 at the Alexandroff point at infinity, the solution h is identically 0 when n = 2 and h > 0 when n > 2. We then say that the harmonic measure of the point at infinity is 0 in \Re^2 and positive in $\Re^n, n \geq 3$. This distinction characterizes the profound difference in the study of potential theory in \Re^2 on the one hand and in $\Re^n, n \geq 3$, on the other. (See, for example, [27] and pp.103–112 in [5]) This is also a basis for the classification of Riemann surfaces as parabolic and hyperbolic. An analogous development in the discrete case of a network can be carried out as follows.

Let $E=[e,e_1]$ be an infinite section. As in the proof of Theorem 3.2.2 , let u_n be the function defined on E with the properties: $0 \le u_n \le 1$ on E, $u_n(e) = 0$, $u_n(y) = 1$ if $y \in \partial B_n' \setminus \{e\}$ where $B_n' = B_n \cap [e,e_1]$, $u_n(a) = 1$ if $a \in E \setminus B_n'$ and $\Delta u_n(x) = 0$ if $x \in B_n' \setminus \{e\}$. With these properties, $u_n(y) = 1$ and $\Delta u_n(y) \le 0$ if $y \in \partial B_n' \setminus \{e\}$. Moreover, $\{u_n\}$ is a decreasing sequence in E. Let $h(x) = \lim_{n \to \infty} u_n(x)$, $x \in E$. Then, $0 \le h(x) \le 1$ if $x \in E$, h(e) = 0 and $\Delta h(y) = 0$ if $y \in E \setminus \{e\}$. By the Minimum Principle, either $h \equiv 0$ or 0 < h < 1 on $E \setminus \{e\}$. We say that the harmonic measure at infinity of the section E is 0 if $h \equiv 0$; otherwise the harmonic measure at infinity of the section E is said to be positive.

Theorem 3.2.3. Let $E = [e, e_1]$ be an infinite section in a network X. Then, E is a P-section if and only if the harmonic measure at infinity of the section E is positive.

Proof. Let E be a P-section. Then, by definition, there exists a bounded function u on E such that $0 \le u \le M$, u(e) = 0 and $\Delta u(x) = 0$ if $x \in E \setminus \{e\}$. Let $v(x) = \frac{u(x)}{M}$. Then, by the Maximum Principle, $u_n(x) \ge v(x)$ on B_n' and consequently, $u_n(x) \ge v(x)$ on E, which implies that $h(x) = \lim_{n \to \infty} u_n(x) \ge v(x)$ on E. That is, the harmonic measure at infinity of the section E is positive.

Conversely, if the harmonic measure at infinity of E is positive, then there exists a function h on E such that 0 < h(x) < 1 and $\Delta h(x) = 0$ if $x \in E \setminus \{e\}$ and h(e) = 0. The existence of such a function in E means that E is a P-section. \square

Theorem 3.2.4. A network X is hyperbolic if and only if a vertex e in X determines at least one P-section.

Proof. Let $E = [e, e_1]$ be a P-section determined by the vertex e. That is, there exists a bounded function $h \geq 0$ on E, such that h(e) = 0, h(x) > 0 and $\Delta h(x) = 0$ for every $x \in E \setminus \{e\}$. Extend h to X by giving the value 0 for the vertices outside E. Then, $h \geq 0$ is a non-constant bounded function on X such that $\Delta h(y) \geq 0$ whenever h(y) = 0. Consequently, (-h) is a bounded non-constant superharmonic function on X. Hence (Proposition 3.1.1), there exists a positive potential on X, that is X is a hyperbolic network.

Conversely, let X be a hyperbolic network. Let p>0 be a potential on X. Let $q(x)=\inf\left(\frac{p(x)}{p(e)},1\right)$. Then $1\geq q$ is a potential on X,q(e)=1. If $q\equiv 1$ at each one of the infinite sections determined by the vertex e, then $q\equiv 1$ outside a finite set in X. Then, by the Minimum Principle, $q\geq 1$ on X. This means that $q\equiv 1$ on X, which implies that p(x) attains its minimum at x=e and hence constant, not true. Hence, there is an infinite section $E=[e,e_1]$ in which q(y)<1 for some y in $E\setminus\{e\}$.

Now in Theorem 3.1.7 (Dirichlet solution), take F=X so that $\overset{\circ}{F}=X$ and $X\setminus\{e\}\subset\overset{\circ}{F}$. Take f(x)=1 when $x=e,\,u(x)=q(x),$ and $v\equiv0$. Then, there exists a function h(x) on X such that $0\leq h(x)\leq q(x)\leq1,\,h(e)=1$ and $\Delta h(x)=0$ if $x\neq e$. Note that, $\Delta h(e)<0$. Hence, h is a non-negative superharmonic function on X, majorized by the potential q, so that h itself is a

potential on X. Since h(e)>0, h is a positive potential on X. Now, $h(y)\leq q(y)<1$ so that h(x)<1 for $x\in E\setminus\{e\}$; for, if h(z)=1 at some $z\in E\setminus\{e\}$ which is connected, then by the Maximum Principle $h\equiv 1$ on $E\setminus\{e\}$, a contradiction. Consequently, when $x\in E\setminus\{e\}$, 0< h(x)<1 and $\Delta h(x)=0$ and h(e)=1. Define h'(x)=1-h(x) on $E\setminus\{e\}$ Then, $0\leq h'(x)<1$ on $E\setminus\{e\}$, h'(e)=0, and when $x\in E\setminus\{e\}$, h'(x)>0 and $\Delta h'(x)=0$. That is, E is a P-section. \Box

Lemma 3.2.5. Suppose $\{E_n\}$ is an exhaustion of X by finite connected circled sets (as explained in Sect. 1.2). Let s be a superharmonic function on X. If h_n is the Dirichlet solution on E_n with boundary value s on ∂E_n , then h_n is a decreasing sequence. If $\lim_{n\to\infty}h_n(x)=h(x)$, then either $h\equiv -\infty$ or h is the g.h.m. of s in X. In particular, if s is a potential then $\lim_{n\to\infty}[s(x)-h_n(x)]=s(x)$ for each $x\in X$.

Proof. Suppose u is a harmonic function on E_n majorized by s. Then, by the Minimum Principle, $h_n-u\geq 0$ on E_n . Since h_{n+1} is harmonic and is majorized by s on $E_{n+1}\supset E_n$, we conclude that $h_n-h_{n+1}\geq 0$ on E_n . Since the limit of a decreasing sequence of harmonic functions is either $-\infty$ (with the convention $\infty-\infty=0$) or finite everywhere, $h(x)=\lim_{n\to\infty}h_n(x)$ is either identically equal to $-\infty$ or is harmonic on X. In the latter case, if v is any harmonic function on v such that $v\leq s$, then v0 on v1 and consequently, in the limit v1 on v2. That is, if v3 is harmonic on v3, then it is the v4. The last assertion follows from the fact that if v5 is a potential, its v5.

Theorem 3.2.6. (Potentials with point harmonic support) Let X be a hyperbolic network. Then, for any vertex e, there exists a unique potential $G_e(x)$ on X such that $\Delta G_e(x) = -\delta_e(x)$. Moreover, if a and b are two vertices in X, and if X has symmetric conductance, then $G_a(b) = G_b(a)$.

Proof. Since X is hyperbolic, there exists a P-section $E = [e, e_1]$ determined by e. That is, there exists a bounded function $h \geq 0$ on E such that h(e) = 0, and h(x) > 0, $\Delta h(x) = 0$ for $x \in E \setminus \{e\}$. Extend h by 0 outside E so that as remarked in the proof of the above Theorem 3.2.4, (-h) becomes a bounded superharmonic function on X. Let u be the g.h.m. of (-h) so that p = (-h) - u is a positive potential on X which is harmonic outside e. (Then, we say that p has point harmonic support at E.) Define now, $G_e(x) = \frac{p(x)}{(-\Delta)p(e)}$ on X. Then, $G_e(x)$ is a potential on X such that $\Delta G_e(x) = -\delta_e(x)$.

To prove the uniqueness, suppose v is a positive potential on X, such that $\Delta v(x)=-\delta_e(x)$. Then, $\Delta(G_e-v)=0$ on X so that $G_e-v=a$ harmonic function H on X. Since $H\leq G_e$, we find $H\leq 0$; since $-H\leq v$, we find $-H\leq 0$. We conclude, $H\equiv 0$ and hence the uniqueness of the potential with point harmonic support.

To prove the symmetry, let us take an exhaustion $\{E_n\}$ of X by finite connected circled sets. Write $p(x)=G_a(x)$ and $q(x)=G_b(x)$. Let $u_n(x)$ be the Dirichlet solution on E_n with boundary value p(x). Let $p_n(x)=p(x)-u_n(x)$ on E_n . Since p(x) is a potential on X, by Lemma 3.2.5, $\lim_{n\to\infty}p_n(x)=p(x)$ for $x\in X$. Similarly,

if $q_n(x) = q(x) - v_n(x)$ on E_n where $v_n(x)$ is the Dirichlet solution in E_n with boundary value q(x), then $\lim_{n\to\infty}q_n(x)=q(x)$. Now, by the Green's Formula,

$$\sum_{\substack{0 \ E_n}} [p_n \Delta q_n - q_n \Delta p_n] = -\sum_{\partial E_n} [p_n \frac{\partial q_n}{\partial n^-} - q_n \frac{\partial p_n}{\partial n^-}],$$

where for n large, $a,b\in \overset{\circ}{E}_n$. Since $\Delta q_n(x)=-\delta_b(x),\ \Delta p_n(x)=-\delta_a(x),$ and $p_n=q_n=0$ on ∂E_n , we find $-p_n(b)+q_n(a)=0$. Allow now $n\to\infty$ to obtain -p(b)+q(a)=0. That is, $G_a(b)=G_b(a)$.

Note. The uniquely determined potential $G_e(x)$ with point harmonic support at e is bounded on X. (Recall that if s is a superharmonic function on X and if A is a subset of X such that $\Delta s(x) = 0$ for each x in $X \setminus A$, then s is said to have harmonic support in A.)

Corollary 3.2.7. Let h be a harmonic function defined outside a finite set in a hyperbolic network. Then there exist on X, potentials p_1, p_2 with finite harmonic support and a unique harmonic function H, such that $h = p_1 - p_2 + H$ outside a finite set. The harmonic function H on X is bounded if and only if h is bounded.

Proof. By hypothesis, we can assume that $\Delta h(x)=0$ at every vertex $x\in X\backslash A$, where A is a finite set in X, and h is defined on ∂A . Extend h on $\overset{0}{A}$, by taking the Dirichlet solution with boundary values h on ∂A . Define $H(x)=h(x)+\sum_{z\in\partial A}[\Delta h(z)]G_z(x)$ on X. Note that $\Delta H(z)=\Delta h(z)+[\Delta h(z)](-1)=0$ if $z\in\partial A$, and $\Delta H(x)=0$ if $x\notin\partial A$. That is, $\Delta H\equiv 0$ on X, that is H is harmonic on X. Write

$$\sum_{z \in \partial A} [\Delta h(z)] G_z(x) = \sum_{z \in \partial A} [\Delta h(z)]^+ G_z(x) - \sum_{z \in \partial A} [\Delta h(z)]^- G_z(x)$$
$$= p_2(x) - p_1(x),$$

where p_1 and p_2 are two potentials with finite harmonic support in ∂A . Then, $h = p_1 - p_2 + H$ outside the finite set A.

To prove the uniqueness of the harmonic function H, let $h=q_1-q_2+H_1$ be another such representation outside some finite set. Then, $p_1+q_2+H=q_1+p_2+H_1$ outside a finite set. Note that if s is superharmonic on X and u is subharmonic on X such that $s\geq u$ outside a finite set, then by the Minimum Principle $s\geq u$ on X. Consequently, $H_1-H\leq p_1+q_2$ outside a finite set implies that the potential p_1+q_2 majorizes the harmonic function H_1-H on X. Hence, $H_1-H\leq 0$ on X; similarly, $H-H_1\leq 0$. This proves that the harmonic function H is uniquely determined by h.

The remark about the boundedness of H comes from the construction of h, since $G_z(x)$ is bounded on X for any fixed $z \in X$.

Corollary 3.2.8. Let s be a non-negative superharmonic function on a hyperbolic network X. Let A be a finite set of vertices in X. Then, the balayage function R_s^A is a potential on X.

Proof. Let $p(x) = \sum_{a \in A} s(a) \frac{G_a(x)}{G_a(a)}$. Since A is a finite set, p(x) is a potential on X; also, $p(x) \geq s(x)$ if $x \in A$. Hence, by Theorem 3.1.10, R_s^A is a potential on X. \square

Theorem 3.2.9. (Green's function on a set) Let F be an arbitrary set in a hyperbolic network. Then, for any $a \in F$, there exists a unique potential $G_a^F(x)$ on F such that $\Delta G_a^F(x) = -\delta_a(x)$ for $x \in F$, $G_a^F(z) = 0$ for $z \in \partial F$ and $G_a^F(x) \leq G_a(x)$ if $x \in F$.

Proof. Take the Green potential $G_a(x)$ with point harmonic support in X (Theorem 3.2.6). Then, there exists (Theorem 3.1.7) a non-negative harmonic function h on F such that $h(z)=G_a(z)$ if $z\in\partial F$ and $0\leq h(x)\leq G_a(x)$ on F. Define $G_a^F(x)=G_a(x)-h(x)$ if $x\in F$. Then, $G_a^F(x)$ has the stated properties. The uniqueness of $G_a^F(x)$ follows Corollary 3.1.4.

3.2.2 Positive Harmonic Functions on a Network

If X is a parabolic network, then we know that any positive harmonic function on X is a constant. But in the case of a hyperbolic network, it is possible that there are non-constant positive harmonic functions also on X. To classify hyperbolic networks depending on the existence of positive harmonic functions on X, we introduce the following definition of harmonic dimension of a hyperbolic network X. (Heins [48] has introduced the notion of harmonic dimension of the point at infinity in the context of a parabolic Riemann surface.) A similar development in the case of axiomatic potential theory with positive potentials is given in [6].

Definition 3.2.2. Let e be a fixed vertex on a hyperbolic network X. Then, the harmonic dimension of X is the cardinality of the set of positive harmonic functions h on X such that h(e) = 1.

Note that the harmonic dimension of X is independent of the choice of the vertex e. For, if $\Im(e)$ is the family of positive harmonic functions h on X such that h(e)=1 and $\Im(e_1)$ is the family of positive harmonic functions h_1 on X such that $h_1(e_1)=1$, then the map $h(x)\to h_1(x)=\frac{h(x)}{h(e_1)}$ establishes a bijection between $\Im(e)$ and $\Im(e_1)$.

To determine the harmonic dimension of X, the sections determined by the vertex e are useful.

Theorem 3.2.10. In a hyperbolic network, let $H_0^+(e)$ be the set of non-negative functions h on X such that h(e) = 0 and $\Delta h(x) = 0$ for each $x \neq e$. Let H^+ denote the set of non-negative harmonic functions on X. Then, there is a bijection T:

 $H_0^+(e) \to H^+$ such that if $h_1, h_2 \in H_0^+(e)$ and c_1, c_2 are non-negative constants, then $T(c_1h_1 + c_2h_2) = c_1T(h_1) + c_2T(h_2)$.

Proof. Let $h \in H_0^+(e)$. Since X is hyperbolic, $h = p_1 - p_2 + H$ outside a finite set, where H is a uniquely determined harmonic function on X (Corollary 3.2.7). Since $h \ge 0$, $-H \le p_1 - p_2 \le p_1$ outside a finite set, which implies that $-H \le p_1$ on X. Hence, $H \ge 0$. Write T(h) = H, so that $|h - T(h)| \le p = p_1 + p_2$ which is a potential. Suppose $u \in H^+$ such that $|h - u| \le q$ where q is a potential in X. Then, $|u - T(h)| \le p + q$ on X so that u = T(h).

Thus, we can meaningfully define a map $T: H_0^+(e) \to H^+$ such that for $h \in H_0^+(e)$, T(h) is the unique function in H^+ such that $|h-T(h)| \le p$, where p is a potential in X. (Remark that T(h) is the least harmonic majorant of the subharmonic function h on X. For, if $h=p_1-p_2+H$ outside a finite set, then $h-H=p_1-p_2 \le p_1$ outside a finite set so that $h-H \le 0$ on X. Again, if v is a harmonic function on X such that $h \le v$, then $H-v \le p_2-p_1 \le p_2$, so that $H-v \le 0$. Hence H=T(h) is the least harmonic majorant of h on X. Consequently, if h is bounded then T(h) is bounded.)

If $h_1, h_2 \in H_0^+(e)$, then $|h_1 - T(h_1)| \le p_1$ and $|h_2 - T(h_2)| \le p_2$ where p_1, p_2 are potentials on X. Consequently, for non-negative constants c_1, c_2 we have

$$|c_1h_1 + c_2h_2 - [c_1T(h_1) + c_2T(h_2)]| \le c_1p_1 + c_2p_2.$$

Since $c_1p_1 + c_2p_2$ is a potential on X, $c_1T(h_1) + c_2T(h_2) = T(c_1h_1 + c_2h_2)$.

Now, T is a one-one map. For, if $T(h_1)=T(h_2)$, then the inequalities $|h_1-T(h_1)|\leq q_1$ and $|h_2-T(h_2)|\leq q_2$ outside a finite set would imply that $|h_1-h_2|\leq q_1+q_2$ outside a finite set. Now, $\Delta(h_1-h_2)=0$ at every vertex in $X\setminus\{e\}$, so that $\Delta(|h_1-h_2|)\geq 0$ at every vertex in $X\setminus\{e\}$; since $|h_1(e)-h_2(e)|=0$ also, it is immediate that $|h_1-h_2|$ is subharmonic on X and also is majorized by the potential q_1+q_2 outside a finite set. Hence, $|h_1-h_2|\equiv 0$ on X, that is $h_1=h_2$.

Finally to show that the map T is onto, take $u \in H^+$. Write $v = Su = u - R_u^e$. Recall that the balayage function R_u^e is a potential (Corollary 3.2.8) on X. Then, $v \geq 0$ on X, v(e) = 0, and $\Delta v(x) = 0$ when $x \neq e$. That is, $v \in H_0^+(e)$. Let $T(v) = f \in H^+$. Then, there exists a potential q on X such that $|v - f| \leq q$ on X. That is, $|(u - R_u^e) - f| \leq q$ on X, so that $|u - f| \leq q + R_u^e$. Now, |u - f| is subharmonic on X and $q + R_u^e$ is a potential on X, so that $|u - f| \leq 0$. Consequently, T(v) = u. Hence, $T: H_0^+(e) \to H^+$ is an onto map. \square

Note that if $h_1,h_2\in H_0^+(e)$, then $h_2=\lambda h_1$ for some constant $\lambda>0$, if and only if $T(h_2)=\lambda T(h_1)$. Consequently, if we introduce an equivalence relation \sim in $H_0^+(e)$ by saying that $h\sim h^{'}$ if and only if $h^{'}=\lambda h$ for some $\lambda>0$, then the number of non-zero equivalence classes in $H_0^+(e)$ is the harmonic dimension of X.

Proposition 3.2.11. In a hyperbolic network X, if a vertex e determines more than one infinite section, then there exists a non-constant harmonic function h > 0 on X.

Proof. In any network, an infinite section $E = [e, e_1]$ determined by a vertex e introduces a function $h \in H_0^+(e)$. For, there is a function $h \geq 0$ on E such that h(e) = 0 and h(x) > 0 and $\Delta h(x) = 0$ if $x \in E \setminus e$. Extend h by 0 outside E to define a function $h \in H_0^+(e)$. This h can be chosen as a bounded function if E is a P-section and h is unbounded if E is an E-section.

Here, since X is hyperbolic, any vertex should determine at least one P-section. If the second infinite section also is a P-section, then there are two bounded non-proportional harmonic functions in $H_0^+(e)$; and they correspond to two bounded non-proportional harmonic functions in H^+ by Theorem 3.2.10. Hence, at least one of them is a bounded non-constant harmonic function on X.

On the other hand, if the second infinite section is an S-section, then there exists an unbounded harmonic function in $H_0^+(e)$ and hence there is an unbounded harmonic function in H^+ .

3.2.3 Integral Representation of Positive Harmonic Functions

Any positive harmonic function in the ball B(0,R) in \Re^n , $n \geq 2$, has a Poisson-Stieltjes integral representation $\int_{S} R^{n-2} \frac{R^2 - |x|^2}{|x-y|^n} d\mu(y)$ where μ is a positive regular Borel measure on the boundary S. In 1941, Martin obtained this representation (known now as the Martin Representation) for positive harmonic functions defined on any bounded domain Ω in \Re^n . To achieve that, Martin introduced a new topology on Ω such that there exists a compact space $\overset{\wedge}{\Omega}$ in which Ω is dense open. The boundary $\stackrel{\wedge}{\Omega} \setminus \Omega$ (known as the *Martin boundary* of Ω) is generally different from the Euclidean boundary $\partial \Omega$ of Ω . It is a fascinating problem to look for domains Ω for which the Martin boundary can be identified with the Euclidean boundary. When Ω is a ball, the boundaries are the same (see Brelot [29]); for some other domains for which the two boundaries can be identified, we can cite Lipschitz domains which include all bounded domains with smooth boundaries [49], Nontangentially accessible domains [50] and Uniform domains [4]; if Ω is the half-space in the Euclidean space \Re^n , then the Martin compactification $\hat{\Omega}$ is homeomorphic to $\Omega \cup \{\infty\}$. Later in 1956, Choquet obtained the Martin Representation in an abstract setting dealing with extremal elements and barycentres. In this paragraph, we use the Choquet integral representation theory [39, pp. 299–309] in the context of positive harmonic functions defined on a hyperbolic network X. Let H_1^+ denote the class of positive harmonic functions on X taking the value 1 at a fixed vertex e.

Proposition 3.2.12. Suppose $\{h_n\}$ is a sequence in H_1^+ converging to h at each vertex in X. Then $h \in H_1^+$.

Proof. It is enough to prove that h is finite at every vertex in X. Recall (Sect. 3.1) the Harnack property in X: Given two vertices a and b in X, there are positive

numbers α and β , depending only on a and b, such that $\alpha s(b) \leq s(a) \leq \beta s(b)$ for any positive superharmonic function s on X.

Let y be an arbitrary vertex in X. Then $\alpha h_n(e) \leq h_n(y) \leq \beta h_n(e)$. Hence $\{h_n(y)\}\$ is bounded and since $h_n \to h$, we see that h(y) is finite. The vertex y being arbitrary, we conclude that h is real-valued and further as the limit of a sequence of harmonic functions, h is harmonic on X and h(e) = 1. That is, $h \in H_1^+$.

Proposition 3.2.13. Suppose $\{h_n\}$ is a sequence of harmonic functions in H_1^+ . Then there exists a subsequence of $\{h_n\}$ converging to a function h in H_1^+ .

Proof. We have just remarked that for any y in X, $\alpha \leq h_n(y) \leq \beta$. Since $\{h_n(y)\}$ is bounded, then there is a subsequence $\left\{h'_n\right\}$ of $\{h_n\}$ such that $\lim_{n\to\infty}h'_n(y)$ is finite. Let z be another vertex in X. Then, as before we can extract a subsequence $\left\{h_n^{''}\right\}$ from $\left\{h_n^{'}\right\}$ such that $\lim_{n \to \infty} h_n^{''}(z)$ is finite; clearly, $\lim_{n \to \infty} h_n^{''}(y)$ also is finite. Since X has only a countable number of vertices, the above method allows us to extract a subsequence from the original sequence $\{h_n\}$, converging to a real-valued function h on X. Then, by the above Proposition 3.2.12, $h \in H_1^+$.

Remark that H^+ is a convex cone, that is if $u, v \in H^+$, then $\alpha u + \beta v \in H^+$, where α, β are any non-negative numbers. Further, $\inf(u, v)$ is a non-negative superharmonic function on X. Let h be the greatest harmonic function on X (see Theorem 2.4.10) such that $0 \le h \le \inf(u, v)$. Similarly, we can find the smallest harmonic function w in H^+ such that $\sup(u,v) \leq w \leq u+v$. Thus, H^+ is a lattice for the natural order. If $f,g\in H^+$, define $\|f-g\|=\sup_{x\in X}\frac{|f(x)-g(x)|}{1+|f(x)-g(x)|}$. Let us write $E=H^+-H^+$. If $f,g\in E$, define $\|f-g\|=\sup_{x\in X}\frac{|f(x)-g(x)|}{1+|f(x)-g(x)|}$. Then,

write
$$E = H^+ - H^+$$
. If $f, g \in E$, define $||f - g|| = \sup_{x \in X} \frac{|f(x) - g(x)|}{1 + |f(x) - g(x)|}$. Then

E provided with the vertexwise convergence is locally convex and metrisable. In E, H^+ is a convex cone which is a lattice for the natural order, and by Proposition 3.2.13, H_1^+ is a compact base.

A base for a convex cone C with vertex 0 in a locally convex space E is the convex subset $B = \pi \cap C$ where π is a hyperplane not containing 0 but intersecting all the generators of C. An element $u \in C$ is said to be extremal if whenever u has a representation of the form $u = \lambda u_1 + (1 - \lambda)u_2$ where $u_1, u_2 \in C$ and $0 \le \lambda \le 1$, then u is either u_1 or u_2 . That is, u is an end point of any segment in C that contains u. An element $v \in C$ is said to be minimal if every $w \in C$, for which $v-w\in C$, is of the form $w=\alpha v$ for some $\alpha\geq 0$. Suppose u is extremal; then it is minimal. For, if $w \in C$ and $u - w \in C$, then u = w + (u - w). It is possible w=0 or w=u. Otherwise, $u=\alpha\left(\frac{w}{\alpha}\right)+(1-\alpha)\left(\frac{u-w}{1-\alpha}\right)$ for $0<\alpha<1$. Since u is extremal, then $u=\frac{w}{\alpha}$ or $u=\frac{u-w}{1-\alpha}$ which implies that $w=\alpha u$. We shall quote now the famous Choquet Theorem [34].

Theorem 3.2.14. (Choquet) Let E be a real linear Hausdorff space that is locally convex. Let C be a convex cone in E with compact base B. Let Ξ be the set of extremal points in B. Then,

- i. If B is metrisable, then every $x \in B$ is the barycentre of a unitary measure μ with support in Ξ . That is, there exists a measure $\mu \geq 0$ with $\|\mu\| = 1$ and $\mu(\Xi) = 1$ such that if l is any continuous linear functional, then $l(x) = \int l(s)d\mu(s)$.
- ii. If the cone C is a lattice for the order it defines, then the measure μ defined above is unique.

Let us use the theorem in the context of hyperbolic networks. H^+ is the convex cone C, $E=H^+-H^+$, the base $B=H_1^+$. Let Λ_1 be the set of minimal points in H_1^+ . Recall that every extremal point is minimal, H^+ is a lattice and H_1^+ is compact. Consequently,

Theorem 3.2.15. Let X be a hyperbolic network. Then, there exists a unique unitary measure $\mu \geq 0$ with support in Λ_1 such that for any $h \in H_1^+$ we have $h(x) = \int\limits_{u \in \Lambda_1} u(x) d\mu(u)$, for $x \in X$.

Corollary 3.2.16. Let v be any positive harmonic function on a hyperbolic network X. Then, there exists a unique positive measure v with support in Λ_1 such that $v(x) = \int\limits_{u \in \Lambda_1} u(x) d\nu(u)$ for every $x \in X$.

Proof. Since $\frac{v(x)}{v(e)} \in H_1^+$, by the above theorem there exists a unique positive measure μ with support in Λ_1 such that $\frac{v(x)}{v(e)} = \int\limits_{u \in \Lambda_1} u(x) d\mu(u)$. Write $d\nu(u) = v(e) d\mu(u)$. Then, $v(x) = \int\limits_{u \in \Lambda_1} u(x) d\nu(u)$ for any $x \in X$.

3.3 Hyperbolic Networks

The fact that the Dirichlet problem in a generalised form has a solution (Theorem 3.1.7) is of immense significance in an infinite network. For, some of the potential-theoretically important results (useful in infinite electrical networks and random walks) like Balayage, Poisson kernel, Domination principle, Condenser principle, Green kernel on a subset, Capacitary functions, Dirichlet-Poisson solution etc. can be obtained as solutions to appropriately-posed Dirichlet problems. In this section, we assume that there exist positive potentials in the network X. Hence, by Theorem 3.2.6, for any vertex e in X, there exists a unique potential $G_e(x)$ on X such that $\Delta G_e(x) = -\delta_e(x)$, for all $x \in X$.

Theorem 3.3.1. A superharmonic function p on a hyperbolic network X is a potential if and only if $p(x) = \sum_{y \in X} (-\Delta)p(y)G_y(x)$, for all $x \in X$.

Proof. Suppose p is a superharmonic function on X and the above equality holds. Since each term $(-\Delta)p(y)G_y(x)$ is a potential in X, if $\sum_{y\in X}(-\Delta)p(y)G_y(x)$ is convergent for each x, then the sum is a potential.

Conversely, let p be a potential on X. Let $\{E_n\}$ be an exhaustion of X by finite connected circled sets. Let $p_n(x) = \sum\limits_{y \in E_n} (-\Delta)p(y)G_y(x)$. Then, p_n is a potential on X. Let $s_n(x) = p(x) - p_n(x)$ on X. Then, for $x \in E_n$, $\Delta p_n(x) = \Delta p(x)$ so that $\Delta s_n(x) = 0$ on E_n ; if $x \notin E_n$, $\Delta p_n(x) = 0$ while $\Delta p(x) \le 0$ so that $\Delta s_n(x) \le 0$ if $x \in X \setminus E_n$. Consequently, $\Delta s_n \le 0$ on X. That is, s_n is superharmonic on X and $p_n + s_n = p > 0$, so that $-s_n < p_n$ on X. Now, p_n is a potential on X majorizing the subharmonic function $-s_n$. Hence $-s_n \le 0$. Consequently, $p = p_n + s_n \ge p_n$ for any p_n . Allow $p_n = p_n + p_n = p_n$ for any $p_n = p_n + p_n = p_n$.

Since q(x) is the limit of an increasing sequence of potentials p_n , then q(x) is a non-negative superharmonic function which is also majorized by the potential p(x). Hence, q(x) is a potential. Let h(x) = p(x) - q(x). Then,

$$\Delta h(x) = \Delta p(x) - \Delta q(x) = \Delta p(x) - \left[(-\Delta)p(x) \times (-1) \right] = 0,$$

so that h is harmonic on X. Consequently, p(x)=q(x)+h(x) implies, by the uniqueness of decomposition of non-negative superharmonic functions, that $h\equiv 0$. Hence, $p(x)=\sum\limits_{y\in X}(-\Delta)p(y)G_y(x),$ for all $x\in X$.

The above representation of a positive potential on X is taken as the definition of a potential in a tree T in Cartier [31, Sects. 2.2 and 2.3]. There, by starting with the notion of the kernel associated to a collection of paths, the Green kernel G(x,y) is defined. Then, for any function $f \geq 0$ on T, $Gf(x) = \sum_y G(x,y)f(y)$ is either

always ∞ or always finite on T such that $\Delta Gf = -f$; in the latter case, Gf(x) is termed as the potential of f. A different approach to this development of potential theory using the operators runs as follows (when we know that there are positive potentials on X).

Introduce an operator A by defining, for a function f on a network X,

$$Af(x) = \sum_{y \sim x} \frac{t(x, y)}{t(x)} f(y), \text{ for } x \in X. \text{ Then,}$$

$$\Delta f(x) = \sum_{y \sim x} t(x, y) [f(y) - f(x)]$$

$$= t(x) \left[\sum_{y \sim x} \frac{t(x, y)}{t(x)} f(y) - f(x) \right]$$

$$= t(x) (A - I) f(x).$$

Hence, a function u on X is superharmonic if and only if $u(x) \geq Au(x)$. Note also that A is linear; if $f \geq g$, then $Af \geq Ag$; and if $f_n \to f$, then $Af_n \to Af$. Writing $A^{n+1}f = A[A^nf]$ for $n \geq 1$, define the operator K by $Kf(x) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} A^nf(x)$.

Lemma 3.3.2. Let s be a positive superharmonic function on X. Then, the g.h.m. h of s is given by $h(x) = \lim_{n \to \infty} A^n s(x)$.

Proof. Since s is superharmonic, $As \leq s$. From this, we deduce that $A^n s \leq A^{n-1} s \leq s, n \geq 2$. Hence, $h(x) = \lim_{n \to \infty} A^n s(x)$ exists. Since $A^n s \geq A(A^n s)$, taking limits, we find that $h \geq Ah$; since $A(A^{n-1} s) \geq A^{n+1} s$, again taking limits we see that Ah > h. Hence, h is harmonic on X and h < s.

Suppose now u is any non-negative harmonic function such that $u \leq s$. Then, $u = Au \leq As$. Proceeding similarly, for any n, we see that $u \leq A^n s$. Taking limits, when $n \to \infty$, we see that $u \leq h$. Thus, $h = \lim_{n \to \infty} A^n s$ is the g.h.m. of s.

Theorem 3.3.3. A function u on X is a potential if and only if u = Kf for some $f \ge 0$.

Proof. Suppose $u=Kf=\sum\limits_{n=0}^{\infty}A^{n}f$ for some $f\geq 0$. Then, $u\geq 0$ and

$$Au = AKf = Kf - f = u - f \le u,$$

so that u is a non-negative superharmonic function on X. Let h be the g.h.m. of u on X. Then, $0 \le h \le u$ and $h = Ah \le Au$; continuing this argument, we arrive at $h \le A^m u$ for any positive integer m. Since $u(x) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} A^n f(x)$ converges for every

vertex $x \in X$, we note that $A^m u(x) = \sum_{n=m}^{\infty} A^n f(x)$ so that $\lim_{m \to \infty} A^m u(x) = 0$, and hence h(x) = 0. This leads to the conclusion $h \equiv 0$ and hence u is a potential or X

Conversely, suppose u is a potential on X. That is, the g.h.m. of u is 0. Now by Lemma 3.3.2, we know that the g.h.m. of u is $\lim_{n\to\infty}A^nu(x)$. Hence, for every $x\in X$, $\lim_{n\to\infty}A^nu(x)=0$. Consequently,

$$K(u - Au) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} A^n (u - Au)$$
$$= u - \lim_{n \to \infty} A^n u$$
$$= u.$$

Thus, the given potential u = Kf where $f = u - Au \ge 0$.

Corollary 3.3.4. Let s be a positive superharmonic function on X. Then, s is the unique sum of a potential p and a non-negative harmonic function h on X.

Proof. Since s is superharmonic, $v=s-As\geq 0$ on X. Now, s=v+As implies that $As=Av+A^2s$ and hence, $s=v+Av+A^2s$. Similar arguments give the equality $s=v+Av+A^2v+...+A^nv+A^{n+1}s\geq v+Av+...+A^nv$. Allow $n\to\infty$ to see that $s\geq Kv$ on X. Let $h=s-Kv\geq 0$. Then, since K=I+KA=I+AK, we find

$$Ah = As - AKv = As - (Kv - v) = (As + v) - Kv = s - Kv = h,$$

so that h is a non-negative harmonic function on X. Note Kv=p is a potential by the above theorem. Thus, we have the Riesz decomposition for the positive superharmonic function s as s=p+h.

Suppose s is the sum of another potential (which should be of the form Kf by the above theorem) and a non-negative harmonic function H on X. Now, s = Kf + H implies that As = AKf + AH = AKf + H, so that s - As = Kf - AKf = f; hence, v = s - As = f. Consequently, h = H. Thus, the decomposition of s as the sum of a potential and a non-negative harmonic function is unique.

Proposition 3.3.5. Let Kf be a potential for some $f \ge 0$ on X. Let $E = \{x : f(x) > 0\}$. Suppose $s \ge 0$ is a superharmonic function on X such that $s \ge Kf$ on the set E. Then $s \ge Kf$ on X.

Proof. Let $p=\inf\{s,Kf\}$ on X. Since p is majorized by the potential Kf,p itself is a potential and hence p=Kg for some $g\geq 0$. Note that $Kg\leq Kf$ on X and Kg=Kf on E. Hence, if $x\in E$, then $g(x)=Kg(x)-AKg(x)\geq Kf(x)-AKf(x)=f(x)$. If $y\notin E$, then $f(y)=0\leq g(y)$. Hence $f\leq g$ on X, so that $p=Kg\geq Kf$ also on X. Consequently, p=Kg=Kf on X, and hence $s\geq Kf$ on X.

We shall give a variation of the above result in the following theorem, without involving the operator K. In \Re^3 , the Maria-Frostman maximum principle [27, p.118] states that if v is the potential $v(x)=\int |x-y|^{-1}d\mu(y)$ where $\mu\geq 0$ is a Radon measure with support in a closed set A, then $v(x)\leq \sup_{y\in A}v(y)$ for all

 $x \in \Re^3$. Recall that in a network, hyperbolic or parabolic, if s is a superharmonic function, then the set $E = \{x : \Delta s(x) < 0\}$ is called the harmonic support of s.

Theorem 3.3.6. (Domination Principle) Let p be a potential on X. Suppose s is non-negative superharmonic on X such that $s \ge p$ on the harmonic support of p. Then, $s \ge p$ on X.

Proof. Let $q=\inf(s,p)$. Then, q is a potential on X such that $q\leq p$ on X and q=p on E, the harmonic support of p. Let $\varphi=p-q$ on X. Then $\Delta\varphi\geq 0$ on $X\backslash E$, $\varphi\geq 0$ on X, and $\varphi=0$ on E, so that $\Delta\varphi\geq 0$ on X. Thus, φ is a subharmonic function on X, majorized by the potential p on X, and consequently, $\varphi\equiv 0$. This proves that $p=q=\inf(s,p)$ on X, so that $s\geq p$ on X.

Corollary 3.3.7. Let $G_e(x)$ be the potential with point harmonic support e in X. Then $G_e(x) \leq G_e(e)$ for all $x \in X$. In fact, $G_e(x) = G_e(e)R_1^e(x)$ on X.

Proof. $G_e(x)$ is a potential majorized by $G_e(e)$ on its harmonic support e. Consequently, $G_e(x) \leq G_e(e)$ for all $x \in X$. Let now $q(x) = \frac{G_e(x)}{G_e(e)}$ Then, q(x) and $R_1^e(x)$ are potentials with the same harmonic support e and $q(e) = R_1^e(e) = 1$,(see Theorem 3.1.10 and Corollary 3.1.9). Hence, by the Domination Principle, $q(x) \equiv R_1^e(x)$.

Remark 3.3.1. 1. The form of the Green potential $G_e(x)$: Let $\omega = [e, e_1]$ be an S-section determined by e. Suppose $G_e(e_1) = G_e(e)$. Then by the Maximum Principle, since $e_1 \in \stackrel{0}{\omega}$, we conclude that $G_e(x) = G_e(e)$ in ω . Otherwise, $G_e(e_1) < G_e(e)$. For $x \in \omega$, let

$$h(x) = \frac{G_e(e) - G_e(x)}{G_e(e) - G_e(e_1)}.$$

Then $h(x) \geq 0$ is harmonic and bounded on ω (Corollary 3.3.7). Then $h \equiv 0$ or h>0 on ω^0 . If the latter is true, then h(e)=0 and $h(e_1)=1$ so that ω should be a P-section, a contradiction. Hence $h \equiv 0$, that is $G_e(x) = G_e(e)$ for every $x \in \omega$.

Thus, $G_e(x)$ is the constant $G_e(e)$ in each of the S-sections determined by e. This result accords with a result in the special case of a star-shaped tree, given in Cartier [31, pp. 259–260].

- 2. In Gowrisankaran and Singman [47, Theorem 4.3], the Domination Principle (Theorem 3.3.6) is proved in the context of an infinite tree T, assuming that the Green kernel G(s,t) is such that $0 < G(s,t) < \infty$ for all s,t in T and the limit of G(s,t) is 0 when |s| goes to infinity for some (equivalently for every) vertex t. The latter condition is not satisfied in every tree T, as shown in [47, Example 2.1]. An assumption sufficient for the latter condition to be satisfied is: There exists a constant δ such that $0 < \delta < \frac{1}{2}$ and for all $s_1, s_2 \in T$ with $s_1 \sim s_2$, we should have $\delta \leq t(s_1, s_2) \leq \frac{1}{2} - \delta$.
- 3. Bôcher's Theorem: In \Re^n , $n \geq 2$, let B be the unit ball |x| < 1. Suppose u is positive harmonic on $B \setminus \{0\}$. Then there exist a harmonic function v on B and a constant $b \ge 0$ such that in $B \setminus \{0\}$,

 - (a) $u(x) = b \log \frac{1}{|x|} + v(x)$ if n = 2. (b) $u(x) = b |x|^{2-n} + v(x)$ if $n \ge 3$.

A proof of Bôcher's theorem can be found in Axler et al. [13, pp.50–54]. This property in the axiomatic case is stated [28, p. 40] as the axiom of proportionality: If p and q are two positive potentials in a harmonic space with the same point harmonic support, then $p = \lambda q$ for some positive constant λ .

Thus, the Bôcher's theorem asserts that the logarithmic potential $\log \frac{1}{|x|}$ in \Re^2 and the potential $|x|^{2-n}$ in \Re^n , $n \ge 3$, are unique (up to a multiplicative constant) functions in the study of positive harmonic functions with point singularity. In the context of a network X, the above Theorem 3.3.6 stating the Domination Principle proves also an enlarged version of the analogue of Bôcher's Theorem: Let p and q be two potentials on a hyperbolic network X, having the same harmonic support A. If p = q on A, then p = q on X.

Theorem 3.3.8. Let A be a proper subset of a hyperbolic network. Let f be a realvalued function defined on A. Suppose there exists a potential p on X such that |f| < p on A. Then, there exists a unique function h on X such that h = f on A, $\Delta h = 0$ at every vertex in $X \setminus A$ and |h| is majorized by a potential on X.

Proof. In Theorem 3.1.7, take $E=X\backslash A$, F=V(E), u=p and v=-p. Then, there exists a function h on V(E) such that $\Delta h(x)=0$ if $x\in E,\ h=f$ on $V(E)\backslash E$, and $-p\leq h\leq p$ on V(E). Let us assume that h is extended by f outside V(E). Thus, h is a function on X such that $\Delta h(x)=0$ if $x\in X\backslash A,\ h=f$ on A and $|h|\leq p$ on X. Note that if $0\leq f\leq p$ on A, then $h\geq 0$ on X.

To prove the uniqueness, suppose u is another function on X such that $\Delta u(x)=0$ if $x\in X\backslash A, u=f$ on A and $|u|\leq q$ where q is a potential on X. Let $\varphi=h-u$ on X. Then, $\Delta\varphi(x)=0$ at every vertex in $X\backslash A, \varphi=0$ on A and $|\varphi|\leq p+q$ on X. That means that $|\varphi|$ is a subharmonic function on X, majorized by the potential p+q on X. Hence, $\varphi\equiv 0$.

Corollary 3.3.9. Let f be a real-valued function defined on a finite subset F of a hyperbolic network X. Then, there exists a unique function h on X dominated by a potential such that h = f on F and $\Delta h(x) = 0$ if $x \in X \setminus F$. The function f can also be represented as $f = p_1 - p_2$ on F, where p_1, p_2 are potentials in X with harmonic support in F.

Proof. Let q(x) be a positive potential on X. Since f is a finite set, there is some M>0 such that $|f|\leq M$ on f. Let $p(x)=\frac{M}{\inf\limits_{y\in F}q(y)}q(x)$ on X. Then, p(x) is

a potential such that $|f(x)| \le p(x)$ if $x \in F$. Then the first part of the corollary follows from the above theorem.

Now, let
$$p_1(x) = \sum_{a \in F} [(-\Delta h(a)]^+ G_a(x) \text{ and } p_2(x) = \sum_{a \in F} [(-\Delta h(a)]^- G_a(x).$$

Then, p_1 and p_2 are potentials on X such that $\Delta(p_1-p_2)=\Delta h$ on X and p_1,p_2 have harmonic support in f. Hence, $h=p_1-p_2+u$ on X, where u is harmonic on X. Since h is dominated by a potential on X, that is $|h|\leq v$, where v is a potential on X, $|u|\leq v+p_1+p_2$ on X which implies that $u\equiv 0$. Consequently, $f=p_1-p_2$ on X.

Remark 3.3.2. 1. Like sets of measure 0 in measure theory and nowhere dense sets in topology, in the Euclidean space $\Re^n, n \geq 2$, a polar set is a negligible set in the potential-theoretic sense. The above Corollary 3.3.9 is a discrete analogue of a generalised version of a result in the study of capacities and polar sets in the classical potential theory, namely: Let K be a compact non-polar set in \Re^3 . (A set k in a domain ω in $\Re^n, n \geq 2$, is said to be a polar set if for a superharmonic function s > 0 on $\omega, k \in \{x: s(x) = \infty\}$. Brelot in 1941 introduced the notion of polar sets to replace the sets of inner capacity 0, which were in vogue till then.) Then there exists a (Newton) potential u > 0 on \Re^3 such that u = 1 on K except possibly on a polar set and $\Delta u = 0$ on $\Re^3 \setminus K$. This very useful potential is called the *capacitary potential* of K, see Brelot [27, pp.52–53] and Armitage and Gardiner [10, Sect. 5.4].

In fact, inspired by the notion of capacity in electrostatics, De La Vallée Poussin defined Cap(K), the capacity of a compact set K in \Re^3 as the upper bound of the masses m distributed on K such that the associated potentials

 $\int |x-y|^{-1} dm(y)$ are majorized by 1 on \Re^3 . In \Re^2 , we use the logarithmic kernel $-\log |x-y|$ (instead of the Newton kernel $|x-y|^{-1}$ as in \Re^3) to define the *logarithmic capacity* of a compact set K. Then, for an arbitrary set A in \Re^3 or \Re^2 , the *inner capacity* $Cap_*(A)$ of A is defined as $Cap_*(A) = \sup_{\Im} Cap(K)$, where \Im is the family of all compact sets K contained in A. This is similar to defining the inner measure of a set in measure theory. Soon the importance of sets of inner capacity 0 was recognized in the classical potential theory. The notion of inner capacity 0 is stronger than the notion of inner Lebesgue measure 0, in the sense that a set of inner capacity 0 has its inner Lebesgue measure 0 but not conversely. For example, the X-axis in \Re^2 is of measure 0 but its inner capacity is not 0.

G.C. Evans in 1936 characterized a compact set K of capacity 0 in \Re^3 by the existence of a non-negative measure μ on K such that $K = \left\{ x : \int |x-y|^{-1} d\mu(y) = \infty \right\}$. In this context, knowing that potentials are non-negative superharmonic functions, M.Brelot introduced the *polar sets* to replace the sets of inner measure 0. Soon after, H.Cartan remarked that a set E is polar if and only if its *outer capacity* is 0.

Such a notion of polar sets in the context of potential theory on infinite networks or trees is irrelevant. For, if u is an extended real-valued function on a network or a tree X, such that $u(x)>-\infty$ for all x in X and $\Delta u(x)\leq 0$ at every vertex x in X (with the convention $\infty-\infty=0$) and if u takes the value ∞ at one vertex in X, then $u\equiv\infty$. This fact is not surprising since a network has much in common with one-dimensional manifolds and on the real line \Re , considered as a harmonic space, every point is non-polar [27, p.47].

2. Write $(-\Delta)h(a) = \xi(a)$ in the above corollary. Then Corollary 3.3.9 can be stated as follows: Let F be a finite subset in a hyperbolic network X. If f is a real-valued function on F, then there exists a function $\xi(x)$ with finite support in F such that $f(x) = \sum_{y \in X} \xi(y)G_y(x)$ for $x \in F$.

In a finite network X with symmetric conductance, when a proper subset F is given, Bendito et al. 27, [18] construct a unique function $\nu^F \geq 0$ on X such that $\Delta \nu^F(x) = -1$ if and $\left\{x : \nu^F(x) \neq 0\right\} = F$, by solving linear programming problems. By calculating ν^F for appropriate subsets F, they obtain the Maximum Principle, the Dirichlet solution, the Condenser Principle etc. in a finite network with symmetric conductance. The theorem below introduces a function analogous to ν^F in the context of an infinite network (which according to our definition need not have symmetric conductance).

Theorem 3.3.10. Let F be a finite set of vertices in an infinite network X (hyperbolic or parabolic). Let f be a function defined on F. Then there exists a unique function u on X such that $\Delta u(x) = -f(x)$ if $x \in F$, and u(y) = 0 if $y \in X \setminus F$. Further, $u \ge 0$ if $y \ge 0$, and if $y \ge 0$ on $y \ge 0$, then $y \ge 0$ on $y \ge 0$.

Proof. Take $E = V(F) = \bigcup_{x \in F} V(x)$, which is the smallest set containing F and

all the neighbours of the vertices in F. Remark that $F\subset E$. For every $a\in F$, by using the Dirichlet solution, construct a non-negative function $g_a(x)$ on E such that $g_a(x)=0$ on $E\backslash F$ and $\Delta g_a(x)=-\delta_a(x)$ if $x\in F$; extend $g_a(x)$ by giving the value 0 on $X\backslash E$ (Theorem 2.4.15). Associated to the given function f on the finite set F, define two non-negative functions u^+ and u^- on X such that $u^+(x)=\sum_{a\in F}f^+(a)g_a(x)$ if $x\in F$ and $u^+(y)=0$ if $y\in X\backslash F$; and $u^-(x)=\sum_{a\in F}f^-(a)g_a(x)$ if $x\in F$ and $u^-(y)=0$ if $y\in X\backslash F$. If $u=u^+-u^-$ on X, then $\Delta u(x)=-f(x)$ if $x\in F$ and u(y)=0 if $y\in X\backslash F$. Also, if $f\geq 0$, then $u=u^+\geq 0$. Finally, suppose f>0 on F and u(a)=0 for some $a\in F$. Then,

$$-f(a) = \Delta u(a) = \sum_{x \sim a} t(a, x)[u(x) - u(a)]$$
$$= \sum_{x \sim a} t(a, x)u(x) \ge 0,$$

a contradiction. Consequently, if f > 0 on F, then u > 0 on F.

If v is a function on X such that $\Delta v(x)=0$ for $x\in F$, and v(y)=0 if $y\in X\backslash F$, then by the Maximum Principle $v\equiv 0$. This proves that the solution u is uniquely determined by the given conditions.

Theorem 3.3.11. (Dirichlet-Poisson solution) Let E be a finite set in a hyperbolic network. Let f and g be two functions defined on X. Then, there exists a unique function v on X such that $\Delta v = g$ on E and v = f on $X \setminus E$.

Proof. Let $F=V(E)=\bigcup_{x\in E}V(x)$. Since E and F are finite sets, by Theorem 3.1.7, there exists a unique function h on F such that $\Delta h(x)=0$ if $x\in E$ and h=f on $F\backslash E$. Assume that h is defined on X, by giving values of f outside F. Now, by Theorem 3.3.10, there exists a unique function u on X such that $\Delta u(x)=g(x)$ if $x\in E$ and u(y)=0 if $y\in X\backslash E$. Write v=u+h on X. Then, $\Delta v=g$ on E and v=f on $X\backslash E$. The uniqueness of the function v follows from the Maximum Principle.

Remark 3.3.3. The above results do not prove that given an arbitrary function f on an infinite network X, there exists a function u on X such that $\Delta u = f$ on X. However from [2 Theorem 6] we can see that if X is a hyperbolic network with the Green function G(x,y) satisfying the condition $\sum_{a\in X} G(a,a)$ is finite and if f is a bounded function, then

$$u(x) = -\sum_{y \in X} f(y)G_y(x) = \sum_{y \in X} f^{-}(y)G_y(x) - \sum_{y \in X} f^{+}(y)G_y(x)$$

is a δ -superharmonic function (that is, a difference of two superharmonic functions) such that $\Delta u = f$ on X.

Also from the results in Sect. 5.1, Chap. 5, we can deduce that if X is an infinite tree without terminal vertices (whether X is hyperbolic or parabolic), then given an arbitrary real-valued function f on X, we can determine a δ -superharmonic function u (that is, u is a difference of two superharmonic functions) such that $\Delta u = f$ on X.

The following result shows that a positive superharmonic function on a hyperbolic network can be represented by two positive measures. This is an extension of the integral representation of positive harmonic functions given in Corollary 3.2.16, known as the *Riesz-Martin representation of positive superharmonic functions*. In the case of axiomatic potential theory, it is given in Brelot [28, pp.83–84].

Theorem 3.3.12. Let s be a positive superharmonic function defined on a hyperbolic network X. Then, there exist two uniquely determined positive measures μ in X and ν with support in Λ_1 such that $s(x) = \int\limits_{y \in X} G_y(x) d\mu(y) + \int\limits_{u \in \Lambda_1} u(x) d\nu(u)$, for every x in X.

Proof. We have already remarked that we can write s=p+h as the unique sum of a potential and a non-negative harmonic function on X. Write $\mu(y)=-\Delta p(y)$. Then, $\mu\geq 0$ can be considered as a positive measure on X such that (Theorem 3.3.1) $p(x)=\sum_{y\in X}G_y(x)\mu(y)=\int\limits_{y\in X}G_y(x)d\mu(y)$. As for the non-negative

harmonic function h on X, we have an integral representation (Corollary 3.2.16) $h(x) = \int\limits_{u \in A_1} u(x) d\nu(u)$ for any x in X. This gives the unique representation of

the superharmonic function $s \geq 0$ by means of two uniquely determined positive measures μ and ν .

3.4 Parabolic Networks

An infinite network X is referred to as a parabolic network if and only if there is no positive potential on X (Definition 3.1.2). Thus, an infinite network is parabolic if and only if any lower bounded function s on X is a constant if $\Delta s \leq 0$.

Example of a parabolic network: Let $X=\{z_1,z_2,x_1,x_2,x_3,...\}$ together with an infinite set of terminal vertices $\{y_{21},y_{22},y_{31},y_{32},...\}$, where y_{i1},y_{i2} have x_i as their unique neighbour for $i\geq 2$. Also $x_i\sim x_{i+1}$ for $i\geq 1$. z_1,z_2 have x_1,x_2 as their neighbours. Since $\{x_1,z_1,x_2,z_2,x_1\}$ is a closed path, X is not a tree. For $i\geq 3$, if z is one of the four neighbours of x_i , let $t(x_i,z)=\frac{1}{4}$; and for any $i\geq 2$, $t(y_{i1},x_i)=t(y_{i2},x_i)=1$. For any other pair of neighbours a and b, take t(a,b)=t(b,a)=2. Then, the constants are harmonic on X. Let u be a function defined on X such that $u(x_1)=u(z_1)=u(z_2)=1$ and if $i\geq 2$, then $u(y_{i1})=u(y_{i2})=u(x_i)=i$. Note that $\Delta u(x_1)=\Delta u(z_1)=\Delta u(z_2)=2$, $\Delta u(x_2)=-4$, and at all other vertices $a\in X$, $\Delta u(a)=0$. Hence, u is neither subharmonic nor superharmonic on the whole of X. We show now that every positive superharmonic function on X is a constant.

3.4 Parabolic Networks 71

For $i\geq 2$, write $P_i=\{x_i,y_{i1},y_{i2}\}$. Suppose s>0 is superharmonic on X. Take an arbitrary vertex z in X. Suppose $z\in P_m, m\geq 3$. Let $K=\{x_1,z_1,z_2,x_2,y_{21},y_{22}\}$ and $\alpha=\inf_{x\in K}s(x)$. Write $E_n=[\bigcup_{n\geq 3}P_n]\backslash K, n\geq 3$. $\partial E_n=\{x_3,x_n\}$. Let $v_n(x)=\alpha\frac{n-u(x)}{n-3}, n>m$. Then $v_n(x)$ is harmonic on E_n and $v_n\leq s$ on ∂E_n , so that by the minimum principle (Corollary 1.4.3), $v_n\leq s$ on E_n . In particular, $s(z)\geq v_n(z)=\alpha\frac{n-u(z)}{n-3}$. Allow $n\to\infty$ to see that $s(z)\geq \alpha$. Since z is an arbitrary vertex in $P_m, m\geq 3$, we conclude that $s(x)\geq \alpha$ for all x in X. However, since s attains its minimum value s0 on s1, by the minimum principle (Proposition 1.4.1), s1 is the constant s2. Since every positive superharmonic function on s3 is constant, there can be no positive potential on s3, that is s4 is parabolic.

The above example suggests a sufficient condition for an infinite network to be parabolic. Let us say that for a real-valued function f defined on an infinite network X, $\lim_{x\to\infty} f(x)=\infty$, if for any finite number k there exists a finite set A of X such that f(x)>k when $x\in X\backslash A$.

A sufficient condition for an infinite network to be parabolic: Let $u \geq 0$ be a superharmonic function defined outside a finite set A in X, such that $\lim_{x \to \infty} u(x) = \infty$. Then X is parabolic. For, if m is a large positive integer, let E_m

denote a finite set such that u(x)>m if $x\notin E_m^0\supset A$. Assume without loss of generality $E_m\subset E_n^0$ if n>m. Suppose s>0 is a superharmonic function on X. Let $\alpha=\inf_{x\in E_m}s(x)$. Then, for some $a\in E_m$, $s(a)=\alpha$. Let $z\notin E_m$.

Then, for large n, assume $z\in \overset{\circ}{E}_n$ and define $v_n(x)=\alpha\frac{n-u(x)}{n-m}$ for n>m. Then, v_n is subharmonic at every vertex on $E_n\backslash \overset{\circ}{E}_m$. Note on $\partial E_n,\,u(x)>n$ so that $v_n(x)<0< s(x);$ and on $\partial E_m,\,u(x)>m$ so that $v_n(x)<\alpha\le s(x).$ Hence, by the minimum principle on $E_n\backslash E_m$, we conclude that $s(x)\ge v_n(x)$ on $E_n\backslash E_m$. In particular, $s(z)\ge v_n(z)=\alpha\frac{n-u(z)}{n-m}$. Allow $n\to\infty$ to see that $s(z)\ge \alpha$. Since z is arbitrary in $X\backslash E_m$, we conclude that $s\ge \alpha$ on X. But s attains its minimum on s0 since $s(a)=\alpha$. Hence s1 is a constant. Thus, every positive superhamonic function on s2 is a constant. Hence there cannot be any positive potential on s3, that is s4 is parabolic.

In a parabolic network, it is not possible to define the Green function which is a positive potential. In the classical case in $\Re^n, n \geq 3$, the Newtonian kernel $|x-y|^{n-2}$ is proportional to the Green kernel; but in \Re^2 , the Green kernel cannot be defined (as a consequence of the Liouville theorem). However, the logarithmic $kernel \log \frac{1}{|x-y|}$ in \Re^2 has many properties similar to the Green kernel in $\Re^n, n \geq 3$, with the notable exception that the logarithmic kernel is not lower bounded in \Re^2 . (The terms logarithmic kernel and logarithmic potentials are in vogue since Neumann. If for a Radon measure $\mu \geq 0$, $u(x) = \int\limits_{\Re^2} \log \frac{1}{|x-y|} d\mu(y)$) is

superharmonic on \Re^2 , then u is known as a *logarithmic potential* with associated measure μ .) Associated with the Green kernel in a hyperbolic network is the study

of positive potentials which was carried out in the earlier sections. Now, in a parabolic network we shall study pseudo-potentials which correspond to certain superharmonic functions generated by the logarithmic kernel in \Re^2 . Note that in the study of random walks, a parabolic network is referred to as *recurrent* and the random walk is referred to as *transient* [68] if the Green function can be defined. In fact, a random walk is said to be *recurrent* if the walker is certain to return to the starting point. When a positive probability exists that the walker never returns to the initial position, the random walk is referred to as *transient*. The famous theorem of Polya asserts that a *simple random walk* (a simple random walk on a graph is one in which from any vertex of the graph, there is equal probability of moving to a neighbouring vertex) on a *d*-dimensional lattice is recurrent for d=1,2 and transient if $d\geq 3$. We assume in this section that X is a parabolic network.

There is little difference in the study of superharmonic functions on a finite subset A of an infinite network, whether the network is hyperbolic or parabolic. For, by using the solution to the Dirichlet problem, we can see that there are positive potentials on any finite set A with non-empty interior even if X is parabolic. So, in this section, we mainly deal with infinite subsets A of a parabolic network X. To start with, here is a version of the *minimum principle special to parabolic networks* even when A is not finite.

Theorem 3.4.1. Let A be an arbitrary proper subset of a parabolic network X. Let u be a lower bounded superharmonic function on A such that $u \ge \alpha$ on ∂A . Then, $u > \alpha$ on A.

Proof. Let $v=\inf(u,\alpha)$. Then, v is superharmonic on A and $v=\alpha$ on ∂A . Suppose for some $z\in A$, $v(z)=\beta<\alpha$. Now, v extended onto X by taking $v=\alpha$ on $X\setminus A$ is superharmonic on X and lower bounded too. Hence v is a constant on X since X is parabolic, $v\equiv\alpha$, a contradiction since $v(z)<\alpha$.

- Remark 3.4.1. 1. The validity of the above Minimum Principle for an infinite subset A is a characteristic property of parabolic networks. For, if X is a hyperbolic network, then a potential p>0 on X is a superharmonic function on X such that $\inf_X p(x)=0$. Hence, if A is the complement of a finite set, then $\inf_A p(x)=0$ while $\inf_{\partial A} p(x)>0$.
- 2. In Theorem 3.1.7, we have stated the main result on the Dirichlet solution in any arbitrary set F in an infinite network, where the uniqueness of the Dirichlet solution can be asserted if the set F is finite. But if X is parabolic, we can use the above theorem to assert the uniqueness of the Dirichlet solution in any F, when the boundary function is bounded: Let F be an arbitrary proper subset in a parabolic network and $E \subset F$. Let f be a bounded function on $F \setminus E$. Then, there exists a unique bounded function h on F such that h = f on $F \setminus E$ and $\Delta h(x) = 0$ if $x \in E$.

In Definition 3.2.1, we defined P-sections and S-sections in an infinite network. When X is a parabolic network, if e is a fixed vertex, then every infinite section

3.4 Parabolic Networks 73

 $E_i=[e,e_i]$ defined by e is an S-section (Theorem 3.2.4). In particular, there exists an unbounded harmonic function $h_i\geq 0$ on E_i such that $h_i(e)=0$, $h_i(x)>0$ and $\Delta h_i(x)=0$ if $x\neq e$. Choose such a function h_i in each S-section determined by e. Define a function H_e on X such that $H_e=h_i$ in each S-section $E_i=[e,e_i]$ and $H_e=0$ otherwise. Then, $H_e\geq 0$ is an unbounded function on X with the following properties: $\Delta H_e(x)=c\delta_e(x)$ for x in X and some c>0 (replacing H_e by $c^{-1}H_e$, we can suppose $\Delta H_e(x)=\delta_e(x)$), and $H_e>0$ outside a finite set A in X. Note that A includes e and all the finite sections determined by e. Clearly, there are many such functions on X. In the sequel, we shall fix a vertex e in X and such a function H_e in X. We keep in mind that H_e has many of the important properties of $\log |z|$ in the complex plane. A function similar to H_e has been constructed and used in [5] to define the notion of flux in the context of an axiomatic potential theory without positive potentials.

In a tree T, there are no closed paths and for any pair of vertices u and v, there exists only one (geodesic) path [u,v]. Using these facts, for a fixed vertex e in a recurrent tree T (that is, there are no positive potentials on T) Bajunaid et al. [15, Sect. 4] have constructed a non-negative function H on T such that H(e)=0 and $\Delta H(x)=\delta_e(x)$ for any non-terminal vertex x in T, with the property that any function h in T which is harmonic outside a finite set is of the form $h=\alpha H+u+b$, where $\Delta u(x)=0$ at every non-terminal vertex x in T, α is a uniquely determined constant and b is a bounded function on T. This construction (which requires some corrections) relies on the fact that there are no closed paths in T. Note that this function H(x) on T (leaving out the Laplacian on terminal vertices in T) has some of the important (from potential-theoretic view point) properties of $\log |x|$ in \Re^2 .

Lemma 3.4.2. Let h be a harmonic function defined outside a finite set in X. Let $e \in X$. Then, there exists a function u on X such that $\Delta u(x) = 0$ if $x \neq e$ and (u - h) is bounded outside a finite set in X.

Proof. For a vertex x in X, let |x| denote the distance between e and x (which is the length of the shortest path connecting e and x). Let m be sufficiently large such that h is defined on B_m where $B_m = \{x : |x| \le m\}$. Let f be the bounded Dirichlet solution outside B_m with boundary values h on ∂B_m . Then, $\varphi = h - f$ is harmonic on B_m with boundary values h.

Let $p\geq 0$ be a superharmonic function on B_m with harmonic point singularity e and p=0 on ∂B_m (see Theorem 2.2.12). By the Minimum Principle, p>0 on $\overset{\circ}{B}_m$. For a large $\alpha>0$, let $v_1=\varphi$ on $\overset{\circ}{B}_m$, and $v_1=\alpha p$ on $\overset{\circ}{B}_m$. On ∂B_m ,

$$t(y)v_1(y) = 0 \le \sum_{y_i \sim y} t(y, y_i)v_1(y_i),$$

since $y \in \partial B_m$ has only one neighbour in $\overset{\circ}{B}_m$ where v_1 can be made to take an arbitrarily large value since α is large and arbitrary. Then, v_1 is subharmonic on

 $X\setminus\{e\}$, harmonic outside ∂B_m . Similarly, if $v_2=\varphi$ on $\overset{\circ}{B}_m^c$ and $v_2=-\alpha p$ on $\overset{\circ}{B}_m$, then v_2 is superharmonic on $X\setminus\{e\}$ and harmonic outside ∂B_m . Choose now $\beta>0$ large, so that $\alpha p\leq -\alpha p+\beta$ on $\overset{\circ}{B}_m$.

Then on $X\setminus\{e\}$, $v_1\leq v_2+\beta$. Hence we can determine a harmonic function u on $X\setminus\{e\}$ such that $v_1\leq u\leq v_2+\beta$ on $X\setminus\{e\}$. Clearly, (u-h) is bounded outside $\overset{\circ}{B}_m$.

Remark 3.4.2. The above Lemma 3.4.2 is not of much use in hyperbolic networks. For, if h is a harmonic function defined outside a finite set, then $h=p_1-p_2+H$ outside a finite set, where p_1,p_2 are potentials with finite harmonic support and hence bounded in X and H is harmonic on X (Corollary 3.2.7). Hence, given a harmonic function h outside a finite set in a hyperbolic network, there always exists a harmonic function H on H such that H is bounded outside a finite set in H.

Definition 3.4.1. A superharmonic function s on an infinite network X is said to be admissible if and only if it has a harmonic minorant outside a finite set.

If s is admissible in a hyperbolic network X, then from what we have just remarked s would have a harmonic minorant on X so that s is a potential up to an additive harmonic function on X. We shall obtain a similar result in the case of a parabolic network, after introducing the notion of pseudo-potentials. The notion of admissible superharmonic functions plays a more crucial role in parabolic networks. So, we continue with our assumption in this section that X is parabolic.

First, remark that if s is an admissible superharmonic function on X and a is an arbitrary vertex in X, then by Lemma 3.4.2, there exists a function u on X such that $\Delta u(x)=0$ if $x\neq a$, and $s\geq u$ on X. Consequently, we can extend the class of boundary functions which have a Dirichlet solution.

Theorem 3.4.3. Let s be an admissible superharmonic function on a parabolic network X. Let A be any proper subset of X. Let h = s on ∂A and on the interior of A, let h be the greatest harmonic minorant of s on A. Then h is a solution of the Dirichlet problem on A with boundary values s on ∂A . If in addition s is bounded on ∂A (even if s is not superharmonic on X), then there is a unique bounded solution to the above Dirichlet problem.

Proof. Let $a \notin A$. Then, there exists u on X such that $\Delta u(x) = 0$ if $x \neq a$, and (s-u) is lower bounded on X. Hence, s has a harmonic minorant on A. Let g be the g.h.m. of s on A. Define $\varphi(x) = s(x)$ on ∂A , and $\varphi(x) = g(x)$ on A. Then, φ is subharmonic on A, $\varphi \leq s$ on A, and $\varphi = s$ on ∂A . Hence, by Theorem 3.1.7, there exists a harmonic function h on A such that $\varphi \leq h \leq s$ on A, so that h = s on ∂A . Note that h coincides with the g.h.m. g of s on A.

Finally, the assertion about the unique bounded solution when s is bounded on ∂A is a consequence of the more general result proved in Corollary 3.1.9 which states that if f is any bounded function on ∂A , then there exists a unique bounded harmonic function h on A such that h = f on ∂A .

3.4 Parabolic Networks 75

In Theorem 3.1.10, we discussed the balayage for a non-negative superharmonic function on an infinite network. Since the constants are the only non-negative superharmonic functions on a parabolic network X, this theorem is interesting only in the hyperbolic case. The following theorem is about the balayage of admissible superharmonic functions on a parabolic network. We say that two admissible superharmonic functions are equivalent superharmonic functions if the difference between their greatest harmonic minorants outside a finite set is bounded. Note that if p is a positive potential in a hyperbolic network, then the g.h.m. of p outside a finite set A is bounded. For, let A be the g.h.m. of A outside A outside A is a positive superharmonic function on A and A outside A is a positive superharmonic function on A majorized by the potential A so that A is a potential on A and it has finite harmonic support A. Since any potential with finite harmonic support is bounded (Domination Principle), A and hence A is bounded. Consequently, if A is a potential and A is an arbitrary set in a hyperbolic network, then A and its balayage A are potentials which are equivalent in the above sense.

Theorem 3.4.4. Let s be an admissible superharmonic function on a parabolic network X. Let E be any proper subset of X. Then, there exists an admissible superharmonic function B_s^E on X such that (i) $B_s^E \leq s$ on X, (ii) $B_s^E = s$ on $X \setminus E$, (iii) B_s^E is harmonic on E, and (iv) s and S_s^E are equivalent.

Proof. Fix a vertex $a \notin E$ and let h be the greatest minorant of s such that $\Delta h(x) = 0$ if $x \neq a$. Let u be the (maximal) Dirichlet solution on E with boundary values s on ∂E (Theorem 3.4.3). Let v be the function u on E extended by s on $X \setminus E$. Then, v is superharmonic on X, v is harmonic on E, v = s on $X \setminus E$, and $v \leq s$ on X; since u is the g.h.m. of s on E by construction, $u \geq h$ on E so that $v \geq h$ on $X \setminus \{a\}$. Hence, v is an admissible superharmonic function on X. Let h^* be the g.h.m. of v in $X \setminus \{a\}$, so that $h^* \geq h$. But $v \leq s$, so that $h^* \leq h$. We conclude that v and s have the same g.h.m. in $X \setminus \{a\}$, so v and s are equivalent in s. Hence the theorem is proved if we set $v = B_s^E$.

Theorem 3.4.5. For any z in a parabolic network X, there exists a unique admissible superharmonic function $q_z(x)$ with the following properties:

```
 \begin{array}{ll} i. & q_z(x) \leq 0 \ on \ X, \\ ii. & \Delta q_z(x) = -\delta_z(x) \ for \ all \ x \ in \ X, \\ iii. & q_z(z) = 0, \ and \\ iv. \ for \ a \ constant \ \alpha > 0, \ q_z(x) + \alpha H_e(x) \ is \ bounded \ on \ X. \end{array}
```

The constant α is uniquely determined when the vertex z is fixed. We write $\alpha=\varphi(z)$.

Proof. Take $q_e(x)=-H_e(x)$. As for any other arbitrary vertex z, let A be a finite circled set such that e and z are in $\stackrel{0}{A}$. Let h be the bounded harmonic function on $X\setminus A$ (Theorem 3.4.3) with values H_e on ∂A , so that $h-H_e\leq 0$ on $X\setminus A$. Let \Im be the family of all superharmonic functions on X such that $S(z)\geq 0$ and $S(z)\geq 0$

on $X \setminus A$. Clearly, the superharmonic function $s \equiv 0$ is in \Im . Let $u(x) = \inf_{s \in \Im} s(x)$ for $x \in X$.

For any $y \neq z$, and any $s \in \Im$, if we define $s_1(x) = s(x)$ if $x \neq y$, and $s_1(y) = \sum \frac{t(y,y_i)}{t(y)} s(y_i)$, then $s_1 \leq s$, $s_1(x)$ is harmonic at x = y and $s_1 \in \Im$. Consequently, \Im is a Perron family so that u(x) is harmonic at all $x \neq z$ and $u(x) \geq h(x) - H_e(x)$ on $X \setminus A$. Let $v(x) = h(x) - H_e(x)$ on $X \setminus A$, extended by 0 on A. Then, $v \in \Im$. Hence $u(x) \leq h(x) - H_e(x)$ on $X \setminus A$, and $u(x) \leq 0$ on A. Also, since $y \sim z$ implies that $y \in A$, we have $\sum \frac{t(z,y)}{t(z)} u(y) \leq 0 = u(z)$, so that u(x) is superharmonic at x = z. Note that u being upper-bounded and non-constant on X, u(x) cannot be harmonic at x = z. Hence $\Delta u(z) < 0$. Write $q_z(x) = -\frac{u(x)}{\Delta u(z)}$. Then, $\Delta q_z(x) = -\delta_z(x)$ for all x in X, $q_z(z) = 0$ and $\left[q_z(x) - \frac{H_e(x)}{\Delta u(z)}\right]$ is a bounded harmonic function on $X \setminus A$ and hence bounded on X. That is, $q_z(x)$ has all the properties stated in the theorem.

To prove the uniqueness of $q_z(x)$, suppose Q is another function on X such that $\Delta Q(x) = -\delta_z(x)$, Q(z) = 0 and $(Q + \beta H_e)$ is bounded on X. Then, let $l(x) = q_z(x) - Q(x)$. Since $\Delta l \equiv 0$, then l(x) is harmonic on X. Moreover, $l(x) = (\beta - \alpha)H_e(x) + f(x)$, where f(x) is bounded on X and harmonic outside a finite set. Suppose $\alpha \neq \beta$. Then, since H_e is non-negative, l(x) should be bounded on one side on X. This means that l(x) is a constant, since X is parabolic and l(x) is harmonic and bounded on one side. Consequently, $(\beta - \alpha)H_e$ should be bounded on X. But, this is not possible since H_e is unbounded and $\beta - \alpha \neq 0$. We conclude therefore that $\alpha = \beta$, in which case l(x) is a constant and that constant should be 0, since l(z) = 0.

Proposition 3.4.6. Let s be a superharmonic function defined outside a finite set in a parabolic network X. Then, there exist two superharmonic functions Q and Q_c on X such that $s = Q - Q_c$ outside a finite set and Q_c has finite harmonic support in X. In the particular case of s being harmonic, Q also has finite harmonic support in X.

Proof. Choose a finite circled set A such that s is defined on ∂A . Let h be the harmonic function on A with boundary values s on ∂A . Let p=s on $X \setminus A$, and p=h on A. Then $\Delta p=0$ on A and $\Delta p\leq 0$ on $X \setminus A$. It is possible that $\Delta p>0$ at some vertices on ∂A . Let them be $y_1,y_2,...,y_i$. Consider $Q(x)=p(x)+\Delta p(y_1)q_{y_1}(x)+\ldots+\Delta p(y_i)q_{y_i}(x)$, where $q_z(x)$ is the unique superharmonic function with point harmonic support as defined in the above Theorem 3.4.5. Then, $\Delta Q(y_j)=0$ for $1\leq j\leq i$, so that Q is superharmonic on X. (Note that $\Delta Q=0$ on $X\setminus A$, if the given function s is harmonic.) Moreover, if we write $Q_c(x)=\sum_{j=1}^i \Delta p(y_j)q_{y_j}(x)$, then Q_c is a superharmonic function with finite harmonic support in X such that $s(x)=p(x)=Q(x)-Q_c(x)$ if $x\in X\setminus A$.

3.4 Parabolic Networks 77

Proposition 3.4.7. Let h be a harmonic function defined outside a finite set in a parabolic network X. Then $h = u + \alpha H_e + b$ outside a finite set, where u is a uniquely determined harmonic function on X such that u(e) = 0, α is a uniquely determined constant and b is a bounded harmonic function outside a finite set in X.

Proof. Let Q be a superharmonic function on X having harmonic support only at a finite set of vertices $z_1, z_2, ..., z_m$. Define $u^{\bullet}(x) = Q(x) + \sum\limits_{j=1}^m [\Delta Q(z_j)] q_{z_j}(x)$ on X. Then $\Delta u^{\bullet}(x) = 0$ for all x in X, that is u^{\bullet} is harmonic on X. Now, by construction, for each j there exists a constant α_j such that $(q_{z_j} + \alpha_j H_e)$ is bounded harmonic outside a finite set. Write $\alpha^{\bullet} = \sum\limits_{j=1}^m [\Delta Q(z_j)] \alpha_j$. Then, $u^{\bullet}(x) + \alpha^{\bullet} H_e(x) = Q(x) +$ (a bounded harmonic function) outside a finite set. Hence, $Q(x) = u^{\bullet}(x) + \alpha^{\bullet} H_e(x) + b^{\bullet}(x)$ outside a finite set where $b^{\bullet}(x)$ is bounded harmonic outside a finite set. Using Proposition 3.4.6 and a similar representation for Q_c , we can now write $h(x) = u_1(x) + \alpha H_e(x) + b_1(x)$ outside a finite set, where u_1 is harmonic on X and b_1 is bounded harmonic. Write $u(x) = u_1(x) - u_1(e)$ and $b = b_1 + u_1(e)$. Then, $h(x) = u(x) + \alpha H_e + b$ outside a finite set.

To show that u and α are uniquely determined, suppose

$$h(x) = v(x) + \beta H_e(x) + b_2(x)$$

is another such representation outside a finite set. Then,

$$(\alpha - \beta)H_e(x) = [v(x) - u(x)] + [b_2(x) - b(x)]$$

outside a finite set. If $\alpha - \beta \neq 0$, then we arrive at a contradiction as shown in the proof of Theorem 3.4.5. Then, $v - u = b - b_2$ outside a finite set and hence bounded on X. Since v - u is bounded and harmonic on X, it must be a constant c. Then, c = v(e) - u(e) = 0, so that v = u on X and consequently $b = b_2$ also. \square

Let $E_k=\{x:|x|=d(x,e)\leq k\}$. Let D_kf denote the Dirichlet solution on E_k with boundary values f on ∂E_k . Suppose f is a function defined outside a finite set. Then for any $x\in X, \{D_kf(x)\}$ is well defined for large k. If f(x) is a bounded function on X, then $\{D_kf(x)\}$ is bounded for any x; if h(x) is a harmonic function on X, then $h(x)=D_kh(x)$ when $x\in \overset{\circ}{E}_k$; if s(x) is a non-harmonic superharmonic function on X, then for any x, $\lim_{k\to\infty}D_ks(x)=-\infty$; and for any x, $\lim_{k\to\infty}D_kH_e(x)=\infty$.

Corollary 3.4.8. Let h be a harmonic function defined outside a finite set in X. Then, there exists a harmonic function u on X such that (h-u) is bounded outside a finite set if and only if the sequence $\{D_k h(x)\}$ for large k is bounded at some, and hence every vertex x in X.

Proof. By Proposition 3.4.7, $h=u+\alpha H_e+b$ outside a finite set. Since $D_ku(x)=u(x)$ for all large k, $\lim_{k\to\infty}D_kH_e\equiv\infty$, and the sequence $\{D_kb(x)\}$ for large k, is bounded for any $x\in X$, we find that $\{D_kh(x)\}$ is bounded for some x if and only if $\alpha=0$; that is, if and only if (h-u) is bounded outside a finite set.

3.5 Flux at Infinity

Let Ω be an open set in the Euclidean space \Re^3 . Let ω be a bounded domain with smooth boundary $\partial \omega$ such that $\varpi \subset \Omega$. Let \overrightarrow{v} be a continuously differentiable function on Ω . Then the Green's formula can be presented [13, p.4] in the form

$$\int_{\omega} div \, \overrightarrow{v} \, d\sigma = \int_{\partial \omega} \overrightarrow{v} . \overrightarrow{n} \, ds,$$

where \overrightarrow{n} is the outer normal. Suppose f and g are C^2 -functions on Ω .

Take $\overrightarrow{v} = f \nabla g$. Then

$$\int\limits_{\omega} [f \varDelta g + (grad \ f, grad \ g)] d\sigma = \int\limits_{\partial \omega} f \frac{\partial g}{\partial n^+} ds,$$

where $\frac{\partial g}{\partial n^+}$ denotes the outer normal derivative of g. In particular, $\int\limits_{\omega} \Delta g d\sigma = \int\limits_{\partial \omega} \frac{\partial g}{\partial n^+} ds$ and the right side integral is known as the *outer flux* corresponding to g and ω . The notion of flux is important in the study of many physical problems (gravitation, electricity). Suppose μ is a mass distribution on a compact set $K \subset \omega$. Then the (Newton) potential in \mathbb{R}^3 due to μ is $g(x) = \int\limits_K |x-y|^{-1} d\mu(y)$ and

 $\Delta g(x) = -4\pi d\mu(x)$ in the sense of distributions. Consequently, if g is a C^2 -function, then the inner flux $\int\limits_{\partial\omega} \frac{\partial g}{\partial n^-} ds = 4\pi$ (total mass).

Suppose now that h is a harmonic function defined outside a compact set in $\Re^n, n \geq 2$. Then, $\int\limits_{|s|=R} \frac{\partial h}{\partial n^+} ds$ is independent of R for large values of R. This

constant is known as the *flux at infinity* of the harmonic function h, denoted by $flux_{\infty}h$. If b is bounded harmonic outside a finite set, then $\lim_{|x|\to\infty}b(x)$ exists. In

 \Re^2 , $flux_{\infty}b=0$; however in \Re^n , $n\geq 3$, $flux_{\infty}b$ may not be 0 as in the case of $b(x)=|x|^{2-n}$. This indicates a possibility of using the notion of flux at infinity to distinguish between hyperbolic and parabolic networks.

Let u be a superharmonic function defined on |x|>R. Let $R< r_1< r$. Let h(x) be the Dirichlet solution on $r_1<|x|< r$ with boundary values u. Then $\lim_{r_1\to r}\int\limits_{|s|=r_1}\frac{\partial h}{\partial n^+}(s)ds$ exists and is known as (up to a multiplicative constant

3.5 Flux at Infinity 79

depending on the dimension of the space) the inner flux f_i of u on |x|=r. A similar procedure with respect to $r < r_1^{'}$ defines the outer flux f_e of u on |x|=r. Now both f_i and f_e have a common limit α when $r \to \infty$. This common value α is known as the flux at infinity of the superharmonic function u defined outside a compact set.

In a related development, Brelot [27, p.194] shows that if h is a harmonic function defined outside a compact set in the Euclidean plane, then it has a representation

$$h(x) = C + \alpha \log \rho + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a_n(\theta) \rho^n + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a'_n(\theta) \rho^{-n}$$

outside a compact set where $x = (\rho, \theta)$ in polar coordinates, C is a constant, α is the $flux_{\infty}h$, and $a_n(\theta)$, $a'_n(\theta)$ are of the form $\lambda_n \cos n\theta + \mu_n \sin n\theta$. To obtain an analogue of this very useful representation of a harmonic function defined outside a compact set in an axiomatic potential theory without positive potentials on a locally compact space X, one starts with the construction [5, pp.112–114] of an unbounded non-negative harmonic function H outside a compact set in X. This function H has many of the basic properties of $\log |x|$ outside the unit disc in the plane. Then, it is proved that any harmonic function h outside a compact set in X is of the form $h(x) = \alpha H(x) + u(x) + b(x)$ where α is a uniquely determined constant, u is harmonic on X and b is bounded harmonic outside a compact set in X. This uniquely determined constant α is defined to be the flux at infinity of h, thus avoiding the explicit use of normal derivatives in the definition of flux. The same procedure as in the locally compact case can be adopted to define the flux at infinity of a harmonic function defined outside a finite set in a parabolic network [9, pp.13–15]. A similar method has been used in Cohen et al. [37] to study the flux at infinity of a superharmonic function defined outside a finite set in a Cartier tree.

Recall that in Proposition 3.4.7, for a harmonic function h defined outside a finite set in a parabolic network X, we have obtained a representation of the form $h=u+\alpha H_e+b$, where u is harmonic on X, b is bounded harmonic outside a finite set and α is a uniquely determined constant. Let h be a harmonic function defined outside a finite set on a parabolic network X. Define the flux of h at $infinity=flux_\infty h=\alpha$. Then:

- 1. If h is any harmonic function defined outside a finite set, then $flux_{\infty}h = 0$ if and only if there exists a harmonic function u on X such that |u h| is bounded outside a finite set.
- 2. If b is a bounded harmonic function defined outside a finite set, then $flux_{\infty}b = 0$.
- 3. If h_1 and h_2 are two harmonic functions defined outside a finite set, then $flux_{\infty}(\alpha_1h_1+\alpha_2h_2)=\alpha_1flux_{\infty}h_1+\alpha_2flux_{\infty}h_2$, for any real numbers α_1 and α_2 .

Recall (Theorem 3.4.5) that for any z in X, there exists a unique admissible superharmonic function $q_z(x) \leq 0$ on X and a unique positive number $\varphi(z)$ such that $\Delta q_z(x) = -\delta_z(x)$ for all x in X, $q_z(z) = 0$ and $[q_z + \varphi(z)H_e]$ is bounded on X. Note that $flux_\infty H_e = 1$, $flux_\infty q_z = -\varphi(z)$, and $\varphi(e) = 1$.

Let A be a finite set such that $\Delta h=0$ at every vertex outside A. Extend h as a function v on X. Let $u(x)=v(x)+\sum_{y\in A}\Delta v(y)q_y(x)$. Then, $\Delta u(x)=0$ for every x in X, that is u is harmonic on X. Moreover, outside a finite set,

$$v(x) = u(x) - \sum_{y \in A} \Delta v(y) [q_y(x) + \varphi(y) H_e(x)] + \left[\sum_{y \in A} \varphi(y) \Delta v(y) \right] H_e(x),$$

which can be written as

$$v(x) = u(x) + b(x) + \alpha H_e(x),$$

where $[\sum_{y\in A}\varphi(y)\Delta v(y)]=\alpha$, and $b(x)=-\sum_{y\in A}\Delta v(y)[q_y(x)+\varphi(y)H_e(x)]$ is bounded harmonic outside a finite set, since $[q_y(x)+\varphi(y)H_e(x)]$ is bounded on X and A contains only a finite number of vertices. Hence,

$$flux_{\infty}h = \left[\sum_{y \in A} \varphi(y)\Delta v(y)\right].$$

This provides an alternate way of defining $flux_{\infty}h$, without recourse to the decomposition of h given in Proposition 3.4.7. If f is a real-valued function on X, equal to a harmonic function h outside a finite set in X, then take $flux_{\infty}f=flux_{\infty}h$. In particular, if s is a superharmonic function with finite harmonic support, then we can write $flux_{\infty}s=[\sum\limits_{y\in X}\varphi(y)\Delta s(y)]$.

In the Euclidean space \Re^2 , it can be proved that if s is a superharmonic function on |x|>R, then $flux_\infty s$ is finite if and only if s has a harmonic minorant and if h is the greatest harmonic minorant of s on |x|>R, then $flux_\infty s=flux_\infty h$. As a discrete analogue of this result, we propose the following definition.

Definition 3.5.1. Let v be a superharmonic function defined on an infinite network X. If v is not admissible, define the flux at infinity of v as $-\infty$; if v is admissible and if h is the g.h.m. of u in $X \setminus \{e\}$, then define $flux_{\infty}v = flux_{\infty}h$. If u is a subharmonic function on X, define $flux_{\infty}u = -flux_{\infty}(-u)$.

Consequently,

- 1. If s and v are two superharmonic functions on X such that s and v are equivalent, (that is the difference of the g.h.m. of s and v outside a finite set on X is bounded, see Theorem 3.4.4), then $flux_{\infty}s = flux_{\infty}v$.
- 2. If v_1 and v_2 are two superharmonic functions on X and if α_1, α_2 are two nonnegative constants, then $flux_{\infty}(\alpha_1v_1+\alpha_2v_2)=\alpha_1flux_{\infty}v_1+\alpha_2flux_{\infty}v_2$. For, let h_1 and h_2 be the g.h.m. of v_1 and v_2 respectively in $X\setminus\{e\}$. Let h be the g.h.m. of $\alpha_1v_1+\alpha_2v_2$ in $X\setminus\{e\}$. Since the subharmonic function $h-\alpha_2v_2\leq$

3.5 Flux at Infinity 81

 $\begin{array}{l} \alpha_1v_1 \text{ on } X\backslash\left\{e\right\}, \text{ and since } \alpha_1h_1 \text{ is the g.h.m. of } \alpha_1v_1 \text{ on } X\backslash\left\{e\right\}, \text{ we find that } h-\alpha_2v_2\leq\alpha_1h_1 \text{ on } X\backslash\left\{e\right\}. \text{ Since } h-\alpha_1h_1\leq\alpha_2v_2 \text{ on } X\backslash\left\{e\right\}, \text{ we find as before } h-\alpha_1h_1\leq\alpha_2h_2 \text{ on } X\backslash\left\{e\right\} \text{ so that } h\leq\alpha_1h_1+\alpha_2h_2 \text{ on } X\backslash\left\{e\right\}. \text{ But } h \text{ is the g.h.m. of } \alpha_1v_1+\alpha_2v_2 \text{ on } X\backslash\left\{e\right\}; \text{ this implies that } h=\alpha_1h_1+\alpha_2h_2. \text{ Further, } flux_\infty h=\alpha_1flux_\infty h_1+\alpha_2flux_\infty h_2. \end{array}$

- 3. If v is a non-harmonic superharmonic function defined on X, then $flux_{\infty}v < 0$. For, let h be any harmonic function outside a finite set such that $h \le v$. Write $h = u + \alpha H_e + b$ as before. Suppose $\alpha \ge 0$. Then, the superharmonic function (v u) is lower bounded outside a finite set. X being parabolic, this implies that (v u) is a constant, that is v is harmonic on X, a contradiction.
- 4. If v is a superharmonic function on X, then $flux_{\infty}v=0$ if and only if v is harmonic.

Theorem 3.5.1. Let v be a superharmonic function on a parabolic network X. Let $\varphi(x)$ be as defined in Theorem 3.4.5. Then $flux_{\infty}v \leq \sum_{x \in X} \varphi(x)\Delta v(x)$.

Proof. If v is not admissible, then by definition $flux_{\infty}v=-\infty$ and the theorem is trivial. Let us assume therefore that v is admissible, that is $flux_{\infty}v$ is finite. Let $\{E_m\}$ be an exhaustion of X by an increasing sequence of finite connected circled sets. Define

$$v_m(x) = v(x) + \sum_{y \in E_m} \Delta v(y) q_y(x).$$

Then, for $y \in E_m$, $\Delta v_m(y) = \Delta v(y) - \Delta v(y) = 0$ and for $y \notin E_m$, $\Delta v_m(y) = \Delta v(y) \leq 0$. Hence v_m is superharmonic on X and is admissible, so that $flux_\infty v_m \leq 0$. Hence,

$$flux_{\infty}v + \sum_{y \in E_m} \Delta v(y) flux_{\infty} q_y(x) \le 0.$$

Now, $q_y(x) + \varphi(y)H_e(x)$ is bounded on X and hence $flux_{\infty}q_y(x) = -\varphi(y)$, since by definition $flux_{\infty}H_e = 1$. Consequently, $flux_{\infty}v - \sum_{y \in E_m} \varphi(y)\Delta v(y) \leq 0$.

Since $\Delta v \leq 0$, $\sum\limits_{y \in E_m} \varphi(y) \Delta v(y)$ is a decreasing sequence in m. Allow $m \to \infty$, and conclude $flux_\infty v \leq \sum\limits_{y \in X} \varphi(y) \Delta v(y)$.

Theorem 3.5.2. Let u be a superharmonic function on a parabolic network X with symmetric conductance. If $\sum_{x \in X} \Delta u(x)$ is finite, then u is admissible and $flux_{\infty}u \geq \sum_{x \in X} \Delta u(x)$.

Proof. Given that for the superharmonic function u, $\sum_{x \in X} \Delta u(x)$ is finite. Let $\{E_m\}$ be an exhaustion of X by an increasing sequence of finite connected circled sets

such that $e\in \overset{\circ}{E}_1$. Let h_m be the Dirichlet solution in E_m with boundary values u on $\partial E_m\cup\{e\}$. Clearly, $\frac{\partial u}{\partial n^-}\geq \frac{\partial h_m}{\partial n^-}$ on ∂E_m . Hence,

$$-\infty < \sum_{x \in X} \Delta u(x) = -\lim_{m \to \infty} \sum_{s \in \partial E_m} \frac{\partial u}{\partial n^-}(s)$$

$$\leq -\lim_{m \to \infty} \sum_{s \in \partial E_m} \frac{\partial h_m}{\partial n^-}(s)$$

$$= -\lim_{m \to \infty} [-\Delta h_m(e)]$$

$$= \lim_{m \to \infty} [\Delta h_m(e)].$$

Remark that h_m is a decreasing sequence and write $v=\lim_{m\to\infty}h_m$. Then, h_m being superharmonic on E_m , either $v\equiv-\infty$ or v is superharmonic on X such that $\Delta v(x)=0$ if $x\neq e$. Suppose $v\equiv-\infty$. Then, given $\lambda>0$, there exists m such that $h_m(x_0)<-\lambda$ for some $x_0\sim e$. However, note that $h_m(e)=u(e)$ for all m. Hence,

$$\begin{split} \Delta h_m(e) &= \sum_{x \in X} t(e,x) [h_m(x) - h_m(e)] \\ &= \sum_{x \neq x_0} t(e,x) [h_m(x) - h_m(e)] + t(e,x_0) [h_m(x_0) - h_m(e)] \\ &< \sum_{x \neq x_0} t(e,x) [h_1(x) - u(e)] + t(e,x_0) [-\lambda - u(e)] \\ &= -\lambda t(e,x_0) + \text{(a constant independent of } m) \\ &\leq -\lambda \beta + \text{(a constant independent of } m), \text{ where } \beta = \inf_{x \in X} t(x,e) > 0. \end{split}$$

This means that $\lim_{m\to\infty} \Delta h_m(e) = -\infty$, contradicting what we have proved earlier. Hence, v is superharmonic on X. Moreover, if $x\neq e$, then $v(x)\leq u(x)$ and $\Delta v(x)=0$. Note that if h is harmonic on $X\setminus\{e\}$ and $h(x)\leq u(x)$ if $x\neq e$, then $h\leq h_m$ on E_m , so that $h\leq v$ on $X\setminus\{e\}$. Hence, v is the g.h.m. of u in $X\setminus\{e\}$, so that

$$flux_{\infty}u = flux_{\infty}v = \varphi(e)\Delta v(e) = \Delta v(e).$$

But
$$\Delta v(e) = \lim_{m \to \infty} \Delta h_m(e) \ge \sum_{x \in X} \Delta u(x)$$
. Hence, $flux_\infty u \ge \sum_{x \in X} \Delta u(x)$. \square

3.5 Flux at Infinity 83

Corollary 3.5.3. Let u be a superharmonic function on a parabolic network X such that $\sum_{x \in X} \Delta u(x)$ is finite. Assume that the conductance in X is symmetric. Then u is admissible and $\sum_{x \in X} \Delta u(x) \leq flux_{\infty}u \leq \sum_{x \in X} \varphi(x)\Delta u(x)$, where $\varphi(x)$ is as defined in Theorem 3.4.5.

Proof. This is a consequence of Theorems
$$3.5.1$$
 and $3.5.2$.

An improvement of the above corollary is possible if we assume that there are no cycles (= closed paths) in the parabolic network X with symmetric conductance. Actually in this case we show that $\varphi(x)=1$ for each x in X. Recall that for a fixed vertex e, $H_e \geq 0$ is an associated unbounded function on X such that $\Delta H_e(x)=\delta_e(x)$ for each x in X, $H_e>0$ outside a finite set and $H_e(e)=0$.

Lemma 3.5.4. Let X be a parabolic network without any cycles. Assume that X has symmetric conductance. Then, for any z in X, there exists a unique function $q_z(x)$ on X such that $\Delta q_z(x) = -\delta_z(x)$ for all x in X, $q_z(z) = 0$ and $(q_z + H_e)$ is bounded on X.

Proof. Let $q_e(x) = -H_e(x)$. Let $a \sim e$. Let A be the set of all vertices x such that the (geodesic) path joining x to e passes through a. In particular, $a \in A$ and $e \notin A$. We show now that a constant α can be chosen so that the function s defined on S such that $S(x) = Q_e(x)$ if $S(x) = Q_e$

First note that except e, no vertex $y \in X \setminus A$ can have a neighbour in A. For, if $y \sim b \in A$, then there exists a cycle $\{e, ..., y, b, ..., a, e\}$ which is not possible because of the assumption that there are no closed paths in X. Consequently, for any x in X different from e and a, $\Delta s(x) = 0$. Now

$$\begin{split} \Delta s(e) &= \sum_{x \sim e} t(e,x)[s(x) - s(e)] \\ &= \sum_{x \sim e} t(e,x)s(x), \text{since } s(e) = q_e(e) = 0 \\ &= \sum_{e \sim x \in X \backslash A} t(e,x)q_e(x) + t(e,a)s(a). \end{split}$$

Note $\sum_{x\sim e} t(e,x)q_e(x) = \Delta q_e(e) = -1$, that is $\sum_{e\sim x\in X\setminus A} t(e,x)q_e(x) + t(e,a)q_e(a) = -1$. Consequently,

$$\Delta s(e) = [-1 - t(e, a)q_e(a)] + t(e, a)s(a)$$

$$= [-1 - t(e, a)q_e(a)] + t(e, a)[q_e(a) + \alpha]$$

$$= -1 + \alpha t(e, a).$$

Hence, to satisfy the condition $\Delta s(e) = 0$, we should choose $\alpha = [t(e, a)]^{-1}$. With this value of α ,

$$\begin{split} \Delta s(a) &= \sum_{x \sim a} t(a,x)[s(x) - s(a)] \\ &= \sum_{a \sim x \in A} t(a,x)[q_e(x) - q_e(a)] + t(a,e)[s(e) - s(a)] \\ &= \sum_{a \sim x \in A} t(a,x)[q_e(x) - q_e(a)] + t(a,e)[q_e(e) - (q_e(a) + \alpha)] \\ &= \sum_{x \sim a} t(a,x)[q_e(x) - q_e(a)] - t(a,e)\alpha \\ &= \Delta q_e(a) - 1 \text{ since } t(a,e)\alpha = t(e,a)\alpha = 1 \\ &= 0 - 1 = -1. \end{split}$$

Thus, $\Delta s(x) = -\delta_a(x)$ for all x in X; since $|s-q_e| \le \alpha$ and $q_e(x) = -H_e(x)$, we conclude that $s+H_e$ is bounded on X. Define $q_a(x) = s(x) - s(a)$. Then, $q_a(a) = 0$, $\Delta q_a(x) = -\delta_a(x)$ for all x and $(q_a + H_e)$ is bounded on X.

Thus we have proved that for any $a \sim e$, there exists a function $q_a(x)$ on X such that $\Delta q_a(x) = -\delta_a(x)$ for all x, $q_a(a) = 0$, and $(q_a - q_e)$ is bounded on X. This procedure can be repeated for any neighbour of a. Since X is connected, any vertex z in X can be joined to e by a finite arc, so that we can determine a function $q_z(x)$ on X such that $\Delta q_z(x) = -\delta_z(x)$ for $x \in X$, $q_z(z) = 0$, and $q_z - q_e = q_z + H_e$ is bounded on X.

To prove the uniqueness, suppose u is a function on X such that $\Delta u(x) = -\delta_z(x), \ u(z) = 0, \ \text{and} \ u + H_e$ is bounded on X. Then, take $v(x) = u(x) - q_z(x)$. Since $\Delta v(x) = 0$ for all x in X, v is harmonic on X; moreover, $v = (u + H_e) - (q_z + H_e)$ is bounded on X. Hence v is a constant; since v(z) = 0, we conclude that $v \equiv 0$.

The above lemma says that if X is a parabolic network without cycles but has symmetric conductance, then we can choose $q_z(x)$ in Theorem 3.4.5 in a manner that $\varphi(x) = 1$ for every x in X.

Theorem 3.5.5. Let v be a superharmonic function on a parabolic network X without cycles. Assume X has symmetric conductance. Then v is admissible if and only if $\sum_{x \in X} \Delta v(x)$ is finite. In fact

$$flux_{\infty}v = \sum_{x \in X} \Delta v(x) = -\lim_{m \to \infty} \sum_{s \in \partial E_m} \frac{\partial v}{\partial n^-}(s),$$

where $\{E_m\}$ is an exhaustion of X by an increasing sequence of finite circled sets, (that is, each E_m is finite and circled, $E_m \subset \overset{\circ}{E}_{m+1}$ and $X = \bigcup_m E_m$).

3.5 Flux at Infinity 85

Proof. From Theorem 3.5.2, if $\sum_{x\in X} \Delta v(x)$ is finite, then v is admissible. Conversely, if v is admissible, then $flux_{\infty}v$ is finite and from Theorem 3.5.1 (with $\varphi\equiv 1$), $\sum_{x\in X} \Delta v(x)$ is finite. Hence, if v is not admissible, then $flux_{\infty}v=\sum_{x\in X} \Delta v(x)=-\infty$. Let us assume therefore that v is admissible. Then again Corollary 3.5.3 shows that

$$\sum_{x \in X} \Delta v(x) \le f lux_{\infty} v \le \sum_{x \in X} \Delta v(x).$$

The second part follows from the Green's formula $\sum_{x \in E_m} \Delta v(x) = -\sum_{s \in \partial E_m} \frac{\partial v}{\partial n^-}(s).$

Remark 3.5.1. From the above theorem, it can be seen that if v is a superharmonic function on a parabolic network X without cycles but with symmetric conductance, then

$$flux_{\infty}v = \lim_{m \to \infty} \sum_{x \in E_m} \Delta v(x) = -\lim_{m \to \infty} \sum_{s \in \partial E_m} \frac{\partial v}{\partial n^-}(s).$$

We can use this expression for $flux_{\infty}v$ to extend the definition of flux at infinity to superharmonic functions defined outside a finite set in a parabolic network without cycles, but having symmetric conductance. Let v be a superharmonic function defined outside a finite set in a parabolic network X without cycles. Then as in Proposition 3.4.6, there exist two superharmonic functions Q and Q_c on X such that $v = Q - Q_c$ outside a finite set and Q_c has finite harmonic support so that $flux_{\infty}Q_c$ is finite. Define

$$flux_{\infty}v = flux_{\infty}Q - flux_{\infty}Q_c.$$

If $v=Q^{'}-Q_{c}^{'}$ is another such representation, then $Q+Q_{c}^{'}=Q^{'}+Q_{c}$ outside a finite set, so that $flux_{\infty}(Q+Q_{c}^{'})=flux_{\infty}(Q^{'}+Q_{c})$. Hence, $flux_{\infty}Q+flux_{\infty}Q_{c}^{'}=flux_{\infty}Q^{'}+flux_{\infty}Q_{c}$. This implies, since $flux_{\infty}Q_{c}$, $flux_{\infty}Q_{c}^{'}$ are finite, $flux_{\infty}Q-flux_{\infty}Q_{c}=flux_{\infty}Q^{'}-flux_{\infty}Q_{c}^{'}$. Hence, there is no ambiguity in the definition of $flux_{\infty}v$. Further,

$$flux_{\infty}v = -\lim_{m \to \infty} \sum_{s \in \partial E_m} \frac{\partial v}{\partial n^-}(s).$$

This definition accords with the earlier definition for a harmonic function defined outside a finite set, as seen in the following theorem.

Theorem 3.5.6. Let X be a parabolic network without any cycles but with symmetric conductance. If $h = u + \alpha H_e + b$ is a harmonic function defined outside a finite set A in X, then $flux_{\infty}h = \alpha = -\sum_{s \in \partial F} \frac{\partial h}{\partial n^{-}}(s)$, where F is any large finite set

such that $A \subset \overset{0}{F}$.

Proof. Let A be a finite set such that $\Delta h = 0$ at every vertex outside A. Extend h as a function v on X by taking the Dirichlet solution in A with boundary values h. Let $u(x) = v(x) + \sum_{y \in \partial A} \Delta v(y) q_y(x)$. Then, $\Delta u(x) = 0$ for every x in X, that is uis harmonic on X. Moreover, outside a finite set,

$$v(x) = u(x) - \sum_{y \in \partial A} \Delta v(y) \left[q_y(x) + H_e(x) \right] + \left[\sum_{y \in \partial A} \Delta v(y) \right] H_e(x),$$

where $\sum_{y \in \partial A} \Delta v(y) = \alpha$, and $b(x) = -\sum_{y \in \partial A} \Delta v(y) [q_y(x) + H_e(x)]$ is bounded harmonic outside a finite set, since $[q_y(x) + H_e(x)]$ is bounded on X for each y and ∂A contains only a finite number of vertices. Since v=h and $\Delta v=0$ outside a finite set in X, if $A \subset \stackrel{0}{F}$ then

$$\alpha = \sum_{y \in \partial A} \Delta v(y) = \sum_{y \in \stackrel{0}{F}} \Delta v(y) = -\sum_{s \in \partial F} \frac{\partial v}{\partial n^{-}}(s) = -\sum_{s \in \partial F} \frac{\partial h}{\partial n^{-}}(s).$$

Corollary 3.5.7. Let X be an infinite network without any cycles but with sym- $\it metric\ conductance.\ Then\ X$ is parabolic if and only if for any bounded harmonic function h defined outside a finite set $\sum_{s \in \partial F} \frac{\partial h}{\partial n^{-}}(s) = 0$ for any large finite set F.

Proof. For, if X is hyperbolic and if p is a positive potential in X with finite harmonic support A, then by the Domination Principle $p(x) \leq \max_{z \in A} p(z)$ for any

$$x\in X$$
, and for any finite set F , $A\subset \overset{0}{F}$, $\sum\limits_{s\in\partial F}\frac{\partial p}{\partial n^{-}}(s)=-\sum\limits_{x\in\overset{0}{F}}\Delta p(x)=-\sum\limits_{x\in A}\Delta p(x)\neq 0$. On the other hand, in a parabolic network, for any bounded

harmonic function h defined outside a finite set, $flux_{\infty}h = -\sum_{s \in \partial F} \frac{\partial h}{\partial n^{-}}(s) = 0$.

Remark 3.5.2. In a parabolic network X, for any z in X, there exists by Theorem 3.4.5, a unique function $q_z(x)$ and a unique constant $\varphi(z)$ such that $q_z(z) = 0$, $\Delta q_z(x) = -\delta_z(x)$ and $[q_z(x) + \varphi(z)H_e(x)]$ is bounded on X. We shall now give a characterization to determine the constant $\varphi(z)$ when X is a tree T. Recall that in a tree T, the symmetry of conductance is not guaranteed.

Consequently, in the proof of Lemma 3.5.4, in the construction of the superharmonic function s, we obtain $\alpha = [t(e,a)]^{-1}$ and $\Delta s(a) = 0 - \frac{t(a,e)}{t(e,a)}$ if we are dealing in a tree T without symmetric conductance. Hence $\Delta s(x) = -\frac{t(a,e)}{t(e,a)}\delta_a(x)$ for all $x \in T$. Then, writing

3.6 Pseudo-Potentials 87

$$q_a(x) = \frac{t(e, a)}{t(a, e)} [s(x) - s(a)]$$

we find $q_a(a)=0$ and $\Delta q_a(x)=-\delta_a(x)$ for all x in T and $\left[q_a(x)+\frac{t(e,a)}{t(a-e)}H_e(x)\right]$ is bounded on T.

Let us repeat the procedure with respect to a vertex $b \sim a$, to construct $q_b(x)$ such that $q_b(b) = 0$ and $\Delta q_b(x) = -\delta_b(x)$ for all x in T and

$$\left[q_b(x) + \frac{t(e,a)}{t(a,e)} \cdot \frac{t(a,b)}{t(b,a)} H_e(x)\right]$$

is bounded on T. Let now z be an arbitrary vertex in T. Then, there is a unique path $\{e, z_1, z_2, ..., z_n = z\}$ joining e to z. Repeating the above procedure, we construct $q_z(x)$ on T such that and $\Delta q_z(x) = -\delta_z(x)$ for all x in T and

$$\left[q_z(x) + \frac{t(e, z_1)}{t(z_1, e)} \cdot \frac{t(z_1, z_2)}{t(z_2, z_1)} \dots \frac{t(z_{n-1}, z)}{t(z, z_{n-1})} H_e(x)\right]$$

is bounded on T. From the uniqueness of such a function $q_z(x)$ we conclude

$$\varphi(z) = \frac{t(e, z_1)t(z_1, z_2)...t(z_{n-1}, z)}{t(z, z_{n-1})t(z_{n-1}, z_{n-2})...t(z_1, e)}.$$

3.6 **Pseudo-Potentials**

In the classical potential theory in \Re^2 , if $\mu \geq 0$ is a Radon measure with compact support K, then $U^\mu(x) = \int\limits_{\Re^2} \log \frac{1}{|x-y|} d\mu(y)$ is a superharmonic function on \Re^2 ,

harmonic outside
$$K$$
. For some Radon measure $\mu \geq 0$, $U^{\mu}(x) = \int\limits_{\Re^2} \log \frac{1}{|x-y|} d\mu(y)$

is still a superharmonic function in \Re^2 , even if μ does not have compact support. When $U^{\mu}(x)$ is superharmonic on \Re^2 , we call it the *logarithmic potential* with associated measure μ . This happens if and only if $\int\limits_{|x|>1}\log|x|\,d\mu(x)$ is finite. In particular, if $U^{\mu}(x)$ is a logarithmic potential, then $\int\limits_{\Re^2}^dd\mu(x)$ is finite, that is $U^{\mu}(x)$

particular, if
$$U^{\mu}(x)$$
 is a logarithmic potential, then $\int_{\Re 2}^{\pi} d\mu(x)$ is finite, that is $U^{\mu}(x)$

is an admissible superharmonic function. But not every admissible superharmonic function is a logarithmic potential. Logarithmic potentials are very useful when we study in \Re^2 , single layer and double layer potentials, analyticity of harmonic functions, Poisson integrals, Harnack inequalities etc. [27, pp.176–186]. Since logarithmic potentials form only a small subclass of admissible superharmonic functions, it is convenient to introduce the notion of pseudo-potentials in the larger class of admissible superharmonic functions and prove that any admissible

superharmonic function in \Re^2 is the sum of a pseudo-potential and a harmonic function.

Actually, such decompositions for admissible superharmonic functions in the Brelot axiomatic case without positive potentials have been given in [7] by using H-functions: Let Ω be a Brelot harmonic space without positive potentials. Let $H \geq 0$ be a fixed harmonic function defined outside a compact set K in Ω , tending to 0 on ∂K with $flux_{\infty}H = 1$. Let s be an admissible superharmonic function on Ω with $fluxs = \alpha$ and let h be the greatest harmonic minorant of s outside K; then s is said to be an H-function [7] if and only if $(h - \alpha H)$ is bounded in a neighbourhood of the Alexandroff point at infinity of Ω . (These H-functions have many similarities with subharmonic functions of potential-type; this latter class of functions was introduced in the Euclidean space \Re^2 by Arsove [12], by making use of the characteristic function and the order associated with any subharmonic function in \Re^2 .) Then it is proved [7, Proposition 1] that any admissible superharmonic function can be written as the sum of an H-function and a harmonic function on Ω . This decomposition is unique up to an additive constant. Bajunaid et al. [16] call an admissible superharmonic function s on Ω an H-potential if $\liminf [h(x) - \alpha H(x)] = 0$ where the lim inf is taken with respect to the Alexandroff one-point compactification of Ω . Then they prove [16, Theorem 3.1] that every admissible superharmonic function on Ω can be written uniquely as the sum of an H-potential and a harmonic function. Earlier Cohen et al. [37] have considered the discrete analogue of this decomposition in the context of trees without positive potentials.

In this section, we define pseudo-potentials in a parabolic network X and obtain some of their properties including their role in the Riesz-type decomposition of admissible superharmonic functions in X.

Definition 3.6.1. An admissible superharmonic function q on a parabolic network X is said to be a pseudo-potential if and only if its g.h.m. on $X \setminus e$ is of the form $\alpha H_e + b$, where b is bounded harmonic and q(e) = 0.

Proposition 3.6.1. Let u and v be two pseudo-potentials on X. Then αu (for $\alpha \ge 0$) and (u + v) are pseudo-potentials.

Proof. Let $h_1=\alpha_1H_e+b_1$ and $h_2=\alpha_2H_e+b_2$ be the g.h.m. of u and v in $X\backslash e$, where b_1,b_2 are bounded harmonic. Let h be the g.h.m. of u+v in $X\backslash e$. Then, $h\geq h_1+h_2$. Now, $h\leq u+v$ implies that $h-v\leq u$. Since h-v is subharmonic and h_1 is the g.h.m. of u, we conclude that $h-v\leq h_1$. Analogously, $h-h_1\leq v$ leads to the conclusion $h-h_1\leq h_2$. We have therefore $h=h_1+h_2$. Similarly αh_1 is the g.h.m. of αu . Since $h=(\alpha_1+\alpha_2)H_e+(b_1+b_2)$ and u(e)+v(e)=0, we conclude that (u+v) is a pseudo-potential. Similarly, αu is a pseudo-potential. \square

Proposition 3.6.2. Let u and v be pseudo-potentials. Then, $\inf(u,v)$ is also a pseudo-potential.

Proof. The g.h.m. of u and v outside a finite set are of the form $\alpha_1 H_e + b_1$ and $\alpha_2 H_e + b_2$ where b_1 and b_2 are bounded harmonic functions. Assume without loss

3.6 Pseudo-Potentials 89

of generality that $\alpha_2 \leq \alpha_1$. Then, for a constant $\lambda \leq 0$, $\alpha_2 H_e + b_2 + \lambda \leq \alpha_1 H_e + b_1$ on $X \setminus e$. Hence, if h is the g.h.m. of $\inf(u,v)$ in $X \setminus e$ then $\alpha_2 H_e + b_2 + \lambda \leq h$. But $h \leq v$ on $X \setminus e$ so that $h \leq \alpha_2 H_e + b_2$ on $X \setminus e$. Consequently, $h = \alpha_2 H_e + a_2 H_e + a_3 H_e + a_4 H_e + a_4 H_e + a_5 H_e + a_$

Proposition 3.6.3. Let u be an admissible superharmonic function equivalent to a pseudo-potential. Then u is a pseudo-potential up to a constant.

Proof. Let u be equivalent to a pseudo-potential q whose g.h.m. on $X \setminus e$ is $\alpha H_e + b$. Let h be the g.h.m. of u in $X \setminus e$. Then, $h = \alpha H_e + b +$ (a bounded harmonic function b_1) on $X \setminus e$, since u is equivalent to q. Hence, u(x) - u(e) is a pseudo-potential on X.

Remark 3.6.1. In Theorem 3.4.4, it is proved that if $e \notin E$, and if s is an admissible superharmonic function, then s and its balayage B_s^E have the same g.h.m. on $X \setminus e$. Consequently, if q is a pseudo-potential, then B_q^E also is a pseudo-potential.

Theorem 3.6.4. Any admissible superharmonic function s in a parabolic network X is the unique sum of a pseudo-potential q and a harmonic function h.

Proof. Let u be the g.h.m. of s in $X\setminus\{e\}$. Then, u is of the form $u=f+\alpha H_e+b$ outside a finite set. Write h(x)=f(x)+[s(e)-f(e)] and q(x)=s(x)-h(x), so that h(x) is a harmonic function on X, q(x) is a pseudo-potential and s(x)=q(x)+h(x).

Suppose $s=q_1+h_1$ is another such representation of s as the sum of a pseudopotential and a harmonic function on X. Then, $q(x)+h(x)=q_1(x)+h_1(x)$. If αH_e+b is the g.h.m. of q in $X \setminus e$, with b bounded, then $\alpha H_e+b+h-h_1$ is the g.h.m. of the pseudo-potential q_1 on $X \setminus e$, so that $(b+h-h_1)$ is bounded. This implies that $(h-h_1)$ is bounded on X and hence $h-h_1=c$, a constant. Consequently, $c=h(e)-h_1(e)=q_1(e)-q(e)=0$. That is, $h=h_1$ and then $q=q_1$.

Corollary 3.6.5. (Pseudo-potentials with point harmonic support) For any y in a parabolic network X, there exists a unique pseudo-potential $Q_y(x)$ on X such that $\Delta Q_y(x) = -\delta_y(x)$.

Proof. In Theorem 3.4.5, the existence of an admissible superharmonic function $q_y(x)$ on X such that $\Delta q_y(x) = -\delta_y(x)$ is asserted. Then, by the above theorem, $q_y(x) = Q_y(x) + h(x)$ on X where $Q_y(x)$ is a pseudo-potential and h(x) is harmonic on X. Hence, $\Delta Q_y(x) = -\delta_y(x)$.

To prove the uniqueness, suppose s(x) is another pseudo-potential on X such that $\Delta s(x) = -\delta_y(x)$. Write $u(x) = s(x) - Q_y(x)$. Then $\Delta u(x) = 0$, that is u is harmonic on X. Since s(x) and $Q_y(x)$ are pseudo-potentials, then we have for $x \neq e, Q_y(x) = \alpha H_e(x) + b(x)$ and $s(x) = \beta H_e(x) + B(x)$ where b(x) and B(x) are bounded. Since u is harmonic on X and $u(x) = (\beta - \alpha)H_e(x) + [B(x) - b(x)]$ on $X \setminus e$, then $\beta = \alpha$ and consequently u is a constant c on X. Now $c = u(e) = s(e) - Q_y(e) = 0$. Hence, $s(x) = Q_y(x)$ for all $x \in X$.

Theorem 3.6.6. (Domination Principle for pseudo-potentials) Let q be a pseudo-potential on X with finite harmonic support K. Let s be a pseudo-potential up to a constant such that $flux_{\infty}s \geq flux_{\infty}q$. If $s \geq q$ on K, then $s \geq q$ on X. In particular, for a constant σ , if $q \leq \sigma$ on K, then $q \leq \sigma$ on X.

Proof. Let $\alpha H_e + b$ be the g.h.m. of q on $X \setminus e$ and $\beta H_e + B$ be the g.h.m. of s on $X \setminus e$. Then, $\beta \geq \alpha$ by the assumption and b and B are bounded harmonic functions. Since q is harmonic outside a finite set, by Lemma 3.4.2, there exists a harmonic function h on $X \setminus e$ such that (h-q) is bounded outside a finite set; hence, $h-\lambda \leq q$ on $X \setminus e$, for some constant λ . Now, $\alpha H_e + b$ being the g.h.m. of q on $X \setminus e$, we should have $h-\lambda \leq \alpha H_e + b \leq q$ on $X \setminus e$. This implies, since (h-q) is bounded outside a finite set, that $q-(\alpha H_e+b)=b_1$ is bounded outside a finite set $A,e\in A$.

Write u = s - q on X. Then, $\Delta u(x) \le 0$ if $x \in X \setminus K$ and on $X \setminus A$,

$$u \ge [\beta H_e + B] - q = [\beta H_e + B] - [\alpha H_e + b + b_1] \ge B - (b + b_1),$$

since $\beta \geq \alpha$. This implies that u is lower bounded. Noting that $u \geq 0$ on K, apply the Minimum Principle (Theorem 3.4.1) for u on $X \setminus K$, to conclude that $u \geq 0$ on $X \setminus K$. Hence, $u \geq 0$ on X, that is $s \geq q$ on X.

For the particular case, take $s=\sigma$ and note that $flux_{\infty}s=0$ and $flux_{\infty}q\leq 0$.

Chapter 4 Schrödinger Operators and Subordinate Structures on Infinite Networks

Abstract Potential theory associated with the Schrödinger operators in a domain ω in the Euclidean space is closely related to the Laplace potential theory in ω . Based on this fact, in an infinite network X two harmonic structures, called the Laplacian and the q-Laplacian, are introduced and the interrelations between the two associated potential theories are investigated. In some sense, the q-Laplace structure is subordinate to the Laplace structure; this leads to the introduction of subordinate harmonic structures in an infinite network which already has a harmonic structure on it. This chapter deals with these subordinate structures in relation to the original structure.

On many occasions, we consider more than one harmonic structure on the same space X, and it is useful to know the interrelation between the harmonic functions defined by different structures on X. For example, if $X=(0,\infty)$, then consider the two sets of harmonic functions given by the C^2 -solutions of $y^{''}=0$ and $y^{''}=y$. In the first case, constants are harmonic and in the second case the constant 1 is a superharmonic function with e^{-x} as its g.h.m. Actually, if u>0 is harmonic or superharmonic in the first harmonic structure, then u'' = 0 (respectively $u'' \leq 0$) so that u'' - u < 0. That is, u is superharmonic in the second harmonic structure.

As another example, in the classical potential theory in domains in the Euclidean space $\Re^n, n \geq 2$, we have the Laplace operator Δ and the Schrödinger operator Δ_q defined by $\Delta_q u(x) = \Delta u(x) - q(x)u(x)$, where usually the real-valued function q(x) is assumed to be non-negative. Then there are two sets of superharmonic functions, one defined by $\Delta u \leq 0$, and the other defined by $\Delta_q u(x) \leq 0$. We can consider a similar situation in the case of discrete potential theory by comparing superharmonic functions defined by $\Delta u(x) = \sum_{y \sim x} t(x,y)[u(y) - u(x)] \leq 0$ and the q-superharmonic functions $\Delta_q u(x) = \sum_{y \sim x} t(x,y)[u(y) - u(x)] - q(x)u(x) \leq 0$. If

$$q$$
-superharmonic functions $\Delta_q u(x) = \sum\limits_{y \sim x} t(x,y)[u(y) - u(x)] - q(x)u(x) \leq 0$. If

we assume $q(x) \geq 0$ [72], then the non-negative constants are q-superharmonic functions; this fact is crucial to develop a global q-potential theory on infinite networks.

We start with a connected infinite network $\{X,t(x,y),q(x)\}$ with a countable number of vertices, $\{t(x,y)\}$ being the set of conductance not necessarily symmetric, and q(x) is a real-valued function on X. We suppose that X is locally finite, that is every vertex has only a finite number of vertices as neighbours. If we do not presuppose that X is locally finite, then we may have to consider only functions u(x) which satisfy the condition that for any vertex x, $\sum_{y\sim x} t(x,y)u(y)$ is absolutely convergent; also, we may have to assume that $t(x) = \sum_{y\sim x} t(x,y)$ is finite for every vertex x. We define, without placing any restriction on the sign of the function q(x), $\Delta_q u(x) = \Delta u(x) - q(x)u(x)$ and say that u defined on a subset F of X is q-superharmonic if $\Delta_q u(x) \leq 0$ for every $x \in F$. Remark that given any function $\xi > 0$, if we take $q(x) = \frac{\Delta \xi(x)}{\xi(x)}$, then $\xi(x)$ is a positive q-harmonic function on X. However, in the general case, $\Delta_q u \leq 0$ may not have a positive solution. For example, at some vertex $x_0 \in X$, if we have $t(x_0) + q(x_0) < 0$, then there can be no positive q-superharmonic function on X.

4.1 Local Properties of q-Superharmonic Functions

In this section, q(x) is an arbitrary real-valued function on X; recall that a real-valued function u defined on X is said to be q-superharmonic on X if $\Delta u(x) \leq q(x)u(x)$ for every $x \in X$. The following properties are readily proved:

- 1. If u and v are q-superharmonic on X, and if α, β are two non-negative numbers, then $\alpha u + \beta v$ and $\inf(u, v)$ are q-superharmonic functions on X.
- 2. If u_n is a sequence of q-superharmonic functions and if $u(x) = \lim u_n(x)$ exists and is finite for each x, then u is q-superharmonic on X.
- 3. For any finite set F, there exists a constant M>0 such that for any real-valued function f on X, $|\Delta_q f(x)| \leq M \sum_{y \in F} |f(y)|$ for any $x \in F$.

Proof. Let $x \in \overset{0}{F}$. For any f on X,

$$\begin{split} |\Delta_q f(x)| &= \left| \sum_{y \sim x} t(x,y) f(y) - \left[t(x) + q(x) \right] f(x) \right| \\ &= \left| \sum_{y \in F} t(x,y) f(y) - \left[t(x) + q(x) \right] f(x) \right|, \\ &\text{(since } x \in \overset{0}{F}, \text{ if } y \sim x, \text{ then } y \in F.) \\ &\leq \sum_{y \in F} t(x,y) \left| f(y) \right| + \left[t(x) + \left| q(x) \right| \right] \left| f(x) \right| \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} & \leq \left[t(x) + |q(x)|\right] \left[|f(x)| + \sum_{y \in F} |f(y)| \right] \\ & \leq M \sum_{y \in F} |f(y)| \,, \text{ where } M = 2 \max_{x \in \overset{\circ}{F}} \left[t(x) + |q(x)|\right]. \end{split}$$

4. Let $u \ge 0$ be q-superharmonic on X. Suppose u(x) = 0 for some x in X, then

Proof.
$$0 = [t(x) + q(x)] u(x) \ge \sum_{y \sim x} t(x, y) u(y) \ge 0$$
. Hence, $u(y) = 0$ if

 $y \sim x$. Then, by the connectedness of X, it follows that u(z) = 0 for all z in X.

5. Let $t(x_0) + q(x_0) \le 0$ at some vertex $x_0 \in X$. Then there is no positive q-superharmonic function on X.

Proof. Suppose $u \geq 0$ is q-superharmonic on X. Then,

$$0 \ge [t(x_0) + q(x_0)]u(x_0) \ge \sum_{y \sim x_0} t(x_0, y)u(y) \ge 0,$$

which implies that u(y) = 0 at any $y \sim x_0$. Hence, by the above minimum principle, $u \equiv 0$.

6. There exists a positive q-superharmonic function on X if and only if $q(x) \ge$ $\frac{\Delta \xi(x)}{\xi(x)}$ on X, for some $\xi > 0$ defined on X.

Proof. Suppose the condition is satisfied. Then $\xi > 0$ is a q-superharmonic function on X. For, $\Delta_q \xi(x) = \sum_{y \sim x} t(x,y) [\xi(y) - \xi(x)] - q(x) \xi(x) \le \Delta \xi(x) - \xi(x)$

- $\Delta \xi(x) = 0.$ Conversely, suppose there exists a q-superharmonic function s>0on X; that is, $\Delta s(x) - q(x)s(x) = \Delta_q s(x) \le 0$. Then, $q(x) \ge \frac{\Delta s(x)}{s(x)}$ on X.
- 7. (Harnack property for q-superharmonic functions) Let A and B be two disjoint finite subsets of X. Assume t(x) + q(x) > 0 for every vertex x in X. Then there exists a constant $\alpha > 0$ such that $u(x) \geq \alpha u(y)$ if $x \in A, y \in B$, for any non-negative q-superharmonic function u on X.

Proof. Since A and B are finite sets, it is enough to prove that if $x \neq y$, then there exists a constant $\alpha > 0$ such that $u(x) \geq \alpha u(y)$ for any qsuperharmonic function $u \geq 0$ on X. Choose a path $\{x = x_0, x_1, ..., x_n = y\}$ connecting x and y. Let u > 0 be a q-superharmonic function on X. Then,

Then, $[t(x)+q(x)]u(x) \geq \sum_{y\sim x} t(x,y)u(y) \geq t(x,x_1)u(x_1).$ Similarly, $[t(x)+q(x)]u(x_1) \geq \sum_{y\sim x} t(x,y)u(y) \geq t(x,x_1)u(x_1).$ Similarly, $[t(x_1)+q(x_1)]u(x_1) \geq \sum_{y\sim x_1} t(x_1,y)u(y) \geq t(x_1,x_2)u(x_2).$ Consequently, $u(x) \geq \frac{t(x,x_1)}{[t(x)+q(x)]} \times \frac{t(x_1,x_2)}{[t(x_1)+q(x_1)]}u(x_2).$ Proceeding similarly, we find that if $\alpha = \frac{t(x,x_1)...t(x_{n-1},y)}{[t(x)+q(x)]...[t(x_{n-1})+q(x_{n-1})]},$ then $\alpha > 0 \text{ and } u(x) \geq \alpha u(y).$

Theorem 4.1.1. Assume that [t(x) + q(x)] > 0 for every $x \in X$. Let F be a subset of X. Suppose u is a q-superharmonic function on F and v is a q-subharmonic function on F such that $u \geq v$. Then there exists a q-harmonic function h on F such that $u \ge h \ge v$. This function h can be chosen such that if h' is another q-harmonic function and if $u \ge h' \ge v$ on F, then $h \ge h'$ on F.

Proof. Let \Im be the family of all q-subharmonic functions g on F such that $u \geq g \geq v$ on F. Let $a \in \overset{0}{F}$. Then, $\sum\limits_{y \sim a} t(a,y)g(y) \geq [t(a)+q(a)]g(a)$. Consider

the function $g^{'}$ defined on F such that $g^{'}(y)=g(y)$ if $y\neq a$ and $g^{'}(a)=\frac{1}{[t(a)+q(a)]}\sum_{y\sim a}t(a,y)g(y)$. The function $g^{'}(x)$ is usually denoted by

 $P_ag(x)$, and is called the Δ_q -Poisson modification of g at the vertex a. Then, $g^{'}\geq g$ on F, and

$$\begin{split} \Delta_{q}g^{'}(a) &= \sum_{y \sim a} t(a, y)[g^{'}(y) - g^{'}(a)] - q(a)g^{'}(a) \\ &= \sum_{y \sim a} t(a, y)g(y) - [t(a) + q(a)]g^{'}(a) = 0. \end{split}$$

Hence, g' is q-harmonic at the vertex a.

If $z \in \overset{0}{F}$ and $z \neq a$, then

$$\begin{split} \Delta_{q}g^{'}(z) &= \sum_{y \sim z} t(z, y)g^{'}(y) - [t(z) + q(z)]g^{'}(z) \\ &\geq \sum_{y \sim z} t(z, y)g(y) - [t(z) + q(z)]g(z), \end{split}$$

since $g^{'} \geq g$ on F and $g^{'}(z) = g(z)$ if $z \neq a$. Consequently, $\Delta_q g^{'}(z) \geq \Delta_q g(z) \geq 0$. Thus, $g^{'}$ is q-subharmonic on F and q-harmonic at the vertex a. Moreover, $g^{'}(a) \leq \frac{1}{[t(a)+q(a)]} \sum_{y \sim a} t(a,y) u(y) \leq u(a)$, since u is q-superharmonic.

Consequently, $g^{'} \leq u$ on F. Hence, $g^{'} \in \Im$, so that \Im is a Perron family of q-subharmonic functions on F (Sect. 2.4).

Let $h(x) = \sup_{g \in \Im} g(x)$ for every $x \in F$. Since each $g \leq u$, we find $h \leq u$ on F. Let

 $a\in F$, and let V(a) denote the set of neighbours of a, together with a. Then, V(a) is a finite set so that we can find a sequence $\{g_x^{(n)}\}$ in \Im for every $x\in V(a)$ such that $g_x^{(n)}\to h(x)$ as $n\to\infty$. Since \Im is an upper directed family of functions, and since V(a) contains only finitely many vertices, there exists u_n in \Im such that $u_n\geq g_x^{(n)}$ for every $x\in V(a)$. Hence $u_n(x)\to h(x)$ for every $x\in V(a)$. Let $v_n=P_au_n$. Then, as shown above, $v_n\in \Im$ and $v_n(x)\to h(x)$ as $n\to\infty$ for every $x\in V(a)$ and v_n is q-harmonic at a. Consequently, we have $\Delta_q h(a)=\lim_{n\to\infty}\Delta_q v_n(a)=0$. That is, h is q-harmonic at a. Thus, h is a q-harmonic function on F such that $u\geq h\geq v$ on F.

Suppose $h^{'}$ is a q-harmonic function on F such that $u \geq h^{'} \geq v$. Then $h^{'} \in \Im$, so that $h^{'} \leq h$ on F.

Remark 4.1.1. We say that a non-negative q-superharmonic function p on a set $E \subset X$ is a q-potential on E if for every q-subharmonic function v on E such that $v \leq p$ on E, we have $v \leq 0$. Thus, with the notations of the above theorem, p = u - h is

a q-potential on F and u = p + h is the unique representation of u as the sum of a q-potential and a q-harmonic function on F.

Let s be a q-superharmonic function on X. Suppose A is the smallest subset of X such that s is q-harmonic at each vertex of $X \setminus A$. Then A is referred to as the q-harmonic support of s in X.

Theorem 4.1.2. (q-Domination Principle) Let [q(x) + t(x)] > 0 for every x in X. Let p be a q-potential with q-harmonic support A. Let s > 0 be any q-superharmonic function on X such that $s \geq p$ on A. Then $s \geq p$ on X.

Proof. Let $u = \inf(s, p)$. Then, u is q-superharmonic on X and $u \leq p$ on X and u = p on A. Write v = p - u on X. Then, for $a \in A$,

$$\Delta_q v(a) = \sum_{y \sim a} t(a, y) v(y) - [q(a) + t(a)] v(a) = \sum_{y \sim a} t(a, y) v(y) \ge 0.$$

For $x \in X \setminus A$, $\Delta_q v(x) = \Delta_q p(x) - \Delta_q u(x) = 0 - \Delta_q u(x) \geq 0$. Hence, v is q-subharmonic on X and $v \leq p$ on X. Hence $v \leq 0$ on X, so that $p \leq u$; but $u \leq p$. Consequently, $s \geq p$ on X.

Theorem 4.1.3. Assume that [t(x) + q(x)] > 0 for every $x \in X$. Let f(x) be a real-valued function on X. Suppose the family \Im of q-superharmonic functions s majorizing f on X is non-empty. Then $Rf(x) = \inf_{s \in \Im} s(x)$ is q-superharmonic on X and q-harmonic at each vertex a where f(x) is q-subharmonic.

Proof. \Im is a lower-directed family of q-superharmonic functions. Hence Rf is a q-superharmonic function on X. For, if x and y are two vertices in X, choose two decreasing subsequences $\{u_n\}$ and $\{v_n\}$ such that $Rf(x) = \lim u_n(x)$ and $Rf(y) = \lim v_n(y)$. Since \Im is lower-directed, we can choose a decreasing sequence $\{w_n\}$ from \Im such that $Rf(x) = \lim w_n(x)$ and $Rf(y) = \lim w_n(y)$. Since X is a countable set of vertices, this method will produce a decreasing subsequence $\{s_n\}$ from \Im such that $Rf(z) = \lim s_n(z)$ for every $z \in X$. Since $Rf(z) \geq f(z)$, we conclude that Rf is a q-superharmonic function on X.

Suppose f(x) is q-subharmonic at x=a. Let $s\in \Im$. Consider the function $s_a(x)$ on X such that $s_a(x)=s(x)$ if $x\neq a$ and $s_a(a)=\sum\limits_{y\sim a}\frac{t(a,y)}{t(a)+q(a)}s(y)\leq s(a)$.

Then, as shown in the proof of the above theorem, $s_a(x)$ is q-superharmonic on X and q-harmonic at x=a. Moreover, at x=a where f(x) is q-subharmonic, we have

$$s_a(a) = \sum_{y \sim a} \frac{t(a, y)}{t(a) + q(a)} s(y) \ge \sum_{y \sim a} \frac{t(a, y)}{t(a) + q(a)} f(y) \ge f(a).$$

Hence, $s_a(x) \geq f(x)$ for all $x \in X$. Consequently, $s_a \in \Im$. This implies that $Rf(x) = \inf_{s \in \Im} s(x)$ is q-harmonic at x = a.

Corollary 4.1.4. (q-Balayage) Let s>0 be a q-superharmonic function on X and let A be an arbitrary subset of X. Then there exists a q-superharmonic function $R_s^A>0$ on X such that $R_s^A\leq s$ on X, $R_s^A=s$ on X and R_s^A is q-harmonic at each vertex in $X\setminus A$.

Proof. Since s > 0 is q-superharmonic on X, for any $x \in X$,

$$t(x) + q(x) \ge \sum_{y \sim x} t(x, y) \frac{s(y)}{s(x)} > 0.$$

Define $f \geq 0$ on X such that f = s on A and f = 0 on $X \setminus A$. Note that for any $x \in X \setminus A$, we have $\Delta_q f(x) = \sum_{y \sim x} t(x,y) f(y) \geq 0$, that is f is q-subharmonic at each vertex in $X \setminus A$.

Now, if we set $R_s^A=Rf$ on X, then by the above theorem $R_s^A>0$ is q-superharmonic on X and q-harmonic at each vertex of $X\backslash A$. Since the q-superharmonic function $s\geq f$ on X, we conclude that $R_s^A\leq s$ on X; but $R_s^A\geq f=s$ on A so that $R_s^A=s$ on A.

Note. 1. The q-superharmonic function R_s^A is the smallest in the following sense: If u is a non-negative function on X such that $u \leq s$ on X, u = s on A and u is q-harmonic at each vertex of $X \setminus A$, then $u \geq R_s^A$ on X.

For, if $a \in A$, then since $u(x) \le s(x)$ for all X and since u(a) = s(a), we have

$$\Delta_q u(a) = \sum_{y \sim a} t(a, y) u(y) - [t(a) + q(a)] u(a)$$

$$\leq \sum_{y \sim a} t(a, y) s(y) - [t(a) + q(a)] s(a)$$

$$< 0.$$

By hypothesis, $\Delta_q u(x) = 0$ if $x \in X \setminus A$. Hence $\Delta_q u \leq 0$ on X. That is, u is q-superharmonic on X and u = s on A. Hence, $u \geq R_s^A$ (Corollary 4.1.4).

2. Suppose there exist q-potentials on X. Then, for any vertex e, there exists a unique q-potential $G_e(x) > 0$ X such that $\Delta_q G_e(x) = -\delta_e(x)$, for all $x \in X$.

For, if p>0 is a q-potential on X, take s(x)=p(x) and $A=\{e\}$ in the above corollary and write

$$G_e(x) = \frac{R_p^{\{e\}}(x)}{(-\Delta_q)R_p^{\{e\}}(e)};$$

we know that a positive q-superharmonic function dominated by a q-potential is itself a q-potential. Suppose Q>0 is another q-potential such that $\Delta_q Q(x)=-\delta_e(x)$. Then, $Q(x)=G_e(x)+[$ a q-harmonic function h(x)] in X; and, by the uniqueness of decomposition of a positive q-superharmonic function as the sum of a q-potential and a q-harmonic function, we note that $h\equiv 0$. (see Theorem 4.1.11 below for a generalization of this result.)

Since the potential theoretic study of functions on X is fertile if there is at least one positive q-superharmonic function on X, we shall assume in the sequel that there exists a function $\xi>0$ on X, such that $q(x)\geq \frac{\Delta\xi(x)}{\xi(x)}$ on X. As a consequence, we have [t(x)+q(x)]>0 for every vertex x in X. For,

$$q(x) \ge \frac{\Delta \xi(x)}{\xi(x)} = \sum_{y \sim x} t(x, y) \frac{[\xi(y) - \xi(x)]}{\xi(x)} = \left[\sum_{y \sim x} t(x, y) \frac{\xi(y)}{\xi(x)} \right] - t(x).$$

Hence, $[t(x)+q(x)] \ge \sum_{y\sim x} t(x,y) \frac{\xi(y)}{\xi(x)} > 0$. Then the following lemma (which is basically in Bendito et al. [20]) is useful.

Lemma 4.1.5. Let u be a real-valued function defined on X and let $v=\frac{u}{\xi}$. Then, $\Delta_q u(x) = \sum_{v \sim x} t(x,y) \xi(y) [v(y)-v(x)] + [\Delta \xi(x)-\xi(x)q(x)] v(x)$.

Proof.

$$\begin{split} \Delta_q u(x) &= \Delta u(x) - q(x)u(x) \\ &= \left[\Delta u(x) - \frac{\Delta \xi(x)}{\xi(x)} u(x)\right] + \left[\frac{\Delta \xi(x)}{\xi(x)} - q(x)\right]u(x). \\ &= \frac{1}{\xi(x)} \left[\xi(x)\Delta u(x) - u(x)\Delta \xi(x)\right] + \left[\Delta \xi(x) - \xi(x)q(x)\right]v(x). \end{split}$$

Now,

$$\xi(x)\Delta u(x) - u(x)\Delta \xi(x) = \xi(x) \Big[\sum_{y \sim x} t(x,y) \{ u(y) - u(x) \} \Big]$$

$$-u(x) \Big[\sum_{y \sim x} t(x,y) \{ \xi(y) - \xi(x) \} \Big]$$

$$= \sum_{y \sim x} t(x,y) [\xi(x)u(y) - \xi(y)u(x)]$$

$$= \sum_{y \sim x} t(x,y) \xi(x) \xi(y) \left[\frac{u(y)}{\xi(y)} - \frac{u(x)}{\xi(x)} \right]$$

$$= \xi(x) \sum_{y \sim x} t(x,y) \xi(y) [v(y) - v(x)].$$

The lemma is proved.

Theorem 4.1.6. (Minimum Principle for the q-Laplacian) Let F be a finite subset of X. Let u be a q-superharmonic function on F such that $u \ge 0$ on ∂F . Then $u \ge 0$ on F.

Proof. Let $v=\frac{u}{\xi}$. Suppose u takes negative values in F. Then, v takes negative values on F. Let $-\lambda=\min_{x\in F}v(x)$. Then, for some $z\in \stackrel{0}{F},\ v(z)=-\lambda$. Note u(z)<0. Then, by the above Lemma 4.1.5,

$$0 \geq \varDelta_q u(z) = \sum\limits_{y \sim z} t(z,y) \xi(y) [v(y) - v(z)] + [\varDelta \xi(z) - \xi(z) q(z)] v(z)$$

= [a non-negative term] + [a non-positive term][a negative term] ≥ 0 .

We conclude, in particular, that $v(y) = v(z) = -\lambda$ if $y \sim z$.

Let $a \notin F$. Since X is connected, there is a path $\{z,y_1,y_2,...,y_n=a\}$ connecting z and a. Take the smallest index i such that $y_i \notin F$ and $y_{i-1} \in F$. Then, $y_i \in \partial F$ and hence $u(y_i) \geq 0$ so that $v(y_i) \geq 0$. But $v(y_i) = v(y_{i-1}) = ... = v(z) = -\lambda$, a contradiction. Hence, v does not take negative values on v. Since $v \geq 0$, we conclude that $v \geq 0$ on v.

Remark 4.1.2. The above theorem in the case of a finite network when $q(x) \ge 0$ and $q(x_0) > 0$ for at least one vertex x_0 has been proved as Lemma 2.4.3.

Theorem 4.1.7. (Generalised Dirichlet solution for the q-Laplacian) Let F be a subset of X. Let E be a subset in $\stackrel{0}{F}$. Let f be a real-valued function on $F \setminus E$. Suppose there exist functions u and v on F such that $\Delta_q u \leq 0$ and $\Delta_q v \geq 0$ on E, $u \geq v$ on F and $u \geq f \geq v$ on $F \setminus E$. Then, there exists a function h on F such that h = f on $F \setminus E$, $u \geq h \geq v$ on F and $\Delta_q h = 0$ at every vertex in E.

Proof. Let u_1 be the function on F such that $u_1=f$ on $F\backslash E$ and $u_1=u$ on E. Then, u_1 is q-superharmonic at every vertex in E. For, let x be a vertex in E. If x and all its neighbours are in E, then $\Delta_q u_1(x) = \Delta_q u(x) \leq 0$; on the other hand if x has one or more neighbours in $F\backslash E$, then

$$\begin{split} \Delta_q u_1(x) &= \Delta u_1(x) - q(x) u_1(x) \\ &\leq \Delta u(x) - q(x) u(x), \text{since } u(z) \geq f(z) = u_1(z) \text{ if } z \in F \backslash E \\ &\quad \text{and } u(x) = u_1(x) \\ &= \Delta_q u(x) \leq 0. \end{split}$$

Similarly, if v_1 is the function on F such that $v_1 = f$ on $F \setminus E$ and $v_1 = v$ on E, then v_1 is q-subharmonic at every vertex in E. Moreover, $u_1 \geq v_1$ on F, so that as in the proof of Theorem 4.1.1 we can construct a function h on F which is q-harmonic at every vertex of E and $u_1 \geq h \geq v_1$ on F. Moreover, h = f on ∂F ; and this function h is the largest one by construction.

Corollary 4.1.8. (Classical Dirichlet solution for the q-Laplacian) Let F be a finite subset of X. Let f be a real-valued function defined on ∂F . Then, there exists a unique g-harmonic function h on F such that h = f on ∂F .

Proof. Since $\xi>0$ is q-superharmonic on X, we can find a constant $\lambda>0$ such that $-\lambda\xi(x)\leq f(x)\leq \lambda\xi(x)$ if $x\in\partial F$. Then, by Theorem 4.1.7, there exists a function h on F such that h=f on ∂F and $\Delta_q h(x)=0$ if $x\in F$. The uniqueness of h follows from the Minimum Principle given in Theorem 4.1.6.

We have assumed that there exists a function $\xi>0$ on X such that $q(x)\geq \frac{\Delta\xi(x)}{\xi(x)}$. If it so happens that $q(x)=\frac{\Delta\xi(x)}{\xi(x)}$, then $\xi(x)$ is a positive q-harmonic function on X. Even if it is not the case, the following theorem shows that there always exists at least one positive q-harmonic function on X.

Theorem 4.1.9. There exists a q-harmonic function h > 0 on X.

Proof. Fix a vertex z. Let $\{K_n\}_{n\geq 1}$ be an increasing sequence of finite sets such that $z\in K_n\subset K_n\subset K_{n+1}\subset K_{n+1}$ and $X=\cup K_n$. Let s_n be the function on X defined as the Dirichlet solution in K_n with boundary values $\xi(x)$ and extended by $\xi(x)$ outside K_n . Write $h_n(x)=\frac{s_n(x)}{s_n(z)}$. Then, h_n is q-superharmonic on X, $\Delta_q h_n(x)=0$ for $x\in K_n$ and $h_n(z)=1$.

We know that (Property 7, Sect. 4.1) for any $y \in X$, there exists a constant $\alpha(y) > 0$ such that $u(y) \le \alpha(y)u(z)$ for any q-superharmonic function u > 0 on X. In particular, for any $x \in X$, $h_n(x) \le \alpha(x)h_n(z) = \alpha(x)$, so that $\{h_n(x)\}$ is a bounded sequence of real numbers. Since X is a countable set, we can extract a subsequence $\{h_n'\}$ from $\{h_n\}$ such that $h(x) = \lim_{n \to \infty} h_n'(x)$ exists for each x in X. Now, given any finite set F in X, we can find an integer m such that h_n' is q-harmonic at each vertex of F. The set F being an arbitrary finite set, we conclude that h(x) is a non-negative q-harmonic function on X. Since h(z) = 1, by the Minimum Principle (Property 4, Sect. 4.1), h > 0 on X. This proves the existence of a positive q-harmonic function on X.

The following theorem is a generalisation of the well-known *condenser principle* in finite electrical networks, for a condenser with positive and negative plates.

Theorem 4.1.10. Let A and B be two arbitrary disjoint subsets of X. Then, there exists u on X such that $0 \le u(x) \le \xi(x)$ for $x \in X$, $u = \xi$ on A, and u = 0 on B. Moreover, $\Delta_q u = 0$ on $X \setminus (A \cup B)$, $\Delta_q u \le 0$ on A, and $\Delta_q u \ge 0$ on B.

Proof. Let $E = X \setminus (A \cup B)$. Let F = V(E) be the set consisting of E and all the neighbours of each vertex in E; then, $E \subset F$. Let f be the function defined on $F \setminus E$ such that $f = \xi$ on $(F \setminus E) \cap A$ and f = 0 on $(F \setminus E) \cap B$. Then, $0 \le f \le \xi$ on $F \setminus E$. Hence, by Theorem 4.1.7, there exists a function u on F such that u = f on $F \setminus E$, $0 \le u \le \xi$ on F and $\Delta_q u = 0$ at every vertex on E. Extend u by ξ on A and by A on A. Then, A is a function defined on A.

If $a \in A$, then

$$\begin{split} \Delta_q u(a) &= \sum_{y \sim a} t(a,y)[u(y) - \xi(a)] - q(a)\xi(a), \text{ since } u(a) = \xi(a) \\ &\leq \sum_{y \sim a} t(a,y)[\xi(y) - \xi(a)] - q(a)\xi(a) = \Delta_q \xi(a) \leq 0. \end{split}$$

If $b \in B$, then

$$\Delta_q u(b) = \sum t(b, y)[u(y) - 0] - 0, \text{ since } u(b) = 0$$

$$> 0.$$

The following result is a crucial one which asserts the existence of q-superharmonic functions on X with point q-harmonic support, like the Green function and the Logarithmic function in the classical potential theory on the Euclidean spaces.

Theorem 4.1.11. For any vertex e in X, there exists a q-superharmonic function s on X such that $\Delta_q s(x) = -\delta_e(x)$ for every $x \in X$.

Proof. Let $\{E_n\}$ be a sequence of finite connected, circled sets such that $e \in \overset{\circ}{E}_1$, $E_n \subset E_{n+1}^0$ for $n \geq 1$, and $X = \cup E_n$. Let $x_1 \sim e$ and let E be the set of vertices consisting of all y such that a path connecting y to e passes through x_1 . Then E is connected and every vertex in E other than e is in $\overset{\circ}{E}$. Since X has an infinite number of vertices, we can choose E as an infinite set. Let $F_n = E \cap E_n$ and let h_n be the q-Laplacian Dirichlet solution in F_n with boundary value 0 at e and e0 at other boundary vertices e1 of e2. Let e3 of e4 of e4 such that e6 of e8 such that e9 of e9 of e9 such that e9 of e9 such that e9 of e9 of e9 such that e9 such that e9 of e9 such that e9 of e9 such that e9 such that

Now, given any vertex $a \in E \setminus \{e\}$, $u_n'(x)$ is q-harmonic at x = a for n large. Hence, u(x) is q-harmonic on E such that u(e) = 0, $u(x_1) = 1$. Define a function $v \geq 0$ on X such that v = u on E and v = 0 outside E. Then, $v \geq 0$ is q-subharmonic on X and q-harmonic on $X \setminus \{e\}$. Remark that $\Delta_q v(e) \neq 0$; for, if $\Delta_q v(e) = 0$, then $v \geq 0$ is q-harmonic on X and takes the value 0 at e. Consequently, we arrive at the contradiction that $v \equiv 0$. Hence, $\Delta_q v(e) \neq 0$. Now, set $s(x) = \frac{-v(x)}{\Delta_q v(e)}$, for $x \in X$.

Corollary 4.1.12. (q-Green's function for a finite set) Let F be a finite set in X. Let $e \in F$. Then, there exists a unique q-superharmonic function $G_e^F(x) \ge 0$ on F such that $\Delta_q G_e^F(x) = -\delta_e(x)$ for $x \in F$ and $G_e^F(z) = 0$ for each $z \in \partial F$. *Proof.* Let s(x) be a q-superharmonic function on X such that $\Delta_q s(x) = -\delta_e(x)$ for each x in X. Let h(x) be the Dirichlet q-Laplacian solution for F with boundary values s(x) on ∂F . Then, $G_e^F(x) = s(x) - h(x)$ defined on F has the properties stated in the theorem. The uniqueness of $G_e^F(x)$ follows from the Minimum Principle Theorem 4.1.6.

Theorem 4.1.13. (q-Equilibrium Principle) Let f(x) and g(x) be two real-valued functions defined on X. Let E be a finite subset of X. Then there exists a unique function u on X such that $\Delta_q u(a) = f(a)$ for each a in E and u(z) = g(z) for each z in $X \setminus E$.

Proof. Let F=V(E). Then, $E\subset \overset{0}{F}$. For $a\in E$, let s be a q-superharmonic function on X such that $\Delta_q s(x)=-\delta_a(x)$ in X. Choose $\lambda>0$ large so that $-\lambda \xi(y)\leq s(y)$ for every $y\in F$. Then, by Theorem 4.1.7, there exists a function h on F such that $\Delta_q h(x)=0$ if $x\in E$ and h(x)=s(x) if $x\in F\backslash E$. Define $g_a(x)$ on X such that $g_a(x)=s(x)-h(x)$ on F extended by 0 outside F. Then, $\Delta_q g_a(x)=-\delta_a(x)$ for every $x\in E$ and $g_a(z)=0$ for each $z\in X\backslash E$. Write $v(x)=-\sum_{a\in E}f(a)g_a(x)$, for x in X. Then, $\Delta_q v(a)=f(a)$ for each $x\in X\backslash E$.

Again, choose some $\alpha>0$, so that $-\alpha\xi(y)\leq g(y)\leq \alpha\xi(y)$ for $y\in F$. Then, there exists $h_1(y)$ on F such that $\Delta_q h_1(x)=0$ if $x\in E$ and $h_1(x)=g(x)$ for $x\in F\backslash E$. Let w(x) be the function defined on X such that $w(y)=h_1(y)$ if $y\in F$ and w(y)=g(y) if $y\in X\backslash F$. Then, $\Delta_q w(a)=0$ if $a\in E$ and w(z)=g(z) if $z\in X\backslash E$.

Write u=v+w in X. Then, $\Delta_q u(a)=f(a)$ if $a\in E$ and u(z)=g(z) if $z\in X\backslash E$. For the uniqueness of the function u, we rely on the result (proved as in Theorem 4.1.6) that if E is a finite set in X and if k(x) is a function on X such that $\Delta_q k(a)=0$ if $a\in E$ and k(z)=0 if $z\in X\backslash E$, then $k\equiv 0$.

4.2 Classification of *q*-Harmonic Networks

We continue with our assumption that there exists a function $\xi>0$ on the infinite network X such that $q(x)\geq \frac{\Delta\xi(x)}{\xi(x)}$ for every $x\in X$. However, now we shall make a simplification. By Theorem 4.1.9, there exists a q-harmonic function h>0 on X, that is $h(x)q(x)=\Delta h(x)$ for every $x\in X$. Hence, without loss of generality, we shall assume henceforth that $q(x)=\frac{\Delta\xi(x)}{\xi(x)}$ for $x\in X$. But the existence of q-harmonic function on q does not insure the existence of q-potentials on q. We give now a necessary and sufficient condition for the existence of q-potentials on q-po

 ξ -harmonic measure of the point at infinity: Let e be a fixed vertex. Let $\{E_n\}$ be a sequence of finite connected circled sets such that $e \in \stackrel{\circ}{E}_1$, $E_n \subset E_{n+1}$ for $n \geq 1$,

and $X=\bigcup_{n\geq 1}E_n$. Take $F=E_n,\,E=\overset{0}{F}\setminus\{e\}$. Then, by Theorem 4.1.7, there exists a unique q-harmonic function u_n on F such that $u_n(e)=0,\,u_n(z)=\xi(z)$ if $z\in\partial F,$ and $\Delta_qu_n(x)=0$ if $x\in E.$ Assume that u_n has been defined on X by taking $u_n(z)=\xi(z)$ if $z\in X\backslash F.$ Then, $\{u_n\}$ is a decreasing sequence of q-superharmonic functions on $X\setminus\{e\}$, such that $\Delta_qu_n(x)=0$ if $x\in \overset{\circ}{E}_n\setminus\{e\}$. Let $h(x)=\lim_{n\to\infty}u_n(x)$ for $x\in X.$ Then, $0\le h(x)\le \xi(x)$ for every $x\in X,$ $h(e)=0,\Delta_qh(e)\ge 0$, and $\Delta_qh(x)=0$ if $x\ne e.$ We refer to h(x) as the Dirichlet solution with boundary values 0 at e and ξ at the point infinity. It is possible that $h\equiv 0$ on X in which case we say that the ξ -harmonic measure of the point at infinity is θ ; otherwise, the ξ -harmonic measure of the point at infinity is positive.

Theorem 4.2.1. The ξ -harmonic measure of the point at infinity is positive if and only if there exist q-potentials on X.

Proof. Suppose the ξ -harmonic measure of the point at infinity is positive. Then, $\xi(x) - h(x)$ is a positive q-superharmonic function that is not q-harmonic on X. For, if h is q-harmonic on X, then by the Minimum Principle (Property 4, Sect. 4.1) $h \equiv 0$ on X. Hence, by the remark following Theorem 4.1.1, $\xi(x) - h(x)$ is the sum of a positive q-potential and a non-negative q-harmonic function on X. This proves the existence of a positive q-potential on X.

Conversely, suppose there exists a q-potential on X. Then, by Note 2 following Corollary 4.1.4 we can construct a q-potential p on X with q-harmonic support $\{e\}$. Then, $u(x) = \frac{\xi(e)}{p(e)}p(x)$ is a q-potential with q-harmonic support at $\{e\}$ and $u(e) = \xi(e)$. Hence, by the Domination Principle given in Theorem 4.1.2, $u(x) \leq \xi(x)$ for every $x \in X$. Let $v(x) = \xi(x) - u(x)$. Then on E_n , $0 \leq v(x) \leq u_n(x)$ where $u_n(x)$ is the above-defined q-Dirichlet solution in E_n with $\xi(x)$ on ∂E_n and 0 at e. Taking limits when $n \to \infty$, we see that $v(x) \leq h(x)$; that is, $0 \leq \xi(x) - u(x) \leq h(x)$ on X. Since $\xi(x)$ is q-harmonic on X and u(x) is a positive q-potential on X, the function ξ is different from u. Hence, h is not identically 0. That is, the ξ -harmonic measure of the point at infinity is positive.

Now, write $v=\frac{u}{\xi}$ for any real-valued function u on X. Then, by Lemma 4.1.5,

$$\Delta_q u(x) = \sum_{y \sim x} t(x,y) \xi(y) [v(y) - v(x)] - [\xi(x)q(x) - \Delta \xi(x)] v(x).$$

Let us consider a new set of conductance $t^\xi(x,y)=t(x,y)\xi(y)$ defined on the edge [x,y]. With this set of conductance, let us denote the Laplacian on X by $\Delta^\xi v(x)=\sum\limits_{y\sim x}t(x,y)\xi(y)[v(y)-v(x)].$

Then, $\Delta_q u(x) = \Delta^\xi v(x)$ for $x \in X$, since $q(x) = \frac{\Delta \xi(x)}{\xi(x)}$. Consequently, u is q-harmonic (respectively, q-superharmonic) if and only if $v = \frac{u}{\xi}$ is Δ^ξ -harmonic (respectively, Δ^ξ -superharmonic) on X. Thus, a potential-theoretic problem in X with the original set of conductance $\{t(x,y)\}$ can be stated as a problem in X with the new set of conductance $\{t^\xi(x,y)\}$ in which, by the assumption, the constant

1 is Δ^{ξ} -harmonic. The solution in the new system then can be transferred back to the original system. In particular, the classification of the network $\left\{X,t^{\xi}(x,y)\right\}$ by using the Laplacian Δ^{ξ} follows the pattern described in Chap. 3. Thus, the problems connected with the q-harmonic classification of the original network $\left\{X,t(x,y),q(x)\right\}$ can be solved in the associated network $\left\{X,t^{\xi}(x,y)\right\}$. This is the $Doob\ \xi$ -transform technique commonly used in the framework of Dirichlet forms, Markov chains and axiomatic potential theory.

4.3 Subordinate Structures

Consider the Laplace operator Δ and the Schrödinger operator $\Delta_q = \Delta - q$ defined as $\Delta_q u(x) = \Delta u(x) - q(x)u(x)$, where $q(x) \geq 0$ in an infinite network X. Then, there are two families of superharmonic functions defined on X, one defined with respect to Δ and the other with respect to Δ_q . The knowledge of the relation between these two classes of superharmonic functions is useful in solving some classification problems in X. For example, suppose $u \geq 0$ is Δ -superharmonic on X. Then,

$$u(x) \ge \sum_{y \sim x} \frac{t(x,y)}{t(x)} u(y) \ge \sum_{y \sim x} \frac{t(x,y)}{t(x) + q(x)} u(y),$$

so that u is $(\Delta_q$ -superharmonic or) q-superharmonic on X. In this section, we compare two such families of superharmonic functions on X in a generalised way.

In a network X, we have defined that a function u is superharmonic on X if and only if $t(x)u(x) \geq \sum\limits_{y \sim x} t(x,y)u(y)$ at every vertex x in X. Noting that t(x) > 0 at

every vertex x, let us write $p(x,y) = \frac{t(x,y)}{t(x)}$ for any pair of vertices x and y in X. Then, u is superharmonic on x if and only if $u(x) \geq \sum\limits_{y \sim x} p(x,y)u(y)$ at every vertex

x in X. Let us say that $\{p(x,y)\}$ defines a P-structure on X. Note $0 \le p(x,y) \le 1$, p(x,y) > 0 if and only if $x \sim y$, and $p(x) = \sum_{y \ne x} p(x,y) = \sum_{y \sim x} p(x,y) = 1$ for any x in X.

Another system P' of transition indices $\{p'(x,y)\}$ is said to define a *structure* P' subordinate to P [8, p.297] if:

- (a) $0 \le p'(x, y) \le p(x, y)$ for any pair x and y in X.
- (b) p'(x, y) > 0 if and only if $x \sim y$.
- (c) p'(x, y) < p(x, y) for at least one pair x and y.

As an example, we consider an infinite tree with transition probabilities $\{p(x,y)\}$. Then the harmonic structure defined by the Schrödinger operator $\Delta_q u(x) = \Delta u(x) - q(x)u(x)$, where $q(x) \geq 0$ but q(z) > 0 for at least one vertex $z \in X$, is subordinate to the harmonic structure defined by the Laplace operator Δ .

Let us denote by (X,P) the network with the basic P-structure. The operator Δ is as usual defined by $\Delta u(x) = \sum\limits_{y\sim x} p(x,y)[u(y)-u(x)] = -u(x)+$

 $\sum p(x,y)u(y)$. If P' is a structure subordinate to P, then write $\Delta'u(x)=-u(x)+$ $\sum\limits_{}^{y\sim x}p'(x,y)u(y).$ A function u(x) defined on X is said to be P'-superharmonic(respectively, P'-harmonic) at a vertex z if and only if $\Delta' u(z) < 0$ (respectively, $\Delta' u(z) = 0$). A function u is said to be P'-superharmonic on a subset E if and only if u is defined on E and $\Delta' u(z) \leq 0$ at every vertex $z \in \stackrel{0}{E}$. A corresponding definition is given for P'-harmonic functions on E. With these definitions, it is immediate that the constant function 1 is a P'-superharmonic, but not P'-harmonic, function on X. Hence, there exists a P'-potential v > 0 on X, that is v is a positive P'-superharmonic on X whose greatest P'-harmonic minorant on X is 0 (see Property 5 below). Consequently, if a network (X, P) has a subordinate P'structure, then the potential theory associated with the P'-structure resembles that of a hyperbolic network. For example, we can prove the following results as shown earlier:

- 1. For any vertex e in X, there exists a unique $P^{'}$ -potential $G_{e}^{'}(x)$ on X such that
- 1. For any vertex e in X, there exists a unique Y positive Y $(-\Delta')G'_e(x) = \delta_e(x)$ for $x \in X$, (Theorem 3.2.6). 2. $G'_e(x) \leq G'_e(e)$ for all x in X, (Corollary 3.3.7). 3. If v is a P-potential on X, then for x in X, $v(x) = \sum_{y \in X} (-\Delta')v(y)G'_y(x)$, (Theorem 3.3.1).
- 4. If $s(x) \geq 0$ is a P'-superharmonic function and p(x) is a P'-potential with P'-harmonic support E and if $s(x) \geq p(x)$ for $x \in E$, then $s(x) \geq p(x)$ for all $x \in X$, (Theorem 3.3.6). In particular, if p(x) is a P'-potential with finite P'-harmonic support A in X, then $p(x) \le \max_{a \in A} p(a)$ for all x in X.
- 5. If s is P'-superharmonic on a set E and t is P'-subharmonic on E such that $s \ge t$ on E, then there exists the greatest P'-harmonic minorant (g.P'-h.m.) h of s, such that $s \ge h \ge t$ on E, (Theorem 2.4.10).
- 6. There always exists a (non-constant) positive P'-harmonic function on X, (Theorem 4.1.9).

Theorem 4.3.1. Let E be a subset of the network (X, P) and let P' be a structure subordinate to P. Then, every P-potential on E is a P'-potential on E.

Proof. Let u > 0 be a P-potential on X. Then, for every $y \in \stackrel{0}{E}$,

$$u(y) \geq \sum_{z \sim y} p(y, z) u(z) \geq \sum_{z \sim y} p^{'}(y, z) u(z).$$

Hence, u(x) is P'-superharmonic at x = y. Since y is arbitrary on $\stackrel{0}{E}$, u is P'superharmonic on E. Let $h \geq 0$ be the g.P'-h.m. of u on E. Then, for $y \in \stackrel{0}{E}$,

$$h(y) = \sum_{z \sim y} p^{'}(y, z) h(z) \leq \sum_{z \sim y} p(y, z) h(z).$$

Consequently, $h \ge 0$ is P-subharmonic on E. Since, u is a P-potential and the P-subharmonic $h \le u$, we conclude that $h \equiv 0$. Hence, u is a P'-potential on E. \square

Theorem 4.3.2. Let (X, P) be a network with positive P-potentials. Let P' be a structure subordinate to P. Then, for any vertex $e, G'_e(x) \leq G_e(x)$ for every x in X.

Proof. Since any positive P-superharmonic function on X is a $P^{'}$ -superharmonic function on X, $G_{e}(x)$ is a $P^{'}$ -superharmonic function on X. Now, for any $x \in X$,

$$(-\Delta')G_e(x) = G_e(x) - \sum_{z \sim x} p'(x, z)G_e(z)$$

$$\geq G_e(x) - \sum_{z \sim x} p(x, z)G_e(z)$$

$$= (-\Delta)G_e(x) = \delta_e(x) = (-\Delta')G'_e(x).$$

Hence, $s(x)=[G_e(x)-G_e^{'}(x)]$ is a $P^{'}$ -superharmonic function. Since $-s(x)\leq G_e^{'}(x)$ on X, it follows that $-s\leq 0$ on X. Hence, $G_e(x)\geq G_e^{'}(x)$ for any x in X.

Lemma 4.3.3. Write $p^{'}(y) = \sum_{z \sim y} p^{'}(y, z)$ for each y in X. Then, $\sum_{y \in Y} [1 - p^{'}(y)] G^{'}_{y}(x) \leq 1$ for any $x \in X$.

Proof. $s \equiv 1$ is a P'-superharmonic function on X and

$$(-\Delta')s(x) = s(x) - \sum_{y \sim x} p'(x, y)s(y) = 1 - p'(x).$$

Now, writing s as the unique sum of a positive P'-potential and a non-negative P'-harmonic function h, we have for any x in X,

$$\begin{split} 1 &= s(x) = \sum_{y \in X} (-\Delta^{'}) s(y) G_{y}^{'}(x) + h(x) \\ &= \sum_{y \in X} [1 - p^{'}(y)] G_{y}^{'}(x) + h(x). \end{split}$$

Since h is non-negative, $\sum_{y \in X} [1 - p'(y)] G'_y(x) \le 1$ for any $x \in X$.

Theorem 4.3.4. For any network (X, P) with a subordinate structure P', the following are equivalent.

1.
$$\sum_{y \in X} [1 - p'(y)]G'_{y}(x) = 1$$
 for some $x \in X$.

2.
$$\sum_{y \in X} [1 - p'(y)]G'_y(x) = 1$$
 for every $x \in X$.

- 3. The constant function 1 is a P'-potential on X.
- 4. The only bounded P'-harmonic function on X is 0.

Proof. By using the above lemma, write 1 = u(x) + h(x) where

$$u(x) = \sum_{y \in X} [1 - p'(y)]G'_{y}(x)$$

is a P'-potential on X and h(x) is a non-negative P'-harmonic function on X.

- $1. \Rightarrow 2$. If h(x) = 0 at a vertex x, then $h \equiv 0$.
- $2. \Rightarrow 3$. Since $h \equiv 0, 1 = u(x)$ is a P'-potential on X.
- $3.\Rightarrow 4.$ Let b(x) be a bounded P'-harmonic function on X. Let $|b(x)|\leq M.$ Since M is a P'-potential and |b(x)| is a P'-subharmonic function, $|b(x)|\leq 0.$ That is, $b\equiv 0.$
- 4. \Rightarrow 1. Write 1 = u(x) + h(x) as above. Since $0 \le h(x) \le 1$, the P'-harmonic function $h \equiv 0$ by hypothesis. Hence, $1 = \sum_{y \in X} [1 p'(y)] G'_y(x)$.

Corollary 4.3.5. Suppose there is no positive P-potential on X. Let P' be a structure subordinate to P. Then, the constant function P is a P'-potential on P.

Proof. Suppose h is a bounded P'-harmonic function on $X, |h| \leq M$. Then, for $x \in X$,

$$\begin{aligned} |h(x)| &= \left| \sum_{y \sim x} p^{'}(x, y) h(y) \right| \\ &\leq \sum_{y \sim x} p^{'}(x, y) |h(y)| \\ &\leq \sum_{y \sim x} p(x, y) |h(y)|, \end{aligned}$$

so that |h| is a bounded P-subharmonic function on X. Since, by assumption, there is no positive P-potential on X, $|h|=\alpha$, a constant. Since α is P'-superharmonic and |h| is P'-subharmonic on X, then $|h|=\alpha$ should be P'-harmonic. But 1 is not P'-harmonic, so that $\alpha=0$ and hence $h\equiv 0$. Then, by the above theorem, the constant function 1 is a P'-potential on X.

Theorem 4.3.6. Let (X, P) be a network and let P' be a structure subordinate to P. Then, the constant I is a P'-potential if and only if any bounded P'-superharmonic function u outside a finite set in X is of the form $u = p_1 - p_2$ outside a finite set where p_1 and p_2 are bounded P'-potentials on X.

Proof. Suppose 1 is a P'-potential on X. Following the method used in the proof of Corollary 3.2.10, it can be seen that $u=q_1-q_2+v$ outside a finite set in X where q_1,q_2 are P'-potentials with finite P'-harmonic support and v is a P'-superharmonic function on X. Since u,q_1,q_2 are all bounded outside a finite set, v is a bounded P'-superharmonic function on X. Let $|v| \leq M$ on X. Then, $0 \leq v+M \leq 2M$ on X. Since the P'-superharmonic function v+M is majorized by

the $P^{'}$ -potential 2M, v+M is a $P^{'}$ -potential on X. Write $u=(q_1+v+M)-(q_2+M)=p_1-p_2$ outside a finite set where $p_1=q_1+(v+M)$ and $p_2=q_2+M$ are bounded $P^{'}$ -potentials on X.

On the other hand, assume that 1 is not a P'-potential on X. Suppose the constant function 1 which is P'-superharmonic function has a representation $1=p_1-p_2$ outside a finite set, where p_1,p_2 are bounded P'-potentials on X. Since $1 \le p_1$ outside a finite set A and p_1 is bounded on A, there is a constant α such that $0 < \alpha < p_1$ on X. Since p_1 is a P'-potential on X, α and hence 1 should be a P'-potential on X, contradicting the assumption.

Theorem 4.3.7. Let (X, P) be an infinite network and P' be a structure subordinate to P. Then the constant function I is a P'-potential on X if and only if the following Maximum Principle is valid in X: Let F be any arbitrary proper subset of X. Let u be an upper bounded P'-subharmonic function on F such that $u \leq 0$ on ∂F . Then, $u \leq 0$ on F.

Proof. Suppose 1 is a P'-potential on X. Let $u \le 0$ on ∂F . Let $v = \sup(u,0)$ on F extended by 0 outside F. Then, v is a P'-subharmonic function on X. Since u is upper bounded, for some M>0, $v \le M$ on X. Hence, $v \le 0$ on X so that $v \equiv 0$ which implies that u < 0 on F.

On the other hand, suppose 1 is not a P'-potential on X. Then, there exists a bounded P'-harmonic function h on X. Take a vertex e and let A = V(e) denote the set consisting of e and all its neighbors. Let $F = X \setminus \{e\}$. Then, $F = X \setminus A$ and $\partial F = A \setminus \{e\}$. Let $u = h - R_h^A$ which is a bounded P'-harmonic function on F, u = 0 on ∂F . Then, u should be the 0 function, if the Maximum Principle is valid; that is not the case. Thus, if the Maximum Principle is valid on X, then 1 has to be a P'-potential on X.

We have defined the ξ -harmonic measure of the point at infinity in Sect. 4.2. When $\xi \equiv 1$, we shall simply refer to it as the harmonic measure of the point at infinity.

Theorem 4.3.8. Let (X, P) be an infinite network and P' be a structure subordinate to P. Then, there exists a bounded positive P'-harmonic function on X if and only if the P'-harmonic measure of the point at infinity is positive.

Proof. As in Sect. 4.2, let v be the P'-Dirichlet solution with boundary values 0 at e and 1 at the point at infinity. Recall that v is P'-subharmonic on X. If the harmonic measure of the point at infinity is positive, then for some vertex z in X, v(z)>0. Then, as in Corollary 3.2.7, write $v=p_1-p_2+H$ outside a finite set in X, where H is P'-harmonic on X and p_1, p_2 are P'-potentials on X with finite P'-harmonic support and hence bounded on X. That is, there exists a P'-harmonic function H in X such that $|v-H| \leq M$ outside a finite set A in X. Since v-H is bounded on A also, we shall assume without loss of generality that $|v-H| \leq M$ on X. Then, v is majorized by the P'-superharmonic function v0 in v1. Let v2 be the least v3 in v4 on v5. Let v6 be the least v6 in v7 in v8. Since v8 in v9 in

 $0 \le h - v \le (H + M) - v \le 2M$. Since v is bounded on X, h is bounded on X; since $h(z) \ge v(z) > 0$, by the Minimum Principle, h > 0 on X. Thus, h is a bounded positive P -harmonic function on X.

Conversely, suppose there exists a bounded positive P'-harmonic function on X. Then, by Theorem 4.3.4, the constant function 1 is not a P'-potential. Hence there exists a P'-harmonic function H on X such that 0 < H < 1 on X. Taking the reduced function with respect to the subordinate structure P', if $u(x) = H(x) - R_H^e(x)$, then 0 < u < 1 on $X \setminus \{e\}$, and u(e) = 0. Hence, if u_n is the P'-Dirichlet solution on E_n with the values $u_n(e) = 0$ and $u_n(z) = 1$ if $z \in \partial E_n$ (see Sect. 4.2), then $u \leq u_n$. Consequently, by taking limits, $u \leq h$ where h is the P'-harmonic measure of the point at infinity. Hence, the P'-harmonic measure of the point at infinity is positive. \square

Remark 4.3.1. In a network (X,P), let $P^{'}$ be a structure subordinate to P. Then $(X,P^{'})$ is always a hyperbolic network. All such networks $(X,P^{'})$ with subordinate structures fall into two categories depending on whether the constant 1 is a $P^{'}$ -potential on X or not. Equivalently, this classification can be carried out depending on whether there exists or not a bounded positive $P^{'}$ -harmonic function on X.

Chapter 5 Polyharmonic Functions on Trees

Abstract Biharmonic functions in the Euclidean space appear in the study of bending of plates or beams, a C^4 - function u in a domain ω is biharmonic if $\Delta^2 u = 0$ in ω . Such functions can be considered in a network, but the operator Δ^2 is unwieldy. Another way to define biharmonic functions is used here: start with a harmonic function h and call u a biharmonic function generated by h if $\Delta u = h$ on X. This requires solving the Poisson equation $\Delta g = f$ when f is known. Unable to solve this equation in a general infinite network X, the network is restricted to a tree T in which every non-terminal vertex has at least two non-terminal neighbours. Then, it is possible to define inductively an m-harmonic function $(m \geq 2) u$ on T as a solution of the equation $\Delta u = v$ where v is an (m-1)-harmonic function. This chapter is about the potential theory associated with m-harmonic functions: m-superharmonic functions, m-potentials, domination principle for m-potentials, existence of m-harmonic Green functions, Riquier problem and the Riesz-Martin representation for positive m-superharmonic functions.

In the classical potential theory associated with the bending of plates or beams, we have an occasion to study biharmonic functions defined on an open set ω in \Re^2 or \Re^3 . A C^4 -function u defined on ω is said to be biharmonic on ω if $\Delta^2 u = \Delta(\Delta u) = 0$ on ω . More generally, a C^{2m} -function u on a domain ω in \Re^n , $n \geq 2$, is said to be a polyharmonic function of order m if $\Delta^m u = 0$ on ω . We shall refer to it as an m-harmonic function on ω . Many of the important properties of polyharmonic functions of finite order in \Re^n are given in Nicolesco [56]. If u is an m-harmonic function in \Re^n (or more generally on a star domain D in \Re^n with centre 0, that is, if $x \in D$ and $0 \leq \alpha \leq 1$, then $\alpha x \in D$), then there are m harmonic functions h_1, h_2, \ldots, h_m in \Re^n such that

$$u(x) = |x|^{2m-2} h_m(x) + |x|^{2m-4} h_{m-1}(x) + \dots + |x|^2 h_2(x) + h_1(x).$$

This basic representation, known as the *Almansi representation*, of u in \Re^n is very useful in connecting the m-harmonic functions with harmonic functions. Thus, in Nicolesco [57] we find Liouville-Picard-Hadamard theorem for m-harmonic functions, Harnack-Montel theorems for families of m-harmonic functions, Generalised Green's formula, Riquier problem (which seeks to find an m-harmonic function u on a bounded domain ω , when the functions u, Δu , ..., $\Delta^{m-1}u$ are known on the boundary $\partial \omega$), m-harmonic Green functions of the first kind and the second kind etc. Aronszjan et al. [11] study polyharmonic functions of infinite order from the point of view of analytic functions.

Locally in \Re^n (that is, in a sphere for example), the properties of harmonic or biharmonic functions look the same whatever be the dimension n > 2. However, the global properties of harmonic functions alter much between n=2 and $n\geq 3$; similarly for biharmonic functions between 2 < n < 4 and n > 5. Based on this distinction, Sario et al. [60] develop a biharmonic classification theory of Riemannian manifolds analogous to the harmonic classification of Riemann surfaces. A primary concern is to check whether there is a biharmonic Green function defined on a given Riemannian manifold M. In this context, they introduce on a regular subregion of M, two biharmonic Green functions β and γ with a biharmonic fundamental singularity and with boundary conditions $\beta = \frac{\partial \beta}{\partial n} = 0$ and $\gamma = \Delta \gamma = 0$. Yamasaki [71] studies a discrete analogue to the biharmonic Green function γ and Kayano and Yamasaki [52] discuss an analogue to the biharmonic Green function β in an infinite network with symmetric conductance. Analogues of these biharmonic Green functions are also considered on homogeneous trees in Cohen et al. [38]. Another aspect of discrete polyharmonic functions appears in Cohen et al. [36] where on a homogeneous tree (and hence a tree with positive potentials) an integral representation (inspired by the Almansi representation in the classical case) is given for u, $\Delta^m u = 0$; and a one-one correspondence between polyharmonic functions and polymartingales is indicated.

In this context, we mention also an axiomatic study of biharmonic functions on a locally compact space Ω carried out by Smyrnélis [61] and [62]. He starts with a family H of coupled continuous functions (h_1,h_2) defined on open sets in Ω where h_1 and h_2 are related in a manner $(u,-\Delta u)$ is related to a biharmonic function u in the Euclidean space $\Re^n, n \geq 2$. Then imposing certain conditions for the local solvability of the Riquier problem (similar to the conditions for the local solvability of the Dirichlet problem in the Brelot-Bauer axiomatic treatment of harmonic functions on a locally compact space), Smyrnélis studies the properties of H-harmonic and H-potential couples on the lines of the axiomatic study of harmonic functions and potentials carried out by Bauer [17]. We mention also another interesting paper [25] which deals with a global study of polyharmonic functions in an axiomatic study.

In this chapter, we study the discrete version of m-harmonic functions on trees. In the classical case, we say that u is m-harmonic if $\Delta^m u = 0$ or inductively defining, u is m-harmonic if there exists an (m-1)-harmonic function v such that $\Delta u = v$. However, the operator Δ^m in the discrete case is unwieldy. So we reverse the order of appearance of u and v in the above definition of m-harmonic

functions. For example, we say that a harmonic function h on a tree generates a biharmonic function b if $\Delta b = h$. This development requires a harmonic extension theorem which we are able to prove only on trees T and not on networks that may contain cycles. Once this harmonic extension theorem is established, it is easy to prove that the Poisson equation $\Delta u = f$ can be solved for u, given an arbitrary real-valued function f. Consequently, any real-valued function on T is the difference of two suprharmonic functions on T. Then we can introduce, on functions on trees, the notions like m-superharmonic functions, m-potentials, balayage for positive m-superharmonic functions, m-harmonic Green functions etc. and study their properties.

5.1 Polyharmonic Functions on Infinite Trees

Let f be a real-valued function on a network. To find a solution u for the equation $\Delta u = f$ (known as the Poisson equation) is a basic requirement for the way the theory of polyharmonic functions is developed in this chapter. However, we know that (Theorem 2.2.6) in a finite network X with symmetric conductance, $\Delta u = f$ has a solution if and only if $\sum_{x \in X} f(x) = 0$. This indicates that certain conditions

on the network and on the generating function f are needed to solve the equation $\Delta u = f$. Here we restrict our study of polyharmonic functions to a specific class of infinite trees, possibly with non-symmetric conductance.

In a network X, recall that a closed path $\{x_1, x_2, ..., x_n\}$ where $x_1, x_2, ..., x_{n-1}$ are distinct vertices and $x_1 = x_n, n > 3$, is called a cycle. A tree T is an infinite network, connected, locally finite without any self-loop or cycles. A vertex e in Tis terminal if it has only one neighbour in T. Since T is infinite, a non-terminal vertex in T has to have at least one non-terminal vertex as its neighbour. We assume in this chapter that every non-terminal vertex has at least two non-terminal neighbours. Star-shaped trees with a central vertex, homogeneous trees and more generally trees without terminal vertices are examples of infinite trees which satisfy this assumption. Remark that if t(x,y) is the conductance in T, then we can set $p(x,y) = \frac{t(x,y)}{t(x)}$ for every pair of vertices x and y. Consequently, let us denote the conductance on T by $p(x,y) \geq 0$ for which p(x,y) > 0 if and only if $x \sim y$, and $\sum p(x,y) = 1$ for every vertex x. It is possible that $p(x,y) \neq p(y,x)$. For any real-valued function u on T, we write

$$\Delta u(x) = \sum_{y \sim x} p(x, y)[u(y) - u(x)] = \left[\sum_{y \sim x} p(x, y)u(y)\right] - u(x).$$

As earlier, if u is a real-valued function defined on a subset E of T, then u is said to be superharmonic (respectively, harmonic or subharmonic) on E if $\Delta u(x) \leq 0$ (respectively, $\Delta u(x) = 0$ or $\Delta u(x) \geq 0$) for every $x \in \stackrel{0}{E}$.

Lemma 5.1.1. Let E be a connected set in T and F = V(E). Then, any $z \in \partial F$ has only one neighbour in F.

Proof. Let $z \in \partial F$. Then, z has a neighbour $x_0 \in E$. Suppose $y \in F$, $y \neq x_0$, and $y \sim z$. If $y \in E$, then there exists a path $\{x_0, x_1, ..., x_n = y\}$ in E, since E is connected. Then, $\{z, x_0, x_1, ..., y, z\}$ is a cycle in T, not possible. On the other hand, if $y \in F \setminus E$, then y has a neighbour a in E. If $a = x_0$, then $\{y, a = x_0, z, y\}$ is a cycle, not possible; if $a \neq x_0$, then there is a path $\{a, y_1, y_2, ..., x_0\}$ connecting a and x_0 in E, so that $\{y, a, y_1, ..., x_0, z, y\}$ is a cycle, not possible. Thus, there is no $y \in F$ such that $y \neq x_0$ and $y \sim z$. That is, x_0 is the only neighbour of z in F. \square

Theorem 5.1.2. Let E be an arbitrary connected subset of T and F = V(E). Suppose u is a superharmonic function defined on F. Then, there exists a superharmonic function v on T such that v = u on F and $\Delta v(x) = 0$ for each $x \in T \setminus F$.

Proof. Let $z \in \partial F$. By the above Lemma 5.1.1, z has only one neighbour x_0 in F. Note that z is not a terminal vertex; for, z has a neighbour in E, which by the above-mentioned uniqueness should be x_0 . If z were a terminal vertex, then $x_0 \in E \subset F$ being the only neighbour of z, by definition z should be in F, a contradiction. Since, by the assumption on T, the non-terminal vertex z should have at least two non-terminal vertices as neighbours, z should have at least one non-terminal vertex as a neighbour outside F. Let $A = \{y_1, y_2, ..., y_k\}$ be the neighbours of z outside F. Let A_1 denote the set of terminal vertices in A and let $A_2 = A \setminus A_1$. Then, $A_2 \neq \phi$.

We shall extend the given function u from F to a set that includes A. Define v(x) = u(x) if $x \in F$; if $y \in A_1$, then take v(y) = u(z); if $y \in A_2$, then take $v(y) = \lambda$, a constant. Choose the constant λ such that $\Delta v(z) = 0$; that is,

$$v(z) = u(z) = p(z, x_0)u(x_0) + u(z) \sum_{y \in A_1} p(z, y) + \lambda \sum_{y \in A_2} p(z, y).$$

This procedure can be used with respect to each one of the vertices on ∂F to get an extension of u from F to a function v on the set V(F) such that $\Delta v=0$ at each one of the vertices on ∂F . Thus v is a function defined on $V(F)\supset F$ such that v=u on F and $\Delta v(x)=0$ for each $x\in\partial F$. Then, v is similarly extended to V[V(F)]. Since T is connected, eventually v is defined at any vertex v in v such that v is a function of v in v in v such that v in v is a function of v in v in

Remark 5.1.1. In the proof of the above Theorem 5.1.2, the assumption that u is superharmonic on F is useful only to conclude that v is superharmonic on T. Consequently, a slightly more general form of the statement of the theorem is: Let E be an arbitrary connected subset of T and F = V(E). Suppose u is a real-valued

function defined on F. Then there exists a function v on T such that v=u on F and $\Delta v(x)=0$ for each $x\in T\setminus F$.

Corollary 5.1.3. Let E be an arbitrary connected subset of T and F = V(E). Suppose u is a harmonic function defined on F. Then, there exists a harmonic function v on T such that v = u on F.

- Remark 5.1.2. 1. Measuring distances from a fixed vertex e and taking $F = \{x : |x| \le n\}$, Bajunaid et al. [15, Proposition 4.2] prove the above harmonic extension in a tree T, ignoring the Laplacian at the terminal vertices in T. Note that if E = F, then E is connected and F = V(E).
- 2. Using the above theorem, it is easy to show that there are superharmonic functions with point harmonic support on T (Theorems 3.2.6 and 3.4.5): Let e be a fixed vertex and F = V(e). Let e be the function on e such that e be that e be the function on e such that e be a fixed vertex and e be the function on e such that e be the function on e such that e be a fixed vertex and e be the function on e such that e be the function of e and e be the function

$$\Delta v(e) = \sum_{x \sim e} p(e, x)[v(x) - v(e)] = -v(e) = -1,$$

that is v is superharmonic on T with harmonic support at e and $\Delta v(x) = -\delta_e(x)$ for each x in T.

3. If the assumption that each non-terminal vertex has at least two non-terminal vertices is not verified, the above theorem may not be valid. Consider, for example, the following situation: Let $T=\{a,b,x_1,x_2,...\}$ be an arrow-shaped infinite tree such that $x_i\sim x_{i+1}$ for $i\geq 1$, a and b are terminal vertices, $a\sim x_1$ and $b\sim x_1$. Let $p(x_1,a)=\frac{1}{4}=p(x_1,b)$ and $p(x_i,x_{i+1})=p(x_{i+1},x_i)=\frac{1}{2}$ for $i\geq 1$. Let $E=\{x_2,x_3\}$ which is connected. Then, $F=V(E)=\{x_1,x_2,x_3,x_4\}$ which is connected and circled and F=E. Let $F=\{x_1,x_2,x_3,x_4\}$ which is connected and circled and $F=\{x_1,x_2,x_3,x_4\}$ when $F=\{x_1$

Suppose there exists a harmonic function v on T such that v=u on F. Then, v(a)=1=v(b) since $\Delta v(a)=0=\Delta v(b)$ and a, b are terminal vertices. But then, v cannot be harmonic at x_1 since

$$\Delta v(x_1) = \frac{1}{4}[v(a) - v(x_1)] + \frac{1}{4}[v(b) - v(x_1)] + \frac{1}{2}[v(x_2) - v(x_1)] = \frac{1}{2}.$$

That is, there is no harmonic extension for u to the whole of T. Note that the non-terminal vertex x_1 has only one non-terminal vertex, namely x_2 , as its neighbour.

4. Again, the above theorem may not be valid in a general network with cycles. For example, consider the network X consisting of two infinite branches $\{a, x_1, x_2, ...\}$ and $\{a, y_1, y_2, ...\}$ with a as the only common vertex, each vertex except x_2 and y_2 having only two neighbours, and $x_2 \sim y_2$ so that each of the vertices x_2 and y_2 has 3 neighbours. Suppose the conductance on each edge is $\frac{1}{2}$.

Take $E=X\setminus\{a,x_1,y_1\}$ along with all the edges connecting the vertices in E. Then E is a connected subset of X, $\partial E=\{x_2,y_2\}$, and $F=V(E)=X\setminus\{a\}$. Let u be the function defined on F such that $u(x_k)=3+2k$, $u(y_k)=7+k$, for $k\geq 2$, $u(x_1)=3$ and $u(y_1)=10$. Then, $\Delta u(x)=0$ for each $x\in E=F$. Hence, u is harmonic on F. However, it is not possible to find a harmonic function v on X such that v=u on F. For, suppose such a function v exists on X. Then,

$$0 = \Delta v(x_1) = \frac{1}{2} \left[v(x_2) - v(x_1) \right] + \frac{1}{2} \left[v(a) - v(x_1) \right]$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} \left[7 - 3 \right] + \frac{1}{2} \left[v(a) - 3 \right], \text{ so that } v(a) = -1. \text{ Again,}$$

$$0 = \Delta v(y_1) = \frac{1}{2} \left[v(y_2) - v(y_1) \right] + \frac{1}{2} \left[v(a) - v(y_1) \right]$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} \left[9 - 10 \right] + \frac{1}{2} \left[-1 - 10 \right] = -6, \text{ not valid.}$$

Hence, the harmonic extension of u from F to a harmonic function v in X is not possible.

Theorem 5.1.4. Let f be a non-negative function on T. Then, there exists a superharmonic function s on T such that $\Delta s(x) = -f(x)$, for each x in T.

Proof. For any given vertex e in T, let $q_e(x)$ denote a superharmonic function on T such that $\Delta q_e(x) = -\delta_e(x)$ for each X in T.

First, suppose that f has finite support, that is f=0 outside a finite set A. Then, $s(x)=\sum_{a\in A}f(a)q_a(x)$ is a superharmonic function on T such that $\Delta s(x)=-f(x)$ for $x\in T$. Suppose now that $f\geq 0$ is arbitrary. Let E_1 be a finite connected subset of T. Let $E_{n+1}=V(E_n)$ for $n\geq 1$. Then each E_n is a finite connected circled subset of T, such that $E_n\subset \mathring{E}_{n+1}$. Since T is connected, we also find that $T=\bigcup_{n\geq 1}E_n$. Let f_0 be the restriction of f on E_1 and f_n be the restriction of f on $E_{n+1}\backslash E_n$ for $n\geq 1$. Let $u_n(x), n\geq 0$, be a superharmonic function on T such that $\Delta u_n(x)=-f_n(x)$ for $x\in T$. When $n\geq 2$, since u_n is harmonic at each vertex in E_n , by the above Corollary 5.1.3, we can find a harmonic function v_n on T such that $v_n=u_n$ on E_n .

Let $s(x)=u_0(x)+u_1(x)+\sum\limits_{n\geq 2}[u_n(x)-v_n(x)].$ This is a superharmonic function on T. For, if K is any finite set in T, then there exists some m such that $K\subset E_n$ for $n\geq m$. Consequently, for any vertex $a\in K$, the infinite sum corresponding to s(a) contains only a finite number of non-zero terms. Thus, s(x) is finite at every vertex $x\in T$, so that s defines a superharmonic function on T. Further, $\Delta s(x)=\Delta u_0(x)+\Delta u_1(x)+\sum\limits_{n\geq 2}\Delta [u_n(x)-v_n(x)]=-f(x).$

Remark 5.1.3. 1. To prove the existence of a solution s for the Poisson equation $\Delta s = -f$ in the above theorem, we have used the harmonic extension Theorem 5.1.2 which requires the assumption that in T every non-terminal vertex has at least two non-terminal vertices as neighbours. However, this assumption is not a necessary condition for the existence of a solution s. For example, consider the arrow-shaped infinite tree $T = \{a, b, x_0, x_1, ...\}$ with a and b as terminal vertices, $a \sim x_0, b \sim x_0$. If $n \geq 1$, then each x_n has two neighbours x_{n-1} and x_{n+1} . But among the three neighbours of x_0 , only x_1 is non-terminal. Thus, T does not satisfy the stated assumption with respect to x_0 .

Let $p(a, x_0) = 1 = p(b, x_0)$, $p(x_0, a) = \frac{1}{4} = p(x_0, b)$, $p(x_0, x_1) = \frac{1}{2}$ and $p(x_n, x_{n+1}) = p(x_n, x_{n-1}) = \frac{1}{2}$ for $n \ge 1$.

Let $f\geq 0$ be any real-valued function on T. For any constant c, set $u(x_0)=c$, u(a)=c+f(a), u(b)=c+f(b), $u(x_1)=c-\frac{1}{2}[f(a)+f(b)]-2f(x_0)$ and $u(x_{n+1})=2u(x_n)-u(x_{n-1})-2f(x_n)$ for $n\geq 1$. Then, $\Delta u(x)=-f(x)$ for any $x\in T$.

2. Any real-valued function g on T is a δ -superharmonic function (that is, g is a difference of two superharmonic functions) on T. For, write $\Delta g = f$. By Theorem 5.1.4, there exist subharmonic functions u_1 and u_2 on T such that $\Delta u_1 = f^+$ and $\Delta u_2 = f^-$. Write $u = u_1 - u_2$ so that $\Delta u = f = \Delta g$. Since $\Delta (g - u) = 0$, we have g = u + h where h is a harmonic function on T. Hence $g = -u_2 - [-(u_1 + h)]$ is a difference of two superharmonic functions on T.

Theorem 5.1.5. Let F be any subset of T and $f \ge 0$ be defined on F. Then, there exists a superharmonic function s on T such that $\Delta s(x) = -f(x)$ for each x in F.

Proof. Extend f as a non-negative function g on T, by taking g=0 outside F. Then, by the above theorem, there exists a superharmonic function s on T such that $\Delta s=-g$ on T. In particular, $\Delta s(x)=-f(x)$ if $x\in F$.

Consequently, for any real-valued function f on a subset F in T, there exists a δ -superharmonic function u on T such that $\Delta u(x) = -f(x)$ for each $x \in F$. By the same procedure, we can find a δ -superharmonic function v on T such that $\Delta v = -u$ on F, which can be written as $(-\Delta)^2 v = f$ on F. Continuing thus, for any $m \ge 1$, we can find a δ -superharmonic function s on T such that $(-\Delta)^m s(x) = f(x)$ for each $x \in F$.

Definition 5.1.1. Let $(s_i)_{m \geq i \geq 1}$ be a set of m real-valued functions on a set F in T such that $(-\Delta)s_i = s_{i-1}$ on F for $m \geq i \geq 2$. Then, $s = (s_i)_{m \geq i \geq 1}$ is said to be an m-superharmonic (respectively, m-harmonic, m-subharmonic) function on F if and only if s_1 is superharmonic (respectively harmonic, subharmonic) on F. We say that the m-superharmonic (respectively m-harmonic, m-subharmonic) function $s = (s_i)_{m \geq i \geq 1}$ is generated by s_1 .

Notation. 1. If $s=(s_i)_{m\geq i\geq 1}$ and $t=(t_i)_{m\geq i\geq 1}$, then we write $s+t=(s_i+t_i)_{m\geq i\geq 1}$, $\alpha s=(\alpha s_i)_{m\geq i\geq 1}$ and say that $s\geq t$ if and only if $s_i\geq t_i$ for each i, in particular $s\geq 0$ if and only if $s_i\geq 0$ for each i, $m\geq i\geq 1$.

2. For k > m, an m-harmonic function $h = (h_m, ..., h_1)$ can be identified as a k-harmonic function $h = (h_m, ..., h_1, 0, 0, ..., 0)$ by adding (k - m) zeros.

Theorem 5.1.6. Let E be a connected subset of T and F = V(E). Let $h=(h_i)_{m\geq i\geq 1}$ be an m-harmonic function defined on F. Then, there exists an m-harmonic function $H=(H_i)_{m\geq i\geq 1}$ on T such that $H_i(x)=h_i(x)$ for $x\in F$ and m > i > 1.

Proof. Note that h_1 is harmonic on F. Hence by Corollary 5.1.3, there exists a harmonic function H_1 on T such that $H_1 = h_1$ on F. Let $(-\Delta)u = H_1$ on T. Write $t(x) = u(x) - h_2(x)$, if $x \in F$. Then, for $y \in \stackrel{0}{F}$,

$$(-\Delta)t(y) = (-\Delta)u(y) - (-\Delta)h_2(y) = H_1(y) - h_1(y) = 0.$$

Hence, t(x) is harmonic on F. Then, we can find a harmonic function v on T such that v(x) = t(x) on F. Write $H_2(x) = u(x) - v(x)$, for each x in T. Then, $(-\Delta)H_2(x) = H_1(x)$ for each $x \in T$ and $H_2(x) = h_2(x)$ for each $x \in F$. Proceeding thus, we construct an m-harmonic function $H = (H_i)_{m \ge i \ge 1}$ on T such that $H_i(x) = h_i(x)$ for $x \in F$ and $m \ge i \ge 1$.

In the complex plane, if f(z) is analytic in r < |z| < R, then it has the Laurent series representation $f(z) = \sum_{-\infty}^{+\infty} a_n z^n$. Here $f_1(z) = \sum_{-\infty}^{-1} a_n z^n$ is analytic on

|z|>r with a removable singularity at the point at infinity and $f_2(z)=\sum\limits_{n=0}^{+\infty}a_nz^n$ is analytic in |z| < R, such that $f(z) = f_1(z) + f_2(z)$ on r < |z| < R. This Laurent decomposition is a very useful representation while studying the singularities of analytic functions. Similar representations for harmonic functions in \Re^n , $n \geq 2$, are also well-known (for example, [13]).

Let k be a compact set contained in an open set ω in \Re^n , $n \geq 2$. Let h be a harmonic function on $\omega \setminus k$. Then, h can be written in the form h = s + t on $\omega \setminus k$, where s is harmonic on $\Re^n \setminus k$ and t is harmonic on ω . Moreover, this representation is unique if we impose the following restrictions:

- 1. If $n \ge 3$, $\lim_{x \to \infty} s(x) = 0$. 2. If n = 2, $\lim_{x \to \infty} [s(x) \alpha \log |x|] = 0$ for some constant α .

The following theorems give the Laurent decomposition for harmonic and polyharmonic functions on T.

Theorem 5.1.7. (Laurent decomposition for harmonic functions) Let T be an infinite tree in which every non-terminal vertex has at least two non-terminal neighbours. Let E be a finite connected subset of T and F = V(E). Let A be a non-empty subset in E. Suppose u is a harmonic function on $F \setminus \overset{0}{A}$. Then, there exist a harmonic function s on $T \backslash \overset{0}{A}$ and a harmonic function t on F such that $u = s + t \text{ on } F \setminus \overset{0}{A}$. Moreover,

- i. If there are positive potentials on T, then s and t are uniquely determined if we impose the restriction $|s| \leq p$ outside a finite set, where p is a positive potential on T.
- ii. If there are no positive potentials on T, then s and t are uniquely determined up to an additive constant, if we impose the restriction that for some α , $[s-\alpha H]$ is bounded outside a finite set where H(x) is the analogue of $\log |x|$ in T (namely, $H \geq 0$ on T, unbounded, $\Delta H(x) = \delta_e(x)$ where e is a fixed vertex and H > 0 outside a finite set in T).

Proof. Extend u arbitrarily on $\overset{0}{A}$ as a real-valued function. Then, by the Remark following Theorem 5.1.2, there exists a function v on $T \setminus \overset{0}{A}$ such that v = u on $F \setminus \overset{0}{A}$ and $\Delta v(x) = 0$ at every vertex x in the interior of $T \setminus \overset{0}{A}$.

- i. Suppose there are positive potentials on T. Then, there exist potentials p_1, p_2 on T and a harmonic function f on T such that $v = f + p_1 p_2$ outside a finite set in T (Corollary 3.2.7). Write s = v f on $T \setminus A$ and t = f on F. Then, $|s| \leq p_1 + p_2 = p$ outside a finite set, t is harmonic on F and u = v = s + t on $F \setminus A$. As for the uniqueness of decomposition, suppose u = s' + t' is another such representation with $|s'| \leq p'$ outside a finite set, where p' is a potential on
 - T. Then, the function h defined on T such that $h=s-s^{'}$ on $T \setminus \stackrel{0}{A}$ and $h=t^{'}-t$ on F is a well-defined harmonic function such that $|h| \leq p+p^{'}$ outside a finite set. Hence $h\equiv 0$. This proves that $s=s^{'}$ and $t=t^{'}$.
- ii. Suppose there are no positive potentials on T, that is T is a parabolic tree. Then, by Proposition 3.4.7, $v=f+\alpha H+b$ outside a finite set, where f is harmonic on T and b is bounded harmonic outside a finite set. Let s=v-f on $T\setminus A$ and t=f on F. Then, $[s-\alpha H]$ is bounded outside a finite set and u=v=s+t on $F\setminus A$. As for the uniqueness, suppose u=s'+t' on $F\setminus A$ is another such representation, with $[s'-\alpha'H]$ being bounded outside a finite set. Then, the function h defined on h such that h=s-s' on h0 and h=t'-t1 on h1 is a well-defined harmonic function on h2 such that h=s-s'1 on h2 and h=t'-t2 on h3 is a well-defined harmonic function on h3 such that h=s-s'4 on h5 on h6 and h7 is a numbounded non-negative function and since a harmonic function on a parabolic tree is constant if it is bounded on one side. Consequently, the harmonic function h3 on the parabolic tree is bounded and hence a constant.

Theorem 5.1.8. (Laurent decomposition for m-harmonic functions) Let T be an infinite tree as in Theorem 5.1.7. Let E be a finite connected set of T and F = V(E). Let A be a non-empty subset of E. Suppose $u = (u_i)_{m \geq i \geq 1}$ is an m-harmonic function on $F \setminus A$. Then, there exist an m-harmonic function s on $T \setminus A$ and an m-harmonic function t on t such that t is t to t. This representation can

be chosen to be unique up to an additive (m-1)-harmonic function on T if T has positive potentials; otherwise, the representation is unique up to an m-harmonic function generated by a constant.

Proof. Since u_1 is harmonic on $F \setminus \overset{0}{A}$, there exist a harmonic function s_1 on $T \setminus \overset{\circ}{A}$ and a harmonic function t_1 on F such that $u_1 = s_1 + t_1$ on $F \setminus \overset{0}{A}$. Choose two functions f_1 and g_1 on T such that $(-\Delta)f_1 = s_1$ on $T \setminus \overset{0}{A}$ and $(-\Delta)g_1 = t_1$ on F. Then, $(-\Delta)u_2(x) = u_1(x) = (-\Delta)f_1(x) + (-\Delta)g_1(x)$ on $F \setminus \overset{0}{A}$, so that $u_2(x) = f_1(x) + g_1(x) + h_1(x)$, where h_1 is harmonic on $F \setminus \overset{0}{A}$. Then, by the above Theorem 5.1.7, there exist f_2 harmonic on $T \setminus \overset{0}{A}$ and g_2 harmonic on F such that $h_1 = f_2 + g_2$ on $F \setminus \overset{0}{A}$. Write $s_2 = f_1 + f_2$ and $t_2 = g_1 + g_2$. Then, $(-\Delta)s_2 = s_1$ on $T \setminus \overset{0}{A}$, $(-\Delta)t_2 = t_1$ on F, and $u_2 = s_2 + t_2$ on $F \setminus \overset{0}{A}$.

Proceeding in a similar manner, we construct $s=(s_i)_{m\geq i\geq 1}$ which is m-harmonic on $T\backslash A$ and $t=(t_i)_{m\geq i\geq 1}$ which is m-harmonic on F, such that u=s+t on $F\backslash A$. As for the uniqueness, recall that as in the above Theorem 5.1.7, s_1 and t_1 can be uniquely determined, if T has positive potentials; otherwise, s_1,t_1 are unique up to an additive constant. Consequently, if u=s'+t' is another such representation, then the function $v=(v_i)_{m\geq i\geq 1}$ defined on T such that v=s-s' on $T\backslash A$ and v=t'-t on F is a well-defined function on T such that $v_1\equiv 0$, if T has positive potentials and v_1 is a constant if T has no positive potentials. Hence, v is (m-1)-harmonic on T, if T has positive potentials; otherwise, v is an m-harmonic function on T generated by a constant.

Theorem 5.1.9. Let T be an infinite tree as in Theorem 5.1.7. Let s be an m-superharmonic function on a subset A in T and let t be an m-subharmonic function on A such that $t \leq s$ on A. Then, there exists an m-harmonic function h on A such that $t \leq h \leq s$ on A, with the additional property that if h^{\bullet} is any m-harmonic function on A such that $h^{\bullet} \leq s$ on A, then $h^{\bullet} \leq h$ on A.

is subharmonic on A. Since $s_2 \geq t_2$ by hypothesis, we have $f_2^{'} \geq g_2^{'}$. Let $h^{'}$ be the greatest harmonic minorant of $f_2^{'}$ on A. Let $h_2 = h^{'} + H_2$. Then, $(-\Delta)h_2 = h_1$ on A and A and A and A on A.

Suppose $h_2^{'}$ is another function on A such that $s_2 \geq h_2^{'}$ on A and $(-\Delta)h_2^{'} = h_1$ on A. Then, $h_2^{'} = h_2 +$ (a harmonic function v on A) = $(h^{'} + H_2) + v$. Since $s_2 \geq h_2^{'}$ on A, we should have $f_2^{'} \geq h^{'} + v$ on A. Since $h^{'}$ is the g.h.m. of $h_2^{'}$ on $h_2^{'}$ on $h_2^{'}$ we have $h_2^{'} \leq h_2^{'}$.

A similar procedure yields an m-harmonic function $h=(h_i)_{m\geq i\geq 1}$ on A such that $s\geq h\geq t$ on A. This function has the additional property that if h^{\bullet} is any m-harmonic function on A such that $s\geq h^{\bullet}\geq t$ on A, then $h\geq h^{\bullet}$.

Recall that in this chapter, T stands for an infinite tree in which each non-terminal vertex has at least two non-terminal neighbours.

Definition 5.1.2. Let s be an m-superharmonic function defined on a subset A in T. Suppose there exists an m-subharmonic function t on A such that $s \ge t$ on A. Then the m-harmonic function h constructed as in the above Theorem 5.1.9 such that $s \ge h \ge t$ on A is called the greatest m-harmonic minorant (g.m-h.m.) of s in A.

Theorem 5.1.10. Let $0 < s = (s_i)_{m \ge i \ge 1}$ be an m-superharmonic function on T, $m \ge 2$. Let u_1 be a superharmonic function on T such that $0 < u_1 \le s_1$. Then there exists an m-superharmonic function $u = (u_i)_{m \ge i \ge 1}$ on T such that for $1 \le i \le m$, each $1 \le i \le m$ and $1 \le i \le m$ are potential and $1 \le i \le m$.

Proof. When $m \geq 2$, the existence of an m-superharmonic function s > 0 on T implies that there are positive potentials on T. Let $(-\Delta)v_1 = u_1$ and $(-\Delta)v_2 = s_1 - u_1$. Then v_1 and v_2 are superharmonic and $(-\Delta)(v_1 + v_2) = s_1 = (-\Delta)s_2$, so that $s_2 = v_1 + v_2 + h_2$, where h_2 is a harmonic function on T. Since $s_2 > 0$, v_1 majorizes the subharmonic function $-(v_2 + h_2)$ so that v_1 is the sum of a potential u_2 and a harmonic function. Consequently, $(-\Delta)u_2 = (-\Delta)v_1 = u_1$. Note that since $u_1 > 0$, v_1 cannot be harmonic and hence $u_2 > 0$ on T. Write $s_2 = (a$ potential $p_2) + (a$ non-negative harmonic function), so that $p_2 = u_2 + (a$ superharmonic function q) on T. Since u_2 is a potential and $u_2 \ge -q$, we should have $-q \le 0$. Hence $u_2 \le p_2 \le s_2$. Repeated use of this procedure yields the announced result.

Theorem 5.1.11. (Minimum Principle for m-superharmonic functions) Let E be a finite set in T. Let $s = (s_i)_{m \ge i \ge 1}$ be an m-superharmonic function on E and $h = (h_i)_{m \ge i \ge 1}$ be an m-subharmonic function on E such that $s \ge h$ on ∂E . Then $s \ge h$ on E.

Proof. Since s_1 is superharmonic on E and h_1 is subharmonic on E such that $s_1 \ge h_1$ on ∂E by hypothesis, $s_1 \ge h_1$ on E (Corollary 1.4.3). Write $v_2 = s_2 - h_2$ on E. Then, on E, $(-\Delta)v_2 = (-\Delta)s_2 - (-\Delta)h_2 = s_1 - h_1 \ge 0$. Hence, v_2 is superharmonic on E and by assumption $v_2 \ge 0$ on ∂E . Hence $v_2 \ge 0$ on E, that is $s_2 \ge h_2$ on E. By recurrence, $s_i \ge h_i$ on E for all $i, 1 \le i \le m$; that is, $s \ge h$ on E.

Corollary 5.1.12. Let $h = (h_i)_{m \ge i \ge 1}$ be an m-harmonic function defined on a finite set E in T. If h = 0 on ∂E , then $h \equiv 0$.

Riquier Problem. Let D be a bounded domain in the Euclidean space $\Re^n, n \geq 2$. Suppose $f_1, f_2, ..., f_m$ are m finite continuous functions on the boundary ∂D . Then the Riquier problem is to determine a function u on D such that u is a polyharmonic function of order m on D and $\lim_{x \to z, x \in D} (-\Delta)^{i-1} u(x) \to f_i(z)$, for every z on ∂D , $1 \leq i \leq m$, $(-\Delta)^0 = 1$. This boundary value problem has a unique solution [57, p.28] if D is a Dirichlet domain, that is the Dirichlet problem for finite continuous boundary values is solvable in D. We solve now a discrete analogue of this problem.

Theorem 5.1.13. Let F be a finite subset of T, and $E \subset F$. For $1 \le i \le m$, let f_i be a bounded function on $F \setminus E$. Then there exist m uniquely determined functions h_i on F such that $h_i = f_i$ on $F \setminus E$ and $h = (h_i)_{m \ge i \ge 1}$ is an m-harmonic function at each vertex of E.

Proof. By Theorem 3.1.7, there exists a bounded function h_1 on F such that $h_1=f_1$ on $F\backslash E$ and h_1 is harmonic at each vertex of E. Choose a function s on T such that $(-\Delta)s=h_1$ on F (Theorem 5.1.5). Again by Theorem 3.1.7, there exists a bounded function g on F such that $g=f_2-s$ on $F\backslash E$ and $\Delta g=0$ at each vertex in E. Take now $h_2=s+g$ on F. Then $h_2=f_2$ on $F\backslash E$ and $(-\Delta)h_2=h_1$ at each vertex on E.

Repeated applications of this method produce a function $h=(h_i)_{m\geq i\geq 1}$ on F such that $h_i=f_i$ on $F\backslash E$ and $(-\Delta)h_j(x)=h_{j-1}(x)$ for each vertex $x\in E$, for $2\leq j\leq m$. Since $(-\Delta)h_1(x)=0$ if $x\in E$, we conclude that h is an m-harmonic function at each vertex of E.

As for the uniqueness of h, suppose $u=(u_i)_{m\geq i\geq 1}$ is another solution defined on F such that $u_i=f_i$ on $F\backslash E$ and u is m-harmonic at each vertex of E. Let $u-h=v=(v_i)_{m\geq i\geq 1}$. Then $(-\Delta)v_1=0$ at each vertex of E and $v_1=0$ on $F\backslash E$. Hence by the maximum principle (Property 7 of superharmonic functions, Sect. 3.1), $v_1\equiv 0$. Consequently, v_2 is harmonic at each vertex of E and $v_2=0$ on $F\backslash E$ and hence $v_2\equiv 0$. Proceeding thus, we prove that $v\equiv 0$.

Limit of a sequence of m-superharmonic functions. We have used the fact that if a sequence of superharmonic functions on a network converges to a finite limit at each vertex of T, then the limit also is superharmonic. A similar result for m-superharmonic functions is given in the following theorem. It is a discrete analogue of a result concerning the limit of a sequence of polyharmonic functions on a Dirichlet domain [57, p.25], similar to an earlier result due to Montel for a sequence of harmonic functions.

Theorem 5.1.14. Let $v^n = (v^n_i)_{m \geq i \geq 1}$ be a sequence of m-superharmonic (respectively m-harmonic) functions on T. Suppose $v^n_m(x)$ converges to a finite limit $v_m(x)$ as $n \to \infty$ for every x in T. Then the sequence $\{v^n\}$ converges to an m-superharmonic (respectively m-harmonic) function $v = (v_i)_{m \geq i \geq 1}$ on T.

Proof.

$$\begin{split} (-\varDelta)v_m^n(x) &= \, v_m^n(x) - \sum_{y \sim x} p(x,y) v_m^n(y) \\ &\to v_m(x) - \sum_{y \sim x} p(x,y) v_m(y) \text{ as } n \to \infty \\ &= \, (-\varDelta) v_m(x). \end{split}$$

Since $v^n=(v^n_i)_{m\geq i\geq 1}$ is m-superharmonic, $(-\Delta)v^n_m=v^n_{m-1}$ so that we have proved that $v^n_{m-1}(x)$ converges to a finite limit $(-\Delta)v_m(x)$. Write $v_{m-1}(x)=\lim_{n\to\infty}v^n_{m-1}(x)=(-\Delta)v_m(x)$.

Proceeding similarly, we show that $v_i^n(x)$ converges to $(-\Delta)v_{i+1}(x) = v_i(x)$ for $1 \le i \le m-1$. Now, for every n, v_1^n is superharmonic (respectively harmonic) on T. Hence, $v_1 = \lim_{n \to \infty} v_1^n$ is superharmonic (respectively harmonic) on T. Consequently, $v = (v_i)_{m \ge i \ge 1}$ is an m-superharmonic (respectively m-harmonic) function on T such that $v^n \to v$.

5.2 Polyharmonic Functions with Point Singularity

Remark 2 following Corollary 5.1.3 states that for any y in T, there exists a superharmonic function q_1 on T such that q_1 is harmonic at each vertex in T except at y. Let $q=(q_i)_{m\geq i\geq 1}$ be an m-superharmonic function generated by q_1 on T. Then, q is an m-superharmonic function on T such that q is m-harmonic at each vertex of T except at y. This function q is not always positive on T. For example, in the Euclidean space \Re^4 , if we take $q_1(x)=|x|^{-2}$, then $q(x)=\left(h(x)-\frac{1}{2}\log|x|,|x|^{-2}\right)$ is 2-superharmonic generated by q_1 , where h(x) is harmonic on \Re^4 . However, there is no harmonic function h on \Re^4 to make $h(x)-\frac{1}{2}\log|x|>0$. For, $h(x)>\frac{1}{2}\log|x|$ implies that h is positive on \Re^4 and hence a constant. But in \Re^5 , if we take $q_1(x)=|x|^{-3}$, then $q(x)=\left(\frac{1}{2}|x|^{-1},|x|^{-3}\right)$ is a positive 2-superharmonic function generated by q_1 . Actually, positive 2-superharmonic functions with point biharmonic singularity can be determined on \Re^n only if $n\geq 5$. In this section, we take up the problem of finding sufficient conditions for T to possess positive m-superharmonic functions.

A polyharmonic function $u \geq 0$ of order m defined on an open set D in \Re^n , $n \geq 2$, is said to be *completely superharmonic* if $(-\Delta)^k u \geq 0$ for $1 \leq k < m$. If D is a star domain with centre 0 and if

$$u(x) = |x|^{2m-2} h_m(x) + |x|^{2m-4} h_{m-1}(x) + \dots + |x|^2 h_2(x) + h_1(x)$$

is the Almansi representation of a completely superharmonic function u of order m on D, then the harmonic functions $h_m, h_{m-1}, ..., h_2, h_1$ are alternatively positive and negative in D [57, p.17].

Let now s>0 be a completely superharmonic function of order m in a domain D in $\Re^n, n\geq 2$. Let us write $s=(s_i)_{m\geq i\geq 1}$ as in the previous section, so that every s_i is positive superharmonic and s_1 is positive harmonic. Take $u_1=(\hat{R}^E_{s_1})_D$ where E is a non-polar compact set contained in D (that is, u_1 is the balayée of s_1 in D, Brelot [27, p.34]). Then $u_1>0$ is superharmonic and $u_1\leq s_1$ in D and as in Theorem 5.1.10, there exists a positive m-superharmonic function $u=(u_i)_{m\geq i\geq 1}$ on D such that each u_i is a potential and $u_i\leq s_i$ for $1\leq i\leq m$. Now u is a very special type of m-superharmonic function in which each component is a positive potential. This shows that for the existence of positive completely superharmonic functions of order m in a domain D in \Re^n , there should be some relation between m and n.

In fact, there are no positive completely superharmonic function of order m>1 on the whole of \Re^n . For in \Re^n , $n\geq 3$, if $\mu\geq 0$ is a Radon measure such that $\int\limits_{y\in\Re^n}\frac{1}{|x-y|^{n-2}}d\mu(y)$ is finite at some x (for example, x=0), then $p(x)=\int\limits_{y\in\Re^n}\frac{1}{|x-y|^{n-2}}d\mu(y)$ is a positive potential on \Re^n . Actually for p(x) to be a potential, it is necessary and sufficient that $\int\limits_{|y|>1}\frac{d\mu(y)}{|y|^{n-2}}<\infty$. As a consequence, there cannot be any positive superharmonic function s on \Re^n , $n\geq 2$, such that $(-\Delta)s=1$. For, when n=2, any positive superharmonic function s on \Re^2 is a constant and hence $(-\Delta)s=0$; when $n\geq 3$, if s is a positive superharmonic function, then s is the sum of a potential p and a non-negative harmonic function h. Since $(-\Delta)s=1$ by assumption, we find $(-\Delta)p=1$. Now if $(-\Delta)p(y)dy=d\mu(y)$, then [27, p.47] $p(x)=\varphi_n\int\limits_{y\in\Re^n}\frac{d\mu(y)}{|x-y|^{n-2}}$ for a suitable constant $\varphi_n>0$, so that $\int\limits_{|y|>1}\frac{d\mu(y)}{|y|^{n-2}}$ should be finite. This means that $\int\limits_{|y|>1}\frac{(-\Delta)p(y)}{|y|^{n-2}}dy$ is finite. Since $(-\Delta)p=1$, we should find $\int\limits_{|y|>1}\frac{dy}{|y|^{n-2}}$ finite. However,

$$\int_{|y|>1} \frac{dy}{|y|^{n-2}} = \int_{1}^{\infty} \int_{S} \frac{1}{r^{n-2}} r^{n-1} dr d\sigma,$$

where $d\sigma$ is the surface area on the unit sphere S. This leads to a contradiction that $\int\limits_{1}^{\infty}rdr$ is finite. Hence, for a positive superharmonic function s on $\Re^n, n\geq 2$, $(-\Delta)s=1$ is not possible.

Suppose now $u=(u_i)_{m\geq i\geq 1}$ is a positive completely superharmonic function of order m>1 on \Re^n . Then $u_1\geq 0$ is harmonic on \Re^n , so that u_1 is a positive constant c. Then, $(-\Delta)u_2=c$ implies that u_2 is superharmonic on \Re^n and by assumption $u_2>0$. Thus there exists a positive superharmonic function u_2 such that $(-\Delta)u_2=c$. We have just seen that this is not possible. Consequently, there cannot be any positive completely superharmonic function of order m>1 on \Re^n .

But positive m-superharmonic functions exist on \Re^n if $n \geq 2m+1$. For example, if $u_m(x) = |x|^{2m-n}$, then u_m together with its derivatives $(-\Delta)^i u_m$ defines a positive m-superharmonic function on \Re^n . To study the discrete analogue of this situation, we introduce the following definition.

Definition 5.2.1. An m-superharmonic function $s \ge 0$ on a subset A in T is said to be a polypotential of order m (an m-potential, for short) if the g.m-h.m of s on A is 0.

Theorem 5.2.1. If s is an m-superharmonic function on a set A in T, majorizing an m-subharmonic function on A (in particular, if s is positive), then s is the unique sum of an m-potential and an m-harmonic function on A.

Proof. Since s has an m-subharmonic minorant on A, let h be the g.m-h.m. of s on A (Theorem 5.1.9). Then, p=s-h is a positive m-superharmonic function on A and its g.m-h.m. on A is 0. Hence, p is an m-potential on A. As for the uniqueness of representation, suppose $s=p^{'}+h^{'}$ is another such representation. Then, $p\geq h^{'}-h$ so that $h^{'}-h\leq 0$. Similarly, $h-h^{'}\leq 0$, so that $h=h^{'}$ and consequently, $p=p^{'}$.

Theorem 5.2.2. Let $s = (s_i)_{m \ge i \ge 1} \ge 0$ be an m-superharmonic function on A. Then, s is an m-potential if and only if every s_i is a potential on A.

Proof. Let s be an m-potential on A. Suppose s_j is not a potential for some j, $m \ge j \ge 1$. Let h_j be the g.h.m. of s_j in A. Then, as in Theorem 5.1.9, we can construct an m-harmonic minorant $h = (h_i)_{m \ge i \ge 1}$ of s on A such that $h_i = 0$ if i < j. Since h is not the zero function, s cannot be an m-potential, a contradiction.

Conversely, suppose every s_i is a potential on A. Let $h=(h_i)_{m\geq i\geq 1}$ be the g.m-h.m. of s on A. Since $0\leq h_1\leq s_1$ on A, $h_1\equiv 0$. Since $(-\Delta)h_2=h_1$, we conclude that is h_2 harmonic on A. Again, $0\leq h_2\leq s_2$ and s_2 is a potential on A lead to the conclusion $h_2\equiv 0$. Proceeding similarly, we show that $h\equiv 0$. Hence, s is an m-potential on A.

Corollary 5.2.3. Let $s = (s_i)_{m \ge i \ge 1}$ be an m-superharmonic function on a subset A in T. Suppose q is a potential on A such that for each i, $|s_i| \le q$ outside a finite set in A. Then, s is an m-potential on A.

Proof. First note that if u is a superharmonic function on A and $|u| \leq p$ outside a finite set F, where p is a potential on A, then u is a potential on A. For, F being a finite set, we can find a potential majorizing |u| on F. Hence, we can assume that $|u| \leq p$ on A. Since the superharmonic function u majorizes the subharmonic function -p on A, $u = p_1 + h$ where p_1 is a potential and h is harmonic on A. Now, the subharmonic function $|h| \leq p + p_1$ on A. Consequently, $h \equiv 0$ and u is the potential p_1 on A.

In this corollary, since s_1 is superharmonic on A such that $|s_1| \leq q$ outside a finite set in A, s_1 should be a potential on A. Since $(-\Delta)s_2 = s_1 \geq 0$ on A, s_2 is a superharmonic function on A. By hypothesis, $|s_2| \leq q$ outside a finite set in A and hence s_2 is a potential on A. A similar procedure shows that s_i is a potential for

each $i, m \ge i \ge 1$. Hence, by the above theorem, $s = (s_i)_{m \ge i \ge 1}$ is an m-potential on A.

In a tree, there may or may not be any positive m-potential. This is the case even in the classical potential theory on the Euclidean spaces. For example, when m=2, we have a positive bi-potential (p_2,p_1) on \Re^n if and only if $n\geq 5$. Since $(-\Delta)|x|^{4-n}=c_n|x|^{2-n}$, for some $c_n>0$ and $n\geq 5$, $\left(|x|^{4-n},c_n|x|^{2-n}\right)$ is a bi-potential. We shall say that T is an m-potential tree if there exists a positive m-potential on T. If we know that there exists at least one m-potential on T, then we can construct many m-potentials with varied properties.

Theorem 5.2.4. Let $Q = (Q_i)_{m \geq i \geq 1}$ be a positive m-potential on a subset A in T. Let p_1 be a positive potential on A such that $p_1 \leq Q_1$. Then there exists a unique m-potential $p = (p_i)_{m \geq i \geq 1}$ generated by p_1 such that $p_i \leq Q_i$ for $m \geq i \geq 1$.

Proof. Choose a function s_1 on T such that $(-\Delta)s_1=p_1$ on A. By hypothesis, $(-\Delta)Q_2=Q_1\geq p_1$ on A. Choose a superharmonic function t_1 on T such that $(-\Delta)t_1=Q_1-p_1$ on A. Then, $Q_2=s_1+t_1+$ (a harmonic function h_1) on A.

Since $Q_2 \geq 0$, the superharmonic function s_1 has a subharmonic minorant on A, so that $s_1 = p_2 + h_2$ on A where p_2 is a potential and h_2 is harmonic on A; similarly, $t_1 = p_2 + h_2'$ on A. Thus, $Q_2 = (p_2 + p_2') + (h_2 + h_2' + h_1)$ on A. Equating the potential parts, we have $Q_2 = p_2 + p_2'$. Hence, $p_2 \leq Q_2$; note that $(-\Delta)p_2 = (-\Delta)s_1 = p_1$ on A.

Proceeding in a similar manner, we construct potentials p_i on A such that $p_i \leq Q_i$ for every $i, m \geq i \geq 1$, and that $p = (p_i)_{m \geq i \geq 1}$ is an m-potential on A. As for the uniqueness, suppose $(q_m, q_{m-1}, ..., q_2, p_1)$ is another m-potential generated by p_1 on A. Since $(-\Delta)p_2 = p_1 = (-\Delta)q_2$ on A, we conclude that $p_2 = q_2 + (a + a)q_2 + (a +$

Corollary 5.2.5. If T is an m-potential tree, then any potential p_1 with finite harmonic support generates a unique m-potential on T.

Proof. Let $Q=(Q_i)_{m\geq i\geq 1}$ be an m-potential on T. Since p_1 has finite harmonic support, $p_1\leq \alpha Q_1$ on T for some $\alpha>0$, by the Domination Principle (Theorem 3.3.6); and $\alpha Q=(\alpha Q_i)_{m\geq i\geq 1}$ is an m-potential on T. Hence, by the above theorem, p_1 generates an m-potential on T.

m-harmonic Green function. Let T be an m-potential tree. For a given vertex y, let $G_y(x)$ denote the Green function on T, with point harmonic support at $\{y\}$. Then, by Corollary 5.2.5, $G_1(x,y)=G_y(x)$ generates a unique m-potential

$$G_{ii}^{(m)}(x) = G^{(m)}(x,y) = (G_m(x,y),...,G_2(x,y),G_1(x,y))$$

on T which we shall refer to as the m-harmonic Green function of T with point support $\{y\}$. We write $(-\Delta)^m G_y^{(m)}(x) = \delta_y(x)$. Since $G_2(x,y)$, as a function of x is a potential on T when y is fixed, it has a representation (Theorem 3.3.1)

$$G_2(x,y) = \sum_{z \in T} (-\Delta) G_2(z,y) G_1(x,z)$$

where the Laplacian is taken in the first variable. Hence,

$$G_2(x,y) = \sum_{z \in T} G_1(z,y)G_1(x,z).$$

Similarly, $G_i(x,y) = \sum_{z_1,...,z_{i-1} \in T} G_1(z_{i-1},y) G_1(z_{i-2},z_{i-1})...G_1(x,z_1)$, for $m \ge i > 1$.

Proposition 5.2.6. If a positive potential p_1 in T generates an m-potential $p = (p_i)_{m \ge i \ge 1}$, then $p_i(x) = \sum_{z \in T} (-\Delta) p_1(z) G_i(x, z)$, for all $i, m \ge i \ge 1$.

Proof. Since p_2 is a potential and $(-\Delta)p_2 = p_1$, we write

$$\begin{aligned} p_2(x) &= \sum_{z_1 \in T} (-\Delta) p_2(z_1) G_1(x, z_1) \\ &= \sum_{z_1 \in T} p_1(z_1) G_1(x, z_1) \\ &= \sum_{z_1 \in T} \left[\sum_{z_2 \in T} (-\Delta) p_1(z_2) G_1(z_1, z_2) \right] G_1(x, z_1) \\ &= \sum_{z_2} (-\Delta) p_1(z_2) \left[\sum_{z_1} G_1(z_1, z_2) G_1(x, z_1) \right] \\ &= \sum_{z_2 \in T} (-\Delta) p_1(z_2) G_2(x, z_2) \\ &= \sum_{z \in T} (-\Delta) p_1(z) G_2(x, z). \end{aligned}$$

Similarly,
$$p_i(x) = \sum_{z \in T} (-\Delta) p_1(z) G_i(x, z)$$
, for all $i, m \ge i \ge 1$.

Theorem 5.2.7. Assume there are positive potentials on T. Let $G_1(x,y)$ denote the Green function on T such that $(-\Delta)G_1(x,y) = \delta_y(x)$. Then T is an m-potential tree if and only if for a pair (and hence for every pair) of vertices u and v in T,

$$G_m(u,v) = \sum_{z_1, z_2, \dots, z_{m-1}} G_1(u, z_1) G_1(z_1, z_2) \dots G_1(z_{m-1}, v) < \infty.$$

Proof. If the above sum is finite, take $u = z_1 = z_2 = \dots = z_{m-2}$. Since $G_1(u,u)<\infty,$ we find that $\sum\limits_{z_{m-1}}G_1(u,z_{m-1})G_1(z_{m-1},v)<\infty.$ Hence, $q_2(x) = \sum_{z_{m-1}} G_1(x, z_{m-1}) G_1(z_{m-1}, v)$ is a potential on T such that $(-\Delta)q_2(x) =$ $G_1(x, v)$. Similarly, since

$$\sum_{z_{m-2}, z_{m-1}} G_1(u, z_{m-2}) G_1(z_{m-2}, z_{m-1}) G_1(z_{m-1}, v) < \infty,$$

we conclude that
$$\sum_{z_{m-2}} G_1(u,z_{m-2})q_2(z_{m-2}) < \infty$$
. Hence, $q_3(x) = \sum_{z_{m-2}} G_1(x,z_{m-2})q_2(z_{m-2})$ is a potential and $(-\Delta)q_3(x) = q_2(x)$.

Proceeding similarly, we construct the potential q_i for which $(-\Delta)q_i = q_{i-1}$, $2 \leq j \leq m$, where $q_1(x) = G_1(x,v)$. This means that $q = (q_i)_{m>i>1}$ is an m-potential on T and hence T is an m-potential tree.

Conversely, if T is an m-potential tree, then the m-harmonic Green function $G_y^{(m)}(x) = (G_m(x,y), ..., G_2(x,y), G_1(x,y))$ exists on T. Here,

$$G_m(x,y) = \sum_{z_1, z_2, \dots, z_{m-1}} G_1(x, z_1) G_1(z_1, z_2) \dots G_1(z_{m-1}, y)$$

is a potential on T and hence is finite for every pair of vertices x and y.

Proposition 5.2.8. If T is a standard homogeneous tree where each vertex has degree $q+1, q \geq 2$, and the transition probabilities are all $(q+1)^{-1}$, then T is a bi-potential tree.

Proof. Let T be a standard homogeneous tree of degree q + 1, $q \ge 2$; that is, every vertex in T has q + 1 neighbours [31, p.262 and p.212]. Let d(s, t) be the length of the (geodesic) path connecting s to T. Then, d(s,t) = 1 if and only if $s \sim t$ and $d(s, s_2) \equiv d(s, s_1) + d(s_1, s_2) \pmod{2}$. There exist positive potentials on T and the Green function on T is $G(s,t) = \frac{q}{q-1} \cdot \frac{1}{q^{d(s,t)}}$. Let us fix two vertices u and $v \sim u$. Then, for $x \in T$,

$$G(u,x)G(x,v) = \frac{q^2}{(q-1)^2} \cdot \frac{1}{q^{d(u,x)+d(x,v)}}.$$

Since $d(u, x) + d(x, v) \equiv 1 \pmod{2}$, if we write $A_n = \{x : d(u, x) + d(x, v) = n\}$, then n is odd and $T=\cup A_n$. Now, $|d(u,x)-d(x,v)|\leq 1$, and $d(u,x)=d(x,v)\pm 1$, so that if $x\in A_n$, then $d(u,x)=\frac{n-1}{2}$ or $d(x,v)=\frac{n-1}{2}$. This implies that $card \{A_n\} \leq 2(q+1)^{\frac{n-1}{2}}$. Hence,

$$\sum_{x \in A_n} G(u, x) G(x, v) \le 2(q+1)^{\frac{n-1}{2}} \cdot \frac{q^2}{(q-1)^2} \cdot \frac{1}{q^n} = \lambda \frac{(q+1)^{\frac{n}{2}}}{q^n},$$

where $\lambda=2(q+1)^{-\frac{1}{2}}.\frac{q^2}{(q-1)^2}.$ Consequently, $\sum\limits_{x\in T}G(u,x)G(x,v)\leq \lambda\sum\limits_n\frac{(q+1)^{\frac{n}{2}}}{q^n}.$ This last series converges since $q\geq 2.$ Hence, by Theorem 5.2.7, T is a bi-potential tree.

Theorem 5.2.9. T is an m-potential tree if and only if given an m-harmonic function $h=(h_i)_{m\geq i\geq 1}$ outside a finite set, there exists a (unique) m-harmonic function $H=(H_i)_{m\geq i\geq 1}$ on T such that for some potential q on T, $|h_i-H_i|\leq q$ outside a finite set for each i.

Proof. Suppose T is an m-potential tree. Since h_1 is harmonic outside a finite set, there exists a harmonic function H_1 on T and a potential p_1 with finite harmonic support on T such that $|h_1-H_1| \leq p_1$ outside a finite set (Corollary 3.2.7). Since p_1 has finite harmonic support, it generates an m-potential $p=(p_i)_{m\geq i\geq 1}$ on T. Let $(-\Delta)H_2^{'}=H_1$ on T. Now, by the assumption $(-\Delta)h_2=h_1$ outside a finite set, so that $\left|(-\Delta)h_2-(-\Delta)H_2^{'}\right|\leq p_1=(-\Delta)p_2$ outside a finite set A in T.

Write $s=h_2-H_2^{'}+p_2$ and $t=h_2-H_2^{'}-p_2$. Then, on $T\backslash A$, s is superharmonic and t is subharmonic such that $t\leq s$. Hence, there exists a harmonic function h_0 outside a finite set such that $t\leq h_0\leq s$. Then, as before we can find a harmonic function u on T and a potential v with finite harmonic support in T such that $|h_0-u|\leq v$ outside a finite set. Set $H_2=H_2^{'}+u$. Note $(-\Delta)H_2=(-\Delta)H_2^{'}=H_1$ on T and $|h_2-H_2|=\left|(h_2-H_2^{'}-h_0)-(u-h_0)\right|\leq p_2+v$ outside a finite set.

Now, since v is a potential with finite harmonic support, there exists a potential v_1 on T such that $(-\Delta)v_1=v$ on T. Hence, if $q_3=p_3+v_1$, then $(-\Delta)q_3=p_2+v$. Set $q_2=p_2+v$. Thus far, we have proved that there exist H_2 such that $(-\Delta)H_2=H_1$ and the potential q_3 such that $(-\Delta)q_3=q_2$ and $|h_2-H_2|\leq q_2$ outside a finite set in T.

Proceeding similarly we prove that for $m \geq j \geq 3$ also, there exist H_j on T such that $(-\Delta)H_j = H_{j-1}$ and a potential q_j such that $|h_j - H_j| \leq q_j$ outside a finite set in T. Write $q = p_1 + q_2 + \ldots + q_m$. Then, $H = (H_i)_{m \geq i \geq 1}$ is an m-harmonic function on T such that $|h_i - H_i| \leq q$ outside a finite set for each $i, m \geq i \geq 1$.

As for the uniqueness of the m-harmonic function H, suppose there is another m-harmonic function $H^{'}=(H_{i}^{'})_{m\geq i\geq 1}$ and a potential $q^{'}$ on T such that $\left|h_{i}-H_{i}^{'}\right|\leq q^{'}$ outside a finite set in T. Then, $(H_{1}-H_{1}^{'})$ is harmonic on T and $\left|H_{1}-H_{1}^{'}\right|\leq q+q^{'}$ outside a finite set. Hence $H_{1}-H_{1}^{'}\equiv 0$. Then, $(-\Delta)(H_{2}-H_{2}^{'})=H_{1}-H_{1}^{'}\equiv 0$, so that $(H_{2}-H_{2}^{'})$ is harmonic on T. But $\left|H_{2}-H_{2}^{'}\right|\leq q+q^{'}$ outside a finite set. Hence $H_{2}-H_{2}^{'}\equiv 0$. This procedure establishes $H_{i}=H_{i}^{'}$ for all $i,m\geq i\geq 1$.

To prove the converse, first note that the assumption in the theorem implies that there are positive potentials on T. Choose a potential p_1 in T with finite harmonic support A. Let $p=(p_i)_{m\geq i\geq 1}$ be an m-superharmonic function generated by p_1 . This should be m-harmonic outside A. Hence, by the assumption there exists an

m-harmonic function $H=(H_i)_{m\geq i\geq 1}$ on T and a potential q such that $|p_i-H_i|\leq q$ outside a finite set. Set $s_i=p_i-H_i$ on T. Then, $s=(s_i)_{m\geq i\geq 1}$ is an m-superharmonic function on T and $|s_i|\leq q$ outside a finite set for each i. This implies that s is an m-potential on T (Corollary 5.2.3).

If $s = (s_i)_{m \ge i \ge 1}$ is an m-superharmonic function on T and if A is the harmonic support of s_1 , then we say that the m-harmonic support of s is A.

Theorem 5.2.10. (Domination Principle for m-potentials) Let $s = (s_i)_{m \geq i \geq 1}$ be a positive m-superharmonic function and $p = (p_i)_{m \geq i \geq 1}$ be an m-potential on T. Let A be a subset of T containing the m-harmonic support of p. Suppose $s_1 \geq p_1$ on A. Then, $s \geq p$ on T.

Proof. By Theorem 3.3.6, the fact that $s_1 \ge p_1$ on A implies that $s_1 \ge p_1$ on T. Let $(-\Delta)u = s_1 - p_1 = (-\Delta)s_2 - (-\Delta)p_2$. Then, u is superharmonic on T and $u + p_2 +$ (a harmonic function)= $s_2 \ge 0$.

Since u has a subharmonic minorant on T, it is the unique sum of a potential q and a harmonic function on T. Hence, $s_2 = q + p_2 +$ (a harmonic function) on T.

Use now the uniqueness of decomposition of s_2 as the sum of a potential and a non-negative harmonic function to conclude that $s_2 \ge q + p_2 \ge p_2$. A similar procedure leads to the conclusion $s_i \ge p_i$ for each $i, m \ge i \ge 1$.

Theorem 5.2.11. (Balayage of m-potentials) Let $p = (p_i)_{m \geq i \geq 1}$ be an m-potential on T. Let A be a subset of T. Then, there exists an m-potential R_p^A on T such that $R_p^A \leq p$ on T, $R_p^A = p + (an (m-1)$ -harmonic function) at each vertex of A and R_p^A is m-harmonic at each vertex on $T \setminus A$.

Proof. By Theorem 3.1.10, there exists a potential q_1 on T such that $q_1 \leq p_1$ on T, $q_1 = p_1$ on A and $(-\Delta)q_1(x) = 0$ at each vertex $x \in T \setminus A$. Then, q_1 generates an m-potential $R_p^A = q = (q_i)_{m \geq i \geq 1}$ such that $q \leq p$ on T (Theorem 5.2.4). Since q_1 is harmonic at each vertex of $T \setminus A$, the m-potential q is m-harmonic at each vertex of $T \setminus A$.

Further $q_1=p_1$ on A so that $(-\Delta)q_2=q_1=p_1=(-\Delta)p_2$ and hence $q_2=p_2+h_2$ on A where h_2 is harmonic at each vertex of A. Let H_3 be a function defined on T such that $(-\Delta)H_3=h_2$ on A, so that $(-\Delta)q_3=(-\Delta)p_3+(-\Delta)H_3$ on A, and $q_3=p_3+H_3+u$ on A where u is harmonic at each vertex of A. Write $h_3=H_3+u$ on A. Then, $q_3=p_3+h_3$ on A and $(-\Delta)h_3=h_2$ on A. A similar procedure leads to the construction of $(h_m,h_{m-1},...,h_2)$ which is (m-1)-harmonic at each vertex of A; this can be identified with the m-harmonic function $h=(h_m,h_{m-1},...,h_2,0)$ so that q=p+h on A, where h is (m-1)-harmonic at each vertex of A.

Remark 5.2.1. Let $p=(p_i)_{m\geq i\geq 1}$ be an m-potential on T and A be a subset of T. Write as above $R_p^A=q=(q_i)_{m\geq i\geq 1}$. Let \Im be the family of all positive m-superharmonic functions $s=(s_i)_{m\geq i\geq 1}$ on T such that $s_1\geq p_1$ on A; consequently $s_1\geq q_1$ on A which contains the harmonic support of q_1 . Then, by Theorem 5.2.10, $s\geq q$ on T. Thus, if $s\in \Im$, then $s\geq q$ on T. Note that $q\in \Im$. Hence, $\inf_{s\in \Im} s=q=R_p^A$.

5.3 Riesz-Martin Representation for Positive m-Superharmonic Functions

A domain Ω in the Euclidean space $\Re^n, n \geq 2$, is called a Green domain if the Green function G(x,y) is well-defined on Ω . Consequently, any domain in $\Re^n, n \geq 3$, is a Green domain and in \Re^2 , Ω is a Green domain if and only if $\Re^2 \setminus \Omega$ is not locally polar. (A set E in \Re^2 is said to be locally polar if and only if there exists a superharmonic function s on \Re^2 such that $e \subset \{x: s(x) = \infty\}$). In Brelot [29, pp.111–115], we have a method to construct a compactification Ω (called the Martin compactification) of Ω with the following properties: Ω is a compact set in which Ω is dense open. If y_0 is a point fixed in Ω and if G(x,y) is the Green function, then write

$$k_y(x) = k(x, y) = \frac{G(x, y)}{G(x, y_0)}$$

with the convention $k(y_0, y_0) = 1$. Then, Ω is the unique metrisable compactification (up to a homeomorphism) of Ω such that:

- 1. Ω is dense open in the compact space $\overline{\Omega}$;
- 2. $k_y(x), y \in \Omega$, extends as a continuous function of x on Ω ;
- 3. the family of these extended continuous functions on Ω separates the points $X \in \Lambda = \Omega \setminus \Omega$.

 $\stackrel{\frown}{\Omega}$ is called the *Martin compactification* of Ω and $\Lambda = \stackrel{\frown}{\Omega} \setminus \Omega$ is called the *Martin boundary*. A non-negative harmonic function u on Ω is called *minimal* if and only if for any harmonic function v in Ω , $0 \le v \le u$, we have $v = \alpha u$ for some constant α , $0 \le \alpha \le 1$.

It can be proved that every minimal harmonic function u(y) in Ω is of the form $u(y_0)k(y,X)$ for some $X\in \Lambda$. The points $X\in \Lambda$ corresponding to these minimal harmonic functions are called the *minimal points* of Λ , and the set of minimal points of Λ is denoted by Λ_1 , called the *minimal boundary*. With these preliminaries, we can state the *Martin representation* theorem: Let $u\geq 0$ be a harmonic function on Ω . Then, there exists a unique Radon measure $\mu\geq 0$ on Λ with support in the minimal boundary $\Lambda_1\subset \Lambda$ such that $u(y)=\int\limits_{X\in \Lambda_1}k(y,X)d\mu(X), \ \text{for }y\in \Omega.$

In the particular case of $\Omega=B(0,1)$, the unit ball in $\Re^n, n\geq 2$, taking the fixed point y_0 as the centre 0, we find that the Martin boundary $\Lambda=\bar\Omega\setminus\Omega$ is homeomorphic to the unit sphere S and k(y,X) is the Poisson kernel; also, $\Lambda_1=\Lambda=S$. Consequently, the Martin representation is the well-known result [13, p. 105]: If u is positive harmonic on B, then there exists a unique non-negative regular Borel measure μ on S such that $u(x)=\int\limits_S P(x,X)d\mu(X)$, where P(x,X), $x\in B, X\in S$ is the Poisson kernel.

It is easy to obtain a generalisation of the Martin representation for positive harmonic functions on Ω to positive superharmonic functions on Ω . Suppose s is a positive superharmonic function on a Green domain Ω in $\Re^n, n \geq 2$. Then, by the Riesz representation theorem, s is the unique sum of a potential p and a non-negative harmonic function h on Ω . Now, p can be represented in the form of an integral C $\int\limits_{y\in\Omega}G(x,y)(-\Delta p)(y)dy$, where C>0 is a constant and the Radon

measure $(-\Delta)p(y)dy$ is calculated in the sense of distributions [27, p. 47]. Since $(-\Delta)p \geq 0$, there exists a Radon measure $\nu = C(-\Delta p)$. As for the non-negative harmonic function h, we can use the Martin representation. Consequently, we have the following Riesz-Martin representation for positive superharmonic functions: Let $s \geq 0$ be a superharmonic function defined on a Green domain Ω in \Re^n , $n \geq 2$. Then, there exist two non-negative Radon measures ν on Ω and μ on Λ with support in Λ_1 such that for $x \in \Omega$,

$$s(x) = \int_{y \in \Omega} G(x, y) d\nu(y) + \int_{X \in \Lambda_1} k(x, X) d\mu(X).$$

For a deep study of Martin boundary in the context of probability theory, see Doob [43], and Meyer [54]. Cartier [31, pp.235–237] shows how this Martin representation for positive harmonic functions can be presented in the context of an infinite tree. Let T be an infinite tree with the Green function G(x,y). Two paths in T are said to be *equivalent paths* if they have an infinite number of common vertices. With this equivalence relation, an equivalence class of infinite paths is called an *end*. Let B denote the set of all ends in T. Write $\hat{T} = T \cup B$. Then, [31, Theorem 1.1, p. 220] a topology can be defined on \hat{T} so that \hat{T} is compact, metrisable and locally discontinuous; B is compact, metrisable; and T (with its discrete topology) is dense open in \hat{T} .

open in \hat{T} . Fix a vertex y_0 in T. Let $k_y(x)=\frac{G(y,x)}{G(y_0,x)}$, for x,y in T. Then, $k_y(x)$ can be extended as a locally constant (and hence a continuous) function for $x\in\hat{T}$ such that $k_{y_0}(x)=1$ (normalisation) and $k_y(x)>0$ for all $x\in\hat{T}$; moreover, for any $X\in B, k_y(X)$ is harmonic on T. The compact metrisable space B is the *Martin boundary* of T. Further,

- 1. If h(y) is a positive harmonic function on T, then there exists a unique Borel measure $\mu \geq 0$ on B such that $h(y) = \int\limits_{B} k_y(X) d\mu(X)$.
- 2. If s(y) is a positive superharmonic function on T, then there exist two unique measures $\nu \geq 0$ on T and $\mu \geq 0$ on B such that $s(y) = \sum_{x \in T} G(y,x)\nu(x) + \int_B k_y(X)d\mu(X).$

Thus, a positive superharmonic function on T is determined by two positive measures, one defined on T and the other on B. We shall show now that a positive

m-superharmonic function on an m-potential tree T is determined by (m+1) uniquely defined positive measures, one on T and the other m measures on B. For that, we need a Riesz-Martin representation for positive m-superharmonic functions on an m-potential tree. First, we start with a Riesz representation for positive m-superharmonic functions on an m-potential tree. From Theorem 5.1.10, we have: Let T be an m-potential tree. Let $s=(s_i)_{m\geq i\geq 1}$ be a positive m-superharmonic function on T. Let u_1 be a superharmonic function on T such that $0< u_1 \leq s_1$. Then, there exists an (m-1)-potential $p=(p_j)_{m\geq j\geq 2}$ on T such that $u=(p_m,p_{m-1},...,p_2,u_1)$ is a positive m-superharmonic function on T and $0< u\leq s$ on T. Since p is an (m-1)-potential generated by p_2 , it is uniquely determined.

Definition 5.3.1. A positive m-harmonic function $h = (h_i)_{m \ge i \ge 1}$ on T is said to be an m-harmonic potential if each h_j , $m \ge j \ge 2$, is a positive potential on T.

- Remark 5.3.1. 1. From the above remark, it follows that if $s=(s_i)_{m\geq i\geq 1}$ is a positive m-superharmonic function on T and if h is a harmonic function on T, $0< h\leq s_1$, then h generates a unique m-harmonic potential $(p_m,p_{m-1},...,p_2,h)$ on T majorized by s.
- 2. If $h = (h_j)_{k \ge j \ge 1}$ is a k-harmonic potential on T, then by adding (m k) zeros at the end, we can consider $h = (h_k, h_{k-1}, ..., h_1, 0, 0..., 0)$ as a non-negative m-harmonic function that is a k-harmonic potential on T.

Theorem 5.3.1. Let $s=(s_i)_{m\geq i\geq 1}$ be a non-negative m-superharmonic function on T. Then there exist an m-potential p and i-harmonic potentials $u_i, m\geq i\geq 1$, such that $s=p+\sum\limits_{i=1}^m u_i$ on T. Moreover, this representation is unique.

Proof. Write $s_1=p_1+h_1$, where p_1 is a potential and h_1 is a non-negative harmonic function on T. Since $p_1\leq s_1, p_1$ generates an m-potential $p=(p_i)_{m\geq i\geq 1}$ and $p\leq s$. Similarly, h_1 generates an m-harmonic potential (if $h_1>0$) $u_m=(h_i)_{m\geq i\geq 1},\ u_m\leq s$ on T. If $h_1=0$ at a vertex, then take $u_m\equiv 0$. Let $v=s-p-u_m=(v_m,v_{m-1},...,v_2,0)$. Now, $(-\Delta)s_2=s_1=p_1+h_1=(-\Delta)p_2+(-\Delta)h_2$. Hence, $s_2=p_2+h_2+$ (a harmonic function ξ_2) on T.

Since s_2 is a positive superharmonic function and p_2,h_2 are potentials, we conclude $\xi_2 \geq 0$. But $\xi_2 = v_2$; hence v_2 is a non-negative harmonic function on T. Further, for $m \geq j \geq 2$, $(-\Delta)v_j = (-\Delta)s_j - (-\Delta)p_j - (-\Delta)h_j = s_{j-1} - p_{j-1} - h_{j-1} = v_{j-1}$ (taking $v_1 = 0$).

Since $(-\Delta)p_3+(-\Delta)h_3=p_2+h_2\leq s_2=(-\Delta)s_3$, we conclude $v_3=s_3-p_3-h_3$ is superharmonic on T. Since $p_3+h_3+v_3=s_3\geq 0$, we have $-v_3\leq p_3+h_3$; here $-v_3$ is subharmonic and p_3+h_3 is a potential, so that $-v_3\leq 0$. Hence, $p_3+h_3\leq s_3$. Then, a similar procedure as above leads to the conclusion $v_4\geq 0$. Eventually, we show that $v_j\geq 0$ for all $j,m\geq j\geq 2$. Consequently, $(v_j)_{m\geq j\geq 2}$ is a non-negative (m-1)-harmonic function on T.

The above procedure starting with v instead of s leads to the unique decomposition $v=u_{m-1}+v'$, where u_{m-1} is an (m-1)-harmonic potential and v' is a non-negative (m-2)-harmonic function on T. Proceeding in a similar manner,

finally we arrive at the unique decomposition

$$s = p + u_m + u_{m-1} + \dots + u_1,$$

where p is an m-potential and u_i is an i-harmonic potential (identified with a nonnegative m-harmonic function on T).

In an m-potential tree T, let M be the class of measures $\mu \geq 0$ on T such that $p_1(x) = \sum_{y \in T} G_y(x) \mu\left(\{y\}\right)$ is a potential that generates an m-potential $(p_i)_{m \geq i \geq 1}$ on T. Let $\Lambda_i, m \geq i \geq 1$, be the class of measures $\nu_i \geq 0$ on the Martin boundary B such that the non-negative harmonic function h_1 on T associated with ν_i [31, p.232] generates an i-harmonic potential u_i on T. We have already remarked that if $u_i = (h_i, h_{i-1}, ...h_1)$ is an i-harmonic potential generated by h_1 , then u_i is uniquely determined by h_1 . Since h_1 is uniquely determined by a measure ν_i in the class Λ_i , we conclude that an i-harmonic potential u_i is uniquely determined by a measure in the class Λ_i .

Theorem 5.3.2. A non-negative m-superharmonic function on an m-potential tree T is uniquely determined by (m+1) measures $(\mu, \nu_m, ..., \nu_1) \in M \times \Lambda_m \times ... \times \Lambda_1$.

Proof. By Theorem 5.3.1, if s is a non-negative m-superharmonic function on an m-potential tree, then s has a unique representation of the form $s=p+\sum\limits_{i=1}^m u_i$, where p is an m-potential and u_i is an i-harmonic potential on T. Now, the m-potential $p=(p_i)_{m\geq i\geq 1}$ is determined by p_1 which in turn is uniquely determined by the measure $(-\Delta)p_1\in M$. Moreover, each u_i is determined by a measure $v_i\in \Lambda_i$ as shown above. Consequently, the positive m-superharmonic function s on T is uniquely determined by an element in $M\times \Lambda_m\times ...\times \Lambda_1$.

- K.Abodayeh and V.Anandam, Dirichlet problem and Green's formulas on trees, Hiroshima Math. J., 35(2005) 413-424.
- 2. K.Abodayeh and V.Anandam, *Equilibrium measures on an infinite network or a tree*, Mem.Fac.Sci. Shimane Univ., 40(2007) 7-13.
- 3. L.V.Ahlfors and L.Sario, Riemann Surfaces, Princeton University Press, 1966.
- 4. H.Aikawa, Boundary Harnack principle and Martin boundary for a uniform domain, J.Math.Soc.Japan, 53(2001) 119-145.
- 5. V.Anandam, Espaces harmoniques sans potentiel positif, Ann. Inst. Fourier, 22(1972)97-160.
- 6. V.Anandam, *Harmonic spaces with positive potentials and nonconstant harmonic functions*, Rend. Circ. Mat. Palermo, 21(1972) 149-167.
- 7. V.Anandam, H-functions and B.S potentials, Rev.Roum.Math.Pures et Appl., 22(1977) 7-12.
- 8. V.Anandam and I.Bajunaid, Some aspects of the classical potential theory on trees, Hiroshima Math.J., 37(2007) 277-314.
- 9. V.Anandam and S.I.Othman, *Flux in an infinite network*, Mem. Fac. Sci. Shimane Univ., 38(2005) 7-16.
- 10. D.H.Armitage and S.J.Gardiner, Classical Potential Theory, Springer-Verlag, 2001.
- N.Aronszajn, T.M.Creese and L.J.Lipkin, *Polyharmonic Functions*, Clarendon Press, Oxford, 1983.
- 12. M.G.Arsove, Functions of potential type, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 75(1953) 526-551.
- 13. S.Axler, P.Bourdon and W.Ramey, *Harmonic Function Theory*, Springer-Verlag, 2001.
- 14. R.Bacher, P.De La Harpe and P.Nagnibeda, *The lattice of integral flows and the lattice of integral coboundaries on a finite graph*, Bull. Soc. Math. France, 125(1997) 167-198.
- I.Bajunaid, J.M.Cohen, F.Colonna and D.Singman, Trees as Brelot spaces, Adv.in Appl.Math., 30(2003) 706-745.
- I.Bajunaid, J.M.Cohen, F.Colonna and D.Singman, A Riesz decomposition theorem on harmonic spaces without positive potentials, Hiroshima Math.J., 38(2008) 37-50.
- 17. H.Bauer, *Harmonische Räume und ihre Potentialtheorie*, Springer-Verlag Lecture Notes in Mathematics 22, 1966.
- 18. E.Bendito, A.Carmona and A.M.Encinas, Solving boundary value problems on networks using equilibrium measures, J. Func. Anal., 171(2000) 155-176.
- 19. E.Bendito, A.Carmona and A.M.Encinas, Equilibrium measure, Poisson kernel and effective resistance on networks, Random Walks and Geometry (V.Kaimanovich, K.Schmidt and W.Woess ed.), Walter de Gruyter, Berlin, 2004, 363-376.
- E.Bendito, A.Carmona and A.M.Encinas, Potential theory for Schrödinger operators on finite networks, Rev. Mat. Iberoamericana, 21(2005) 771-818.

 C.A.Berenstein, E.C.Tarabusi, J.M.Cohen and M.A.Picardello, *Integral geometry on trees*, Amer. J. Math., 113(1991) 441-470.

- 22. A.Beurling et J.Deny, Espaces de Dirichlet I, Le cas élémentaire, Acta Math.,99 (1958) 203-224.
- 23. A.Beurling and J.Deny, Dirichlet spaces, Proc.Nat.Ac.Sc., 45(1959) 208-215.
- 24. N.Biggs, Algebraic potential theory on graphs, Bull. London Math. Soc., 29(1997) 641-682.
- N.Boboc and P.Mustaţă, Considérations axiomatiques sur les fonctions poly-surharmoniques, Rev.Roumaine Math.Pures et Appl., XVI(1971) 1167-1184.
- N.Bouleau and F.Hirsch, Dirichlet forms and Analysis on Wiener space, de Gruyter Studies in Mathematics 14, 1991.
- 27. M.Brelot, Éléments de la théorie classique du potentiel, 3^e édition, CDU Paris, 1965.
- M.Brelot, Axiomatique des functions harmoniques, Les Presses de l'Université de Montréal, 1966.
- M.Brelot, On Topologies and Boundaries in Potential Theory, Springer-Verlag Lecture Notes in Mathematics 175, 1971.
- 30. H.Cartan, Sur les fondements de la théorie du potentiel, Bull.Soc.Math.France, 69(1941) 71-96.
- 31. P.Cartier, Fonctions harmoniques sur un arbre, Sympos. Math., 9(1972) 203-270.
- 32. W.K.Chen, Applied graph theory: graphs and electrical networks, North Holland, New York, 1976.
- 33. G.Choquet et J.Deny, Modéles finis en théorie du potentiel, J.Anal.Math.,Jerusalem, 5(1956/57) 77-134.
- 34. G.Choquet et P.-A.Meyer, Existence et unicité des représentations intégrales dans les ensembles convexes compacts quelconques, Ann.Inst.Fourier, 13(1963) 139-154.
- 35. F.R.K.Chung and S.T.Yau, Discrete Green's functions, J. Comb. Theory, 91(2000) 191-214.
- J.M.Cohen, F.Colonna, K.Gowrisankaran and D.Singman, *Polyharmonic functions on trees*, Amer.J.Math., 124(2000) 999-1043.
- 37. J.M.Cohen, F.Colonna and D.Singman, *A global Riesz decomposition theorem on trees without positive potentials*, J. London Math. Soc., 75(2007) 1-17.
- 38. J.M.Cohen, F.Colonna and D.Singman, *Biharmonic Green functions on homogeneous trees*, Mediterr.J.Math., 6(2009) 249-271.
- C.Constantinescu and A.Cornea, Ideale Ränder Riemannscher Flächen, Springer-Verlag, 1963.
- C.Constantinescu and A.Cornea, Potential Theory on Harmonic Spaces, Springer-Verlag, 1972.
- 41. J.Deny, Sur les espaces de Dirichlet, Séminaire Brelot-Choquet-Deny, Théorie du potentiel, 1957.
- 42. J.Deny, Méthodes Hilbertiennes en théorie du potentiel, C.I.M.E., Stresa, Italy, 1969, 121-201.
- 43. J.L.Doob, Classical potential theory and its probabilistic counterpart, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1984.
- 44. P.G.Doyle and J.L.Snell, Random walks and electric networks, Math. Assoc. America, 1984.
- 45. R.J.Duffin, Discrete potential theory, Duke Math.J., 20(1953) 233-251.
- 46. M.Fukushima, Dirichlet Forms and Markov Processes, North Holland Math.23,1980.
- 47. K.Gowrisankaran and D.Singman, *Minimal fine limits on trees*, Illinois J. Math.,48(2004) 359-389.
- 48. M.Heins, Riemann surfaces of infinite genus, Ann. of Math., 55(1952) 296-317.
- 49. R.A.Hunt and R.L.Wheeden, *Positive harmonic functions on Lipschitz domains*, Trans.Amer. Math.Soc., 147(1970) 507-527.
- 50. D.S.Jerison and C.E.Kenig, *Boundary behavior of harmonic functions in non-tangentially accessible domains*, Adv.in Math., 46(1982) 80-147.
- 51. T.Kayano and M.Yamasaki, *Discrete Dirichlet integral formula*, Discrete Appl.Math., 22(1988/89) 53-68.
- 52. T.Kayano and M.Yamasaki, *Discrete biharmonic Green function* β , Mem.Fac.Sci.Shimane Univ., 19(1985) 1-10.

53. O.D.Kellogg, Foundations of potential theory, Grundlehr. der Math. Wiss., Springer-Verlag, 1929.

- 54. P.-A.Meyer, *Processus de Markov: la frontire de Martin*, Springer-Verlag Lecture Notes in Mathematics 77, 1968.
- 55. M.Murakami and M.Yamasaki, *An introduction of Kuramochi boundary of an infinite network*, Mem.Fac.Sci.Eng.Shimane Univ. 30(1997) 57-89.
- M.Nicolesco, Recherche sur les functions polyharmoniques, Ann.Sci.École Norm.Sup., 52(1935) 183-220.
- 57. M.Nicolesco, Les fonctions polyharmoniques, Hermann, Paris, 1936.
- 58. A.Pfluger, Theorie der Riemannscher Flächen, Springer-Verlag, 1957.
- 59. S.Ponzio, *The combinatorics of effective resistances and resistive inverses*, Inform. and Comput., 147(1998) 209-223.
- L.Sario, M.Nakai, C.Wang and L.O.Chung, Classification theory of Riemannian manifolds, Springer-Verlag Lecture Notes in Mathematics 605, 1977.
- 61. E.P.Smyrnélis, Axiomatique des fonctions biharmoniques I, Ann.Inst.Fourier, 25(1975) 35-97.
- 62. E.P.Smyrnélis, Axiomatique des fonctions biharmoniques II, Ann.Inst.Fourier, 26(1976) 1-47.
- P.M.Soardi, Potential theory on infinite networks, Springer-Verlag Lecture Notes in Mathematics 1590, 1994.
- 64. P.Tetali, Random walks and the effective resistance of networks, J. Theoretical Prob., 4(1991) 101-109.
- 65. M.Tsuji, Potential theory in modern function theory, Tokyo, 1959.
- 66. W.T.Tutte, Graph theory, Addison-Wesley, Reading, MA, 1984.
- 67. H.Urakawa, *The Cheeger constant, the heat kernel and the Green kernel of an infinite graph*, Monatsh. Math., 138(2003) 225-237.
- W.Woess, Random walks on infinite graphs and groups, Cambridge Tracts in Mathematics, 138, 2000.
- 69. M.Yamasaki, Parabolic and hyperbolic networks, Hiroshima Math.J., 7(1977)135-146.
- 70. M.Yamasaki, *Discrete potentials on an infinite network*, Mem.Fac.Sci. Shimane Univ., 13(1979) 31-44.
- 71. M. Yamasaki, *Biharmonic Green function of an infinite network*, Mem.Fac.Sci.Shimane Univ., 14(1980) 55-62.
- 72. M. Yamasaki, The equation $\Delta u = qu$ on an infinite network, Mem.Fac.Sci. Shimane Univ., 21(1987) 31-46.
- 73. A.H.Zemanian, Infinite electrical networks, Cambridge Tracts in Mathematics, 101, 1991.

Bibliography

This is a list of some nice papers and books related to the subject treated here , but not mentioned in References.

- A.Ancona, Théorie du potentiel sur les graphes et les variétés, Springer-Verlag Lecture Notes in Mathematics 1427, 1990.
- 2. M.G.Arsove, Functions representable as differences of subharmonic functions, Trans.Amer. Math.Soc., 75(1953) 327-365.
- 3. H.Bauer, *Harmonic spaces and associated Markov processes*, Potential Theory, C.I.M.E., Edizioni Cremonese, Roma, 1970, 25-67.
- A.Bensoussan and J.-L.Menaldi, Difference equations on weighted graphs, J.Convex Anal., 12(2005) 13-44.
- M.Bôcher, Singular points of functions which satisfy partial differential equations of the elliptic type, Bull.Amer.Math.Soc., 9(1903) 455-465.

6. M.Brelot, Familles de Perron et problème de Dirichlet, Acta Litt.Sci.Szeged 9(1939) 133-153.

- 7. M.Brelot, Sur le rôle du point à l'infini dans la théorie des fonctions harmoniques, Ann.Éc.Norm.Sup., 61(1944) 301-332.
- 8. M.Brelot, Les étapes et les aspects multiples de la théorie du potentiel, L'Enseignement mathématique, XVIII (1972) 1-36.
- M.Brelot and G.Choquet, *Polynôme harmoniques et polyharmoniques*, Colloque Brusselles, Masson, Paris 1955, 45-66.
- H.Cartan, Capacité extérieure et suites convergentes de potentials, C.R.Acad.Sci., Paris, 214 (1942) 944-946.
- 11. G.Choquet, *Theory of capacities*, Ann.Inst.Fourier, 5(1954) 131-295.
- 12. T.Coulhon and A.Grigor'yan, Random walks on graphs with regular volume growth, GAFA, 8(1998) 656-701.
- 13. R.Courant, Dirichlet's principle, Intersci. Publishers, NY, 1950.
- 14. J.Deny, Les principes du maximum en théorie du potentiel, Séminaire Brelot-Choquet-Deny, Institut Henri Poincaré, Paris, 1961/62.
- 15. J.Dodziuk, Difference equations, isoperimetric inequality and transience of certain random walks, Trans.Amer.Math.Soc., 284(1984) 787-794.
- 16. J.L.Doob, Semi-martingales and subharmonic functions, Trans.Amer.Math.Soc., 77(1954) 86-121.
- 17. G.C.Evans, The logarithmic potential, Amer.Math.Soc. Colloq. Publ., NY, 1927.
- P.M.Gauthier, Subharmonic extensions and approximations, Canad.Math.Bull., 37(1994) 46-53.
- 19. A.Grigor'yan, On Liouville's theorems for harmonic functions with finite Dirichlet integrals, Math.USSR Sbornik, 60(1988) 485-504.
- A.Grigor'yan and A.Telcs, Sub-Gaussian estimates of heat kernels on infinite graphs, Duke Math.J., 109(2001) 451-510.
- 21. A.Grigor'yan and A.Telcs, *Harnack inequalities and sub-Gaussian estimates for random walks*, Math.Annalen, 324(2002) 521-556.
- 22. A.Harnack, Die Grundlagen der Theorie des logarithmischen Potentials und der eindeutigen Potentialfunktion, Leipzig, Teubner, 1887.
- 23. T.Hattori and A.Kasue, Dirichlet finite harmonic functions and points at infinity of graphs and manifolds, Proc.Japan Acad., 83(2007) 129-134.
- J.G.Kemeny, J.L.Snell and A.W.Knapp, Denumerable Markov chains, Van Nostrand, Princeton, 1966.
- 25. M.Konsowa, Effective resistance and random walks on finite graphs, Arabian J.Sci. Engrg., 17(1992) 181-184.
- 26. M.Kotani, T.Shirai and T.Sunada, Asymptotic behaviour of the transition probability of a random walk on an infinite graph, J.Func.Anal., 159(1998) 664-689.
- N.S.Landkof, Foundations of Modern Potential Theory, Grundlehren 180, Springer-Verlag, 1972.
- 28. T.Lyons, A simple criterion for transience of a reversible Markov chain, Ann.of Probability 11(1983) 393-402.
- 29. F-Y.Maeda, *A remark on the parabolic index of infinite networks*, Hiroshima J.Math., 7(1977) 147-152.
- 30. R.S.Martin, Minimal positive harmonic functions, Trans.Amer.Math.Soc., 49(1941) 137-172.
- 31. S.McGuinness, *Recurrent networks and a theorem of Nash-Williams*, J.Theoretical Prob., 4(1991) 87-100.
- 32. P.-A. Meyer, *Probabilités et potentiel*, Hermann, Paris, 1966.
- 33. M.Murakami and M.Yamasaki, *Nonlinear potentials on an infinite network*, Mem.Fac.Sci. Shimane Univ., 26(1992) 15-28.
- C.St.J.A. Nash-Williams, Random walks and electric currents in networks, Proc.Cambridge Phil.Soc., 55(1959) 181-194.

35. F.Riesz, Sur les fonctions subharmoniques et leur rapport à la théorie du potentiel I, Acta.Math., 48(1926) 329-343.

- F.Riesz, Sur les fonctions subharmoniques et leur rapport à la théorie du potentiel II, Acta Math., 54(1930) 321-360.
- 37. L.Sario and M.Nakai, Classification theory of Riemann surfaces, Springer-Verlag, 1970.
- 38. P.M.Soardi and M.Yamasaki, *Classification of infinite networks and its applications*, Circuits Systems Signal Process, 12(1993) 133-149.
- 39. F.Spitzer, Principles of random walks, Van Nostrand, Princeton, 1964.
- H.Urakawa, Heat kernel and Green kernel comparison theorems for infinite graphs, J.Func.Anal., 146(1997) 206-235.
- 41. H.Urakawa, The spectrum of an infinite graph, Canadian J.Math., 52(2000) 1057-1084.
- 42. H.Urakawa, A discrete analogue of the harmonic morphism and Green kernel comparison theorems, Glasgow Math.J., 42(2000) 319-334.
- 43. H.Urakawa, *The heat kernel and the Green kernel of an infinite graph*, Contemporary Math., 344(2004) 245-258.
- 44. B.Walsh, Flux in axiomatic potential theory I: Cohomology, Invent.Math., 8(1969) 175-221.
- 45. B.Walsh, Flux in axiomatic potential theory II: Duality, Ann.Inst.Fourier, 19(1970) 371-417.
- 46. N.Wiener, Note on a paper by O.Perron, J.Math.Phys. MIT, 4(1925) 31-32.
- 47. M.Yamasaki, Dirichlet finite solutions of Poisson equation on an infinite network, Hiroshima Math.J., 12(1982) 569-579.
- 48. M.Yamasaki, Discrete Dirichlet potentials on an infinite network, RIMS Kokyuroku, 610(1987) 51-66.

Index

Admissible, 74
Alexandroff point at infinity, 54
Algebraic potential theory, 3
Almansi representation, 110
Axiomatic potential theory, 3
Axiom of proportionality, 66

Bôcher's theorem, 66
Balayage, 21, 30, 62
q-Balayage, 41, 96
Balayage of m-potentials, 128
Barycentres, 60
Base, 61
Biharmonic, 109
Biharmonic classification, 110
Biharmonic Green function, 110
Boundary, 5, 46

Capacitary functions, 62
Capacitary potential, 67
Capacity, 2, 21, 41, 67
Characteristic function, 88
Circled, 5
Classical *q*-Dirichlet problem, 41
Classical Dirichlet problem, 23, 29
Classical Dirichlet solution for the *q*-Laplacian, 98
Completely superharmonic, 121
Condenser principle, 3, 29, 42, 62, 99
Conductance, 2, 5
Connected, 5, 46

Digraph, 1 Dirichlet finite, 2

Cycle, 5, 111

Convergence theorem, 8

Dirichlet functions, 2 Dirichlet norm, 2 Dirichlet-Poisson equation, 23, 28 Δ_q -Poisson kernel, 43 Δ_a -Poisson modification, 38, 94 Dirichlet-Poisson problem, 3 Dirichlet-Poisson solution, 37, 62, 69 Dirichlet principle, 33 Dirichlet problem, 21 Dirichlet semi-norm, 32 Dissipation formula, 13 Distance, 5 Domination principle, 21, 26, 62, 65 q-Domination principle, 37, 95 Domination principle for *m*-potentials, 128 Domination principle for pseudo-potentials, 90 Doob ξ -transform, 103

Edges, 1
Effective resistance, 2, 24
Electric potentials, 3
Electrostatics, 21
End, 130
Energy integral, 2
Equilibrium measures, 23, 35
Equilibrium principle, 2, 21, 27
q-Equilibrium principle, 101
Equivalent paths, 130
Equivalent superharmonic functions, 75
Escape probability, 2, 24
Extremal, 61
Extremal elements, 60
Extremal length, 2

Finite difference approximation, 45 Finite electrical network, 2

140 Index

Finite section, 52 Inner capacity, 67 Flow, 22 Inner flux, 79 Flux at infinity, 78, 79 Inner normal derivative, 11 Flux at infinity of h, 79 Interior, 5 Interior vertex, 46 Generalised q-Condenser principle, 42 Generalised Dirichlet problem, 50 Kirchhoff's problem, 22 Generalised Dirichlet solution for the a-Laplacian, 98 Laplace operator, 2 Generalised equilibrium principle, 27 Laplacian, 7 Generated by, 115 Lattice, 10 Graph, 1 Laurent series, 116 Gravitation, 78 Length, 5, 46 Greatest q-harmonic minorant, 40 Linear programming problems, 68 Greatest harmonic minorant, 47 Liouville theorem, 19, 71 Greatest m-harmonic minorant, 119 Lipschitz domains, 60 Green domain, 129 Locally finite, 5, 46 Green kernel, 4, 62 Locally polar, 129 Green's formula, 12 Logarithmic capacity, 68 Green's function, 2, 30 Logarithmic kernel, 68, 71 *a*-Green's function, 42 Logarithmic potential, 71, 87 q-Green's function for a finite set, 100 Green's function on a set, 58 Maria-Frostman maximum principle, 65 Markov chains, 2 Harmonic, 7, 46 Markov property, 2 m-Harmonic, 109, 115 Martin boundary, 60, 129 Harmonic dimension of a hyperbolic network, Martin compactification, 129 Martin representation, 60, 129 m-Harmonic Green function, 125 Maximum principle, 47 Harmonic measure, 102 Maximum principle for finite networks, 25 Harmonic measure at infinity of the section E, Minimal, 61, 129 Minimal boundary, 129 Harmonic measure of the point at infinity, 54, Minimal points, 129 107 Minimum principle, 21, 72 m-Harmonic potential, 131 q-Minimum principle, 36 Harmonic support, 57, 65 Minimum principle for m-superharmonic q-Harmonic support, 95 functions, 119 m-Harmonic support, 128 Minimum principle for the q-Laplacian, 97 Harnack property, 47 Mixed boundary-value problem, 31 Harnack property for q-superharmonic Montel theorem, 120 functions, 93 H-functions, 88 Hitting time, 2 Neighbours, 5 Homogeneous, 5 Network, 5 H-potential, 88 Neumann problem, 32 Hyberbolic network, 4, 49 Newtonian attraction, 21 Hyperplane, 61 Nontangentially accessible domains, 60 Incidence matrix, 1, 21 Ohm's law, 2 Infinite graphs, 2 Order, 88 Infinite section, 52 Outer capacity, 68 Infinite tree, 16 Outer flux, 78, 79

Index 141

Outer normal derivative, 11

Parabolic network, 4, 49, 70 Parabolic Riemann surfaces, 3

Path, 5

Perron family, 39, 47 P'-harmonic, 104 Point at infinity, 101

Point biharmonic singularity, 121 Point harmonic support, 9, 113

Poisson equation, 2

Poisson kernel, 31, 62, 129 Poisson problem, 28 q-Poisson solution, 37

Polar set, 67

Polyharmonic function, 109 Polymartingales, 110 Polypotential, 123 Polysuperharmonic, 4 Postman problem, 1 Potential, 48 m-Potential, 123 *q*-Potential, 94 Potential of f, 63

Potentials with point harmonic support, 56

Pseudo-potentials, 72, 87 m-Potential tree, 124 P-section, 53 P-structure, 103 P'-superharmonic, 104

Random walks, 23 Recurrence, 2 Recurrent, 72 Recurrent tree, 73 Regular exhaustion, 6 Removable singularity, 116 Reversible Markov chain, 2 Riemann surfaces, 3

Riesz representation, 49

Riesz-Martin representation, 130 Riquier problem, 110, 120 Robin problem, 21 Royden compactification, 2 Royden decomposition, 2

Schrödinger operator, 34, 91 Section determined by e and e_i , 52 Self-loop, 5, 46, 111 Simple random walk, 72 Solution to the Kirchhoff's problem, 27 S-section, 53 Standard homogeneous tree, 5 Star domain, 109 Structure subordinate to P, 104 Subharmonic, 7, 46 m-subharmonic, 115 Subharmonic functions of potential-type, 88 Subordinate harmonic structure, 4 Superharmonic, 7, 46 m-superharmonic, 4, 115 q-superharmonic, 37, 91, 92 Symmetric conductance, 5, 46

Terminal, 5, 111 Total inward flux, 12 Transient, 2, 72 Transition probability, 2, 5 Tree, 5

Uniform domains, 60

Vertices, 1 Voltage and current laws, 2

Walk, 5 Wave equations, 2, 45 Weighted graphs, 2

Editor in Chief: Franco Brezzi

Editorial Policy

- 1. The UMI Lecture Notes aim to report new developments in all areas of mathematics and their applications - quickly, informally and at a high level. Mathematical texts analysing new developments in modelling and numerical simulation are also welcome.
- 2. Manuscripts should be submitted (preferably in duplicate) to

Redazione Lecture Notes U.M.I.

Dipartimento di Matematica Piazza Porta S. Donato 5

I - 40126 Bologna and possibly to one of the editors of the Board informing, in this case, the Redazione about the submission. In general, manuscripts will be sent out to external referees for evaluation. If a decision cannot yet be reached on the basis of the first 2 reports, further referees may be contacted. The author will be informed of this. A final decision to publish can be made only on the basis of the complete manuscript, however a refereeing process leading to a preliminary decision can be based on a pre-final or incomplete manuscript. The strict minimum amount of material that will be considered should include a detailed outline describing the planned contents of each chapter, a bibliography and several sample chapters.

- 3. Manuscripts should in general be submitted in English. Final manuscripts should contain at least 100 pages of mathematical text and should always include
 - a table of contents:
 - an informative introduction, with adequate motivation and perhaps some historical remarks: it should be accessible to a reader not intimately familiar with the topic treated;
 - a subject index: as a rule this is genuinely helpful for the reader.
- 4. For evaluation purposes, manuscripts may be submitted in print or electronic form (print form is still preferred by most referees), in the latter case preferably as pdf- or zipped ps-files. Authors are asked, if their manuscript is accepted for publication, to use the LaTeX2e style files available from Springer's web-server at ftp://ftp.springer.de/pub/tex/latex/symonot1/ for monographs and at ftp://ftp.springer.de/pub/tex/latex/symultt1/ for multi-authored volumes
- 5. Authors receive a total of 50 free copies of their volume, but no royalties. They are entitled to a discount of 33.3% on the price of Springer books purchased for their personal use, if ordering directly from Springer.
- 6. Commitment to publish is made by letter of intent rather than by signing a formal contract. Springer-Verlag secures the copyright for each volume. Authors are free to reuse material contained in their LNM volumes in later publications: A brief written (or e-mail) request for formal permission is sufficient.